


Praise for Quest the Tade Sea 

A vivid and well-researched account of the men who led 
expeditions . . . in Northern Kenya. . . . Entertaining reading for 

anyone interested in colonial travel literature . . . it is a 
valuable resource for the student and scholar of Africa's past. 

History 

A well-researched overview of the nineteenth-century 
geographical exploration . . . around Lake Turltana. Its clear 

style and rich details will appeal to a wide audience. 
African Studies Quarterly 

In this book Pascal Imperato writes engagingly and 
sympathetically about a succession of European travelers to 
the shores of Lake Turkana in the late nineteenth century. 
The book is important for two reasons. First, it helps us to 

understand the motives and ~udge the achievements of these 
men in the light of the social norms and cultural values of 
their own time. Second, it brings together in a readable and 

accessible form, a vast amount of previously scattered 
information about one of the last episodes in the story of 

European competition for colonial lands in Africa. 
David mrtorr! 

Director, Refugee Studies Programme 
University of Oxford 

Interesting, extremely well researched, rich with rare 
and intriguing anecdotes, Quest for the lade Sea is a must 

for lovers of Africa and its complex, irresistible history. 
It is compelling reading. I could not put it down. 

Kuki Galfmaam 
author of I Dreamed of Africa 



The Jade Sea lured a series of mystical idealists, 
amateur scientists, wealthy hunters, colonial agents 

and greedy desperadoes to set off from the coast and walk 
to it across the arid expanses which separate the Kenyan 

and Ethiopian highlands. Dr. Imperato makes each of 
their individualities shine while setting each in the 
historical context of mean and aggressive colonial 
rivalries. I have learned a great deal pleasurably. 

Dr. Paul Baxter 
author of The Boran of Northern Kenya 

Quest for the lade Sea is a vivid and overdue account 
of one of the most intriguing rivalries of discovery 

in the history of colonial Africa: 
Bartle Bail 

author of Safari: A Chronical of Adventure 
and The m i t e  Rhino Hotel 

Entertaining for the casual reader and a mine of 
information for the student and scholar, everyone can 

now proceed through eastern African history with 
more confidence and conviction than in the past. 

RO bert Q. C~l1r"nrs 
Professor o f  History, Emeritus 

Univmsity of Callifornr'a at Santa Rarbara 
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Dedicated with admiration and affection to 
the Reverend I)a& Tablino, 

who has given a lifetime of service 
to the peoples of the lake 
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T l ~ e  fist pubfished illustration of Lake Rudolf, d r a m  from a 
pliotf~graph taken by Cc~unt Samuel Sil~leki (frc~rn Discovery of Lakes 
Rrrdotf and Stefanie, 1894). 

n 1961, I traveled into the hot desert wastes of what was then the 
Northern Frontier District of Kenya Colony and Protectorate and 
saw a great salt lake called Rudolf. It lay in a wild and remote cor- 

ner of Africa frequented only by pastoral nomads, small bands of El 
Mo2o fisster~nen, colonial administrators, and occasional visitors. 
There were no roads leacting t r ~  the lake, and one had to reach it over 
trails worn deep into the volcanic slag and sand by generations of 
wildlife and catdc, A first gljl~npse of the ~ade  peen waters was scarce 
reward for the gr~leling trip entailed in reaching them. There were no 



creature co~nforts or any sense of ease near the lake, as one had to be 
continuously on alert for life-threatening dangers that lurked in the 
waters and on the land nearby. Enormacts, aggressive crocodiles pa- 
trolled the shallows along the lake's shores, and warring pastoralists 
and armed poachers roamed the rocky hills. Lions roared at night from 
the cover of civy riverbeds, scorpions and poisonous snakes faequcnted 
the rocky lake shore, and hyenas seemed to dance at midday in mi- 
rages on the horizon. 

Although 1 did not realize it then, I had been privileged to see this 
lake much as late-nineteenth-century travelers had, before a paved 
road was put through to its western shore and lodges and landing 
strips were set up for Ashermen and tourists, The area was so inacces- 
sible, in fact, that the colonial authorkies used it as a place to detain 
Kenya" nationalist leaders, including Jomo Kenyatta. Even if they had 
managed to escape from their detention camps at Lakitaung and Lad- 
war, the detainees could never have survived the nulnhing heat and 
desert wastes, 

My early travels thraugh the Northern Frontier District stirred 1x1): 
interest in its peoples and their history, as well as in the story of first 
European contact. These interests eventually led me to an in-depth 
study of latc-nineteenth-ccntury travelers to the lake and the broader 
issue of ct~lonial cc.)mpetition for this part of Africa. What struck me 
f r m  the outset was the sheer number and diversity of well-outfitted 
Eurapean cqeditions that headed fur the lake in the last decade of the 
nineteenth century, Close to a dozen of them. arrived there between 
1888 and 1901, led by Americans, Austro-Hungarians, Britons, French- 
men, Italians, and Russians. To theln must be added a nulxlber of 
Ethiopian military expeditions, about which there is no known docu- 
mentation. That so remote and desolate a lake received such extraor- 
dinary attention reflected misguided colonial judgments about its eco- 
nulnic and strategic importancc and its presulned relationship to the 
Nile, 

Fox a period of f i i t~en years, I carefully studied the published writ- 
ings of these colonial travclers. I also quarried numerous repositories 
of primary source materials Eur letters, diaries, diplomatic dispatches, 
and confidential reparts. In order to provide a hller portrait of these 
travelers, I sought out and intcrviewed thcir direct descendants and 
other relatives. Their recollections of family stories, anecdotes, and 
opinions have enabled me to complement and balance the informa- 
tion available in published writings, letters, and diaries. A numhtcr of 
these relatives also gave me access to family documents not otherwise 
available, Drawing on all this information and the writings of others, I 
have tried to reconstruct a comprehensive account of the ahentures 



and experiences of these travelers while analyzing the broader politi- 
cal issues that lay at the heart of colonial interest in this corner of 
Africa. 

Lake Rudolf, which is alsr~ knc~wn as Lake Tttrkana, lies in the east- 
ern. arm of the great Rift Valley. It is primarily fed by the Omo River, 
which flaws south from the Ethiopian highlands and sits in an inhos- 
pitable landscape of dormant volcanoes, wind-driven semidesert, and 
old lava flows. During the morning hours, strong p s t s  of wind usually 
blow from the east down the: slopes of Maunt Kulal and across the sur- 
face of the lake. This unrelenting wind creates large, white-capped 
waves on the lalre's surface and makes navigation almclst impossible, 
It also gives the lake a beautiful bluish color, reflecting the clear sky 
above. However, when the wind dies down in the afternoon, the lake 
takes on the color of green jade, due to algae that rise to the suxface 
when the waters axe calm. It is because of this afternoon and evening 
colnr that the lake has long been known as the Jade Sea. 

Prior to the Pleistocene epoch, the lake was much larger than it is 
today; and it drained into the Mile through the Sobat River. It was then 
sit~tated in a lush tropical environment that supported abundant 
wildlife and early bominids. Toctay, Rudolf is very much a desert lake, 
surrounded by volcanic slag in the south and east and sand dunes and 
~nudflats in the north and west. Three islands-North, Genter, and 
South-attest to the volcanic ctrigins of the lake hed and the surround- 
ing countryside, 

The absence of an outlet has long made Rudoll's waters brackish. 
Yet they support large populations of fish, crocodiles, and hippopota- 
muses and many species of birds, including pelicans, flamingos, king- 
fishers, and cormorants. For most of the twentieth century, the cmco- 
diles of the lake and the Omo River were renowned for both their 
enormous size and their ferocity. But extensive hunting over the years 
has resulted in the disappearance of most of the larger crocodiles and 
the extinction of the elephant herds that once frequented the lake's 
eastern shore, 

Although Lake Rudolf primarily lies in Kenya, a portion of its north- 
ern. end stretches across the border into Ethiopia. 'The amount of the 
lake on the Ethiopian side has progressively shrunk during the past 
several decades as the water levels have fallen, This in turn has altered 
the configuration of the Qmo River delta at the northern end of the 
lake, especially in periads of drought when virtually none of the lakc 
lies on the Ethiopian side of the border. The lake is ct~rrently 155 
miles long and from 10 to 20 miles wide. Although it is a Rift Valley 
lake, it is relatjvely shallow in most places but has occasianal depths 
of up to 250 feet. 



By the ~nid-nineteenth century, there were several reports from Inis- 
sic~naries and travelers far to the north, in the lush cool highlands of 
Ethiopia, about a @eat lake to the south. However, their information 
was based an the often conflicting accounts of African traders and 
travelexs. Xn 1859, Lbon des Avanchers, a Gapuchin missionary living 
in Ethiopia, published a detailed map of the area using information he 
had obtained from African and European travelers. He called this great 
lake El Boo and made the startling claim that it was a source of the 
Mile, At the same time, Johann Ludwig Krapf, a German missionary 
who had lived in both Ethiopia and what is now Kenya, published a 
map of the East African interior on which he placed a large lake called 
Zalnbrrru at the site of talre Rudolf. Although these two reports cor- 
roborated one another, neither Avanchers nor Krayf had actually seen 
the lake themselves. As a result, influential armchair geographers in 
Europe initially paid scant attcntion to their r e p a s .  In addition, the 
hanchers  and bapf lake struck them as probably fictitious since it 
did not fit in with the puzzle of the Nile sources that they had pieced 
together in London, 

John Hanning Speke's visit to Lake Victoria in 1862, and his suhsc- 
quent claim that it was the source of the Nile not only captured the 
world" attention but also ushered in an era of accelerated exploration 
of central Africa, Spcke's claim was promptly challenged by his forlner 
expedition leader, Richard Burton, and doubted by powerful armchair 
geographers who encouraged othcrs to unravel the mystery of the 
sources of the Nile, Thoughout the 1860s and 1 8 7 0 ~ ~  several expedi- 
tions tl-aveled into Central Africa in clrder to resolve what Europeans 
considered to be the geatest geogrqhic cballcnge of their time, These 
expeditions laid clpen a complex world of magnificent lakes, interlac- 
ing rivers, swamps, and snow-covered mountains, all clf which consti- 
tuted the source of the Nile. 

In L 883-1 884, Joseph Thomson successfirlly traveled from coastal 
Mombasa across Maasai land to the northern end of Lalre Victoria and 
back. In. so doing, he catne to within 150 miles of Lake Rudolf, 
Africans who had been there told him that it was called Sa~nburu and 
that its salt waters contained large populations of crocodiles, Ash, and 
hippopotamuses. Eventually, the British became very interested in 
this large lake because it was possibly another suurce uf the Nile, 
whose entire course they were determined to control. However, other 
Europeans were also intrigued by this lake, among them Grown Psince 
Rudolf of Austria-Hungary, who encouraged Count Samuel Teltki to 
And it. Teleki" 11887-1.888 expedition not only resulted in a wealth of 
geographic information but also drew the attenlion of Ellropean colo- 



nial prlwers to the lake, which was then perceived as a possible source 
of the Nile. 

Euxopean colonial interest in take Rudolf developed at a tjrne when 
Ethiopia was e~nerging as a powerful military state engaged in imper- 
ial expansion. Although. the French, Italians, and Russians initia 11 y 
habored ambitions in this part of Ah-ica, I3xitain eventually becarne 
the dominant colonial power and, as a result, found itself competing 
with Ethiopia for control of the lake. In hrthering its colonial aims, 
Ethiopia used French and Russian proxies, military farce, and shrewd 
diplomacy that exploited European rivalries. This volu~ne exa~nines 
this unique African colonialism, its impact on the peoples of the lake, 
and its interactions with its European. analogs." 

A nulllber of recent authors have carefully studied nineteenth- 
century travel accounts, often from a pastmodern perspective. They 
make a number of cogcznt observations about these writings, including 
their quest romance character and their infusion with European ideals 
and ~ a l u e s . ~  The sense of Eu~opean superiority frequently expressed in 
these accounts usually reaffirmed national values and served as a jus- 
tificatiun for Eurocolunialism. In addition, the realities presented by 
these travelers were ctften textuxed by race attitudes, religious beliefs, 
social values, and economic and political self-intercste3 Although 
these characteristics uf nineteenth-century travel writing may have 
nuanced field observations to some degree, they also serve to better in- 
form us of the cultural and social refexences of the authors thelnselves 
and perrxit a better understanding of their ~notives. Thus, the activi- 
ties and accomplishments of these travelexs must be judged within the 
framework of their tines, not according to latter-day cultural and so- 
cial norlns. Wherever relevant, I have drawn attention to these issues, 
especially in the context of colonial epansion. 

There has been a tendency for sorne modcrn writers to characterize 
the geographic accumplishmem of nineteenth-century travelcrs to 
Africa as a process of "converting local l;nowledges (discourses) into 
European national and continental howledges associated with Euro- 
pean forms and relations to p o ~ e r . " ~  Although there is some obvious 
merit to such statements, one should not forget that local knowledge 
bases were frequently drag~~cntcd and imprecise and usually not see in 
larger geographic contexts. European travelers did not, as these writers 
imply, simply translate local knowledge into their own. Rather, they 
used local knowledge bases as points of departurc and greatly aug- 
mented them through the application of scientific techniques by 
which topoguaphic features were situated! quantified, and contextual- 
izcd. In addition, European travclcrs communicated their knowledge 



to wide audiences of Europeans and Africans. The latter often used the 
received knowledge to open up new trade routes and markets that 
greatly benefited them and local populalions. 

The syste~natizing of nature was a powerful farce in the nineteenth 
century, and in Africa, it often represented the projection oE European 
power and control onto the untalned wilderness. Not surprisingly, 
most of the men who traveled to Lake Rudczlf devoted significant time 
and effort to measuring topographic features and collecting natural 
history specimens. These activities, even when modest, as in the case 
of solne sportsmen, tended to valorize expeditions and justify the 
slaughter clf wildlife. The shooting of eilephants on a large scale was 
move difficult to justiSy; and as a consequence, sorne travelcrs chose 
not to ~nenticln the extent of their killing, Though sport and adventure 
played a role in drawing them to elephant hunting, the puospect of col- 
lecting enough. ivory to offset the costs of an expedition was often the 
lnorc powerful incentive. Yet one must not lose sight of the fact that 
this killing of wildlife took place in an era when African animal herds 
seemed inexhaustible. Whatever the propensities of a given traveler, 
they all returned home with sizable collections of bones, hides, horns, 
insects, plants, seeds, geolo@c specimens, and ethnographic oh~ects, 
which became grist for the curat-orshlnills in major museums, 

Most late-nineteenth-century ctzrators were skilled at taxonrlrny, 
but they and some of their successors were not always adept at keep- 
ing records, During my years of research, X found that many of the nat- 
ural history collections had lost their identities in larger holdings, had 
deteriorated, or had been dispersed. Ethnographic collec tions fared far 
better, and some, such as Avthuur Donaldsorz Smith" at the University 
of Pennsylvania Museum, have been well cared for and arc easily iden- 
tifiable and accessible. Private trophy collections did not, for the most 
part, srrrvive the ravages of moths and time. Many descendants dis- 
posed of them for a variety of reasons, including disinterest, a lack of 
space, or the need to raise money. 

All of the travclers to Lake Rudolf were bold, resourceful, and un- 
orthodox men well endowed with originality and eccentricity. They 
were adventurers and risk-takers at heart, men whose courage and dar- 
ing enabled theln to overcame the enorlnous obstacles preseated by 
climate, geography, and disease. Whether as the willing agcllts of 
larger colonial designs, soldiers intent on advancing their military ca- 
reers, hunters out for sport, or explorers devoted to advancing science, 
they all left behind a legacy of fascinating acl-venture stories and tales 
of the unknown, This book is about them, their travels, and the com- 
plex story of colonial competition for a far-off lake called the jade Sea. 



e Sources the 

nowncd 

round X40 AB., 

Clauditls Ptoler~aeus 
(Ptolemy), the re- 
Alexandriawt astrono- 

mer and geugaphcr, produced a 
map of the world. On it, he 
shawed the Mile arising frorn 
two large lakes hcluw the equa- 
tor. These in turn were fed by 
strcams flowing down thc 
slopes of the snow-covered Lu- 
nae Montes (Mountains of the 
Moon). Ptolemy had never 
been to equatorial Africa but 
based his map and Gzride to 
Geography on a variety of 
recorded sources, Arnnng these 
was an account by a Syrian 
geographer of the first century 
named Marinus of Tyre, Mari- 

[)dfian1;7 Ludwig Krnpf (from Travels, nus bad rectjrdcd the voyage of 
Researches, and Missionary Labours, a Greek merchant, Diogenes, 
1860). who claimed ta  have traveled 

it~land from the coast o f  East 
Africa for twcnty-five days. 

Diogenes left the coast from an emporium called Rhapta and even- 
tually came to two lakes and a snowy range of mountains, which he 
said were the sourcc of the Nile. The actual location of Rhapta is cur- 
rently debatable. Hwever, it may have been on the Pangani River or 



farther south in the Rufiji Rivcr delta, In either case, it appears to have 
been on the coast of present-day Tanzania. Given the regularity of 
Gucco-Roman trading along the East Ahican coast and in the Indian 
Ocean, it is not at all inconceivable that Diogenes had aaveled inland 
as Marinus of V r e  claimed, There is also the possibility that the infor- 
mation presented by Marinus was relayed to him by Greco-Roman 
traders who had obtained it from their counterparts on the East 
African coast." 

Whatever the origins of the information contained on Ptolemy's 
maps and in his Guide to Gec>grqhy, it came to represent lnost of 
what was known in Europe about the source of the Nile for the next 
1,700 years, Xt was not until around 1835 that theoretical scholars 
based in Great Britain began their intense studies of East Africa. These 
"armchair geographers,'bs they are sometimes called, heavily relied 
on the iorrnalisric methods of medieval scholasticism. They applied 
these methods to Arab, classical, medieval, and Portuguese texts in an 
attempt to deduce the precise geagraphy of places they had never seen. 
This painstaking pursuit of gcogaphic truth through meticulous logic 
was soon to come into direct conflict with the findings of those who 
had seen the equata~ial snow-covered mountains and lakes of East 
Africa. Vct the armchair geographers never retreated tlrom their dc- 
duced assertions, even when faced with overwhelming evidence gath- 
ered in the field. To have done so would have eroded the power of their 
established authority. However, they were cjuitc adept at reinfarsing 
the validity of their conclusions by claiming that certain discoveries 
in Africa clearly confirmed their own carefully reasoned opinions. In 
so doing, they dtid not cite the numerous instances where field obser- 
vations co~radicted their strongly held contentions. 

British armchair gec~graphers received their first serious challenge in 
1849 when a German missionary named Johann Rebmann, working in 
the service of the Church Missionary Soczery JCMS) in East AfYica, rc- 
parted that he had visited Mount Kilimanjaro three times in 1848 and 
1849 and had seen its snow-covered peaks? This was threat enough to 
artnchair theories about East African geography. However, Rebmann's 
assertion, was strengthened by the repon of his senior colleague, Jo- 
hann Ludwig Mxapf, who had also journeyed into the interior from 
their coastal mission station at Rabai, near Mombasa. He not only cm- 
roborated Rebmann's observations of Kilimanjaro but also reported 
seeing another snow-covered motmtain, Mount Keny;t, to the norlh. 

The Krapf and Rebmann reports were nor received by an unbiased 
and uninformed audience. Their chief critic was VVilliarn Desborough 
Coofey, a prominent member of the Royal Geographical Society, who 
had never been tcz Akiea, Yet at the time, he tvas recognized and rc- 
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spected as a leading authority on African geography. His authority de- 
rived frrtm numerous publications in which he diligently analyzed the 
previous writings of classical, ixedieval, Arab, and Portuguese authors. 

As Coolcy saw it, Ptolemy's Mountains of the Moon were not in 
East Africa and Kilimanjaro and Kenya were only a fifth the height 
claimed by Rcblnann and Krapf. It was even sugested that Rebrnann 
and Krapf had merely seen white rocks gleaming in the sun atop rela- 
tively small mountains, 

Cooleyis views may not have been convincing enough to colnpletcly 
sway the leaders of the Royal Geographical Society. However, they 
had the effect of sowing doubt about Krapf and Rebmann's claims. 
Those claims, based as they were on what Cooley characterized as 
"~cu la r  testimony,"' were made in an era when the sucicty placed 
great store in scientific de~erminations of altitude, distance, latitude, 
and longitude, David Livingstone, who worked farther sou& in Ahica, 
shared Krapl and Rcbmannrs view of using geographic exploration in 
the interests of missionary goals. However, he employed a variety of 
observing and ineasuring inslru~nents that gave his fin&ags a credibil- 
ity that pundits lilre Coolcy ct~uld scarcely challenge. 

KrapE did indeed possess a range of scientific instruments, given to 
him by the Bombay Geographical Society. But it is doubtful that he 
knew how tcz use them, and even if he did, he reported that it was im- 
possible to do so in the presence ctf curious African crowds. As a re- 
sult, his estianations of distances and directions feII wide of the mark 
and made them and his visual discoveries an easy target for Cc~ctley's 
pen. 

Cooley was unrelenting in his criticisms of bapf  and Rebmam" re- 
parts, pouring acidic comments about them o ~ o  the pages of promi- 
nent periodicals and eventually into a book entitled 1nn~"l. AfYica Laid 
Open, In this book, he characterized Krapf and Rebmann's snow- 
covered mountains as myths: "With respect tn those eternal snows on 
the discovery of which Messrs. Krapf and Rebmann have set their 
hearts, they have so little shape or substance, and appear so severed 
horn realities that they take quitc a speetral character."' 

Two other powerful armchair geographers entered the fray, Tames 
MacQrrccn was an opiniona~d Scotsman who had once been the man- 
ager of a sugar plantation in the West Indies.& There, he came into can- 
tact with slaves from West Afuica, from whom he learned a great deal 
about tke geographic fcatrzrcs of the continent's interior. It was 
thrrzugk their accounts and a trenchant analysis uf the available litcra- 
tuxe that he correctly decluced the location of the Niger River delta in 
18 16.' Hawever, it was his experience as editor of the Glasgow 
Courier and his part ownership of the Colonial Bank and the Royal 



Mail Stea~n Packet Cn~npany that gave him a power base from which 
to project his views, 

MacQueen was fairly gentle with Krapf and Rebmann. He had, in 
fact, previously contributed a geographic lnemrlir to a book about 
Krapfk six years as a missionary in Ethiopia.Wevertheless, Mac- 
Queen had very strong views about the source of the Nilc, which hc 
vigorously presented in a nu~nber of publications. He was convinced 
that the Nile issued from two large lakes in East Africa, an assump- 
tion that was closer to the truth than. Cooley" belief in only one, 

The thrd ~nernber of the arnchair triumvirate was Ghwles Tilstone 
Beke. Unlike Cooley and MacQueen, be had actually traveled in Africa. 
Prirxrarily a businessman with international mercantile interests, he 
went to Ahy ssinia in 1840. The threefold purpose uf this trip was to open 
up commercial links with Abyssinia, to abolish the slave trade, and to 
discover the sowces of the Mile. Qvcr a pcriod of thuce years, Beke sur- 
veyed some 70,000 square miles of cot~mry but had Little success in sct- 
ting up trade with Abyssinia or in stamping out the slave trade, Beke's 
scientific accomplishments in Abyssinia were truly substantiai. In adcti- 
tion to mapping the watershed between the Nile and h a s h  Rivers, hc 
meticulously collected the vocabularies of fourteen lanpages and di- 
alects, as well as a nurnbcr of natural history specimens, 

After his return to London in 1843, Beke was awarded thc gold 
medal of the Royal Ceogaphical Society. He once again tsolr up his 
commercial pursuits and also authorcd Inany publicatiuns dealing 
with his scientific explorations in Abyssinia,: 

Reke was no stranger to Krapf since the two had met in Abyssinia. 
He respected Krayd and his intellectual integrity and opined that Rili- 
lnanjaro and Kenya were part of PtolemyJs Mottnrains of the Moan. He 
also claimed that the rivers that fed the Nile flowed from the slopes of 
these mountains. It was not mcrely friendship for Krapf that drove 
Beke to these conelt~sions~ it was alsc, a certain amount of self-inter- 
est. Rased on his own survey work in Abyssinia, he had concluded that 
Africa had a. principal marmuin system running from north to south 
on the eastern side of the continent. He viewed the Mountains of the 
Moon as part of this range, the northern extent of which he claimed to 
have hl ly explored in Abyssinia. So convinced was Bekc of the valid- 
ity of this theory that he organized an expedition in 1849 to prove it. 
Queen Victoria" husband, Prince Albert, and other prominent individ- 
uals gave the expedition thcir patronage, Unfortunately, Beke rc- 
ert~ited a Dr. Bislloblotsky from Hanover to lead it, Biafloblotsky was 
a bizarre and unsuitable character who made a very bad impression on 
Lieutenant-Golonef Atkins Hamerton, the British agent in Zanzibar, 
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After consulting with Krapf, Hamerton effectively sabotaged the Beke 
expedition by recommending that the sultan of Zanzibar not give Bial- 
loblotsky letters requesting the assistance of local governors." 

ICrapf, who had been at the Rabai missivn station since 1843, regu- 
larly obtained information about the interior from Arab and Swahili 
traders. These men often traveled inland along well-established cam- 
van routes to the great East African lakes, Since they dealt in slaves 
and ivory, they were ctften vague about their routes and itnportant geo- 
graphic landmarks. However, over several years of interviewing these 
traders, Krapf had concluded that there were probably three large lakes 
in the interior, Nyasa, Tanganyilta, and Ukerewe, Despite these con- 
clusions, he reluctantly acccpted the erroneous inteqretations of a ju- 
nior missionary colleague, Jacob J. Erhardt, who had arrived at R&ai 
in 1849. Thirteen years yclunger than Krapf, Erhardt quickly proved to 
be a valuable addition to the mission team, especially because he had 
some medical knowledge. But he soon voiced Arm views on a number 
of issues that were sometimes in conflict with Kwapf's opinions. Krapf 
and Rebrxlann also had frictions of their own over the direction of their 
lnissionary endeavms, which evemually led to a permanent estrange- 
ment. Krapf left Rabai in September 1853, and after a return visit to 
Al^tyssinia in 1854, he retired to his native Wi"tmemberg. 

Meanwhile, Erhardt traveled to Tanga farther down on the East 
African coast in March 1854. It was his hope to strike inland to the 
Usambara Mormtains, where he planned to establish a mission sta- 
tion. However, the Arab traders along this etlast, protective of their 
slave tuading, proved sa htlstile that Erhardt was unahle to travel in- 
land. He finally left Tanga in Ocmber 1854 and, after a brief stay at 
Rabai, permanently departed from East Africa in L 855. Only Rebxt-nann 
remained at Rabai, where he was to labor for another twenty years be- 
fore returning to Wfisttemberg a blind and broken man," 

Erhardt" 11854 stay at Tanga would have lasting consequences for 
the geographic reputations of all three missionaries. While there, he 
collected as rnuch information as hc could about the interior. From 
what hc heard, it seel~ed that all caravan routes terlninated at great 
waters to the west. Based on this information, he wrongly concluded 
that there was an ertorlnous inland sea in the heart of East Africa, and 
back at Rabai, he easily convinced Rehmann of this as well. ErhardrJs 
conclusion did not square at all with Krapf's opinion that there were 
at least threc large interior lakes. k t  &apl reluctantly acquiesced to 
Erhardt's view, perhaps because he did not wish to further exacerbate 
their very strained relations, and never publicly presented his own car- 
rect opinion that there were, in fact, thrce lakes. 



Erhardt called the enorlnous body of water Lake Uniarnesi and drew 
up a map depicting it at the center of East Africa. He published his 
map in a WGrttcmberg missionary magazine, Was Crrlwer Mission- 
blnft, in 1855. Its appearance in such a limited-circulation publication 
drew little attention. However! the renowned Africa explorer Dr. 
Hcinrich Barth sent the map, along with three letters by Rcbmann, to 
the Gerlnan geographic scholar A u a s t  Peterrnann, who in turn sub- 
mitted a report on the letters to the widely read Athnaeurn, pub- 
lished in London," Mcanwhile, the GMS sent the map to the Royal 
Get~graphicaf f ociety, where it was hotly debated at a November 18% 
meeting. Its publication in the society's proceedings early in 1856 
caused both an uproaw and an outpouring of ink from the pens of the 
arrnchair get~graphers.~~ 

Cooley; MacQueen, and Beke lost no time rushing into print. They 
wrote passionate letters to the Athenaeum in which they both criti- 
cized the map and once again expounded on their long-held theories 
about the geography of the East Afri~an interior. 

In the ensuing debates, Erhardt's creation was pejoratively referred 
to as the "slug map'3ecause of the peculiar shape given to Lake Uni- 
arnesi. It was not only the lake's sshape that drew comment but also 
the fact that it was said to cover much terxitoxy previously thought to 
be dry, Even Richard Burtan, the famnus explr~rer, could nnt resist 
throwing critical barbs: 

In 1855, Mr. Erhardt, an energetic meml3er of the hapless ""Mlomhas Mis- 
sion," had on his return to London offered to explore a vast rnass of wa- 
ter, about the size of the Casplan Sea, which, from information of divers 
"natives," he had deposited in slug or leech shape in the hcart of inter- 
tropical Africat . . . thus bringing a second deluge upon sundv  provinces 
and icingdorns thoroughly well known for the last half 

Fortunately, cooler heads prevailed, Francis Galton of the Royal 
Geographical Society summed up the then current state of 'kexeediq 
ignorance'kf the region when he drew attention to the obvious differ- 
ences between the maps of Cooley, MacQucen, and Erhardt. 

The near hysterical debate about the source of the Nile focused the 
attention of geogaphers on Lakc Uniarnesi, and no one toak time to 
comrnellt on a much smaller lake depicted in Erhardt's map, It lay tn 
the northeast at three degrees north latitude and thirty-nim degrees 
east longitude in the arid lands of thc Rendillc and Boran peoplcs and 
was called Lake Zambura Ih its s~uthwest was Lake Baringo, and to 
its east the great Tuba (Giulsaj River. Except fox the longitude, which is 
off by two degxees, the place~ncnt of this lakc and the surrormding geo- 
graphic and ethagraphic nalnes leave little doubt but that it is Lake 
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Rudolf, Neither Krapf, Reb~nann, nor Erhardt had ever seen Lake 
Baringo or Lake Rudolf; their information about these distant lakes 
came from Arab and Swahili traders, who knew of them as good 
sources of ivory. 

Lake Zamburu drew little interest in the swirl of the slug map de- 
bate because it was thought to lie well outside the Nilc watershed. Al- 
most three decades would go by before that perception would change. 
Bp that time, European illterest in the Nile and its sources was no 
longer being driven by the intellectual curiosity of the 1840s and 
1850s but by fierce colonial competition for the river. Every possible 
Nile source became the focus of rival European powers, for whoever 
possessed the Nilc and its sources controlled the heart of Afaica and 
the fate of Egypt, 

Erha~dt's map made it clear to the leadership of the Royal Geogxaph- 
ical Society that the riddle of the Nile" watershed could never be dc- 
duced either from London or from the East African coast, What was 
needed was a well-equipped scientific expedition that would make for 
the interior and accurately replace the ianciful features that had for so 
long cluacred the map of Africa.. They chose for this experlitic-~n thirty- 
five-year-old Captain Richad Francis Burton. He was an officer in the 
Indian army, a highly respected Arabic scholar, and an experienced 
travelcr who had once made a daring dash into Mecca in disguise. He 
had proven his mettle under fire, had great leadership abilities, and 
was fluent in &abic.----a great asset in dealing with the kab-speaking 
traders who controlled the East African coast and interior trade routes, 
But Burton was also domineering, eccentric, opinionated, and intoler- 
ant of those who did not measure up to his intellectual standards. It 
puzzled Inany that he chose as his traveling companion John Hanning 
Speke, a rather bland fellow army officer and avid spovtsrnaa who had 
little to show for his ten years in India apart kotn the usual collection 
of heads, skulls, and skins. But Burton assessed Speke as the ided sub- 
altern since he presented an exterior that was modest, quiet, methndi- 
cal, and sdf-effacing. What was not so apparent to Burlon was Speke's 
enormous need to d i s t i n ~ i s h  himself, a need that wr~uld eventually 
transform him from a loyal disciple into a fierce rival, 

With a grant of 2 1 ,000 horn the Foreign Office and the patronage of 
the Royal Geographical Society, Burton and Spelce see out in L856 to 
investigate the Rahai missionaries3300-mile-wide and 800-mile-long 
Lake Uniamesi. They arrived in Zanzibar in December and left for the 
interior in J~lne 1857. A violent antipathy eventually developed be- 
tween the two men, kept in check in large measure by frequent inca- 
pacitating bouts of illness. Finally, after Inany difficulties, they came 
within sight of Lake Tanganyika on February 13, 1858, They learned 



from Arah traders what Kragf had known all along: There were, in- 
deed, three separate lalres-Nyasa, Tanganyika, and Ukerewe (or 
Myanzaj-all separated by appreciable distances. Because he was tem- 
porarily blinded by illness, Spckc could not at first sec the lake, Burton 
was so ill that he eventually led their caravan back to the Arah center 
of Tilbora so that they could recupcrate, 

Speke quickly recovered, whereupon, according to Burton, he be- 
came antagonistic, restless, and patronizing with the Arab traders 
with whom he was unable to converse. He finally asked Burton if he 
could ga a short distance to the north and look for Ifkerewe Lake. Bur- 
ton was quite willing ta let him go, not least of all because Speke was 
causing so lnuch trouble with their Arah hosts in Tahora. Plurton, 
though, had other ~nc~tives, ~notives that would eventually prove to he 
his own undoing. He had little regard for Speke" abilities and was ccr- 
tain he would fail. More importantly, he had concluded that Ukerewe 
Lake, if such a placc really existed, was not a source of the Nile, He 
was wrong on both counts, 

It was a relatively easy, two-week walk of 150 miles kotn Tabora to 
the lake, On Auwst 3, 1858, Spcke stood on its southern shore, can- 
vinced that it was the source of the Nile. But this powerful conviction 
was not substantiated by any scientiAc facts. Elated with his discov- 
e r5  he named the lake Victoria Nyanza (Lake Victoria) in honr~r of 
Queen Vietovia and later wrote: "''I'he pale blue waters of the Nyanza 
burst suddenly upon my gazc. . . . I  no longer felt any doubt that the 
lake at my feet g a x  birth to that interesting river [the Nile], the 
source of which has been the subject of so much speculation and the 
object of so Inany explarers. " 

Such senti~nents ~nade little ixnpression on Btarton when Speke re- 
tuned to Tabora: "At length my companion had been successful, his 
"ying trip%ad lcd hitn to thc northern waters. . . . We had scarcely, 
however, break-fasted, before he announced tc-I me thc startling fact 
that he bad discovered the source of the White Nile. . . . The fortunate 
discoverer" conviction was saong; his reasons were weak,"14 

Eurton was fairly convinced at this time that the true source of the 
Nile lay to the east, near Mount Kenya and Mount KiZimanjauo, Al- 
though he allowed for the possibility that Lake Rnganyilra was also a 
source, he viewed Lake Victoria as perhaps a series of lakes that fed 
into the Upper Nile. He reasonably arped  that he and Speke should 
report to tbzc Royal Geographical Society on their Andings regarding 
Lake Tanganyika, Speke clearly had other plans. Convinced that he 
had discovered the souxce of the Nile, he fully intended to claim the 
glory that h t  thought was ~ustly his, Burtvn was a man who achieved 
fame by distinguishing himself in Inany endcavars. But for a man of 



T h e  Sources of the Xfle 1 5  

Speke" limited abilities, fame could only colne through a singular 
chance accomplishment. Seeing Lake Victoria and claiming it as the 
source of the Nile was that chance, 

The return trip to the coast was unpleasant for bath lnen. Their ar- 
e rnea ts  over the sources of the Nile and Lake Victoria grew so acri- 
monious that thcy agreed not to discuss the subject further. Worse 
still, they were both extremely ill, Speke more so than Burton. It was 
during his febrile deliriums that Speke expressed his strong resent- 
ments against Burtan, who was nwsing him. Each man had helped the 
other through illness and adversity on this journey, and this should 
have forged a strong and lasting friendship between them. But as the 
journey drew to a close, it was clear to both of thcrn that Lake Victoria 
and Speke's personal need for it to be the source of the Nile made a fu- 
tuxe friendship impassible. 

Buxtan was quite ill whcn they arrived at Aden, where the civil sur- 
geon, Dr. John Steinhauser, advised him to rest. Spekc, however, had 
fully recovered and was anxious to go home. He left aboard the Furi- 
ous, aitcr bidding Burton a polite farewell. Burton later claizned that 
Spekce had assured him that he would not gct to the Royal Geographi- 
cal Society until Burton's retuxn. If Speke had given such reassurances, 
he quickly changed his mind after meeting Larrrencc Oliphant, the cc- 
centric and wealthy travel writer, abnard the Fuuious. On hearing 
Spelte's story, Qliphant advised him not to wait for Burtctn but rather 
to put forth his vicws to the Royal Geo~ayhical Society at once.15 

The rqortillg of the findings of an expedition by a subaltern before 
the leader's return was clearly a breach of accepted Victorian condust. 
As an army officer, Syelre knew this only too well. But Qliphant was 
persuasive, preying on Spcke" sense of self-righteousness and vanity 
and stirring up not only his greed, ambition, and desire for recognition 
but alsa his resentments against Burt.on. Even in the absence of 
Oliphant's influcnec, it is likely that Speke would have behaved mueh 
the same anyway. He wrongly viewed his discovery of Lake Victoria as 
something of a personal accomplishment and not as part of the official 
expedition, Thus, he felt fully justified in presenting this finding and 
his theory alsout the lake being the source of the Nile to the Rayal 
Geogrqhical Society. 

Speke privately approached Sir Roderick Murchison, the president 
of the society.'"~ and the society's other leaders must have known 
that Spekc's attelnpt to present a portion of the expedition" findings 
in the absence of Burtun was unscrupulous, if not unethical. Yet they 
were swept up by the excitement of Speke's discovery and by a power- 
ful self-interest in assaciating themselves with it. They seem to have 
bought into Spekds thet~ry that Lake Vietoria was the source of the 



Nile and had no wish to wait for Burton, whc~ would have dis~nissed 
the claim. ln allowing Speke to present his findings, they denied Bur- 
ton any role in the discovery of Lake Victoria. 

Spckc seized his chance, but in so doing, he tralnpled Burton under- 
foot. He quickly became Britain's hero of the hour, hailed as the dis- 
coverer of the source of the Nile, The Royal Geographical Society ac- 
tively promoted Spekek theory, and by late May, before B ~ r t a n  
returned to London, the society had helped to raise S2,500 to send 
Syclrc hack to Africa. In the process, the society and Spckc foreclased 
any possibility of Burton sawing seeds of doubt among the proposed 
expedition's financial sponsors, 

When Bufion Anally reached London on May 21, 1859, twelve days 
after Spcke" saddress before the society, he found that there was little 
interest in his Lake Tanganyika." 'me troubling was the harsh real- 
ization that he had greatly lnisjudged the man who had been his trau- 
cling companion and that he had been betrayed by those in whom he 
had placed so much txust. 

It was inevitable that the Spekc-Burton conflict would bccolne pub- 
lie. The insecure Speke, surrounded by allies and friends, went un the 
offensive against the one man who could demolish his claim. He vi- 
ciously attacked Bureon in print, exaggerated his own modest accom- 
plishments, and trivialized Burtods, He published two articles in 
Blackmod's Magazine about the expedition, replete with erxors, and 
had the temerity to claim that without him the expedition would 
have failed. At first, Burton rclnained silent, partly because he was 
still racked by mala~ia but more because he was very depressed by this 
ugly turn of events. His friends rallied to his support, and eventually, 
in 1860, he published his book The Lake Regions of: Central Africa, in 
which he made known his true assessment of Speke: 

X could not expect much from his assistance; he was not a finmist . . . nor 
a man oi science, nor an accurate astronomical c)hserver, . . . Dunlng the 
exploration he acted in a subordinate capacity. Can X then ieel otherwise 
than indiwant, when I find that, after preceding me from Aden to En- 
gland, with the spontaneous offerf on his part, of not appearing before the 
society that originated the expedition until my return, he had fast no 
time in taking measures to secure for himself the right of working the 
Aeld I: had opened . . . ? l %  

Spekc, the man of the hour, was sent hack to Africa to definitively rc- 
solve thc issue of the stlurce of the Nile. He was a poor choice for this 
job for many reasons. He lacked Rurton's thoroughness, had no real in- 
terest in. science, and was deficient in. his knowledge of the irzstru~nents 
used for determining latitude, longitude, and altitude. He was also 
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strongly biased in that he was not so much seeking the source of the 
Nile as attempting to prove his earlier claim about Lake Victoria. He 
chose as his travciing companion Jarnes Aug-ctsms G m t ,  a handsome 
kllow army officer who was a talented artist and botanist, Grant was 
unassuming and obedient, and as such, he was not apt to challenge 
Spcke's supremacy either during or after the cxpcditim, 

Speke and Grant arrived in Zanzibar in 1860, and by late L 861, they 
were in Tal~ora. From there, they moved north into the countvy sur- 
rounding Lakc Victoria. This was a part of Africa ruled by several po- 
litically volatile kingdoms, incl~zcljng Karawe, Buganda, and Bunyoro. 
Delayed in Buganda for m n t h s  by Ril~g Mutesa, Speke was finally 
able to leave in t 862. On July 2 1, hc stood where the lalrc emptied into 
a river, which he called the Soxnerset Nile. He stood there alone, with- 
out Grant, whom he had sent off to the neighboring kingdom of Bun- 
yoro, Although both men later claimed that this was a mutual deci- 
sion, many suspected that Speke had taken advantage of Gram's 
modest and malleable nature so that he could reserve the glory of dis- 
covery ior himsclf, 

By Nov~lnher 1862, Speke and Grant were in the kingdctm of Bun- 
yoro, While there, they heard (16 a large lake, the Luta Nzige (Dead Lo- 
cust], that lay to thc west, It was obvious to them that it might hc yct 
another source of the Nile. But debilitated by malaria and short of sup- 
plies, they could not visit it even though it was but a short distance 
away. They headcd down the Nilc and struck for Gondokoro, where 
John Pethcrick, the British vice consul at Khartou~n, was to lneet 
them as prearranged by the Royal Geographical Society, The society 
had given Pethcrick 51,000 to purchase boats and supplies for the ex- 
plorers. Drained by fever, emaciated from a Ineager food supply, and 
with their clothes in tatters, they pushed on toward Gondokoro with 
the expectation of being rclicvcd by Pctherick."" 

When Speke and Grant struggled into Gortdokoro on February 13, 
1863, two and a half years had elapsed since the start of the expedi- 
tion. They were pleasantly surprised to find Spcke's old sportsman 
hiend Salnucl Baker and his future wife, Florence, there to meet them. 
Baltcr was a widely tvaveled man who, almost on a whi~n, decided tct 
go to Gondokoro when he and Plorcnce first rcachcd Khartoum in 
June 1862. They finally arrived in Gondultoro on Februrlry 2, eleven 
days before Speke and Grant, only to find that Petherick had wne on a 
short ivory-collecting trip west of the Nile, 

Speke was delighwd to see Baker, who fed and clothed them and 
supplied them with all the news of the past two and a half years. But 
he was furious with Pctherick, who arrived a week later. As Syeke saw 
it, Petherick had put his personal trading interests ahead of the expedi- 



tion" welfare and thus been derelict in his responsibilities to him and 
the Rayal Geographical Society, Actually, Petherick and his wide had 
nearly died trying ta get to Condokora. But this was of no concern to 
Speke. Well fed and supported by Baker and with Baker's bboats at his 
disposal to continue cln to Cairo, he had no need of Petherick and his 
supplies. Petherick" wik, who was emaciated from the nearly fatal 
trip to Gondokon~, pleaded with Spekc to accept her husband's help. 
But Speke showed the revengeful side of his character by refusing to 
"recognize the succour dodgc." That was not all. He and Grant de- 
famed Petherick far and wide when they returned to England, going so 
far as to allege that he bad been involved in the slave trade, As a re- 
sult, Petherick lost his post as British vice consul at Khareoum and 
was almast made penurious. But he was not without friends, who 
were augmented by Speke's enemies, including the armchair geogra- 
pher lames IVlacQu~en,~ Still, it required many years for Pet-fieriek t.a 
rehabilitate his reputation and to clear himself of Speke's reckless 
chargese2I 

As Syelrc and Grant traveled down the Mile and back to London in 
triumph, Baker headed for the Luta Nzigk. Far the next two years, he 
and Florence traveled through what is now northern Uganda. Qn 
March 14, 1864, they reached the Luta Nzige, which they renamed 
Lalce Afbert in hc~nor of the recently deceased prince consort, Equally 
important, they determined that the Somerset Nile that flowed out of 
Lake Victoria emptied into Lake Albcrt after crashing over the 
Murchison Falls (now Kabalega Falls]. Another river, the Atbcrt Nile, 
then flowed out of fialre Albert to form the White Nile.22 

A year before, Spckeis presumptuous telegram from Egypt----""The 
Nile is settled'Lhad been greeted with near hysteria in Great Britain. 
However, during the ensuing yea,  Speke had clearly shown that he 
was a man who could not shoulder fame and glory modestly or toler- 
ate even lninimal questioning of his findings. And increasingly, there 
were many questions put to him, He had not circumnavigated Lake 
Victoria or traced the So~xlerset Nile from the lake to the Nile. Baker 
would later show that Spekc.'s river actually flowed into Lake Alhert 
and that another river, the Alkert Nile, flowed out- of this lake to form 
the White Nile, But even without Baker% infarmatictn, newspaper and 
lnagazine editctrialists grew more and more skeptical of Speltc's 
claims. 

Cornfortable with his hero's laurels and sensing he was invulnera- 
ble, Speke became reckless and began to arctack his rivals in public. 
Petherick, who became a special object of his scorn, was finally forced 
to file a libel suit against him, Even Sir Radcrick Murchison, once his 
arch supporter, now saw him as aberrant. Just as Spcke had dislnissed 
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Burton as irrelevant to his discovery of Lake Victoria, he now simi- 
larly viewed the Royal Cesgxaphical Society, which had obtained the 
funds for him to And the source of the Nile. He went so far as to refuse 
to write a report for the saciety"~ journal, as he feared it wudd endan- 
ger the profits from his soon to be published puma1 of the Discovery 
of the Sauree of the JVilg.L%mchison viewed Speke's refusal as repre- 
senting both ingatitude and treachery. But he had only himself to 
blame. He had behaved treacherously against Burton in his rush to 
support Spcke in the first place and had refused to give credence to 
Burton's accurate assesslnents of him, 

Speke's book was published in Decenzber 1863 and became a best- 
seller. However, by spring 1864, public and scienljfic opinion was 
openly against him. Murchison was shocked by the grossly inferior 
quality of the scientific paper Speltc eventually submitted for publica- 
tion in the society" journal, at was so poorly written that Murehison 
felt compelled to write a prealnble criticizing its weaknesses. Much to 
his chagrin, Murchism was discovering that everything Buxton had 
said in 1860 about this rnan was true. He was also squirming because 
Spelcc had gut the society and the Foreign Office in an awkward situa- 
tion by convincing them that Petherick was a slave trader. "They had 
rushed to judgment against Petherick and were now seeing Spcltc"s 
reckless allegations proven false in the public press. 

If Speke had lied about Petherick, could he have been telling the 
truth about the sourcc of the Nile? Marchison was a shrewd political 
operative who recopized the danger posed to the society and hilnself 
personally by their continued support of an increasingly discredited 
Speke. In an attempt to shift public scrutiny away horn the Spekc- 
Petherick contmversy and all that it implied for the society, Murchi- 
son supported Qliphant's lbrilliant scheme of arranging a debate be- 
tween Speke and Burton. Hc knew that Burton would relish the 
opportunity and that as an arlny officer and a man of honor, Spelte 
could not The debate was scheduled to take place in Septem- 
ber 1844 during a meeting of the British Association for the Advance- 
ment of Science, The topic was to be the sources of the Nile. In 
matching Burton against Speke, Qliphant was staging a journalistic 
spectacular, Hc must have known that in any debate between these 
two men, the odds were not in favor of Speke. Burton was a polished 
and experienced speaker, with one of the finest minds in the country. 
Spclrc was hmhling and inarticulate and partially deaf, all of which 
put him at a clear disadvantage. 

Burton and the eighty-five-year-old but vigorous MacQueen had re- 
cently joined in colnmon cause against Speke. They were brought to- 
gether by a ~trong belief in alternate lake sources for the Nile and by 



MacQueen" (outrage against Speke for what he had done to Betherick, 
In addition, MacQueen had an intense revulsion to Speke's philander- 
ing at the court of King Mutcsa of B~gaxrda.~' 

Burton was prepared to propose that the Nile issued from Lake Tan- 
ganyika and Lake Rarings to the east. Lake Raringo, he said, was fed by 
the snows of Mount Kilii~nanjaro and Mount Kenya, which he now 
claimed were really Ptolemy" Mountains of the Moon, This theory, 
for such it was, appealed to MacQueen, who had long postulated a 
two-lake source for the Nile linked to the Mountains of the Moon, 

The Burmn-Speke debate never took place as planned on September 
16, 1864, As Burton waited on the platform for the "Nile f)uelr9o be- 
gin, a now was passed around inforlning those present that Speke had 
been killed the previous afternoon while out shooting, with relatives 
nearby. He was found shot in the chest. The coroner determined the 
fatal injury had occurred when Spelre" gun accidentally fired as he 
e l i d e d  over a stone wall. Bztrton fell back into his chair on hearing 
the news and exclaimed, "By God, he's killed himself," Many others 
were of the same opinion, 

Spekc: was an experienced sportslnan who had never had an accident 
with firearms. Yet he may have been understandably anxious and dis- 
tracted because of the ugcotning d c b a ~  with a man who was clearly 
his intellectual superhr and an accomplished speakcr. He was also 
worried that his partial deafness would place him at a disadvantage 
with his rival and the audience, Distracted by these warries, hc could 
easily have been careless as he climbed over the wall a d  pulled the 
gun up after himself. 

Spcltc" ecntnies, and he had many at this point, were inclined ta 
think that he had ct~mmitted suieidc. His allegations against Pether- 
iek were crumbling thus clpening to question his integity and the ve- 
racity of his geogaphic claims. And now he was gandioscly speaking 
of making a trip across Africa, claiming that if he did not do it, no one 
could. In brief, he had made a successful grab for dory and fame and 
had ~ u s t  as quickly self-destructed because of his serious character 
flaws. 

Rurton and MacQueen preferred to inteqret Speke" death as a sui- 
cide. Such an interpretation validaeed their conclusion that his discov- 
eries were so faulty that he could not successfully defend them in pub- 
lic. k t  Rurton was truly saddened by Speke's tragic deathe2" Also, he 
eventually came to realize that Spekc had, in fact, made an imponant 
contribution to solving the mystery of the sources of the Nile. 

Another thirteen years elapsed before all the details of the Nile wa- 
tershed were elucidated. By this tirne, Bcke and MacQueen were dead, 
and Burton" interests had taken him far away from the Nile sourcc 
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controversy to Brazil, India, the Middle East, and Trieste. It displeased 
many in class-conscious Great Britain that the honor of definitively 
resolving the riddle of the Nile sources fell to an American-raised 
Welsh orphan, Henry Morton Stanley. 

A journalist for the New York Herald, Stanley became famous in 
1871 when he "found" Livingstone at Ujiji on Lake Tanganyika. Liv- 
ingstone had been in the interior since 1866, searching for the source 
of the Nile in the regions of Lake Tanganyika and Lake Bangweulu. 
Because of his strong efforts to end slavery, no caravan leaders were 
willing to carry his letters back to Zanzibar for fear that they con- 
tained information about their own slaving activities. Since he had 
not been heard from in several years, many assumed he was lost some- 
where in Central Africa. Stanley's 1871 trip to find Livingstone was 
conceived of by James Gordon Bennett, the son of the publisher of the 
New York He~ald.~' More lasting for Stanley than the newspaper pub- 
licity created by his meeting with Livingstone was his desire to finish 
the work of Speke, Burton, Baker, and Livingstone. 

In 1874, the British Daify Telegraph and the New York Herald sent 
an expedition into Africa, led by Stanley, to definitively resolve the is- 
sue of the sources of the Nile? During this three-year expedition, Stan- 
ley circumnavigated Lake Tanganyika and, finding no northern outlet, 
proved that it was not connected to Lake Albert and was therefore not 
a source of the Nile. He also circumnavigated Lake Victoria, thus con- 
firming Speke's claim that it was one lake, and found that it was the 
largest lake in Central Africa, not a series of lakes as Burton had 
claimed. He found only one river flowing out of the lake, Speke's Som- 
erset Nile. The features of the Nile watershed north of this area were 
fully explored by Lieutenant Colonel Charles Chaille-Long, an Ameri- 
can, and Romolo Gessi, an Italian. Both were in the service of General 
Charles Gordon, who was then the governor of Egypt's Equatoria 
Province in the Sudan. In 1876, Gessi was the first to completely cir- 
cumnavigate Lake Albert. He and Chaille-Long eventually verified all 
of the geographic findings of Speke, Grant, and Baker in this region.29 

Stanley proved that the Lualaba River, which Livingstone had hoped 
was the Nile, actually joined the Congo and flowed west into the At- 
lantic. When Stanley arrived back in Zanzibar in 1877 after navigating 
the Congo to its mouth on the Atlantic, the mystery of the Nile 
sources in Central Africa was resolved. By that time, it was known 
that the White Nile originated in Lake Victoria, which in turn was fed 
by the Kagera River on its western shore and by rainfall. It was also 
known that Speke's Somerset Nile, later called the Victoria Nile, 
flowed out of the northern end of Lake Victoria into spider-shaped 
Lake Kyoga, which was first seen by ChaillBLong. It then coursed into 



the northeast corner of Lake Albert. The Albert Nile flowed out of the 
extreme northern end of Lake Albert for some 200 miles to Nimule in 
the Sudan, where it formed the White Mile, The White Nile flawed far 
a l ~ ~ o s t  1,000 miles north ta Khartouln, where it was joined by the 
Blue Nile coursing down from the highlands of Ethiopia* The source 
and path of the Blue Nile had long been known thrarrgh the seven- 
teenth-century explorations of Portuguese Jesuit ~nissionaries in 
Ethi~pia.~" But between I. 770 and I. 773, James Bruce, the British trav- 
eler, definitively traced the river" course frarn Cake Tana in the 
Ethiopian highlands to its confluence with the White Nile.3J 

This remarkable charting of Africa's lake and river systems was not 
dxiven solely by scientific interest in the source of the Nile. These W- 

terways also crl~nprised a vital transportation network that gave ac- 
cess t~ the continent's resources and provided a means clf eventually 
imposing political control. As Ewogean colnpetition for passessian of 
the Nile and its sources intensified, attention shifted t r ~  other lakes 
that might feed into the watershed, Among these was Lake Zamburu, 
whicfn had Axst appeared an Erhardt's slug map of 1855 but which no 
European had ever seen, 



Charles Tilstctne Beke, a leading 
armchair getjgrapheip (frc~m The Nile 
Qucst, 2 903), 

f ter  Krapf returned 
to WGrttemberg in 
1855, he began work 

on a two-voluane book describ- 
ing his experiences in Ethiopia 
and East Africa. This book es- 
sentially consisted of his jour- 
nal entries, many of which had 
been previously published in 
the Church Missionary Record 
and the Church Mi~sl'onary In- 
telligencer. When Reisen in 
Ost-Aft-ika was self-published 
by Krapf in Kurnthal in 1858, it 
attracted little attention in geo- 
graphic circlcs.l Most of its 
contellt was well known to ge- 
ographers through Ruapf's pcri- 
odical publications, and the 
slug map he included was na 
longer of much interest. 

Since Rrapf had left the East 
African coast in 1855, the Royal 
Geographical Society had sent 

Burton and Speltc into the interior to settle the issue of thc Nile water- 
shed. Their return was anticipated in a lnatter of lnnnths. In addition, 
geographers now attached less importance to information gathered on 
the coast. Thcy fixrrrfy believed that Africa" true physical features 
could only be determined by direct scientific observation. Thus, 



KrapfJs book, with its older and less convincing account of Africa'f in- 
land waterways, held little interest for them. 

Rrapf's inclusion of Lake Zarnbrrru on his rnap served to affirm his 
strong belief in a large lake that lay to the south of the Ethiopian high- 
lands. Yet this also attracted little notice because it was sa intimately 
associated with Erhardt's largely discredited Lake Uniamesi. 

Shortly after the appearance of Krapf's book, L4on des Avanchers, a 
Gapuchin missionary from Savoy, published an important paper and 
rnap detailing the geography and ethnography of the East African inte- 
rior. He did so in the form of a lengthy letter addressed to the elninent 
French geographer Antoine Thornson. dlbbadie, which was published 
in. the March X 859 issue of the Bulletin de la Sosl"kt& d g  Gdographie." 
Avanchers had gathered his inforrnatiun while on the Solnali coast, 
There, he interviewed many camvan leaders, some of whom actually 
h e w  maps for him. One informant who proved to be especially reli- 
able was Hadji Abd-el-Nour, the sheikh of Brava, who drew up a de- 
tailed map marked by the courses clf rivers, the locations of moun- 
tains, and the distributions of vafious ethnic groups. 

What separated kanehers's publication from those of many of his 
contempamries was the degree of effort he devoted to giving credit to 
African collaborators for the information he yresen~d.  Wc obviously 
was successful in establishing a close and trusting relationship with 
these men, who in turn provided him with accounts that were both re- 
liable and accurate. Even a century and a half latex, one cannot but be 
impressed by the wealth of new and valid information contained in 
Avanchers" repart. Yet at the time, it was hardly noticed because its 
focus was on the East Akican coast and the vast area covering what i s  
now southern Ethiopia and northern Kenya. This region was of little 
interest to a world obsessed with the sources of the Nile that lay to 
the west. 

A dominant feature on hancherds map was a large lake that he 
called El Boo. Draining out of it to the northwest was a river marked 
"'Affluent that the Saornali say i s  the Nile." Thc placement of El Boo 
between thirty-five and tfiirty-six degrees east longitude and at one de- 
gree north latitude put it in the general vicinity of Lake Rudolf. What 
was more convincing, however, was the strong ethnographic and geo- 
graphic contextual evidence hanchcrs  presented for the lake, The 
Rendille people were correctly depicted as living to its south and east, 
the Boran to the northeast, and the Konso to the north. Thc lake was 
shown as being suuth of the Tertala Plateau and to the northeast of 
Lake Baringo, f eatuxes that accurate1 y defined Lake Rudolf 'S location, 

In his text, Avanchcrs provided ohe r  important observations made 
by his African collaborators: 



Several days south, of the lake, is a chain of mountains called Obrsda 
. . . south of: the rnountains i s  the Baharingo country, near which there i s  
a large fake. 

To the south of the mountains i s  an active volcano, and at the extrem- 
i ty of the chain, hot spxixlgs. 

All of the country scluth of Lake El Boo is inhabited by the Wa-KuaE 
(m simifying people).' 

This information was remarkable for its accuracy. The volcano was 
probably Mount nlelri, which was extremely active then, and the W- 
Kuafi were the Sa~nburu people, who still live suuth of the lake. 
Nonetheless, these were a number of inaccuracies on Avanchess's 
map. These related not so much to the existence of the topographic 
features depicted as to their spatial and positir~nal relationships to one 
another. For example, the Lorian Swamp was shown to the southwest 
of the lalte although it actually lay to the southeast. 

kanehers  was clearly familiar with the work of Krapf, Rcbmann, 
and Erhardt and also with the writings ctf the armchair geograpkr 
james MacQueen. As hanchers wrote: " b u t  myself in contact with 
all the caravan leaders who had penetrated the interior of the conti- 
nent, Several among them drew some maps which had all the same 
form and which, with a few corrections, had a great rese~nblance to 
those of the Protestant ~nissionaries and to that of Mr. MacQueen,""" 

hanchers may also have had access to the slug map. Even if he did, 
however, it had no influence on his own map, which bare little rcscm- 
blance to is, The shape and position of his lake El Bao were quite dif- 
ferent from Krapf's Lake Zarnburu. Yet it is clear that both maps de- 
picted Lake Rudolf, adheit by two different names, 

It was reasonable for Avanchers to send his &aft report and map to 
Antsine Thomssn dXbbadPe for correction and corroboration. Both 
Antoine and his brather Arnaud Michel were among France" best- 
known geographers and were also leading authorities on Ethiopia. In 
1838, the French Academy had sent the brothers to Ethiopia on a sci- 
entific and geographic expedition that was to last for a dozen years, 
They surveyed lnost of the central and northern areas of the country 
and made ilnportant observations ctn the southern province of Kaffa, 
about which little was then known in Europe. They studied the fauna, 
flora, local lanwages, and customs and amassed a large collection of 
manuscripts, which they subsequently took back to Paris. 

The dfi?abbadie brothers were especially recognized for their knowl- 
edge of the geography of s a u t h m  Ethiopia, the area adjacent to that 
described by Avanchers. In 1843, they conducted explorations of the 
upper Qmo River, the principal affluent of Lake Rudolf, This region, 
comprising the upper Lake Rudalf basin, was first: visited by two Pm- 



tuguese diplo~natic e~nissaries, Antlinio Fernandes and Fequr Egzike, 
in the late sixteenth century. The record of their observations of the 
upper Qmo River system was preserved in the 1646 descriptions of the 
Portuguese Jesuit Manuel dc Almeidea.' The d'Abbadies were the first 
Europeans to visit the upper basin of Lake Rudolf since the Portuwese 
two hundred years earlier, Thus, they were ideally qualified to com- 
lnent on Avanchers" findings, especially his descriptions of Lake El 
Boo, 

In 1849, Antoine dqhbhadie entered the Nile source controversy 
with the publication of his book Note sur le Huur Fleuve Blanc, in 
which he incorrectly claimed that Ethiopia's Blue Nile was the river's 
principal hcadstream. Not only did he make this claixn, he also further 
stated that, based on his travels in Kaffa and other areas of southern 
Ethiopia, the White Nile was not a major source*TThese views quickly 
braught hirn into conflict with Charles Tilstone Beke, who, despite 
his own geographic work in Ethiopia, tvas fast beculning one of Lon- 
don's leading armchair geographers. 

Bcke had arrived in Ethiopia in 1840, two years aftcr the d%iihbadie 
brothers, and left in 1843. Some of his own geographic work in central 
Ethiopia had overlapped with that of the dFAbhadies. Thus, from this 
perspective alone, they were rivals. Still, this did not hl ly explain the 
viciuusness of his attack on Antoine dxbbadie" views on the Nile 
sources, Beke was a strong proponent clf the idea that the White Nile 
was the river" snain source, an opinion later strengthened by Speke's 
report to the Royal Geogaphical Society in May 1859 on finding Lake 
VictoAa. But he was confronted by Axltoine dFAbl~adie, who, in refut- 
ing this and stating that the Blue Nile was the principal source, had 
the authority of Brahand observation on his side, In order to promote 
his views and discredit d%l~badie%, Beke reclclessly resorted to chauizc- 
ter assassination, He alleged that d%abbadie had never actually trav- 
eled in southern Et-hiopia and stated that the information from this 
"pretended journeyt%as therefvxe meaningless.' 

Beke had the terneril-y to bring these charges before the Ceopphi -  
cal Society of Paris in hopes that that organization would p~lblicly 
censure Antoine diAAbbadie and strip him of his membership. Blinded 
by jealous rivalry and obsessive opinion, Beke did not foxesee the soci- 
ety's response to his chaqes or dxbbadie" cmvincing rebuttal. After 
listening to bath men, the society wisely decided to take no action, 
Bcke was furious with this outcome. He promptly resigned frmn the 
society and returned the gold medal awarded to him in 1846. Unable 
to obtain satisfaction through the society, he then went on to publish 
a sxnall inquisitorial booklet in which he attclnpted to thoroughly dis- 
credit dsbhadie and his thesis about the Blue Nile.This action and 



the charges of fraud that he had brought befare the Geographical Soci- 
ety of Paris successfully placed a cloud of suspicion over the veracity 
of dfAbbadie's travels and discoveries far cnany years to come. Fortu- 
nately, Antoinc d%f~ba&e lived to see his reputation restored when 
later travelers confirmed his discoveries." 

Antoine dtAbbadie% overe support of hanchers" speculation that 
Lake El Boo fed inta the Nife represented an accorn~nodation on his 
part to Beke's original. theory. Yet by the time hanchers" paper ap- 
peared, Spcke" report of seeing Lake Victoria was but two months off. 
The debate would quickly shift from thc views of coast-based mis- 
sionaries, Bekc and dqabbadie, to those of Burtsn and Speke. Still, a 
lasting cffect of hanchcrs's paper and d%Abbadic"s support of it was 
new credence given to Krapf's original claim about a large fake south 
of the Ethiopian highlands, The slug map's Lake Uxliarnesi may have 
bcen a tictian, but Lake Zambzrrrr was still a challenge waiting to bc 
explc~red. 

In 1860, Kxapf published an English-language version of his 18% 
book. Entitled Travgfs, Researches, and Missio~ary Labours During 
an Eighteen Years' Residence in Eaaern Africa, it was an abbreviated 
version of his original German publication." In an attempt to make 
the geographic information current, k a p i  cnlisted the help of Ernst 
Get~rg Ravenstein, a German cartogapher from Frankfurt who had be- 
gun worlring for the British War Oflice Topogxaphical Department in 
1855, Since he had partieipatcd in the debates about East African geog- 
raphy, he was intimately familiar with thc findings of Burton and 
Spcke, as well as the opinions of Beke, Gooley, and MacQueen," He 
provided KrapfJs book with both an introduction and a new map, 
which reflected a reasonable opinion about the East African interior as 
of 1860, Significantly, the map erroneously showed Lake Baringo as 
the principal source of the White Nile and reflected Bckcis assumprion 
that the Mountains of the Moon were to the north of Mount Kenya. 
Lalrc Zarnbum was not shown on this map. Had it been, Ravenstein 
would have been hard-pressed to finlr it to the source of the White 
Nile, given its large size and proximity to Lake Baringo. Because of the 
excitement so recently produced by the findings of Burton and Speke, 
it is not surprising that Krqf" book elicited so little interest. 

Since leaving East Africa, Krapf had kept alive his hope of bringing 
Christianity to the Cafla people, It was this continuing interest that 
brought him into contact with the Missionary Cornmittcc of the 
Unitcd Methodist Free Churches. Krapf met with this group in Man- 
chester in November 1860 and agreed to spend two years in East 
Africa helping them establish a mission station, In janzrary 1862, he 
arrived in Zanzibar with Thornas Wakefield and 1. Woolncr, By April, 



they were at Ribe, some fifteen miles north of Momltasa and a short 
distance from Rabai, where Krapf had worked for so many years. They 
began the construction of a mission station at Ribe, but by October, 
Kvapf had to leave because of spinal problems. Woolner also left be- 
cause of illness, and eventually, Wakefield joined Rebmann at Rahai 
for a short while.I2 

The United Methodist Free Churches soon sent out a replacement 
for Krapf and Wuolner. The man they chose was Charles Newt the 
twenty-three-year-old son of a Berkshire carter, New, who had worked 
as a boot~naker for several years before entering the Methodist min- 
istry in 1860, was healthy, enthusiastic, and intelligent. He arrived in 
Mombasa in June 1563, and he and Wakefield reopened the Ribe mis- 
sion station, where they hoped to launch their effort to bring Chris- 
tianity to the Galla. This of necessity focused their attention on the 
vast area that lay to the north and northwest of Ribe. Although Mew 
was doubtful about this lnission ta convert the Galla, Wakefield 
would pursue it for almost thirty-five years.I3 

New and VVakcficld were to work together for the next decade, and 
unlike Krapf and Reb~nann, they had an extre~nely harmonious rela- 
tionship, Their partnership extended not only to their missionary ac- 
tivities but also to their geographic and ethnographic studies. They 
gave form to same of the whispered realities of the interim, such as 
Lake Zamhuru. But more important, they both traveled beyond the 
coast and substantially added to what was known about East Africa's 
rivers and ~nnuntains. 

Prior to New" arrival in East Africa, Baron Car1 Claus von dew 
Decken, a Hanoverian naturalist, and Ricbard Thornton, a British ge- 
ologist who had worked for David Livingstone on his Za~nbezi expedi- 
tion, txied to scale Mount Kilimanjaro. They made their attempt in 
1861 but only reached a height of 5,200 fcet, an 1862, van der Deckera 
was back, this time with @to Kerstcn, a young Gcrtnan scientist. 
They hoped to clirnb Mount Kilimanjaro and then travel (In to Lake 
Victoria. They managed to clirnb 14,200 of the mormtain's 19,340 fcet 
but were unable to praceed to Lake Victoria because of the alieged op- 
position (16 the Maasai at Arusha. Von deu Decken had hoped to make 
a third try on Mount Kilirxanjaro and also c l i ~ ~ b  Mount Kenya. How- 
ever, he was killed in So~naliland in l 865.14 

On his return from the second attempt on Mount Kilimanjaro, von 
der Decken met Charles New and encouraged him to try to clirnb the 
mountain, Eight years were to elapse before Ncw followed this advice. 
h Tuly 1871, he set out from Ribe on a three-month trip that would 
take him to "faveta, Moski, and finally up the mowtain to a height of 
some 15,000 feet. H e  and twa Afvican assistarns succeeded in reaching 



the snow line, This great accu~nplish~nent was in no small Ineasure 
due to the assistance he received from the local Ghaga chief, Manga 
Rindi f Manciara j. But Mandara's hospitality did not corne cheap far ei- 
ther New or other explorers who followed him: Nfandara also sue- 
cceded in duping them into believing that his chiefdom was the most 
powerhl one on the southern side of thc mountain, Xn reality, Man- 
dara ruled over a relatively small and weak chiefdom, However, he 
was a13le to hide this fact from a number of travelers and benefit from 
their gifts and tributes by being a gracious but exploitative host, 

New safely arrived back at Ribe on Oetubcr 10, 1871, where he 
found an invitation to return to England on leave. However, Sir John 
Kirk, the acting British consul in Zanzibar, was organizing an cxpcdi- 
tion to rescue Livingstone, and he invited New tcz join it. This expedi- 
tion, though, was soon abandoned when Stanley reappeared cln the 
coast with the news that he had met Livingstone at Ujiji, New arrived 
in London in july 1872, where he wrote his book Life, Warzderings, 
and Lnbouxs in Eastern Africa, which was published in 1874." He re- 
turned to East Africa that sarrre year, deterarrirred to continue the 
work C I ~  ~nissionary exploration in the Mount Kilimanjaro region. 
With this in mind, he set out for Kilimanjaro on December 3, 1874, 
and by ranuary 24, 1875, was in Moshi. On his arrival there, he found 
that Mandara was preparing to attack the neighltoring chiefdom of 
Marangu. Some 2,008 excited warriors had even been assembled by 
Mandara for this purpose, The threat of imminent warfare alone 
made it impossible for New to continue his explorations. Hc~wever, 
worse was to come. Mandara proved hostile and effectively plundeued 
Mew's lnodest caravan under the guise of receiving gifts. He confis- 
cated New% snc~st valuable possessions, including his silver aneroid 
barometer and his gold watch and chain. To complicate matters, most 
of New" twenty-three porters deseut.ed, and Izc hizrrself calne down 
with dysentery, 

Mandara" hhostility toward New was in response to the latter's 
stated intentions of pushing farther west to the neighboring chiicfdorn 
of Machame and the frontiers of Maasai country. Mandara wanted to 
prevent this at all costs, Had New gone on to Machame, he would 
have quickly discovered that it was a much more powerful chicfdom 
than Mandara"~ own. Future Eurtzyean travelers would then have by- 
passed Mandara, thus depriving him of access to tribute, 

In plundering and sabotaging New's expedition, Mandara may have 
had an acct~mglice in Sadi bin Ahedi. He was an Arabic-speaking 
trader, about forty-five years of age at the time, who was New" chief 
guide, Sadi was an experienced caravan leadcr who had travcled 
thrrzugk the interior on numerous occasions and who fluently spoke 



Maa, the language of the Maasai. Sadi's wonderful linmistic abilities, 
vast knowledge ctf the interior, and skills as a leader and guide were 
offset, in New's opinion! by a number of dcfccts, which he described in 
detail: 

Makes a gt~od appearance for a headman . . . at heart he is a coward, . . . 
[We] begs hard, and when beging fails him, he resorts to scheming. As a 
guide, he is a man cclf great experience, and knows the Masai country and 
language betterf i t  is said, than any other man upon the coast; yet as a 
wide he has long been discarded, all his caravans having failed to bring 
back anything like an adequate return. . . . A timid, craven soul . . . Ere 
would rather give awaty his last scrap of cllathing rather than incur a 
chief" frown. He was engaged by the Ba1-n van der Decken for a journey 
to the Masal country, but the undertatking failed, and the failure is attrib- 
uted by the Wilsuahili to Sacli" sclvercatttious tactles. He was the only 
guide available . . . otherwise X might not have employed him, X thou&t 
. . . I could c a n t l ~ l  his evil prt~pensitles; and in taking l ~ i m  I had this ad- 
vantage, X knew him, X toolc him in hand, therefor, under bit and curb; 
with whst success will be seen.'" 

New's assessment was written after his first trip to Mount Kiliman- 
jaro in 1871. Sadi" srnotives in sabotaging New's second expedition 
probably related to a desire to keep Eurt~peans from penetrating too far 
into the interior. Coastal traders were extremely protective clf their 
ivory -trading monopoly and feared that Europeans would take control 
of it, As part of their effc~rt tn keep Europeans out of the interior, they 
greatly exaggerated the threat posed by the Maasai, whom they char- 
acterized as warlike and bloodthirsty. Xt was not beyond people of 
Sadik ilk to sabotage expeditions like New's soncc the Europeans tried 
to push on beyond Mclunt Kilimanjaro, However, protection of his fel- 
low traders' commercial interests may not have bccn Sadi" only mo- 
tive. Hc may also have been fcarf~tl of so small an expedfiion ap- 
proaching Maasai country, and perhaps he personally benefited from 
Mandara" pplundcr/ing of New, 

Europeans on the coast had, for a nulnber uf years, suspected Sadi of 
sabotaging von der Decken's 1862 attempts to cross Maasai country, 
New alluded to this, and loseph "Thornson, a latcr traveler, was quite 
explicit about it: ""Their caravan leader was one Sadi-bin-Ahect-i, . . . f 
have every reason to believe that von der Deckcn's failure was mainly 
due to the lnachinations of Sadi, whose lietlc ways in that directictn, X 
have much reastln to k n < ~ w . " ~ ~  

New was now so wealtcned by dysentery that he, Sadi, and a couple 
of the remaining rnembcrs of the expedition were forccd to retreat to 
the coast. rtiding 2 donltey at first, he eventually had to he carried on a 



stretcher. On February 13, 1875, he sent an urgent plea for help to the 
Church. Missionaxy Society station at Rabai.. Although help was sent, 
it arrived toa late. On February 14, Ncw's faitlzful assistan& carried 
his body into Rabai. 

New% death on the road back to the coast came as a shock. to Wake- 
field, for New had becn physically fit and full of enthusiasm when he 
left a few months before. In all probability, he died f-rc-)m either actlte 
bacillary dysentery or typhoid fever. There is really no evidence to 
support Mandara's latcr allegations [made to Thomsonj that Sadi bad 
poisrlned New. As Thomson himself said, "That part of the story f 
can hardly believe; Sadi could have no motive for anything of the 
sort. if 

As much as Thoxnson caxne to dislike Sadi, he spoke highly of his 
positive attributes when he first met him in Taveta in 1883, eight 
years after New's death: ""Me had a commanding and venerable pres- 
ence, a not unimportant qualification in the Masai country, and . . . 
without exception he had the most thorough knowledge of the Masai 
language of any man on the coast, Even thc Masai had to admit they 
were no match for him in power of talking out a subject, I never knew 
anyone with such a sillgular '@it of the gab.'"I9 

New" geographic accomplishments were significant. He was the 
first tcz reach the snow line of Mount Kilimanjaro; he crlllected many 
new specimens of flora from the mountain" alpine region; he identi- 
fied Mount Kenya as the source of the Tana River; and he refuted soane 
of the mare absurd speculations of armchair geographer William Des- 
borough Gooley, who still maintained that Mount Kenya and Mount 
Kilimanjaro were not snow-cavered, In addition, Ncw and Wakefield 
had identified some of the principal features of East Africa, based on 
their travels and those oE caravan leaders such as Sadi. These included 
several lakes-Baringo, Naivasha, and Nakuru----Mow Kenya, Mount 
Kilimanjaro, and the Tana Riverszo 

In 1870, Wakegeld published a lengthy article describing the cam- 
van routes from the coast into the interior, based on information pro- 
vided by Sadi. With this article, he also published an important map 
reflecting information he and New had gathered on their travels, as 
well as the accormts of Sadi and other caravan leaders, But it was pri- 
marily bccause of Sadi's recollections of his travels that Wakefield and 
New were able to fix the position ctf the large northern lake that 
traders called Samburu, Wakefield showed it on the map as lying hc- 
tween thixty-eight and thirty-nine degrees east longitude and one and 
two degrees north latitude. Althou& the lake's position was some- 
what off the mark far Lalre Rudolf, its position relative to Lake 
Baringo was accurate"21 



According to Waltefield, Sadi had some interesting things to say 
about the lake: 

This is the limit of Sadl's journey from Sigirari. Hc dld not realty enter 
Samburu, but only reached the southern frontier, He states that he saw 
the northern [southern?] end of the Sarnburu Lake, which appeared two 
days off, and described it as being in length from station at Ribe to 
Ripumbui (128 mifes); breadth from Ribe to Gasi 537 miles); bearing 
N.N.E,, S.S.W,22 

Sadifs description of the lake was of great significance because it in- 
cluded measurements that later proved to be accurate to within a few 
miles. The lalre's incorrect orientation can he explained by the fact 
that Sadi had not persunally traveled up along its shores and therefore 
could not verify its true geographic position, 

In view of Sadi's eyewitness testimony, it was difficult for geogra- 
phers tcz ignore this large northern lalce called Samburu, By the mid- 
I870s, it regularly appeared on maps produced by other explorers who 
had traveled through adjacent areas. An example of this is the map 
that accompanied the book of the Ccrlxan botanist George Schwein- 
furth, who had spent three years traveling through the Upper Nile, the 
Bahr el Chazal River, and the upper reaches of the Uele River in what 
is now the northeastern Congo, He showed Lake Zamburu as fceding 
into the Upper Nile. 

New and VVakeficld's discoveries had, for the most part, cansali- 
dated geographic opinion in favor of a great northern lake. Their Lake 
Sarnburu gave tangible form to the whispered reality that had been 
Krapffs Lake Zarnburu and Auanchtrs's Lake El Bao, They had alsa 
filled in the interior map of East AfYica with some precise geographic 
features determined through their ctwn travels and those of their 
African colleagues. an so doing, they had responded to jonathan Swift's 
satirical challenge of almost a century and a half before: 

So geogr~zphers on Afi.i;c-mui?s, 
with S R V R ~ B - ~ ~ G ~ U ~ ~ S  fill l'hl3k gaps, 
and o'er uninhabitable d o m s  
glace elephant$ for want of towns.24 

New and Wakefield succeeded in replacing some of the elephants 
with rivers, lakes, mountains, and streams. They had also set the stage 
for yet another generation of travelers who would C O I ~ C  and replace 
even more. 
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Ioseph Thornson and two of his 
Afi.ican ctlrrzpanz'c~n S, Jam es 
Livingstone Churnsr and Xtaakt~tubu 
(fiozn Through Matsal Land, 1885). 

west. Cameron crossed Africa on foo 
ton. Stanley sailed down the Congo 

y the late 1870s, the 
yrincipal geopaplzic fea- 
tures of the East Mriean 

interior had been documented. 
Travelers and explorers had tri- 
angulated Mount Kilimanjaro, 
circumnavigated the large cen- 
tral African lakes, and charted 
the courses of the ~najor rivers. 
The great era of European ex- 
ploration of Africa had been 
largely driven by the desire t r ~  
pursue geographic knowledge, 
suppress thc slave trade, and 
pralnote ~nissionary endeavors. 
Burton, Speke, Krapf, Reh- 
mana, New, Waltefield, Start- 
ley, and Livingst-onc had all 
been part of it, 

This era syxnbolicaliy ended 
when two rnen, Verney Lovett 
Cameron and Henry Morton 
Stanley, succeeded in crossing 
the continent f ro~n east to 

t in 1873-1 875, and Henry. Mar- 
River in 1876-1 877,' Althuugb 

there were still many blank syaecs on the  nap, they were not suifi- 



ciently important to draw financial support sc.tlely in the interests of 
geographic exploration. The decades-long era ctf geographic inquisi- 
tiveness was slowly but inexorably f=iving way to one in which corn- 
lnercial and political interests were to dcter~nine how and when the 
blank spaces would be explored. Reflective of this change was the for- 
mation of the African Exploration Fund in IS77 by thc Royal Geo- 
graphical Society. Its yatmn was the Prince of Wles, and its executive 
committee was composed of several eminent scientists and eplorers, 
including lames Augustus Grant, who had traveded with Spekc in 
Africa, In reality, the fund represented a British foil to the Interna- 
tional African Association established in 1874 by King Leopofd II of 
Belgium as a lofty-sormding cover for his own colonial ambi t ioa~.~  

The society's Akican Exploration Fund was, in ~nany ways, a neces- 
sary British response to emerging European challengers in East Africa. 
The British had, in fact, taken the lead in the exdoration of East 
Africa, but they had done srt in an era when political and commercial 
considerations were not paramaunt. Now they were faced with the 
prospect that the lands they had opened tbraugh scientific, geographic 
inquiry would be euln~ncrcialiy and politically claimed ky. other Euro- 
pean powers, It was this specter of interlopers seizing for profit what 
the Royal Geographical Society bad opened for science and religion 
that forced the society's hand. 

For many society members, the African Exploration Fund's eco- 
nomic and political focus reprcsented an uncomfortable departure 
from their organizatiods previous direction, However, the saclety's 
leaders successfully muted most of the dissension so as to improve 
their ability to raise lnoney far the fund, This they did by appealing to 
dissenting lnernbcrs with a fund prospectus that emphasized geo- 
graphic and scientific objectives, in addition to the economic ones 
bound to be of interest to industrialists and Inert of comlnerce. This 
compromise also sustained the ilalne of evangelization that had for so 
long been at the heart of British exploratory efforts in Africa. The link- 
age between missionary endeavors and cornanerce was not new, for it 
had always been a part of the work of Livingstone and others. Yet the 
balance bad shifted, if not in the text of the prospectus then certainly 
in the minds of its  author^.^ 

The Africm Exploration Fund Committee set forth seven routes in 
Africa that it viewed as of the utmost importance in promoting sci- 
ence, geography, religion, and, above all, commerce. These included: 
the route from Witwatersrand in southern Africa to Lake Tanganyika; 
the route along the eastern side of the mountains from the Zambezi 
Rivcr to the equator; the route jrom the East African coast to the 
northern end of Lake Nyasaj the area hrtm Lake Nyasa tct Lake Tan- 



ganyika; the route from Bagarncjyr~ on the East African coast to Lake 
Victoria and Lake Tanganyika; the route from the East African coast at 
Mombasa to Mount Kili~~anjaro and Lake Victoria; and the route from 
Formosa Bay on the East African coast up the Tans River to Mount 
Kenya and Lake Vi~toria .~ As some saw it, there would soon be roads 
and telegyaph wires running along these routes to support rich corn- 
lnercial prospects that only Arab and Swahili traders had previously 
exploited. 

In April 1878, soon after: the committee had published its prospec- 
tus, Alexander Keith Johnston Jr. wlunteered to explore the route 
from Mombasa to Mount Kiliixanjaro and Lake Victoria, However, the 
committee denied his request on the grounds that the Rilaasai had re- 
cently prevented the German explorer Dr. Johann Maria Hildebrandt 
from crossing theix 1ands.Fearing certain failure for a similar, fund- 
supparted expedition, they suggested that be instead try to explore the 
more southerly route from Dar es Salaam on the coast to Lalte Nyasa. 
They viewed this as a modest and relatively inexpensive trip devoid of 
major risks. k t  they also knew that it was one whose results would 
appeal to their several cnnstitueneies, including scientists, churchyeo- 
ple, and industrialists. In brief, the Lalte Nyasa expedition could give 
the fund the cjuick and certain success it needed to carry an its h ture  
progalns. 

johnston, who was the thirty-three-year-old son of an eminent Scot- 
tish geographer, had impeccable credentials. He had trained undcr the 
highly respected cartographer Edward Stanford and with Dr. A u a s t  
Petermann, the finest geographer in continental Emope. He had also 
acqulrcd significant field experience in India and Paraguay and had 
served during the previous two years as the Royal Geographical Soci- 
ety's assistant map curator.The selection of Johnston by the African 
Exploration Fund Cornmittet. pleased many in the society's old guard 
because they were sure that, as a scientist and geographer, he would 
return with a wealth of information covering geography, natural his- 
tory, ethnology, and climate. 

In June 1878, after the corn~nittee had approved of Johnston" eexpe- 
dition to Lake Nyasa, another Scotsman read of it in the DurllMes and 
Cnilfa~rlry StmduYR" 6 Advgrtiser, fascph Thornson, the twenty-yeax- 
old son of a successful stonemason and quarry owner, had recently 
completed his studies in geoloay and natural history at the University 
of Edinburgh, He was an excellent studcnt, winning rnectals in bath 
subjects and high praise from Professor Archibald Geikie, who lcc- 
tured on geology. Like many young men clf his age, Thornson was 
faced with the difficulie: decision of choosing a future career. He could 
have worked with his father and brt~thers mana@ng the quarry, Hr~w- 



ever, such an ordinary career held little interest for him. A romantic 
by nature, he had avidly read the travelogues of Burton, Speke, Living- 
stone, and Stanley and was fascinated by them. These books had so 
fired his ixnaginatiun that his fondest hapc was to travel one day into 
Africa with an expedition such as Johnston was about to lead. 

Romantic that he was, Thoanson was also bold and at tilxres exces- 
sively sel f-confident , He immediately wrote to Jc~hnston, volunteering 
to serve without pay in any capacity. An enthusiastic letter of recorn- 
menheion from Profcssar Gcikic attesting to Thornson" geologic and 
natural history knowledge resulted in his plea receivi~lg special con- 
sideration, Johrtston needed a subaltern who could assist him in the 
geologic, natural history, and callcceing aspects of the expedition, 
However, he also wanted someone who, by reason of his limited geo- 
graphic skills, could not challenge his authority and supremacy either 
bring or after thc trip, as Speke had done with Eturton. Thornson 
filled these needs since he was young, inexperienced, superficially 
knowledgeable about getllogy and natuxal history, but unablc to use a 
sextant or take other important geographic measurements, The corn- 
xnittee liked Tho~nson not only because of his educational credentials 
but equally because he agreed to serve as geologist and naturalist fox 
so little pay.' 

Johnston and Thornson arrived in Zanzibar on January G, 1879, 
where they met Dr. John Kirk, the British consul general who had pre- 
viausly traveled with Livingstone on his Zambezi expedition. Kirk 
told them that it would be impossible to strike for Lake Nyasa until 
May since the "long rainsr9hat had begun in November were the 
heavicst in years. In order to All their tilne and gain some practical sa- 
fari experience, he suggested that they make a brief: visit to the Usam- 
bara Motmtains, which by then were frequently visited by EuropeanseM 
On their rcturn from this uneventfrtl trip, they began recruiting 
porters in Zanzibar with KixkJs assistance. They eventually engaged 
125 men to carry their food, supplies, guns, ammunition, and bundles 
of beads, wire, and clatb. lohnston was fortunate that jamcs Living- 
stone Chuma, Livingstcme's former caravan leader, was available. He 
agreed to serve as the expedition% headman and helped to recruit sev- 
eral reliable assistant headmen. Ghuma had been with Livingstone 
when he died and had carried his body back to the coast. This remark;- 
able act of loyalty and devotion had won him wide admiratic~n in 
Gucat Britain, Hc also spoke several African languages and possessed 
superior skills in resr~lvirtg prablexns axnnng the pr~rters and in negoti- 
ating with local chiefs. 

The expedition Anally set off far Lake Nyasa on May 20, t 878, fal- 
lowing the well-used Arab trading route west. Prior tcz leaving Zan- 



zihar, Johnston had written tr3 the African Eqloration Fund Cct~n~nit- 
tee requesting that Thomson be recalled and sent back to Scotland. 
During the Usarnbara journey, he had found him insufferably con- 
ceited and extremely superficial in his scientific work. Thctmsctn's al- 
most adolescent enthusiasm had proven to be no substitute fur a dili- 
gent and meticulous approach to scientific inquiry. 

Thamsan had tried hard to please Johnston and to socialize his rela- 
tionship with him, even before they left London, but to no avail. John- 
ston, tkc sophisticated, well-bred, and well-educated scientist, found 
little in common with this rough-hewn country boy from the Scottish 
lowlands. Yet he was always civil to Thomson and at no paint let hirn 
know that he had requested his recall." 

The committee reluctantly agreed to Johnston's request and sent 
Thomson a recall letter via Rirk in Zanzibar. However, the letter ar- 
rived aitcx the two men had left fox the interiar, and Rirk wisely de- 
cided not to forward it," Such a letter, when read in the interior, 
would have created an open breach between the two and perhaps led 
to the collapse of the expedition, En addition, Kirk fcared that Thom- 
son's dis~nissal from London while in the interior held the seeds for a 
very embarrassing public quarrel that could have rivaled the Burton- 
Syclre dispute in its notctr-icty. The last thing that the fund needed, he 
reasoned, was a messy cc.)n8iet that might jeopardize its future plans. 

The expedition was in the field for little move than a month when 
Jahs ton  became seriously ill with dysentery. His condition rapidly de- 
teriorated to the point where he could not stand, Finally, on June 26, he 
lapsed into a coma, and he died the following afternoon at Behc~beho.~~ 
Thornson, who was only twenty-one years old, was now in chage of 
the Royal Geographical St~ciety" East African Expedition. Kirk. 
promptly supported Thornson" ddecision to continue the trip, even 
though he knew that, without Fahaston, the principal objGctives set 
O L Z ~  by the cc31~1nittee would not be achieved. He had talcen a reason- 
able measure of Thomson when he was in Zanzibar. Although he 
found hirn iporant in the use of the sextant and a far second to John- 
ston in his scientific abilities, he was optimistic that he had the rc- 
saurcefulness, tenacity, and stamina to successfully lead the expedi- 
tion. At the same tirne, he did not believe that a Thornson-led caravan 
would prc~duce much in the m y  of useful scientific results,12 h r  Thom- 
son was realty a dilettante at science, an adventuxer who enbyed the 
excitement and challenge of travel in Africa, and a man whose mind 
was both disorganized and unfoeused, Still, he had his positive points, 
among which were his patience and ability to successfully ctversee the 
infinite logistical details of a large caravan, These were considerable as- 
sets: In fact, the most scientifically proficient expeditions had some- 



times collapsed because their European leaders had little patience and 
few skills in handling porters and the recurrent, nagging details of cara- 
van lifc. More an efficient quararmaster than an expedition leader, 
Thornsun stood a better chance than sc-11ne experienced explorers of 
reaching his destination and returning alive, albeit with little in the 
way of lxeanirzgful. results to show for thc effort*13 

With Kirk's blessing, Tholxsnn and the expedition travelcd to the 
northern end ctf Lake Nyasa and then on to Lake Tanganyika. Return- 
ing by a more northerly route, Thomson visitcd Lake Rulcwa, which 
had not been previously seen by European travelers. After spending 
fomteen months in tile interior and walking 3,000 miles, he arrived at 
Bagamoyo on the coast in June 2 880,'Thanks to Thornson" skills and 
those uf Chuma, nu porters had deserted and no ar~ned crinflicts had 
erupted between the caravan and local peoples. Only two men on the 
expcdition had died, lahnston and a porter, This remarkable record of 
survival and peacehrl transit more than compensated, in Kirk'f view, 
for the expedition's cartographic and geologic failures, which were sig- 
nificant, But Thoanson was a keen observer and recorded lxlany useful 
descriptions of the areas he had visited. In addition, scientists were 
pleased with the plant and shell collections he tosli back to London."" 

Few could And fault with the man who had rescued the African Ex- 
ploration Fund Committee's East Affican Expedition from certain fail- 
ure. k t  despite his boundless enthusiasm, excessive confidence, and 
ability to get a job done efficicntiy and quickly, some found him scien- 
tifically superficial, i~nprecisc in his observations, and endowed with 
an inclination to exaggerate and overdramatize events. Howeveu, their 
reservations about him were scarcely heard above the chorus of praise 
for what was hailed as one of the mc-1st suceesshl British expedidons 
ever to venture into the East African interior. 

When Thornson returned to London, he was thrust before a public 
long accusto~ned to the accounts of eminent travclers and explorers. 
Although the newspapers hailed his personal triumph and armchair 
trauelers took vicarious pleasure in his actventures, Inany others made 
the inevitable co~nparisons between Thomson and Burton, Baker, Liv- 
ingstone, and Stanley.I6 The flush of admiration for a young man who 
had successfully surmormted so many dangers in the African interior 
soon gave way to a realization that his voyage was of little lasdxlg 
value. The governing council of the Royal Geographical Society did 
not rush to summon him, hl ly aware that the expedition had fallen 
terribly short of its geographic and scientific objectives. It was only af- 
ter writing several letters that Thomson finally oktained an audience 
with Lord Henry Austin Bruce Aberdarc, the society" president, He 
and others had praised Thomson for his accomplishmen.ti tc-I have 



done otherwise would have been an adi-nission that the society" sexpe- 
dition had failed, firet Thornson was disappointed that Lord Aberdare 
did not respond to his request to lead fuut.her expeditions or financially 
compensate him for the one he had just rescued.lr In part, this was due 
to his own lack of insi&t. The press and his hiends and relatives may 
have lionized him as a hera, but privately, some in the society saw 
him as little rn11re than a pure adventurer, After all, these were men 
who had lrnown Livingstone and Speke and who munted Burton, 
Baker, and Stanley among their friends. Tholnson clearly did not mea- 
sure up to these explorers, and as they saw it, his personal triumph 
carne by chance and at the expense of sacrificing the scientific objec- 
tivcs of their expedition, 

After wt-ziting for almost five months at the st~ciety's duor, Thomsan 
was finally invited to spealr to a packed assembly hall, He gave a fac- 
tual account of his iourteen months in the interior and ended by say- 
ing, "I never onec was required to fire a gun for either offensive or de- 
fensive purposes," thus evoking empathy from the missionary 
supporters and tibcrais in the audience. The society's officers did their 
public duty by praising him, hut Lord Abcrdare dearly overdid it when 
he said, 'Wane of the expeditions in which this Society has borne a 
part . . . had been marked by. . . greater success than this."I8 

The society, not wanting a complaining Tfio~xsun going before the 
public, gave him E250 and had suita'ble medals made for the African 
rnervlhrs of thc expedition. At last sensing his own deficiencies, 
"Thornson announced that he was going to use the society's financial 
gift to further his education in science. There was a taint of self-inter- 
est in this announcelncnt since he wanted to lead future socicey- 
sponsored expeditions to Africa.13 

In reality, the prospects for this were rather dim at the time for rea- 
sons unrelated to his qualifications. By 1880, public interest in and 
support for expeditions to Africa had dramatically declined in Great 
Britain. The society's African Exploration Fund was so unsuccessful in 
raising money that it was terminated, with its remaining bank bal- 
anec being used to pay Thomsan and produce medals for his menam 
Still, Thornson was hopeful as he set out on speaking engagements 
and began writing a book based on his journals. 

Thornson" two-volume book, To the Central African takes and 
Back, was published in the summer of l881 by Sampson Low, 
Marston, Scarle, and Rivingtan in London and later that year by 
Houghton Mifflin in Ncw York.21 It received good reviews in newspa- 
pers and magazines, but it disappointed those accustc>med to the writ- 
ings of Thornsank hhcroes. What carne across was the author's tact, 
tenacity, and lngistieal genius, which were no substitutes for the vi- 



sinn, vitalitx and purpose that characterized the writings of Burton, 
Livingstone, and Stanley." In a sense, Thornson's book was a forerun- 
ner of a genre of adventwe story that would be poguiarized a fcw years 
later by H. Rider Haggard, creator of the fictional hero Allan Q~~arter-  
main. But Great Britain of the early 1880s was not quite ready for ei- 
ther Allan Quartermain or Indiana Jones, for whom Thornson could 
have served as the real-life paradig~n, It is of more than passing inter- 
est that the Allan Quarterrnair~ of Haggard's 1885 book King 
Solornun's Mines is so similar to Tbomson, Likc hixra, Quarterrxain is 
courageous, sportsmanlike, respectful of nature, and endowed with 
endurance, resourcefulness, and physical ~trengtl.1.~~ Thornson's ex- 
ploits were at first measwed against those of Burton, Baker, Living- 
stone, and Stanlcy and fr~und wanting. However, later generations of 
Victovian and Edwardian, boys would be mesmerized by both Thorn- 
son and Quarterlnain, 

After his African triulnph, Thornson was not about to retllrn to 
Scotland and help manage the family quarry. He felt that his future lay 
in Africa and conrinued to hope that a proposal to return there would 
soon come his way, H e  did not have to wait very long, In early 18812, 
while still basking in the glory of his Lake Nyasa expedition, he re- 
ceived an offcr from Sultan Seyid Barghash of Zanzibar to explore pos- 
sible mineral deposits in his do~ninions along the East African coast. 
Thomson immediately accepted and set out on a trek covering several 
hundred miles along the Rovuma River, where coal deposits were 
thought to exist. After two brief months in the interior, he returned to 
the coast in early September with the unpleasant news that there was 
no coal to be found.14 

This quick trip helped ta bolster Thomsnn's reputation as an ex- 
plorer in Great Britain, even though the Sultan was displeased with its 
results. His next opportunity to show his mettle as an cxplorer came 
from an unexpected source. In 1881, as Tho~nsun was winding up his 
Revuma River expedition, the British Association for the Advance- 
ment of Science was holding its annual meeting in f i rk .  Although the 
Royal Geographical Society had grown somewhat crlol toward cxplo- 
ration in Africa, the association had not. Its council passed a resslu- 
tion calling far the scientific cqloration of the snouy cnountains of 
East Africa, Implicit in this tvas the obvious assulnytion that stlmeone 
had to cross Maasai land to achieve this goal. 

The association fovlnally asked thc Royal Geographical Society to 
sponsor an expedition, far which the former would provide financial 
suppout." in a sense, the society's hand was forced because if it refused 
the request, it ran the risk of the assaciation undertaking the cxpedi- 
tion itself or else seeking a rival sponsor. Still, the society moved 



slowly; and it was not until June 1882 that its Expedidon Cn~n~nit tee 
passed a resolution endorsing the association's proposal. The resolu- 
tion also added another objective, namely, the exploration of the area 
between the snowy mountains and Lake Tiietc.)ria." This was one of 
the last great parcels of East African land that had not yet been visited 
by Euxopeans, 11. was viewed as having potential commercial impor- 
tance as it contained the shortest route tc-I the wealthy kingdt-~ms 
around Lake Victoria and the sources of the Victoria Nile. 

Most in London saw this as a daunting rmdertaking, prilnarily be- 
cause it required crossing Maasai country. By this time, the Iufaasais" 
two-decade-old reputation in Europe as violent savages was accepted 
as fact, Arab and Swahilii traders described them as warlike and Aerce, 
both beeause they believed this to be the case and also because they 
wanted to keep Europeans out of their rich ivory-trading fields. Mis- 
sianaries on the coast added thcir opinions on this side of the cqua- 
tion, as did explorers such as Grant and Stanley, who had never visited 
the Maasai." These mistaken perceptions were reinforced by Dr. Jo- 
hann Maxia Hildebrandt's failure to enter the area in. 1877 becmse of 
threats by fvraasai warriors. 

Thus, by 1882, as the society was resolving to send an expedition 
across Maasai country, these pastoral people were perceived in Europe 
as fierce, bloodthirsty warriors. In reality, even if this characterization 
had once been true, it was clearly dated by the 1880s. The Maasai 
were certainly a powerful force on the East African steppes and 
plateaus by the lniddle of the century. But- about that time, a series of 
widespread civil wars greatly decimated both their numbers and their 
power, Refugees from these wars sought haven in places like Taveta, a 
caravan staging point, or began raiding neighboring peoples in order tn 
survive. The latter action, instead of being interpreted as a sign of so- 
cial. disinlcgration, was viewcd by lnissianarics and travelers as evi- 
dence of the Maasaiskeontinued ferociw and power. Disease had also 
taken a heavy toll on these people and their herds." A serious chofera 
epidemic in 1869 killcd many, and their herds were soan decimated by 
outbreaks of ple~ropneumonia,~ Finally, a serious smallpox epidemic 
further reduced their strength in 1883-1 884. 

It is no suqrise, then, that Zanzibar-based Arab and Swahili traders 
began penetrating this region with great frequency by the early L880s, 
by which time Maasai political and military power had signigcantly 
declined. One of the few who sensed this change was the Vcnc~able 
J,P. Farler, archdeacon of the Universisies' Mission Station at Magila, 
near Maasai country. Based on information he had obtained about 
trading routes from coastal merchants, he concluded that a well- 
armed caravan could successfully cmss the Maasais' high  plateau^.^ 



Tho~nson was the obvic-,us person to lead this expedition, given his 
previous exploratory successes. Although the Royal Geographical So- 
ciew laid out laudable scientific objectives, all that it really wanted 
was for Tho~nson to explr~re the two snowy rn(luntains and open a 
route to Lake Victoria through the country of the Maasai. This would 
provide confirmation of Mount Kenya's existence and lay open the 
shortest route to the headwaters of the Mile and the lake kingdoms of 
Central Africa, Thomsan agreed to serve without pay and volunteered 
to study the use of i n s ~ ~ m e n t s  for taking astrrtnomical observatians, 
under the guidance of the society's cartographer, John Goles,'" 

Thornson left London on December 13, 1882, and on arriving in 
Zanzibar, he bemn recruiting 123 porters, most of whom were armed 
with Sllider rifles. Showing good jtldgment, he engaged a nulnber of 
men who had reliably served with him or other explorers before, 
Ghr-tma was dcad, and in his pIace, Thalxson hired as I-zeadman 
Mrrinyi Sera, who had workeci in that capacity on Stanleyk cross- 
Africa trip in 1874-1 877. For assistant headman, Thornson hired 
Makatubu, who had traveled with hiln to Lake Nyasa and along the 
Rovuma River. He took un another of Stanley's former employees, a 
man named Racheche, to serve as quartermaster.'" 

Mehough Thornson had not intended to take another European along 
with him, he changed his mind when he met james Martin in Zan- 
zibar. Martin, whose real name was Antonio Martini, was a year older 
than Thomson, having been born in Malta in 1857. A sailmaker by pra- 
fession, he had arrived in Zanzibar from India on an Alnerican ship a 
few years befsre. Because the crew was drunk, the ship ran aground, 
and only the sobcr Martin was able to give credible testimony in the 
naval court hearing that would f~llaw. This dearly put him in jeopardy 
with the rest (16 the crew, so the authorities found a place for him at 
Frere Town, near Mombasa, where he was elnployed at the headquar- 
ters of the Churel~ Missionary Society. Martin was very highly thclught 
of by all the Europeans with whom he had worked, This, coupled with 
his organizational abilities, dependability, and fluency in Swahili, per- 
suaded Tholnsun to make him his second in colnlnand, 

Unfortunately for posterity, Ma~tin was illiterate, and thus the jou- 
neys he made with Thomson and otl-less in subsequent years went un- 
recorded. He tvas clearly a man of mceptional abilities, who made im- 
portant contributions to the success of Thornsoak tri~>.~Trfhomson 
admitted as cnuch when, the cxpe8ition ended, but he defined Martin 
as the perfect, unquestioning subordinate: ""Iannut speak in too high 
terms of this young sailor, who was ever prompt to do whatever was 
required, always cheerful, and, though uneducated, an intelligent 
companion. He never presulned upon the favour with which f regarded 



him, and he had no opinions of his own-an admirable quality for a 
subordinate in an African e~pedition.'"~ Even a quarter of a century 
later, Spekek successful challenge of Burtan's leadership was a lesson 
not lost on expedition leaders. Martink personality and illiteracy en- 
sured that there would be no challenges ctf that kind to Thornson. 

Tboxnson headed for the interior on March 6,  t 883, after visiting 
Thornas Wakefield, the Methodist- missionary who had recorded much 
of what was then known about the interior. He proceeded with consid- 
erable haste, not to avoid the rains that would soon begin but to over- 
take a Gerlnan naturalist, Dr. Gustav A. Fischer, who had set out in 
December from Xfangani, on the coast, on what was clearly a rival ex- 
pedition acrass Maasai land. Fischer had made goad progess through. 
the initial stretches of the Maasai steppe. He visited the st~da lake Ma- 
gadi and was the first European to see the Rift Valley. Descending its 
eastern escarpment, he traveled on to Lake Naivasha, where he soon 
encountered stiff opposition from large nu~nbers of Maasai warriors. 
Fischer" caravan included an assortment of ivory merchants, whose 
dishonest dealings probably led to problems with the Maasai. In retali- 
ation, the warriors threatened the porters and demanded huge quanti- 
ties of tribute, which Fischer could not pay. Forced to retreat, he 
lnoved south to Lakc Natron, another soda lake, then passed Mount 
Meru and made for Pangani, where he arrived in August 1883, eight 
months after setting (~ut . '~  

As Thomson headed far Taveta, the caravan staging point southeast 
of Mount Kilimanjaro, he had no way of knowing that Fischcr's expe- 
dition would fail, It was in 'T'aveta that he met the famous ivory trader 
Sadi bin Ahedi, who had traveled with Ncw and von der Deckcn and 
who had provided Wakefield with detailed geographic information 
about the interior, Sadi had fallen into debt to a number of coastal 
merchants and had, as Thomson said, "fkd to Taveta to escape irnpris- 
on~nent," TTho~nson hired Sadi as a second guide, thr~ugh he later re- 
gretted this move when he realized Sadi's cowardice and treachery.?" 

While in Taveta, Thomson opened negotiations with Mandara, the 
Chagga chief of Mc.>shi, On Ayrif 18, he set off for Moshi, and on ar- 
rival there, he was impressed by Mandara" hospitality and kindness. 
However, Mand;zraJs cupidity soon became apparent. Through. tact and 
patience, Thomson was able to fend off the chief" shakedown and in 
the process retxieve New's gold watch and chain. He alsa raced up the 
slopes of Mount Kilimanjaro, reaching a height of 8,700 feet in seven 
hours. just as quicltly, he r~lshed down, gathering up a small collection 
of botanical specimens on his way, Had he really aied, given himself 
enough time, and taken sufficient supplies and equipment, he proba- 
bly would have reached the summit. 



Taking his leave of Mandara, Thomson moved west toward the bor- 
der clf Maasai country, There, he leaxned that Fischer's caravan had 
come to blows with the Maasai and that as a result, the local warriors 
were on a war footing. This called for a change of plans, and so he 
wisely retreated to Taveta, where he arrived on May 12, 1883. He now 
realized that, contrary to the advice Grant had given him in London, 
his best chance far getting across Maasai land was by joining farces 
with a large trading caravan. Meanwhile, he made a speedy trip to 
Mombasa far additional supplies and rcturned to Taveta on July 2, 
1883. There, a stroke of luck in the form of a large caravan led by 
Jumhe (Chief) Kirnemeta from Pangani and heading for Maasai land 
changed his fortlzncs. Xiimcmeta was an experienced ivory trader and 
traveler who, had he been literate in any language, would have gone 
down in history as the ""discoverer" of many East African landmarlts 
fox which Europeans later received credit." But Kirnemeta's interest 
was principally ivory. With the greater protection afforded by this cara- 
van, plus Rimemeta" knowledge of the country and its peoples, Thorn- 
son once again set off! moving awound the northern Ranlr of Kilirnm- 
jaro and up tu Mgc~ngc., Bagas, near modern-day Nairobi, He found the 
Maasai arrogant and intrusive, but he managed to deal with them 
didomaricdly, passing himself off as a fnl'bm (rncdicine man) by pop- 
ping out his false teeth and putting effervescent salts in water. The two 
caravans moved on north thxoiagh the Rift Valley to Lake Naivasha and 
up along the Nyandarua Moun'c;ains, which Tbomson named the Aber- 
dares in honor of the president of the Royal Get~graghical Society. He 
paid a hasty visit to the slopes of Mount Kenya but did not attempt to 
climb it as he had Kilimanjaro. 'det he was the first European to can- 
firm Mcfunt Kenya's existence since kapf had seen it thirty-five years 
before. He then rejoined the main part of the caravan, which had gone 
on to Lakc Baringo. From there, Kimemcta went noreh to tradc for 
ivory among the Turkana, and Thomson headed for the village of 
Nyemps at Lake Baringo. After a short stay at Nyemps, Thomson set 
off in a rush to Lake Victoria, a relatively short distance away, which 
he reached on December l 1, 1883. He visited 14, 1 78-foot-hi& Mount 
Elgon but did not attempt to reach its peak, He then charged back to 
Lakc Baringo, enjoying considerable sport along the way. 

For all intents and purposes, Tho~nson had achieved his objectives at 
this point, less than a year after leaving the coast b r  the first time. He 
had visited the snowy ranges of East Africa, had crossed Maasai land to 
Lake Victctria, and had even attempted to climb Kilimanjaro. Yet had it 
not been for Martin's competence as the expedition's second in corn- 
mand, Thornson might have died, fox shortly after returning to Lake 
Baringo and until he regained the coast, he suffered from severe clysen- 



tery and was virtually incapacitated, He left the Lake Baringo area on 
February 22, 1884, and for most of the way to Ngongo Bagas was accsm- 
panicd by Jumbe Kimerneta. It was largely thanks to Kimerneta that he 
had safely crt-~ssed Maasai country and aeihieved some of the other goals 
of his expedition. But Thornson disregarded Kirnemeta's advice about 
txaveliing togcrher to bangani and was carried down to the coast via a 
parallel route though Kamba country; reaching the mission station at 
Rabai in late May. He was greeted by Mrs. Thornas Wakefield. She later 
described his arrival in her diav entry of June 2: 

Mr. Thomscln has returned! On Saturday afternoon, he came here with 
his caravan. . . . He is very unwell, and is anxious to obtain a doctor% sad- 
vice. He is worn very thin, but says he is very much stoutcr than he was 
some months ago. Mr. Wakefield was at Rihe when Mr. Thomson ar- 
rived. . . . Mr, Thornson put his hand into his pocket and said, ""Here is 
something Mr. WalteBeld will have seen before!" And he drew out a gold 
watch and chatin and seal. "These," he hesaid, "were Mr. New". Matndara, 
the Chief of the Chagga, who took them from Mr. New in such a heart- 
less manner, hats restored them to me to be taken to England and given to 
Mr. New"  friend^."'^ 

This gesture was reRcctive of Thornson's determination and scnse 
of duty. He had been carried on a litter for almost three months, and 
yet, hardly able to stand, he presented Mrs, Wakefield with the watch 
and chain Mandarrs had seized t-rorn New over a decade before, 

The other heroes of this ~ourney were Tames Martin, Makatubu, and 
the Afvican staff who devotedly cared for Thomson when he was ill. 
Martin virtually tool< charge of the expedition on the return to the 
coast and graved himself to be skilled, trustwarthy, and loyal, Finallx 
Thomson owed a great debt to Ifumbe Kirnerneta, who provided the ex- 
pedition with guidance and protection, Thompson would later praise 
Kimcmeta tvhile at the same time revealing some of the prejurfices of 
his clwn culture: "A more thoroughly good fellow than rumba Ki- 
mameta never lived bhough he possessed almost all the characteristic 
vices of his race]."39 

Rut Kimemeta had, to some degree, played a double @me. On the 
one hand, he had helped Thornson, and on the other, he had sccn to it 
that the expedition did not venture into the ivory-rich territory that 
lay near Lake Sarnburu. la sa doing, he attempted to limit the direc- 
tion and scope of Thornson's travels, This proved to be of little incon- 
venience tcz "fhumson since the trading fields Kimcmcta wanted to 
protect lay to the north of the expedition's areas of interest. 

Thomson was @ven a hero's wcZcome in Britain, and his book enti- 
tled Throtlgli Masai L a n 4  first published in 1885, was a sensation,4o 



Of note is the fact that Ju~nbe Kilne~neta" name did not even appear 
in the index, although Thomson did give him credit for his invaluable 
assistance to the mission, Over the years, scholars have come to real- 
ize that altfiough Thomson accomplished a remarkable feat that had 
enormous implications fox Britain's later colonial ambitions, he was 
hasty and carcless in his observations, did things on the runt and 
lacked the ability to analyzc and approach syste~natically the objects 
of his observations. In part, this may have been due to his youth and 
to his fear that the German exploser, Fischer, would beat him to the 
prize. B u t  these characteristics were evident in the aceaunts of his 
other journeys as well." To his credit, Thomson Anally gave a precise 
idea of the sizc of Lake Baringo, which had been greatly exaggerated in 
reports from waders and which Spekc had erroneously claimed was a 
part of Lake Victoria. 

Thornson also brought back exehing news about the gent, cnysteri- 
ous lake to the north, which traders called Sa~nburu. While he was at 
Lake Raringo, he met some WakwaA (Samburu ctr Maasai) visitors who 
had come south from the area of Lake Sarnburu. They were quite fa- 
miliar with the lake: 

This lake they described as from twenty to thirty miles broad; but its 
length they knew not, as they had never seen the northern end, They fur- 
ther spoke of it as lying between mountains several thousand icet high! 
thcittgh the water does not quite reach their base, and there Wakwafi 
dwclI. They say that the water is salt, and has surprising numbers of 
enormous white fisla, with crucadiSes and hippopotami. The natives have 
no canoes,42 

On the map accompanying his book, Thnxnson placed Lake San- 
buru at thirty-seven degxees east longitude, with its southern end at 
about three degrees north latitude. This represents an accurate place- 
lnent of the lake today, but the true confi~rat ion is different from the 
one Thornson gave, which was essentially that which had been pub- 
lished by Wakefield and sorne others. His descriptions of Nile perch 
and the large number of crocodiles and hippopotamus~s were all accu- 
rate additions to what was alrea* known about the lake, Thornson's 
report about take Samburu enjoyed enhanced credibility among Euro- 
pean geogayhers because he had gathered his information from people 
who lived in the region and at a distance of only 150 miles. 

Thornson himself never retwncd to the high plateaus of East Africa, 
but he did undertake several subsequent expeditions to Nigeria (1885), 
the Atlas Mountains (18881, and Ratanga (1890). He died in London. on 
Aups t  2, 2895, at the age of 37, probably from systemic tuberculosis. 



Ten years earlier, his book had been published in Ger~nan, and in 
1886, it appeased in French. In Austria-Hungary, it came to the atten- 
tion of Crown Pxincc Rucioii, who bad a keen interest in gcogaphie cx- 
ploration. "There on Thornson's map, Rudolf saw a large lake that no Eu- 
ropean had ever seen-the last of the great African lakes left to be 
explored. And in that lake, thc crown prince saw an opportrmity dur 
Austria-Hungary to gain a place in Ahican exploration and perhaps 
even a stake in the colonial sexamble for Africa that was about to begin. 
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T hornson" ttuiumphal 
return in 1884 was one 
of the few bright spots 

fox Bxitain with regard to Ahica 
that year. But from the Cerlxan 
perspective, the year was char- 
aetcrized by rapid and success- 
ful colonial expansion. Ger- 
many annexed the Carneroons 
irn July and Southwest Af-srica in 
September, and in October, 
Gerhard Rohlfs, a noted ex- 
plorer and outspoken adv0cat.e 
for Ger111an colonial expansion, 
was sent to Zanzibar as consul 
gcncral . l  Zanzibar's indcpcn- 
dence had been assured in f 862 
by a declaration signed by 
Britain and France, but the 

Count Samud TeleI.ci (courtesy Lajos British exercised significant in- 
~rdd ly i ) .  fluence over the sultan and his 

pnf icics. And since Zanzibar 
claimed sovereipty to much of 

the East African hinterland, German attempts to claim any texwitory 
thcrc brought Britain into direct conflict with Germany through the 
formcr's surrogate, Zanzilsl-lr, 

The British, government of the day was indifferent to the acquisition 
of colonics in Africa in general, However, Ger~laay" successes 
alarmed several influential private businessmen, including Sir 



Willia~n Mackinnon, who in 1888 obtained a charter far the Imperial 
British East Africa Company (IBEA). A similar German company, 
known as the Gesellschaft far Deutsche Rolonisation (Socieq for Ger- 
Inan Colonizationj, had been previously founded by Dr. Carl Peters. In 
1884, Peters landed on the East African coast and, eluding agents of 
the sultan, successfully signed treaties with local chiefs in Usagara, 
just opposite Zanzibar an the mainland in what is now northeastern 
Tanzaniae2 Peters was back in Berlin in February 1885, where the 
Bcrlin Gonfcrencc on the Niger and the Congo was corning to an end. 
This conference had been called in Nsve~nber 1884 t r ~  settle issues 
that were related to those geographic areas and affected the European 
powers concerned." 

The day after the delegates to the conference left Berlin, the kaiser 
declared a German protectorate over the areas where Peters had signed 
treaties. This declaration had far-reaching political. conseqrrcnccs he- 
cause it successfully challenged the sultan of Zanzibar" rights and 
meant that Bxitain could no longer control German actions by using 
the sultan as a surrogate for its own interests, 

In April 1885, Cle~nens Denhardt, who with his brother Gustav had 
been trading along the Tana River since the 1870s, signed a treaty with 
the chief of Witu, an area located lnidtvay up tbc present-day Kenya 
coast. This action, coupled with the recently declared German protec- 
torate over Usagara, effectively placed the British sphere of influence 
between two German ones, with Witu in the north and Usagara in the 
south. "The Germans were thus in an ideal position to lay claim to the 
interiur, circle the British sphere, and render it notihirrg more than a 
coastal enclavc. 

By August 1885, the Germans had forced the sultan to recognize 
their claims, threatening him with the use of force if he did not do so, 
Two months previously, realizing the precariousness of their bold in 
East Africa, thc British had requested h a t  a commissic-m with reprcsen- 
tatives from Britain, France, and Germany be set up to define the limits 
of the sultan" territories on the mainland. The rnerxlbcrs of this can -  
lnissinn laid out the general issues but were unable to crme to an 
ageement. However, Bismarck was soon willing to settle the Zanzibar 
issue in the interest of improving relations with hitain. He promised 
the British that if they made concessions on the East Af-rican question, 
he would support them in their dispute with the French over Egypt." 

The East African partition treaty that resulted in late X886 recog- 
nized Witu as German territory and defined the Gerlnan sphere of in- 
fluence as extending inland to Lake Victoria between the Rovurna 
River and a line drawn to the lake fro~n the coast at Umba.' The 
British sphere was north of this line, extending to the Tana rtiver.The 



line, which essentially constitutes thc lnodern boundary between 
Kenya and Tanzania, effectively divided the two spheres of influence 
but did not define their western limits. And of great significance, the 
treaty set the following northern limits to the British sphere of influ- 
ence: "On the north by a line which, starting from the mouth of the 
"Fana River, follows the course of that River or its affluents to the 
paint of intersection of the Equatczr and the 38th degree of east longi- 
tude, thence strikes direct to the paint of intersection of the 1st degree 
of north latitude with the 37th degree of cast longitude where the line 
ter~ninates."": 

What this meant was that the vast area of what is now northern 
Kenya and where Lake Rudolf is located was as yet unclaimed. With a 
Gcrlnan protectorate directly across from. this area at Witu, on the 
coast, there was little doubt among many Britons familiar with. the is- 
sues that thc Gcrlnans would sooner or later xnakc a grab for it. Thus, 
as the Austro-Hungarian Count Samuel Telcki made preparations for 
his journey to Lake Sarnburu in 1886, the area around the lake still lay 
outside anyone's sphere of influence. This may have provided Austria- 
Hungary's Crown Prince Rudolf with some of the ilnpetus for urging 
'T'deki to undertake his j s ~ r n e y , ~  

In East Africa and Eurape, however, a rapid series of complex events 
involving the European powers and their agents and surrrlgaites in 
Africa unfolded, which effecPavely dimmed whatever v a p e  colonial 
dreams Rudolf Inay have had. 

In 1887, while Teleki was en route to the lake, the sultan of Zan- 
zibar granted a land concession to his coastal areas to the British East 
Africa Association, later known as the IBEA (the 1886 agreement 
granted the sultan full rights to the coastal strip, even that area along 
German territoryj,T?"he association's founder, the Scottish business- 
lnan Sir William Mackinnon, had had extensive business dealings 
with Zanzibar since the 1870s. He and the IBEA were destined to play 
a very significant role in the development of what eventually became 
lnodcrn Kenya and Uganda. 

Ger~nan and British agents in East Africa and the swirl of European 
big-power politics led the Bwitish and the Germans to the bargaining 
table to settle the East African question in 1890. Their discussions re- 
sulted in the Heligoland lireaty of 1890, in which Gerllilany ceded all 
interest in Witu and in the lands north of the British sphere of influ- 
ence and accqted a British protectorate over Zanzibar. The British in 
turn promised to persuade the sultan to sell the Germans his crlastal 
territories adjacent to their sphere of influence and to cede the island 
of Heligoland, which Germany viewed as crucial to the development 
of its naval pr~wer.lO 



The Heligoland Treaty was signed on July L ,  1890, and shortly there- 
after, Carl Peters returned from a marathon trip through what was 
now the Bril-jsh sphere, having started out faom W t u  in 11889. As yre- 
dicted by some in Britain, he had not last any time trying to claim for 
Germany those areas not covered by the 1886 tl-eaty. His clear intent 
had been to transforln the British sphere into a coastal enclave. In the 
process, he effectively placed most of what is now Kenya and Uganda 
under German control. However, when he arrived on the coast at Ba- 
gamoyo, be learned that Erislnarck had signed away what he thought 
he had just acquired for Germany." In reality, Bismarck's willingness 
to sign the Hellgoland Treaty had little to do with East Africa. Fearful 
for Germany's position in a Europe in which France and Russia had 
grown unco~nfortahly close, he sc.~ught better relations with Britain as 
part of a stuateg to offset any possible Franco-Russian attaclc.I2 

In 1886, as Crown Prince Rudolf contemplated Teleki" trip, the 
Helig~~land Treaty was four years off. The lands arclund Lake Rudolf 
were wide open for acquisition, a status that would be confirmed by 
the 1886 agveerncnt between Britain and Germany.'Tudolf knew the 
value of a geographic bargaining chip in the galne of big-power Euro- 
pean politics, even one in far-off Africa. For Lalce Samlsuru was a possi- 
blc source of the Nile and thus could becoane cxtrerxely valuable to 
the British, French, and Gerrnans in their contest for the heart of 
Africa. 

Samuel Teleki von Szck, a count of -the Holy Roman Empire, was 
born at Saromberke in Transylvania (now in Romania) 0x1 November 
I, 1845, into a noble family that traced its roots to the early Afteenth 
c~nturyr.~Vn IG85t one of his ancestors, Mikzaly Teleki, chancellor of 
Mihaly Ayali, prince of Transylvania, was made a count fs~r his diplo- 
matic efforts on behalf of the latter with King Leapold of Hungary. 
The TeZcki family prociuced a number of renowned scientists, schol- 
ars, statesmen, soldiers, and politicians, beginning in the seventeenth 
century. 

Telcki, who came horn the Calvinist branch of the family, studicd 
at G6ttingen and Berlin universities and later became a Free~nasC~n,~~ 
He entered the armed forces and eventually rose to the ranlr of lieu- 
tenant colonel in the Hussaus."TTkrough the efforts of one of his 
brothers-in-law, he Inet Crown Prince I-iudolf, with who~n he beeaxne 
close friends. Their mutual love of hunting led Rudolf to spend long 
periods at Tc-leki's country estate at Saramberke, However, shooting 
was not the only interest that drew these two lnen together. "Tcleki 
was also an experienced politician and in 188 I was elected to the Hun- 
garian parlialnent ham thc area of Geanyczegi. In 1883, he and other 
Hungarian aristocrats induccd Grown Prince Rudolf to sign a docu- 



lnent pro~nising to work for Hungarian independence (Rudolf is said ta 
have made this commitment while inebriated at Teleki" ccountry 
house at Saromberke). Some of Teleki" aristocratic Hungarian friends 
then put into motion a plan to make Rudolf king of Hungary and thus 
in effect dethrone Emperor Francis Joseph. Although 'T'eleki was away 
in Ahica while this plot was being discussed, his involvement in cf- 
forts to obtain greater autanolny for Hungary and his support of 
Rudolf % liberal political views gave the emperor and his government 
much cause far concern*17 

Most contexnporaries assessed Teleki as a bon vivant who enj~~yed 
good food (he weighed close to 250 pounds at the outset of his African 
expcdition), hunting! hiking, and the company of beautiful warnen, A 
confirmed bachelor, he was also rulnclred to have a crush on Arch- 
duchess Stephanie, Rudolf's wife. This perception and his political in- 
fluence over Rudolf led the conservative court at Vienna to see the 
value of his taking a prolonged overseas jo~rney.~"hus, in 1886, he 
announced plans to go on a hunting expedition, to Lake Tanganyika in 
East Africa, in the company of his friend Baron &z. 

What contexnporary observers failed to appreciate was that Teleki 
was a complex man. Bon vivant that he was, he also possessed remark- 
able leadership abilities and great political skills that served him well 
in both Hungary and Africa, He was equally at ease in navigating 
through the tanglcd web of Austro-Hungarian pvlitics and in negotiat- 
ing with hostile African chiefs, He knew how and when to persuade, 
humor, and cajole, and he was prepared tn tfiucaten and use force when 
diplomacy failed. He knew the art of taking the measure of people, 
could insighthlly assess othersQmotivcs, strenghs, and weaknesses, 
and was quick and flexible in his strategies for dealing with them. 
'T'eleki was also a powerfully built man with an iron constitution. He 
had a brilliant mind, was courageous in the face of danger, and pas- 
sessed excellent military sltills. Those who saw only his portly frame 
slzrouded in cigar smoke greatly underestimated him. Indeed, of all the 
men who ventured into Africa at this time, few possessed his unique 
combination of skills that were sure to result in success. 

Crown Pdnce Rudolf had been the patron (16 both the Austrian and 
the Hungarian gcogxaphical societies since 1374, and he took a keen 
interest in exploration. After reading the Gerlnan translation of 
Thornson's hook in IMG, he decided to promote an Austro-Hungarian 
expcdition to East Africa to visit Lake Samburu and climb both Mount 
Kilimanjaro and Mount Kenya, two peaks that had been visited by 
others but had not yet been successft~lly scaled to their summits.1y 
Rudolf was ablc to persuade Teleki to lead an expedition of geographic 
discovery into what is now northern Kenya, In essence, Teleki still 



planned to travel to Lake Tanganyika but agreed to the crown prince's 
request that he then strike north for the two snow-covered mountains 
and Lake Samburu. 

Teleki's companion on this journey was Lieutenant Ludwig von 
Hohnel, a 1876 graduate of the Marine Academy at Fiume. In March 
1886, von H6hnel was assigned to serve as navigator aboard the em- 
peror's yacht Greif, which had been put at the disposal of Crown Prince 
Rud01f.~~ The prince and his wife, Stephanie, boarded the Greif at the 
port of Pola on March 5, and four days later, they arrived at the island 
of Lacroma on the Dalmatian Coast, opposite present-day Dubrovnik. 
At this time, Rudolf, who had first contracted gonorrhea in 1876, was 
suffering either from a reinfection or from a bout of syphilis, and his 
physicians had suggested that he recuperate in Lacroma. 

Rudolf and Stephanie were lodged at the Monastery of San Gia- 
como, which Archduke Maximillian (later emperor of Mexico) had 
converted into a residence in 1859. At first, only Rudolf was confined 
to bed, but he was soon joined by his wife after she suffered an episode 
of acute pelvic inflammatory disease as a result of being infected with 
gonorrhea by her husband. Despite their ill health, both Rudolf and 
Stephanie got to know of von Hohnel during the trip.21 

On April 1, Teleki arrived at Lacroma with an entourage of six re- 
t a i n e r ~ . ~ ~  That evening, the captain of the Greif, whom von Hohnel de- 
scribed as "the daily guest at the princely table," returned from 
Lacroma and, as was his habit, told the watch officer what had hap- 
pened that day. By a fortunate turn of events, von Hijhnel happened to 
be the officer on watch: "He [the captain] incidentally mentioned that 
a Hungarian count had arrived in order to take leave of the Crown 
Prince before starting on an African expedition. The captain had no 
idea that with his remark he had touched the most sensitive striving 
of my inner life [and] was therefore much surprised when I . . . said: 'In 
this I must have a share."'23 

Von Hohnel persuaded the captain to speak with Count Teleki on 
his behalf. However, Teleki's initial response was a negative one. He 
had no desire to associate himself with anyone, much less with some- 
one he did not know. But as von Hohnel later wrote, Teleki soon 
changed his mind: "I had to thank the Crown Prince and the Arch- 
duchess who spoke strongly in favor of me/"' Although Rudolf knew 
that Teleki was skilled in the use of geographic instruments, he 
clearly saw the value to the expedition of someone like von Hohnel, 
whose proficiency was even greater and who was also an excellent car- 
tographer. Thus, his decision to promote von Hohnel's participation 
was primarily motivated out of a desire to ensure the scientific capa- 
bility of an expedition that was now placed under his patronage. 



Teleki came on board the Greif the next day at 3:00 P.M., a copy of 
Georg Schweinfurth's Heart of Africa under his arm. the deck sa- 
loon he silcndy spread out the map of the boolr, pointed to a pencilled 
line on it and said, "t is there where I want to go,'"'25 The line ran from 
Zanzibar to Lake Tanganyika and then north toward Abyssinia. By any 
calculus, this was an extremely ambitious itinerary. However, Tclelci 
was a flexible pragmatist, and he would change the expeditinn's route 
several times as circumstances required, 

Van Hiihnel's desire to go on this trip was not darnpened by TFcleki's 
rotund appearance or v a p e  travel plans. As he said, "li~ me it was ab- 
solutely indifferent where the expedition was to go and how the 
Count looked if he only allowed me to have a share in it,"& 

Tclcki finally agreed to take vi~n HShllcl along, thanks to the intcr- 
vention (16 "powerful infiuence,'hamely, the imperial couple and the 
captain of the Cueif. Although fate had placed van Wahnel in hvorable 
circumstances, he was highly qualified to assume responsibility for 
the expedition's geographic activities* Born in Pressburg, in what is 
now Slovakia, on August 6, 28137, he was also fluent in Hrmgarian, 
which was an added asset as far as Teleki was concerned. 

Vi3n Hlihnel was the youngest ctf four brothers and came from a mid- 
dle-class family of rxodest means. His father, a rernote rnan with an 
exaggerated sense of duty! ecvntually became provincial director of 
customs at Trieste in 1,864.2' His premature death in 1868 left the fam- 
ily in precarious financial circumstances. In order to better cope with 
her reduced means, van HiihnelJs snother moved the family back to 
Tlienna, where she had relatives who could assist her. As the youngest 
son, uon Hiihnel was given considerable freedom by his mother, He at- 
tended a variety of schools, often as an indifferent student. Eventually, 
he decided on a naval career, inhenced in part by his maritime expo- 
sure as a young boy in Tfrieste. With the help of his older brother, he 
intensely studied far the entrance exa~nination t r ~  the Marine Acad- 
emy at Fiume in 1873. He obtained the highest grade and was granted 
im~xediate ad~nission.~~ 

After graduating from the naval academy in 1876, von Hiihnel 
served as a midshipman, Durirrg this time, he was assigned for three 
months to the imperial yacht Miranmnn, which in. 1579 carried Grown 
Prince Rudulf on a bird-eullecting trip to Spain and Portugal. Van Hiih- 
nel could not have imagined that, several years later, the young prince 
would enable him to achieve his lifelovlg dream of travcling into the 
heart of Africa, for aboard the Minumnn, Rudolf was aloof and distant. 
Van Hdhnel later wrote that "the Grown Prince had, excepting the 
captain, littic intcrcaurse with the ship's staff, Of us midshipmen, 
who were exactly his age, he took hardly any notice,"""" 



Teleki ~neticulously planned his expedition, spending several 
months in Vienna, 'T'rieste, Paris, Cherbourg, and London, where he 
purchased clothing, tents, medicines, and an impressive arsenal of: 
weapons and ammunitiun, He arrived in Paris on July l I, 1886, and 
had his boats, tents, and camp furniture custom made. A week later, 
he left for London, where an equipment supplier kom Charles Lori 
and Company introduced him to Sir Richard Burton. Teleki received 
valuable advice f r m  Burton and later wrote that '%he made my prepa- 
rations much easicr: and perhaps even made the success of my enter- 
prise possible ." 

Perhaps Burton's most valuable advice was that 'T'eleki's plan for a 
caravan of only a hundxcd men would result in the cxpe&tian% fail- 
ure, He advised taking a much larger force into the interior and also 
recommended that Teleki recruit a strong personal armed escort of So- 
malis. Being far from home, the Somalis werc not likely to rebel or dc- 
fect, and as strangers to the Zanzilsari porters, they would be better 
able to keep the latter in line, 

Not all of Burton's advice proved to he helphl. A dissatisfied Teleki 
wrote the fallclwing in his diary: ""In London, advised by Bur t~n ,  I 
bought my travel equipment from Silver, but I cannot recommend 
him to anybody. Hc is only set up to equip tourists buying ready-made 
products. . . . Besides that I could never speak tcz him personally during 
the three weeks X was in London."*1 

Tclcki purchased 124 Vlrerndl and Colt rifles and 6 Colt revolvers 
with which to arm the melllbers of his expedition. He also took. along 
a personal arsenal of 13 Holland, Winchester, and Colt rifles, as well 
as 4,000 rounds of ammunition and 120 pounds of gunpowder and 
buckshot, Although his primary interest in hunti~lg tvas lor sport, he 
also knew that he would have to replarly kill animals in order to sup- 
ply the caravan with meat. Leaving nothing to chance, he also pur- 
chased a 50-day supply of tinned food for a large number of people in 
the event of famine, 

Teleki's untiring efforts in preparing for his expedition werc cvi- 
dcnccd by the six pages of his diary devoted to detailed descriptions of 
procuring equipment and supplies. He sought out the best suppliers, 
but despite his care, the ether in his apothecary kits evaporated by the 
time he reached Zanzibar and his photo-developing chemicals quickly 
spoiled,4z 

There were enormous costs associated with equipping an expedition 
of this size and projected duration. In addition, the combined salaries 
for the porters, guides, and escort troops were also great. Lilte most 
aristocrats of his time, TcZeki had the bulk of his wealth. tied up in 
landholdings and therefore did not possess sizable liquid assets that he 



could quickly draw an to finance the expedition, Thus, in early 1886, 
he sold off a laxge paxcel of land and a seventeenth-century family 
heirloam diamond to Anancc what would be thc trip of his lifetjme.z3 

Von Hbhnel left Trieste 011 October 5, 1886, aboard the Tirnniu and 
bound for Aden. After tvansferxing to a ship of the Imperial British In- 
dia Linc, he sailed for Zanzibar, whcre he arrived on October 3 t .  On 
board was Willia~n Oswald, the Austro-H~tngarian consular agent in 
Zanzibar. He urged von H6hnel to use the long clays aboard the slow- 
moving ship to study Swahili. As a result, van Hiihnel had a reasonable 
command of the language by the time the expedition left Zamihar,'" 

Tlon Hiihnel traveled with the expedition" 1140 cases of supplies, 
whose packing he had supervised in Vienna and Twieste. As soon as he 
arrived in Zamibar, he made the acquaintance of the islandJs leading 
European personalities, including General. Lloyd William Matkws, 
head of the sultan" army,iWathcws was i~nmediately suspicious of 
the potential political ailns of the Teleki expedition and, as a result, 
was initially cold and distant toward von H6hnel. One day, he candidly. 
asked von Wdhnel to give hian his word of honon that the expedition 
would not pursue any political aims. VOn Hijhnel was happy to oblige 
since, as far as he linew, Teleki was only intent on geographic discov- 
ery and htmting, not in laying claim to tcxritory in the nalne of hus- 
tria-Htlngary. ?" 

Following Teleki's instructions, von Hiihnel tvied to hire Jarnes Mar- 
tin, the man wha had helped to cnake Thornson" trip such a success. 
However, Martin was alreaciy committed to t a k i q  a group of sports- 
men into the interior and could not join the expedition. Von Hiihnel 
then, sought out Fulnbe Kimcl-neta, the ivary trader who had accompa- 
nied Thomson and Martin across Maasai land. Van Hbhnel success- 
fully persuaded Kimerneta to remain in Zanzibar until Teleki arrived, 
in return for a fixed daily allowance. Kilnemeta expressed interest in 
joining the expedition, provided it traveled north toward Lake Baringo. 
This meant that in order to obtain Rimemeta" services, Teleki would 
have to abandon his plan of first going to Lake Tanganyika. 

While van H6hnel was in Zanzibar hiring personnel, Teleki was en 
route via Aden and the Somali coast, securing the services of expesi- 
enced caravan headmen. Hc was able to hire Karsa, a trusted Somali 
gunbearer who would later serve in the expeditions of two American 
explorers, Williarn Astor Ghanler and Arthur Donaldson Stnith, He 
alsa hircd Qrralla Xdris, a twenty-six-year-old Somali headman who 
had spent six years with Henry Mortun Stanlcy. Telcki had been ad- 
vised by Buxton that the success of a European expedition in the inte- 
rior hinged on the quality of its personnel. Thus, hc and von HCihnel 
spared no effort in recruiting the tried and tested. 



Teleki arrived in Zanzibar on Novcrnber 29 and i~n~nediately sought 
a final aqeernent with Jurnbe Kimemeta. This proved more difficult 
than cirhcr he or von HGhrrt.1 had anticipated. For one thing, 
Kimerneta absolutely refused to go to Lake Tanganyika, as there was 
little ivory to be had there. Ever flexible in his plans, Teleki quickly 
abandoned this leg of his proposed journey, both to accommodate 
Kimerneta and because he had learned that hunting was even better in 
areas to the north. Although Kimerneta then agreed to join Teleki and 
van Miihszef for a total salary of $2,000, the sultan, fcarful of the exye- 
dition" pc~ssii~le political aims, refused to give his approval. Unable to 
change the sultarz's mind, Teleki sent Grown Prince Rudslf a telegram 
asking him to intervene, which he did. The sultan Anally agreed after 
receiving assurances that Telcki had nu other objectives hut hunting 
and geographic discovery." 

Mathews was eventually satisfied that the exyedition posed no po- 
litical threat to Great Britain" interests, and thereafter, he became ex- 
traordinarily helpful to Teleki and vcln Hiihnel. Teleki spoke in glow- 
ing terms of him in his diary: "The willing hiendship and helpfuiness 
which General Mathews offers every stranger, in his indescribable 
way, is extremely useful. The general taltcs care of everything-the 
crew, the guides; tells you what goods should be taken along, finds out 
where to get those things. One could claim he fits the expedition 
out* 

It took TeZeki and van H6hnel all-rzost two r-rzontlas to hire all. of the 
expedition personnel and repaclt their goods and supplies far portage 
in the interior. Kimemeta was put in charge of packing the trade 
goods, which cornpxised 100 loads of glass beads, '70 of iron wire, and 
80 of cloth. In all, Teleki had 495 loads of 70 pounds each, includillg 
22 that contained the parts for a boat be hoped to launch on Lake Sam- 
buru. All these loads added up to 18 tons, according to van Hiihnel's 
reckoning. Each porter had to carry 79 pounds plus a rifle, powder 
horn, and water hottle, which together often came to 100 pounds. The 
expedition's 495 loads and 295 guns were carried not only by porters 
recruited in Zanzibar but also by others hired in Pangani and by 25 
donkeys purchased by Kimemeta. By the tilne it headed into the inte- 
rior, the cqedition numbered close to 400 men,i9 

On January 18, 1887, Teleki advanced three ~nonths-salary to the 
299 people who had joined the expedition in Zanzilsar, including 
Kirnemcta, 7*hrec days later, a flotilla of dhows and ships transported 
the expedition" snen and supplies to Pangani, Kime~neta's home base 
on the coast from where Tcleki planned to march into the interior.'O 

Telcki quickly learned that proximity to the coast and a salary ad- 
vance were powerful indtlee~nenrs for porters tcz desert, Within a week 



of arriving in Pangani, several tuctk off, They were srlon caught and 
flogged, as was the accepted custom. Thomson had replaxly resorted 
to flogging, as did othcr explorers, in order to prevent desertion and 
theft," h r  the success of an expedition greatly depended un the impo- 
sition of an almost military discipline on the porters. Flogging and 
chaining were routine, and on occasion, porters were shot for repeated 
desertic~n, 

On February 6, Teleki led his expedition out of ffangani in the diree- 
tion of Mount Kilimanjaro." By the standards of the day, it was an 
enormous caravan, carrying a local fortune in trade gnuds. Maintain- 
ing discipline was uppermost in Teleki's m i d ,  and, not surprisingly, 
he repeatedly discussed it in thc early entries of his diary. Despite his 
precautions, thirty-seven men st~on deserted and left their loads seat- 
tered a b u t  on the ground, One, however, made off with the metal 
case containing all of the expedition's maps, astronomical tables, and 
drawing paper, Because this was one of the most important loads in 
the caravan, Telelri conducted a week-long search for it but to no 
avail, Eventually, he sent van Hiihnel back to Zanzibar via Bagamoya 
to catch up with the deserters and obtain rnclre cartographic supplies. 

Unlike most late-nheteenth-century travelers in East Africa, von 
Hiihnel cqressed unrrsualiy sensitive insights into the plight of cara- 
van prlrters. Writing in 1924, he said: 

X cannot imagne a harder and rnorc pitiable lot than that which the cara- 
van men had to endure on travels of diseavery in Africa. This fife they 
bore lor starvation wages, arnotlnting to live Maria Thcresa dollars a 
month. Science is hardly aware of how much is owed to these so-called 
Zanzlbari men-far the most part. slaves-and surely does not think that 
the discoveries in which it rejoices were paid for with tl-xe lives of thou- 
sands c)f these poor devils, w h ~  have never obtained their due 

But as he trekked back to the coast in search of the deserters and his 
map-making materials, his thoughts about them were no doubt less 
kind. Meanwhile, Tcleki, who had iznpressed people in Zanzibar as a 
plump and pleasant sportsman who would probably make it to Mount 
Kilimanjaro and no further, was already showing his mettle. He disci- 
plined the porters, cstablishcd tighter control over thean and their 
movements, and rewarded those who proved cooperative and loyal. 

For the next six weeks, Teleki marched his men northwest toward 
Taveta, the cauavan staging ccntcr near Momt Kilimanjaro. They fol- 
lowed what by then had become a well-trodden trail used by both 
coastal traders and an increasing number of European hunters. This 
road Ied throwh the Usambara and Pare Mountains, where the plenti- 
ful game provided Teleki with marveluus sport. But he was also con- 



tinuously preoccupied with desertions and the theft of goods by 
porters who then fled to the coast. 

Even though some of the deserters were kept in chains in camp, 
they managed to escape again, Teleki blarned von HBhnel for this, say- 
ing, '"" have the feeling that H6hnel does not know how to deal with 
the men.""" Yet the fault was not von Hdfinel": Rather, the defections 
were p r o m p ~ d  by Telekik proximity to the coast and the fact that his 
prepaid staff carried loads that were worth a small fortune on the 
Zanzibar mankee. Despite his acidic comment, TGleki thought very 
highly of von HGhnel, noting elsewhere in his diary that he was "a 
very usehl, ambitious man and works well-much better than I do."4i 

By late March, Teleki began encountering roving bands of young 
Maasai mclrnn (warriors), who, as was their custorn, engaged in contin- 
uous efforts to shake down the caravan, Having read clf Thornson's 
great success with the Maasai by passing hilxself oK as a In ibm (ritual 
priest), Teleki did the same. He doled out medicines and read fahri- 
cated incantations from a French novel, Page d'Arnc~zzu, whose pages 
he was otherwise using for toilet tissue. Although these efforts pla- 
cated the Maasai, it also drew them in greater numbers to his tent. 
One morning, for example, a group of them came to greet him at 6:BO 
A.M., "covered . . . with thousands of flies" and proudly showed him 
their nr~cturnally induced penile tumescence, They were chagrined 
when TeXeki chased them off, thereby showing no interest in the pow- 
erful results of his own medicines."" 

Teleki arrived at Tgveta on March 30, sorne sixty pounds lighter 
than when he had left Pangani two months before. There, he found 
james Martin, Thomsan" for~ner companion, who was guiding a 
group of four British hmters; the group included Frcdcrick Jacltson, 
who later fostered British colonial interests in East Africa and became 
governor of Uganda ( 19 1 1 --l 9 I. Tf ," Martin and his party were in Taveta 
not merely to h~ln t  but also to lay claim to the area fur Zanzibar on 
the instructions clf Genexal Mathews, who was attemptiq to forestall 
Cerrxan incursions.48 

ft is of Inclre than passing interest to note what Jackson and Teleki 
had to say a b u t  one another. Writing years later, Jacksan recalled his 
meeting Telcki: 

It was also at Taveta that I met Count Teleki when he was an lrals way to 
Lalce Sarnbttru, at that time represented on the latest maps by an oval of 
dots, al->aut as big as an averatge thumb-nail. At the time he had lost mueh 
weight on the mareh up, something between four and five stone, and had 
shrunk visibly, . . . From what X saw of him, and subscqucntly heard of 
him, he was always calm and collected. 



He was certainly very amusing and c)utspoken, and gtmd company gen- 
erally. Sornc of his ideas were quaint, if not actually jarring, others were 
quite brutal; two examples of the iarrner occur to me, During his staty at 
Taveta, he rarefy went out shooting, as be knew that rnost of the game 
near by was fairly wild, and a long crawl was not at all to his liking; fur- 
thermore, he was assured of as much as he wanted later on. 

His name was easy fox a Swahili to pronounce, and nearly all the head- 
men and boys referred to him as Count Telelci, but he was more generally 
known as Bwunn Tumbo (stomacbf. 

With the excepticm of Baker" discovery c)f Lalce Alibert, Count Teleki's 
discovery of Lakes Rudalf and Stephanie was the only one of first impor- 
tatnee undertaken by individual enterprise, and entirely at private ex- 
pense, and it has always appeared to me that the point of difference is not 
general1 y recogized or appreciatede4" 

What fackson did not say was that the reason Telelti had not both- 
ered to go shooting was that there was little game left, Teleki recctrded 
this in his diary: ""Met Harvey, bliilloughby, Hunter, Jacksan, Martin. 
They have hunted out the whole area; rnore than 60 rhinos and a few 
hundred other animals, and what was not killed has fled.Ji5o 

The magnitude of the British party's slaughter was enormous. Thus, 
Teleki" decision not to hunt was based on the scarcity of game, not 
any aversion to a "l0139 crawl," as Jackson related. For his part, Jack- 
son gave a very revisionist account oE the carnage caused by him and 
his companions. Writing four dceades latex for a public deeply sensi- 
tized to conservation issues, he said the following of his hunting with 
Robert Harvey: "'T'hat little shoot has always remained one of my 
m s e  pleasant lnernawies and thc comcncement  of a long friend- 
ship. 

Teleki was brutally candid in his opinions about the Zanzibari 
porters. Uce these views were not his alone; they reflected prevailing 
European racial attitudes at the time: 

Living a long tilne with these natives X learn to detest and despise 
them. At first 1 was astonished that people living among those natives ex- 
perienced these feelings. The blaclcs are repulsive but most repulsive are 
those that have been brought up by the missionaries and have taken in alf 
of the poison of the European civilization. They are born for serfdom 
without any honest feelings lilte love, gratitude and courage. . . . X have 
them beaten a lot l-tut not nearly enough to waken in them a slight feeling 
of responsibility. The moment X turn my back they tall asteep and let 
themselves be stirred up by the apprentices of the missionaries. Those 
that do so X have beatings administered to until they shit in their pants. X 
was very good to them but never received the slightest show of gratitude, 



The other solution is better. If his behind burns he is decent for at least a 

These opinions stand in sharp contrast to those expressed by van 
E-fijhnel four decades later, in which he charaaerized the porters as ""a 

pitiable lot" "who worked ""for starvation wages" and as "poor devils, 
who never obtained their due reward. "'+ 

After alrnslst two weeks in Tgveta, which Teleki described as "a 
beautiful and peaceful place,'-he expedition headed for Mount Rili- 
manjaro, rumbe Kimemeta had to be carried during part of this trek 
"because of inflammation of his scrotum,""; Moving into the more 
densely populated slopes of the great mountain, Teleki came into con- 
tact with increasing nrrmbcrs of Afuicans, about whom he recorded 
earthy and candid comments in his diary.. These observations are im- 
portant because they documented nut only existing local practices and 
behaviors but also Teleki's value jiidg~xcnts about them. These types 
of observations were largely absent from von P-fiihnelk sotherwise 
meticulous book about the expedition, entitled Discovrsug. of Lakes 
Rudalf aulzd Stefnnie. 

On April 28, Telcki received a delegation of mcllran from Ar~~sha  and 
later recorded his impressions of the encounter: 

In the evening a few Moranes arrived frc>m Arusa. Very friendly. They 
spat in their hands. X had to spit too but 1 spat at them which was a great 
hunor far them. This way of spitting is a s jm  of friendship and peace, 
They rubbed the spit into the palm of my hand, scratched and patted me, 
all signs of friendship. They pulled their penises out to full length and 
showed me the m a k s  c)f thelr Masai cireumcisian by which they pmve 
their origin from Arusa. After that they showed me that beneath my chin 
the same sort of hair p w s  as artlund their testicles. Friendly natives-. In 
the end X retreated into my tent to evade lurther signs of their good will,'7 

Telekik frequent diary coxnlnents about African physical character- 
istics and bodily functions indicate that these were a significant cause 
of culture shock for him: 

The sultan is sitting in front of me playing with his penis, These good na- 
tives piss wherever they are if they have the urge to do scl, even in my 
tent! But there I: throw them out, They are more careful about shitting 
and f was asked to send my men all to one side for that. . . . They marvel 
at my writing and thinlc 1 can extersninate natives, ltill thc cattle, and in- 
seminate women. If they want to be friendly towards somebtldy, they rub 
their chin and run their fingers t h roub  their pelvic 

Even if Telekiis personal attitudes toward local peoples were patran- 
izing, he was extrelnely skilled at diplomatically negotiating with 



them, He never underesti~nated their abilities and was always patient 
and calm in resolving potentially dangerous disputes. He was often 
kind to  them^, treated their illnesses with his own rxedications, and 
preferred peaceful cslntact and mutual respect to the firepower of his 
mini-army. 

What is also clear from all of the surviving accounts of this expedi- 
tion is that Teleki really enjoyed himself in Africa. He took pleasure 
in trekking and shooting, avidly collected geologic, natural history, 
and ethnographic materials, and was moved by the spectacular beauty 
of the East African landscape. Except for an occasional mild bout of 
malaria, he was in good health throughout the trip. At the end of a 
grucling day that may have included a near miss with a charging rhi- 
nocercls or an armed attack by local pen~ple, he would eontentdy  sit 
in front of his tent, smoking his long-stemmed pipe with Hamis, his 
pet monkey, on his lap, As the cool of the evening approached, he of- 
ten sang, as von Hiihnel later recounted: ""The ctlunt had a beautiful 
singing voice, and in the quiet evenings in the wilderness he often 
made himself heard, always beginning with some French songs. These 
soon gave way, however, to melanclnolie Hungarian tunes.'f57 

It is a tribute to the characters of both Telelti and von H6hnel that 
they farged a lifelong friendship under the adversities of African travel 
that had made other men bitter rivals, This was b e  not only to their 
complementary personalities hut alsa to the fact that Teleki was pri- 
masily engaged in this trip for his own personal pleasure. He did not 
look to the results of this expedition for honors and recognition, and 
he did nut need them to satisfy the expectations of any government or 
scientific bo*. The fact that he never published an account of the trip 
but had his companion von Hiihnel do so indicates that, for him, the 
rewards ctf the expedition were in Afi-ica, not in the saloons and lec- 
ture balls of Europe. 

Von HBhnel's career lay at sea and not in Mrica. Though this trip 
fulfilled a long-held dream of adventure in Africa, he did not see it as 
the prelude to hture employment by either a colonial government or 
private co~n~nercial interests. From a certain perspective, his absence 
from the navy for almost three years while accompanying Telelti put 
him at a distinct disahantage as far as his career was concerned. His 
work and accs~mplishments in Africa were not transferable as credits 
toward promotion but instead were viewed as depawtures frorn the 
norm. for a young naval officer. 

Thus, "Tcleki and von Hlihncl markedly &Bered from most of their 
explorer contemporaries in terms of what they hoped to gain frorn 
their travels. For Livingstone, the goal was rnore souls for Christ; doar 
Speke and "Thornson, it was fame a d  patron sponsorship of future 



trips; and for Stanley, it was a lucrative career in the com~nercial ex- 
ploitation of Africa. 

In latcr years, after Teleki" ddeath, von Hiihnef, expressed fond mem- 
ories of his for~ner patron: 

His must winning characteristics were simplicity, kind-heartedness, and 
carefulness. . . . The longer one knew him, the more one appreciated him, 
. . . My companion disposed of very good ncrlre~, had a great knowledge of 
all shoodng matters, and was a capital marksman. . . . The yea13 we spent 
in the interior of Africa, during which. we were entirety dependent on 
each other, were the foundation of a friendship that united us for the rest 
of our fives. 

On June 19, 1887, Teleki and van HBhnel began their final attelnyt 
to reach the top of Mount Kilimanjaro." Taking seventy-seven men, a 
light load of equipment, and a few bottles of the 1542 vintage of a 
Hutlgarian wine, they began their ascellt at daybreak. 7"cleki took his 
own barmetric, temperature, and altitude measurements, which he 
rnetiiculously recorded in his diary, Van Hiihncl soon becarne so fa- 
tigued that he had to rest every ten minutes. Not wishing to jeopar- 
dize the expedition's objective of scaling the peak, he offered to re- 
lnain bel-rind in his tent. The f o i l o w i ~  morning, Il"cleki began lnaving 
alone up the slopes of Kibo peak. Unfortunately, he did so while smok- 
ing his pipe and some expensive cigars Oswald had given him in Zan- 
zibar. This did not help matters when be bcgan to develop signs of al- 
titude sickness, which eventually forced him to stop at 17,387 feet. 
Teleki was wise enough not to push his luck. Bleeding from his nose 
and lnauth and experiencing didfieulty in, breathing, he twned around 
and began to descend, He was comforted to some extent by. the fact 
that he was the first European to ascend the mun ta in  to such a 
height. Had he been better prcpaxcd and ascended more slowly, he 
might have succeeded in scaling Kibo" 19,340 feet 

After descending the mountain, Teleki and von Hlibnel returned to 
Taveta, where they had left cnast of their men, There, they met the 
German explorer and scientist Dr. Hans Meyer, who was preparing an 
assault on Mount Kilimanjaro. Meyex, an investor in the German East 
Africa Company, had more than exploration on his mind, An advocate 
for Gerlnan ccllonial ambitions, he was clearly intent un placing 
Mount Kilimanjaro under the company's cantsol and was eventually 
successful at this,"" 

Teleki spent two weclts in Taveta, restillg and regrouping his cara- 
van fox the march across the Maasai grasslands, He sent a large collec- 
tion of ethnographic objects, natural history specimens, and trophies 
down to the coast, alc~ng with a letter to Oswald instructing him to 



ship everything to Grown Prinec Rudalf. Teleki also used his time in 
Taveta to take stock clf his arsenal, which had been depleted by the 
theft of twenty-one rifles.62 

On July 15, 1887, Teleki, van Hiihnel, Ki~ner~eta,  and their caravan 
set out for Ngongo Ragas near: present-day Nairobi, where they arrived 
on August 27. During this period, four of the expedition" perms died 
horn causes that Teleki ciid not record in his diary. However, these and 
most of the subsequent thirty-two deaths among the epedition's per- 
sonnel were probably due to either malaria or dysentery, which also 
troublecl van E"I6hnel for ~nuch of the trip, In fact, he became severely 
ill with dysentery cln Aups t  24 and remained incapacitated from it 
for the next two wceks."This disease had killcd other explorers, in- 
cluding New in 1875 and Johnston in 1879, and had invalided Thorn- 
son in 1884. Thus, its appearance gave both vsn Hdhnel and Teleki 
great cause for concern. 

Ngnngo Bagas was a stopping paint for coastal caravans, where food 
was usually obtained through barter with the Kikuyu people who 
lived in the nearby fertile highlands and around the base of Mount 
Kenya. By the time Teleki and van Hiihnel reachcd this area in 1887, 
the Kikuyu had been sub~ected tu repeated raids and abuses from 
coastal Arab and Swahili caravans. Their crops and livestctck had been 
stolen, and worse still, many of them had been captured and sold into 
slavery. Even aftes slavery had been stamped out by the European 
powers, the lush gardens of the Mikuyu remained a tempting target for 
food-starved caravans that had to travel for wecks through arid 
stretches often devoid of even game. For their paxt, the Kikuyu at- 
tempted to take ahantage of caravans thaaugh pillaging, demands for 
tribute, ur chicanery, which in turn often led to arrned conflicts. 

In crossing into Kikuyu country, ?"eleki and vcln Hdhnel were the 
first Europeans to enter a region that was ext.remely unsettled and 
charged with numerous opportunities for confrontation and open con- 
flict. The political division of the Kikuyu into small and often rival 
and warring groups complicated contacts with them even furtficr. For 
Teleki, matters were madc worse when vim P-liijhnel became severely 
ill with dysentery on September 1 1 .64 

Tclcki madc enormous efforts to pass peacehlfy through. the coun- 
try of the Kikuyu in order to achieve the second sb~ective of his expc- 
dition-the ascent of Mount Kenya. He patiently underwent blc-lod- 
brotherhood cermonies with local chiefs, gave them giftsl paid 
tribute, and restrained his men, whu were frequently provoked. Some 
Kikuyu groups, however, proved treacherous. They simultaneously 
showed signs of friendship while plotfing to arnhush the caravan at 
the first ~ p p ~ r t ~ n e  ~ n o ~ n e n t . ~ ~  



Teleki had been warned by Europeans on the coast not to explore 
Kikuyu country because of the risk of unpredictable and violent am- 
bushes. Even. jurxbe Kimelxeta "showcd rxuch faintheartedness on 
this  natter," as von H6bne1 recordcd in his ~ner~oi rs , "  Hc~wever, 
'T'eleki had promised the crown prince that he would attempt to climb 
Mount Kenya. In crossing Mikuyu country, he showed great courage 
and tact, always lnarching at the head of the caravan and cjiplomati- 
cally cleatiq with incessant demands for tuibute, 

His real troubles began on September lit, 1887, when the caravan 
was attacked with bows and arrows by thc Kikuyu while he tvas pay- 
ing their chiefs tuibute. Supposedly friendly chiefs and guides had ac- 
tually ted the caavan into an ambush, and Kihyu  warriors quickly 
surrounded and attaclced it on all sides. Teleki had no choice but to 
counterattack, which he did with deadly consequences for the 
Kilruyu. Some forv-five Rikuyu were killed in thc fight, and Inany 
I ~ O ~ G  would have been had Telelci not restrained his 

As von H6hnel later wrote: '"t was most unfortunate that hc~stilities 
had broken out, for we still had apparently many days' jaurney before 
we could reach the nr~rthern frontier of Kikcuyuland. We were ex- 
tremely anxious to make peace with the natives."6g 

n l e k i  went to @eat lengths to make peace with the local Milcuyu, 
and in general, he was sueeessful, For the next several clays, the eara- 
van was not molested as it slowly progressed across the lush hills and 
valleys. It becalxe clear to both Tcleki and van. HGhneZ that the 
Kikuyu were divided among themselves: Some favored allowing the 
caravan to pass peacefully, but others wanted to pillage it, War cries 
from thosc who wanted to amck the caravan kept Tcleki and his lnen 
011 edge for the next several days. Finally, on September 21, the eara- 
van approached a strearn where some 800 to 1,000 Mikuyu warriors 
were waiting. An equal nuanber rushed in on the caravan" rrea. b n  
Hijhnel described what happened next: 

An unnatural silence prevailed, and it seemed as if the Kikuyu were wait- 
ing for a signal. That signal came. Silently half a dozen arrows whizzed 
through the air and fell amongst us. . . . In a moment, every other sound 
was drowned in the noise of the gllns tired simultaneously by all our 
men, 

The firing soon ceased . . . but it was a long time beiure we wcre all to- 
gether again. . . . The porters were compelled to give up all their spoils, as 
this was the only way to check their plundering prc~pensities. 

It was very evident that the onslaught had been planned, fox we picked 
up hundreds of leather bags dropped by the fugitives, which were either 
empty or contained strips of sltin intended to tie up the bates, or perhaps 
even to bind the captives the natives hoped to take."" 



On Septclmber 27, Telcki and van H6hnel sighted Mount Kenya for 
the first time. Telelti recorded this momentous event in his diary: "731- 
day, by the grace of God, I have achieved one of my greatest &sires, X 
saw Mount Kenya. The view was tareathtakillgly grandeUT0 

Teleki" pleasure at seeing Mount Kenya was soon shattered by re- 
newed Mikuyu hostilities, As von Hijhnel said: "The insolence of the 
natives tvas constantly on the in~reasc."'~ Eventually, on October 2, 
the Kikuyu attacked, hut they were quickly routed by Quaf la Iclrls and 
120 of Tcleki's men, who pursued them up a hillside, Teleki gave 
Qualla Idris orders to burn the villages, take prisoners, and confiscate 
livestclck in the hclpe that such severe punishment would force the 
Kikuyu to sue for peace. Writing on Novcmher 4, 1887, to Crown 
Prince Rudolf, Teleki provided very graphic details of the battle and 
recounted that he had burned 50 hamlee, taken 49 prisoners, and cap- 
tured 1,400 s h e ~ p . ' ~  

This massive show of force did not cctmplctely cctnvince the Kikuy~~  
that they should make peace with 'T'elcki. The following day, they 
again attaclted but were driven off after 10 of their nu~nbcr were 
killed. One of Telelti" smost trt~sted men, Abedi Wadi Heri, who was 
suffering horn dysentery, was lrilled in this attack. 'T'eleki wrote in his 
diary: "My poor Abedi is also lost. The Kikuyus killed him. Hlihnel 
fired at them, but it is too late to save Ala~di . "~  "on H6hnef wrote that 
one of the Kikuyu warriors "was mockingly holding up a blood- 
stained shirt towads us. A shot from us avenged his [hbcdik] death."":" 

Teleki pushed on toward the western slopes of M o u a  Kenya despite 
sporadic attacks by the Kikuyu. As he did ss, he and von Hahnel dis- 
covered that they were infested with lice. Van HGhnel, still ill with 
dysentery, decided nat to attelnpt cliznbing the znnuntain. On the 
moxning of October 17, 'T'eleki started up the mountain with 40 
porters and several guides. Three days later, he reached an altitude of 
15,355 fect, according to his own aneroid reading. Ultimately, the 
cold, ice, snow, and fog forced him to give up his attempt to scale the 
tallest peak, M%atian, which is 17,055 fect high. So, on Oetctbcr 21, he 
regetfully turned back and began to retrace his steps down the south- 
western face of the mountain. By any standard, his ascent of the 
mountain during the rainy season was a remarkable feat and one rxore 
example of his physical toughness.'" 

The second ob~ective of his expedition partially accomplished, 
Teleki was anxious to get out of the country of the Kikrryu. He led his 
expedition northwest along the eastern flanks of- the Aberdarc range, 
toward the arid Laikipia Plateau then inhabited by the Maasai. The 
Kikuyu living on the northern fringes of their territory were extremely 
fi-iendly totuard Teleki and his men. Word had already reached them of 



the crushing defeat inflicted on their relatives to the south. Moret~ver, 
exposed as they were to continuous raids by their enemies the Maasai, 
these northan Kikuyu feared terrible consequences should Teleki ally 
hi~nself with the Maasai. They also saw the potential aclvantagcs of 1n- 
ducing him to help them drive off the Maasai. Teleki, howeveu; had na 
interest in taking sides in the conflictual stalemates that then charac- 
terized Kikuyu-Maasai relations. 

The northern Maasai whom Teleki naw encountered also replaxly 
delnanded tribute, and they were expert at feigning peaceful iaten- 
tions while plotting to pillage a caravan. News uf Teleki" stunning de- 
feat of the Kikuyu had already reached them by the time he arrived. 
He succinctly summed up their response to him with a statement in 
his November 3, 1887, diary entry: ""They recognize me as an ex- 
tremely powerful Laibon, and they are afmid of me because I have can- 
quered thc Kikuyus.""'"~n a sense, then, his defcat of the Kikuyu ren- 
dered the Maasai peaceful and fi-iendl y, 

On November 4, 1887, Teleki wrote a thirteen-page letter in Hungar- 
ian to Grown Prince Rudolf, recounting his experiences with the 
Kikuyu and his attempt to cli~nb Mount Kenya. This and subsequent 
letters that he sent to the coast with passing trading caravans amplified 
his diary entries. He detailed his h m t i q  experiences for the prince and 
included a litany of the slaughter that tvas usual far the time (he had 
shot twenty-five rhinoceroses, four elephants, and one lion), He also 
expressed regrets about his battles with the Kikuyu and the hope that 
he wuuld not have to engage in any others in the future." 

Teleki also had some harsh words for Thomson in his November 4, 
1887, letter to Grown Prince Rudalf: ""Eerything Tholnson has writ- 
ten about the Maasai are pure lies, The Maasai are a peaceful people, 
honest, intelligent sueh that four to five people can travel in security 
among them." In fairness to Tbomson, it should he noted that Teleki's 
crtlshing defeat of the Kikuyu had made the Maasai mare docile and 
cooperative ,7X 

Rlelri and his cnen were now entering a part of East Ahica where 
the greatest challenges wuuld eolne in the form uf cliznate and topog- 
raphy, not frightened or hostile peoples. Local informants had con- 
Arlned that there was a large lake to the north on the other side of the 
ser~idesert and scrub-bush country that now lay before thc~n. They 
did not refer to this lake as Samburu but as the Basso Narok (Black 
Lake). Some also vaguely hinted that there was yet another lake to the 
north of the Basso Marok, called the Basso Ebor (White Lake)- To cam- 
plicate matters, people told them that the Cuaso Nyiro River flowed 
through a third lakc to the east, called Lorian, Teleki decided to send 
van Hiihnel down the Cuasu Nyiro to Lake Lorian while he headed 
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north for Lake Baringo. Unfortunately, von Hbhnel's illness and the 
rocky and mountainous terrain prevented him from reaching the lake. 
But on meeting up with Teleki on December 8, he was able to describe 
the upper reaches of a river that had not been previously explored. 
Teleki had arrived at the village of Nyemps, just to the south of Lake 
Baringo, the day before, where he planned to wait out the rainy season 
before striking north for the Basso Narok? 

The arrival of a trading caravan heading for the coast prompted 
Teleki to write a number of letters home-to his sister Agnes, the 
manager of his estate, to Oswald in Zanzibar, and to Crown Prince 
Rudolf. He actually wrote two letters to the prince, one on December 
22, describing his hunting experiences, and another six days earlier, 
which laid out his future travel plans. Both letters were brief because, 
as Teleki told the prince, "I have exhausted my paper and because of 
this please excuse the brevity of my report. The most modest servant 
of your Imperial Highnes~."~ 

In his letter of December 16, 1887, Teleki told the prince about the 
lakes: 

From here I will leave for Zamburu which is a country near the white and 
black lakes. The caravans do not approach them, and as a result they do 
not know at what distance they are and what people live there. There are 
the Wakwafi who live there and three other tribes also; one is the 
Turkana and is situated along the shores of the black lake. The rest are 
unknown. A local told me that the white lake is 15 days march, and the 
other he estimated at 30 days.81 

Teleki and his men were now set to strike north into terra incog- 
nita. Some 150 miles lay between their camp at Nyemps and the 
southern tip of the black lake. They secured the services of Sokoni, a 
Nyemps guide who knew the country ahead of them, and prepared 
enough provisions for thirty-five days. 

On January 10, 1888, Teleki and von Hdhnel set out with 
Kimemeta, 197 porters, 6 guides, 15 askari, 8 Somali guards, 19 don- 
keys, and assorted cattle, sheep, and goats. Nine sick men and some 
supplies were left at the base camp. Von Hohnel wrote: "The men 
were not in the very best of condition . . . but they were a brave and 
determined-looking little troop. . . . In capital spirits, though I was 
still a mere skeleton, I mounted my grey steed to bring up the rear of 
the extended column."" 

Teleki led his men into a region never before seen by any European 
and by few coastal traders. It was a harsh country of volcanic slag, 
boulders, searing heat, and scarce water supplies. Within the first 
three weeks, four men died. Teleki mournfully recorded their deaths 



in his diary, On February 20, 1888, he wrote: "Haxnis Yinger died in 
the afternoon. I was very sorry to lose my dear Zanzibari helper. I 
looked over him for a long t i ~ n e . " ~ ~  

After passing over the rugged Larogi range of mountains, they came 
upon another range that had never before been charted. As Vinn Hiihnel 
described it, 'WC wwaund up our work by naming the newly discovered 
~nountains the General Mathews chain in hnnor of our friend General 
Lloyd Mathews, who had done so much to help us in Zan~ibar.'"~ 

By March 2, they reached Mount Nyixu, where they met a Buukeneji 
(Samburu) by the name of Lcmbasst., who confirmed the existence of 
two lakes to the north, the Basso Narok and the Basso Ebor. For three 
daysl be lcd them through a dry, parched landscape that gave no hint 
of a nearby lake. Finally, 0x1 the afternoon of March 5, they suttggled 
up to the top of a dusty ridge and saw in the distance the shimmering 
susfacc of an enorlnous lake, The partcrs shouted fur jay while Tcleki 
and van Hiihnel gazed speeehlcss at the object of their quest. 

An entirely new world was spread out before our astonished eyes. The 
void down in the depths became filled as if by ma@c with picturesque 
mountains and ragged slopes, with a medley of ravines and valleys, 
which appeared to he clclsing up from every side to form a fitting frame 
for the dark blue gleaming surface of thc lake stretching beyond as iair as 
the eye could reach. . . . We g a e d  in speecl~less delight, spell-bound by 
the beauty of the scene before us . . . id1  of enthusiaszn and gratefully rc- 
rnernberizlg the paeious interest taken in our plans from the first by His 
Royal and Imperial Highness, Prince Rudolf c)f Austria, Count Teleki 
named the sheet of water, set like a pearl of great price in the wonderful 
landscape beneath us, Lake R ~ d o l f . ~ ~  

Telekik diary account is much more  natter-of-fact than van Hiih- 
nel's a h o s t  euphoric response to sighting the fake: 

X can't imagine a landscape Inore barren, dried out and grim. . . . At 1:22 
P.M., the Basso Naruk appeared, an enormous lake of blue water (aotted 
with some islands. The northern shores cannot be seen. . . . As far as the 
eye can see axe barren and volcanic shores, I give it the name of Lake 
Rudolf. Daudu Muhiman stayed behind, maybe died? One elephant.86 

The following day, they actually arrived on the sauthem shore of 
the lake, where the waters were the color clf jade. They had little tilne 
to savar their remarkable aceamplishment in being the first Euro- 
peans to reach the Jade Sea. The early monsoon clouds heralding the 
beginning of the rainy season were already gathering on the eastern 
horizon. This, coupled with the scarcity of food and the weakened 
state of the men, forced Teleki to advance to the northern end of the 



lake as quickly as pr~ssible. Once there, he im~nediately set out for the 
Bassu Ehor, the second lake that they had been told about that lay to 
the northeast; on April 19, they reached its southern shore. Teleki 
named it Lake Stephanie in honor of Rudulf" wife, a nalne that has 
since been changed to Chew Bahir by the Ethiopian government. In an 
almost laconic diary entry, he described the discovery: ""At 8:30,1 had 
~ n y  first view through the bush tops of the Basso Mabor and gave it the 
name Lake Stephanie; the lake cannot be very large as I can see the 
mountains on all sidcs surrobmding it. A &ad waEx eagle is floating 
an the surface of a swampy puddle. And here, in the wt>rld"s most bar- 
ren spot, I set up camp."" 

They then returned to the northern end of Lake Rudolf, just as the 
rainy season was getting into full swing. Teleki and von Hiihnel had 
discovered two lakes, and the next geogaphic challenge was to deter- 
mine the source of the larger of the two, Lake Rudolf. Because the 
rains had transfor~ned the Omo River delta at the northern end of the 
lake into an impenetrable marsh, von HdhnePs explorations of the 
area were greatly hindered. But based on his limited observations, he 
concluded that two rivers flowed into the lalte-the Nianamln folxof, 
which he saw; and to the west of it, the Bass jwhc~se name means "wa- 
ter"), The meticulous von Hdhnej was making an educated guess 
about the Bass because he did not actually sec it. The Omo breaks up 
into many channels and forms a delta before emptying into the lake, 
and it is possible that his informants were speaking of one of these 
channels as being another river, the Bass. In fact, he found obtainillg 
information from the local Reshiat people almost impossible: "It was 
exfrcrnely diidicult to get an): reliable facts about the surrounding 
c o ~ n t r y , " ~  The Bass t r ~  which V C I ~  Hiihnelk infarrxants were referring 
may actually have been the Rihish River, a secondary source west of 
the Olno that only reaches the lake during very heavy rainy seasons, 
Thus, Teleki and van Hiihnel wauld return without definitively re- 
solving the question of the course of the Nianamm and the Bass, 
which in turn would entice other explorers to do so, 

Teleki had originally planned to return along the laltc's western 
shore, but the heavy rains had flooded the Qrna River delta and made 
a crossing practically impossible, In addition, the Reshiat peoplc who 
lived at the northern end of the lake refused to give the expedition ei- 
ther guides or food. Not wishing to tempt fate su late in the game, 
Teleki decided to reeurn quickly the way he had come. We had already 
lost a dozen men to sickness, and von H6hnef was still chronically ill 
with malaria. By this paint, Teleki was exaspevated with von Hdhel ,  
who scofkd at taking quinine to prevent malaria, He expressed his 
frustration in his diary entry of January 24, 1888: "He does not want 



to take quinine, ~nedicating hi~nself instead according to ~ n y  idiotic 
English medical 

The exgcdilion started south again, and on a side trip along the 
southern end of the lake, van frxfijhnel discovered an active volcano, 
which he named Teleki in. hsnor of the count (the gulf at the southern 
end of the lake near the volcano is still. referred to as von Hiihnel Gulf; 
however, the fake has receded since that time, and the volcano is now 
quite a distance from the lake" southern shore and is dormant). From 
the southern end of tile lake, they made a detour to the western side 
into Suk and Turkana country, in search of provisions. The march 
down the eastern shore of the lake had been gmeling. The men were 
fatigued, there was no gaane since the animals had been dispersed by 
the rains, and the expedition had run low on food, Consequently, the 
trip into Suk country was, in fact, a planned raid on food supplies. Van 
Hiihnel summed up their predicament: 

Our caravan was on the verge of dissolving into pillagng gangs, and to 
avoid this, a decisive step had t c ~  be taken. The cattle which the Srtk 
would not-and atd~nirtedly cautd not-sell, had to be taken by force. Ne- 
cessity has no law. . . . Acts c)f violence of course do not go off without 
btoodshed, and this grieved us more than X can say; tor the natives had 
been friendly, and we were the first Eumpeans they had ever met.90 

It greatly troubled both Teleki and von HBhnel that they had tu 
forcibly take food and livestocl< from the Sukt who themselves were 
close to starnation. However, as they saw it, they had no other choice. 

Teleki retuxned to Lake Baringo on July 29, 1888, after an ahsencc of 
seventeen months, Twenty of his men had perished on this journey to 
find the black and white lakes, most falling victim to malaria and 
dysentery. Although von Hiihnel was still ill with malaria (primarily 
bccause of his rehsal to take quinine), Teleki was as robust as ever. 

The expedition arrived in Taveta on Septeraber 28, 1888, where 
Teleki and von H6hnel learned of the enormous political changes that 
had taken place on the coast during their abserrcc. An Arab revolt in 
Tanga and Pangani had becn suppressed by General Mathews, and 
there was ample evidence of East Africa's division into British and 
Gerlnan spheres of influence. TFclcki and von Hiihnel also learned in 
Taveta that Williax-n Oswald had co~n~nitted suicide and that his place 
as consulav officer had been taken by his cousin. 

It took Teleki and his rnen three weeks to reach the coast. They ax- 
rived at Mc~mlsasa on Oelober 24, 1888, where they met Mathews, 
who was anxious to hear about their discoveries," They had becn in 
the intcrior far almost two years and had charted the last of the @eat 
African Aftcr a two-month stay in Zanzibar, in part necessi- 



Count Samuel sleIekisLr. route (from Some Histol"lc Journeys in East Africa, 
1961). 



tated by the fact that they were both very ill with malaria, Teleki and 
vcln Hiihnel traveled to Harar in Ethiopia, before returning to Europe 
in the spring of 2889.'' By this time, Crown Prince Rudolf was dead, 
having co~n~nittcd suicide on January 30, 1889, at Mayerling, Thus, on 
his return, Telelri never got to see the man who had been the patron of 
his successful expedition.'"" 

During the time they were in the interior, Teleki often corresponded 
with Crown Prince RudolE, seadirtg letters down to the coast with 
passing caravans (one of which contained none other than Sadi ben 
Ahe&, the man who had traveled with New and given Thomsan so 
mueh grief), These letters were passed on to William Oswald, the can- 
sul of Aus~ia-Hmgary in Zanzibar, who rcgrrlarly reported on the ex- 
pedition to Count Kalinocky, miniser uf the imperial house and for- 
eign affairs. Oswald reported in a letter clated June 6, 1887, that the 
expedition had visited the Mount Kilimanjaro area.'"s On February 14, 
1888, he wrote Count Kalnocky that "Tcleki had reaeheci Mc~unt 
Kenya, and on May 8, he informed Kalnoeky's mxninistry that Teleki 
had arrived at Baringo in February. In this last Ictter, Oswald dutifully 
reported on von HGhnel's dysentery as well.vTillillia~n Oswaldfs suc- 
cessor, AlfYed Qswald, wrote to the ministry on October 22, 1888, an- 
nouncing the good news that the Tedeki expedition had rcached 
Taveta a few weeks Thus, the expedition was in sporadic con- 
tact with the consuls in Zanzibar throughout most of its time in. the 
interior, and, through him, with the Austrian government and Grown 
Prince Rudolf, 

Teleki remained in robust health for most of the trip, and the loss of 
97 pounds of weight lnay actually have been to his benefit. When he 
reappeared on the coast, he weighed 141 pounds, in contrast to the 238 
he weighed when he started out. In. fact, in his November 4, 1887, let- 
ter to Crown Prince Rrtdolf, TTcleki said: ""Iifl tell you other things 
when I return home if you still remelnber the %at TeIeltikwho has had 
to shrink his trouser stmp by three holes. I am in good health.'" 

On reaching Mombasa, Tc-leki sent a brief report of the expedition's 
findings to the Times in London, which published it an Deeelnber 25, 
1888. The Scottish Geographical Society adapted the report for publi- 
cation, and it was also subsequently published in Hungarian. 

On their return to Vienna via Cairo, Teleki and V C I ~  H6hnel learned 
how close they came to being cheated of their prize, Julcs Borelli, a 
French explorer, had left Egypt on September 16, 1885, and hcaded dos 
Ethiopia in order to explore the 01x0 River, He was delayed from mov- 
ing into western and southwestern Ethiopia by Emperor Menelik, who 
detained him at thc capital of Antota far part of the period from July 
L886 to Novelnber 1887. Bc~relli started out in Nove~nber 188"i"for the 



headwaters of the 01nc1 River and reached a point on the river 300 
miles north of Lake Samburu on June 17, 1888, some three months af- 
ter Tcleki and von H6hnel had arrived on the lake" southcrn shore, 
Had Menelik not detained him and had he not fallen ill, Ptorelli might 
have reached the lake well before Telelri and von HBbnel. He was 
forced to return. north because of illness, which, according to his own 
report, was probably malaria, Borelli was given a good description of 
the lake by people in Ethiopia, who called it Lake S~harnbara.~* 

Borelli arrived in Cairo on Novemhcx 15, X 888, where be later met 
Teleki and von Hijhnel. He and the twa Austro-Hungarians exchanged 
information, and in the book he subsequently wmte, Boxelli thanked 
van Hijhnel for supplying him with the carmgrapbic details that he 
later included in his maps. It is of interest that van HilhneZ made no 
mention of Borelli in his own book, However, van Hbhnel did have a 
great deal to say about Borclli in his as yet tmpublishcd, English- 
language autobiography, On seeilly: the map Jules Borelli had made, he 
was amused: '112ccordiag to this map, Mr. Borelli had penetrated south 
right acxoss the country in which Lake Rudolf is lying without seeing 
it. . . . I advised him not to show this map to anybody, and promised to 
make it harmonious with our discoveries and to set it right. This was 
no easy task,"""" 

Clearly; Borelli was not a very good geographer or cartographer, Yet 
he doubted von Hdhnel" assertion that two rivers flowed into Lalre 
Rudolf. Borelli had thoro~ghly explored the upper and middle reaches 
of the Omo, and because of the ctlrvature of the river's course, he 
thought that the Omo would have tu join up with the alleged Bass 
River to the west on its way south, which subseq~ent explorers found 
was actually not the case. Ptorelli dedt~ecd that the Omo alone flowed 
into the lake,"" In this, he was close to the truth, as another river to 
the west, the Kibish, rarely rcached the lake except during heavy rainy 
seasons. He also correctly noted that the Omo and Nianam~n were re- 
ally the same river,1ou" However, his assertion that the 8 m o  was the 
only source of the lakc was doubted at the time by sorne becmse of 
van H6hnel" claim of a second river to the west.lo2 

Teleki and vcm Hiihnel were clearly incorrect in their beliefs ahout 
the Omo River. They wrongly believed that Boreillis Omo flowed to- 
ward the east, where it joined the juba (Gittha) River in Somaliland. 
They were also incorrect in believiq that the Nianamm was a dis- 
tinct river that flawcd into the lake to the west of the Orno, And A- 
nally, they were wrung in believing that the Bass tvas another perma- 
nent source oE the lake,Ia." When Teleki and von Hdhnel returned to 
Vienna and Borelli to Paris, the issue of whcther the Otno and Mi- 
anamln were actually the same river was an open one. 



Neither Teleki nrx van Hshnel received heroeshelc2eo1xes in Vi- 
enna when they returned in early June 1889, even though they had 
given Austria-Hmgary an honored place in the anmls of African ex- 
ploration. There were two reasons for this. Jealousy was clearly one, as 
von lldhnel noted: "On the part of certain other pcrsoxlalities who 
liked to p r e ~ n d  that they were the only promoters of geographical re- 
searches, the expedition had from the outset not been taken seriously; 
now that they saw that they had been mistaken, t h y  all the more 
buried it in ~ i l c n c c . ' ~ ~  Even von I-Edhnel" ffcllow officers gave hirn a 
coal reception. 'What did Af-riea matter to them!"" he ~ r u t e . ~ ~  

The other reason had to do with Crown Prince Rudoll" suicide on 
January 30, 1 889, when Rlcki  and von Hijhnel were en route to Warar 
in Abyssinia. 

Count Teleki . . . did not reap the deserved reward for his enterprise, In 
consecluence: of the tragic death of the Crown Prince Rudalf, one was on 
the look out far sca-pegoatts whom one might hold responsilbie; the friends 
of the Crtlwn Prince were of course the cause of the tragic development. 
My traveling companion had been one of these, and though utterly inno- 
cent and thou& he had been a devoted friend to thc Prince, abstentious 
in every way; be had to suffer far his Ixiendsbip. His name: was unpopular 
in high circles, and this was a reason not to speak of his travels and 
~ ~ h i e v e m e n t s . ~ ~ ~  

Despite the import.;ance of Teleki" geographic discoveries, the Royal 
Get~graphical Society declined tn invite him to Lecture on his travels, 
as suggested by Sir Richard R ~ r t s n . ' ~ ~  Colonial coxllpctition in East 
Africa had become so intense by 1888 that the socicty demurred, cit- 
ing concerns about possible adverse political ctlnsequenees for Great 
Brimin. As the society saw it, an invitation to speak would have repre- 
scnlcd recognition of "Sclclri" claim of being the first European to visit 
Lake Rudolf. And in the scramble for Africa then under way, such 
claims normally gave sponsoring colonial powers the right of territor- 
ial annexation, 

The society" refusal to hear hirn and the failure of his awn ct~untxy 
to take much note of his journey disheartened Teleki to some degree, 
But he had no desire to force recognition from others for his accom- 
plishments and contented hixnself with memaries of a remarkable 
journey to Africa. His delegation of the job of compiling an account of 
the expedition to von Hiihnel did not reflect aristocratic indoScnce on 
his part, as some have suggested. Rather, it demonstrated that, as an 
independent man clf great wealth who was confident in his view of 
himself, he had no need for the accolades that such an account might 
bring. He chose instead to pramr~tc his faithful companion von Hdh- 



nel by having him write up the account, Von H6hnel" book was pub- 
lished in German three years later and in English in 1894. 

Tcleki gave his ethnological collections to the Hungarian National 
Museu~n in Budapest, and his natural history and getllo@c specir~ens 
went to several museums in Europe, He retained a number of trophies 
fmn the expedition as well as solne ethnogxayhic objects, which he 
displayed for Inany years at his country home at Saralnberke. 

'T'cleki returned to East Africa in Maxch 1895, where he hunted for a 
month around Mount Kilimanjaro, Gaut and a deterioration in the 
general state of his health yrecludcd his climbing the mountain again, 
Although he claimed that he was not a sentimental. man, this return 
visit likely represented a search for the happiness he had experienced 
eight years before when he first saw the rno~ntain."~ His April S, 1895, 
diary entry is revealing: 

I could not resist taking another look at Kilimanjartl before I lay my head 
down to rest forever, To see once more Kilimanjaro in ail his glory and 
the country amund in which I had been so serenely happy before. . . . I 
don't kknow if I wiXf ever return again, and I took leave from tke snow- 
covered ancient one like from an old friend I would never see again in my 
fife! And if I were sentimental, 1 would have 

rJon H6hnel often visited Teleki at his country estate at Saro~n- 
berke, a village that had a purely Hungarian population. Von H6hnel 
wrote that 

Sairomberke lies in Transylvania in the upper Maros Valley. Simple as the 
host himself, were the buildings which he inhabited as well as the people 
whom I: first met there, . . . Simple and modest though Count Teleki had 
shown himself during the expedition, he now prtlved he was a gourmet of 
no mean order. We imported coffee directly horn Mokka, his cigars from 
Havana, and the same thing applied to everything in his h~usehulci. '~) 

Teleki had inherited a remarkable library from his geat-grandfather, 
but his pride was his stud farm. "Sarornberke bred half-bloods of: sgc- 
cial quality, tough horses with gazelle-like eyes and Arab heads," 
wrote von Hliihnel. Looking back on his first meeting with Teleki on 
the Greif, he said, "1 then could not see what . . . consequences would 
result from the first short interview, that many a year of this friend- 
ship would bind me together with this man."11g 

After a long illness, TFclcki died at his home on Pour Rcviczky Street 
in Budapest on March 10, 1916, at the age of "7. Surviving him were 
his sister Elizabeth, Bagoness Banfb Zoltan, and her children, as well 
as the chilclren of his sister Agnes, Countess joseph, Zcyk, who had 
predeceased him. A Reformed service was held in his home on March 



12, 1916, at 2:00 P.M., and his remains were transported ta Saro~n- 
berke, where, after a service in the local Reformed Church, be was 
buried in the farnily vault,""" 

Telekifs forlxer cctuntry home is now an agricultural school occupy- 
ing much less land than the estate's previous 100,000 acres, The im- 
pressive Tclcki library, founded by Samuel's great-grandfather in 1802, 
is now housed in the nearby small town of 7"irgu Mures, In the early 
nineteenth century, it bad 40,000 volumes for Saromberkek sG,OOO in- 
habitants, There are conflicting accounts of what happened to the con- 
tents of Telckits country house, includir~g his Ai-rican trophies, ethno- 
graphic collections, and photographic plates. During the 1970s and 
1880~~  the Romanians told visitors that the Soviet arlny had saclrcd the 
estate during World War IT."W~owevcr, a number of local Hungarians 
maintain that Communists actually did so after the war. Some have 
grayhically described how the Communists threw furnishings out of 
the windows into the courtyard, ineluding photcze;raghic glass plates 
taken cln Telekifs Lake Rudstf expedition. Following the looting, a local 
Hungarian administrator sent two young lnen out to salvagc docu- 
lnents and photographs horn the vandalized estates. Some of TelekiJs 
photographs, including those from Africa, were collected and deposited 
with the Hungarian Cultural Organization in Cluj, whose holdings 
were later incctrporated into the Romanian National Archives. A num- 
ber of Teleki's AfYican trophies were placed in the Gsngenyszentimrei 
Forestry School, a former country estate belonging to Crown Prince 
Rudolf, located forty kilolneters from Saromberke."" 

In 1972, Lajos Exdklyi, a photographer from Tixgu Mures, obtained 
access to the surviving Tcleki photoguaphs. He made copy negatives 
and prints of around 160 of these photographs, which he used to illus- 
trate his 1977 biography of Teleki.II5 

In 1988, the Hungarian Scientific Africa Expeditjon, composed of 
scientists from several disciplines, commemorated the centennial of 
Teleki's journey by retracing its route. They placed a memorial pdclque 
at Loiyarrgalani, on the eastern shore of Lalre Turkrana,"'" marking the 
passage of Rleki  and his men who, a century before, had sctught out 
this lake-nut in the interests of a colonial power or with a desire to 
exploit its resources hut silnpty because it was there, 



J n  J m e r i c n n  c A p p r o ~ c  hes 
om the Soz/ltF, 

WiIfikzm Astor Chunler soon after his 
second East Af~1"cnn experiiticjn 
(courtesy foh~ Wir2 tkzrop Aldvich). 

s Teleki and van 
Hdhnel were leaving 
the East African coast 

for home, a young American. 
frarxl E>utchess County, Mcw 
York, arrived in Zanzibar on 
March 13, 1889, en route tu 
Mount Kilimanjaro. Willia~n 
Astor Chanler was only 
twenty-one years old at the 
tirxle. However, the previous 
year, he had inherited a fortune 
on attaining his majority and 
quickly tbrcw off the shackles 
imposed by his uverly strict 
gurlrdians. Chanles was born 
on June X 1, 1867, in Newpart# 
Rhode Island. His father, John 
Wintfirop Chanler, was a 
wealthy lawyer who had served 
as a member of Congress 
( lliB3-1 859) and as chairman of 
tlkc executive committee of 
"Tarnmany Hall, New Yc~rk, His 
mother, Margaret Astor Ward, 

was a great-granddaughter of rohn jacob Astor and thc daughter of 
Enlily Asttsr and Samuel Ward,' 



Chanlcr's grandfather Ward began life as a financier and banker. He 
married the claughter of Wiiliam B. Astor in 1837 but quickly ran afoul 
of his Astor in-laws because of his early business failures and love for 
taking risks. A man of great intellectual interests and social skills, 
Ward went on to make and lose fortunes at replar intexvals. He also 
became a leader of New b r k  and London high society, was America's 
leading epicure and gastronolne, organized revolutions in South Amer- 
ica, and was the most pvwerful lobbyist in Gongxess for many years," 

The elder brother of Julia Ward Howc, author of the Battle Hymn of 
the Repzzblie, and an uncle t~ the brilliant writer F. Marion Crawford, 
Ward was warmhearted, charming, and geneuous. However, he was 
also the "prince of good livers," as b n i t y  Fair charactcuized him in 
1889, and was thus viewed as an unreliable father by the Astors. When 
his wife, Emily, died in childbirth, they quickly removed his daughter, 
Margaret, from his contral and later saw to it that her Chanler chil- 
dren were kept as far away as possihlc from h im,The  Astor family 
circle was eventually in a unique position to do this, as Margaret and 
john Winthrop Ghanicr both died prematurely when their children 
were very yrlung, 

William Astor Chanler was only ten years old when his surviving 
parent (his iather) died in 1877. He and his seven remaining siblings 
were raised under thc watchful eye of strict Astor guardians at 
Rokeby, the Ghanler family estate in Dutchess County. He attended 
Sr. john's Military Academy in Qssining, New York, and was then 
sent off to Phillips Academy at Exeter, New Hampshire, in prepara- 
tion for his entry into Harvard Gollegee4 

Much to the chagrin of his Astor relatives, Charaler visited his 
grandfather Ward while still a teenager, W r d  greatly impressed him 
with exciting stories about politics, lobbying, and overseas travel. It 
was thanks, in part, to Ward that Chanler eventually overcame an 
early speech impedilnellt to bccolne a brilliant conversationalist ,' By 
the time he entered Harvard in 1886, he was bright, daring assertive, 
opinionated, and inclined to be impulsive and to spurn advice. His 
tightfisted Astar guardians kept him on a very short leash at Harvard 
and on a meager budget as well. In an attempt to extract more money 
out of them, he set fire to his dormitory rooln draperies, hoping for a 
sympathetic respr~nsc to his appeal of lass by fire. His guardians coldly 
rejected his plea, leaving him with hare windows for the winter." 

Qn reaching his lnajority in June 1888, Ghanler dropped out of War- 
vard, where his stuclies had bored him.' In a sense, it was fitting that 
his first great endeavor in life was in the shadows of Mount Kiliman- 
jaro, Africa" greatest volcano, for he himself was like a piece of 
lnolten rack shot OUI onto the African landscape. 



Jmeri-icdzn .Apprrnehes fimn the Soutls Kr 

Chanler arrived in Zanzibar with his seventeen-year-~)Id assistant 
George E. Galvin, who was also from Dutchess GountySx Fortunately, 
Galvin's diary, with its dctailed record of this first trip of theirs into 
the East African interior, has survivcd.T"Thy left Rokehy on Deeem- 
ber 8, 1888, and embarked at New firoxk City the following day fox Le 
Havre, where they arrived eight days later. Chanler spent the next two 
and a half months in France and Englandr shooting, playing polo, and 
riding to hounds. On February 10, he and Galvin arrived in Monte 
Carlo; after a week at the gambling tables, they left on the final leg of 
their jnurney to Zanzibar.l0 

Qa May 18, 1889, Chanler and 150 porters sailed from Zanzibar for 
Mombasa, aboard the sultan" s~xall  steaaxer, the Kilmeu, James Mar- 
tin, who had traveled with joseph Thornsun six years before, was also 
on board, with 60 porters. They were parr: of an Imperial British East 
Africa Gornpany (IBEA) expedition. hcadcd by Fredcxick 1. rackson, 
Ernest Gedge, and Dr. Archibald Donald Mackinnon, This expedition 
was destined for Uganda, which it eventually secured for Great Britain 
despite tke remarkable efforts of Germany" aagnt Dr. Garl Peters. 
During the thirteen-hour voyage, Chanler benefited from speaking 
with Martin, who was then one of the most experienced travelexs in 
East Mica.'" 

Chanler and his expedition started for the interior on May 21, He 
soon encountered porter desertions, engendered by proximity to the 
coast and the payment of three months? aadvancc wages, As was cus- 
tomary, he had to locate the deserters and instill discipline among his 
remaining men. Galvin vividly described the effect of floaing on the 
porters: ""Iaallcd on one man to take his load and he refused. I piclred 
up a stick and went at him. After I got though with him and looked 
around for another, they were quietly lifting their loads on their heads 
and walking away."12 

Chanlcr stopped off at the Rabai Mission Station, where Krapf, Rcb- 
mann, New, and Wakefield had all Labored years before, and was in 
regular contact with the 250-strong IBEA expedition, a day's mrnarch 
ahead of him.Ii By this time, Mount Kilimanjaro had become a marnet 
for European sportsmen. Rut this was also an area where British and 
German interests faced off against one another in the tension-filled 
days before the E-feligc~land Treaty uf July 1, 1 890, established the An- 
glu-German baunda.ry, In May 1889, German-British rivalry in East 
Africa was fierce, and it was into this setting that young Gbanlcr carne 
marching with his 150 portcrs and a large, fluttering Alncriean flag, 

On Nne 30, 1889, ChanZer and his men reached Taveta, where they 
stayed at Manin's farmer camp. Horrievcr, on July 1 X, they moved to 
TelckiJs sold campsite, which Galvin later purchased from the local 



chiefs, There, Chanler supervised the construction of a six-ron~n, 
thatched-roof house that stood in one corner of the two-acse com- 
pound. h r c  of local political sensitivities, Chanler had two flag- 
pales erected, one for the Stars and Stripes and the other fur the sultan 
of Zanzibar" red standavd.I4 

The purpose of ChanleY's trip to Mount Kilimanjaro was primarily 
sport, Still a caravan staging center, it had also beco~ne a base for vis- 
iting Eurclpean sportsmen and naturaljsts. Among the lattev was 
twenty-eight-year-o3d Dr. Williarn Louis Abboee, an American physi- 
cian whose inheritance of a fortune a short time before enabled him 
to ahandon medicine in favor of a career as an explorer. Although he 
was away in Maasai country when Chanler arrived, he left a welcom- 
ing letter behind and soon returned, after his porters had atte~npted 
mass desertion, Abbott had already spent a year in the Mount Rill- 
manjaro region and had, in fact, assisted Teleki and van Hiihnel 
when they passed by his camp on their way down tcz the coast. He 
was of great help to Chanler, sharing his knowledge of the moun- 
tain" fauna and flora and details about the peoples who lived on its 
slclpes* 

Chanler" niece, Maddie DeMott, rect~rded that he had obtained a 
colnmission in the Gerlnan East African Ivory Patrol.'" Dcsr,ite this 
Gerrnan connection, he ~naintained cordial relations with Frcderick 
Jackson of the IBEA and flew the sultan's flag over his compound. 
Thus, as a third-country national in a cruciblc of local colonial corn- 
petition, he elninently succeeded in being on good terlns with the 
representatives of the competing powers. This was a remarkable ac- 
co~nplishxnent for so young a cnan, and it demonstrates the brilliance 
of his insights into the political realities he faced in the Kilimanjaro 
region. 

Chanlcr received high praise kom Dr. Hans Meyer, the German sci- 
entist and explorer who was the first European to reach the summit of 
Mount Kilimanjaro. After meeting Chanlev on the mountain's slopes, 
he wrote the following: 

The Kilimanjaro stattes have been visited by a number of missionaries 
and sportsmen of whom perhaps the most noteworthy is the young 
American, Mr. Chanler, who, proceeding to the region merely fox the pur- 
pose of sport, has nevertheless distinguished himself by a thortlugh ex- 
ploration of the: lower slopes of the mountain, . . . He stayed with us 
overnight, and greatly delighted me with his spirited account c)f his 
achievements and plans, and with his keen insight into African affairs. 
Many of our colonial wise-acres might envy the energy and tact which 
has enabled this youth of 23 with a still more youthful companion, to 
lead a caravan of 180 men into regons as yet totally unexplored.i* 
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Chanler spent four ~nonths exploring the Kilimanjaro region and 
seems to have determined bring that time or shortly thereafter to 
lead an cxpcdition into the vast, unexplored regions between Lake 
Rudolf and the Tuba River to the east. As DeMott noted, he had proved 
to himself his capacity for leading a large group of men thrc~ugh the 
African wilderness and wanted to achieve 'bornclthing more worth- 
while than hunting.'""" 

After having oibtained what sportsmen then cansidered a re- 
spcctablc bag of trophies, Chanlcr left TFaveta on October 4, 1889, and 
headed for the coast. He felt satisfied in the lcnowledge that he had 
proven himelf as a big-game hunter, had successfulfy negotiated 
with local chiefs and entered into blood brotherhood with them, and 
had avoided beeolning entangled in the web of Angfo-German politi- 
cal intrigue.i"~lvin had also proved his mettle, not clnly at hunting 
but also in Inanaging the infinite details of a largc field cxpeditian, 
Like Martin, w h ~ ~  had traveled with Thnlnson, he was reliable, re- 
ssurceful, and patient-characteristics that greatly contributed to the 
expedition's success. 

Chanler and his men walked into Mornbasa eight days after leaving 
'T'aveta and almost five months since heading into the interior. By 
now he had firmly decided to retwn to East Akica, for he left all of 
his rifles in the care of his agents, Smith Mackenzie, and put his two 
headmen, Waziri and Hamidi, on half pay? 

Glhanler and Galvin sailed from Zanzibar on. the P g i  H8 on Movca.~;t- 
bcr 3, bound for Marseilles, which they reached three weeks latcr, fn 
no hurry to return home, Ghanfcr spent the next six months in Lon- 
dun, Pnvis! Rome, and Aix-les-Bains, whcre on April 9, hc and Calvin 
Inet Q~leen Victoria taking a ride in a donkey cart, Still subject t r ~  re- 
current bouts of malarial fevers, they sailed from Liverpool for New 
York on May 27, 1890, and finally reached Rolreby in early fme." Dur- 
ing the year and a half they had been away, Africa had transforlned 
them from mere boys into experienced world travelers. 

Claanler now knew East Africa well, and he set his sights on cqlor-  
ing thc vast patch of unknown territory that lay north of the Tana 
River l2etween Lake Rudolf and the Tuba River. In. this, he was no mere 
dilettante out for sport and adventwe, This assation is supported by 
the fact that he made meticulous preparations for this expedition in 
London by purchasing an impressive array of supplies and equipment 
and contacting respected scientists for guidance* Richard Harding 
Davis, the tun-of-the-eent-ury journalist who, as Lately Thornas said, 
was the '"beau ideal of American youth, the glamorous foreign corre- 
spondent and man about town," was very much impressed with Ghan- 
lcrJs preparations. As Davis noted: "Part of [Chanler"] day was spent 



closeted with the officers of the East Africa Company, another part in 
Whitechapel l~uying Tommies" discarded redcoats as presents for 
African kings; and later he was testing smokeless powder and repeat- 
ing rifles, or choosing canned meats and bottled ~nedicine."~~ 

In March 1892, Chanler wrote to von Hdhnel out of the blue, asking 
him to accompany the expedition, As FteMott observed, this also was 
an indication that his expedition was to be a serious scientific en- 
deavor. The fact that be met with officials of the IBEA clearly shows 
that he was sensitive to the political realities as well.L3 

rJon Hijhnel had never heard of Chanler and had already turned 
down a number of government and corporate offers to return to East 
Ahica, including one from the IBEA. However, during a visit to Vi- 
enna in April, Chanler was able to recruit von Hdhnel, For his part, 
vcln Hehe1  may have been attracted by Chanler's proposal l~ecause, 
like Tcleki%, it represented an offer from a private patron under whom 
he could engage in independent scientific inquiry. AS a naval ~flieef, 
he knew only too well that he could never have such independence in 
the employ of a government, ChanZer indttccd the Austrian admiralty 
to give van Hiihnel a furlough and then left for London, where, as 
Thornas related, he amused himself by riding in breakneck steeple- 
chases against the best gcnt.lcx-men ~ockcys.~" 

Two ~annths later, however, he was ready to start off, and he invited 
vcln Hdhnel to London to reach a Anal understanding. They left Eu- 
rope separately, met in Part Said, and then sailed to Aden, where van 
H6hnel rernained ta engage the Somali while Chanler went on to 
Zanzibar. Van Hdhnel also had to go over to Massowa in Eritrea to en- 
g a p  solne Sudanese guards, ehanler saw his rnain task at Zanzibar as 
the engageraent of porters. However, as he noted: ""Iet~uld not have 
chosen a more inopportune time for the enlistment of porters at Zan- 
zibar. The British East Africa Company, bent upon the retention of 
Uganda, had practically exhausted the supply of porters, and a fais- 
sic~nary caravan was on the point of starting to the interior.'"'" 

Chanler, being the enterprising fcllow he was, had no intention of 
sitting in Zanzibar and waiting for tried and tested porters to return 
from the interior at some v a p e  point in the future. He also did not in- 
tend to follow van Hiihnel's plan of recruiting porters in neavby Ger- 
man East Africa, As Thornas observed, Chanler was Ittough, primitive, 
and single-minded. His capacity for action was enormous, and he de- 
spised dawdling and irresolution, but his inherent pugnacity was dis- 
guised by effortfess lnanners and aristocratic ease.'f22" True to form, 
Chanler did what came naturally to him. He went out and hired men 
from the plantations, sending out word that an expedition was about 
to leave and that it had the approval of the government, When van 
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Hijhnel arrived in Zanzibar a few weeks later, he was shoclced by the 
news that Chanler had hired 135 porters "by hook and crook.'"They 
were largely yaung and inexycrienced men, unaccustomed to the rig- 
ors of travel in the interior. Von Hijhnel had arranged with the gover- 
nor of German East Africa to hire Wanyamwezi porters, who then and 
in later years were renowned as the best port~rs  in East Af-uica. As van 
H6hnel said, "We could have chosen the pick out of thousands of stal- 
wart men. The Wanyamwezi, moreover, axe cheerful and trustworthy 
men who never think of dcs~r t ing ."~  Van Hdhnel was distressed and 
feared the worst consequences of hiring inexperienced youths. He 
later said of Chanler that ''he at that time was not aware that he had 
made a gave mistakc, but he admitted it some month  later.'""" 

Sir Gerald Portal, who was the British consul general in Zanzibar 
and a friend of Clnanler's, gave every support possible, instructing his 
subaltern General Lloyd Nathews, the pricne rninister of Zanzibar, to 
assist him in every way.ig It was Chanler's intent to travel up the Tana 
Rivev kom Lamu on the coast to Mount Kenya, climb the mountaizlr, 
go north to Lake Rudalf, and move cast across 600 cnilcs of unexplared 
territory where the Galla lived and un to the Tuba River. He planned to 
follow the river to the ocean and then m v e  southwest along the 
seashore to Larnr-t, covering 3,000 miles in the process, This ambi-tious 
plan for the expedition was published by Davis, reflecting ChanlerJs 
objectives Before departure, Rut Chanler's sown description of his clb- 
jectives, as related in his book written after the expedition, were more 
vague,%"n a letter to his sister Margaret, written on his way to Africa, 
he said: ""i f Xfai in Africa, I shall not be utterly cast down. Many bet- 
ter men than I have failed in attempting what X am essaying to do. Xf I 
die, I die on a decent cause and leave my people nothillg to be ashamed 
of. ,#l2 

The expedition left Laxnu far the interior on Scpternbcr 18, 1892. It 
consisted of three white men, Chanler, von Hiihnel, and Galvin, and 
sixty others, including the Zanzibari porters, seven Somali camel 
dxivers, and twelve Sudanese guards armed with Mannlicher repeat- 
ing rifles. The expedifion also included fifwen camels, ten oxen, 
goats, sheep, donkeys, horses, and three dogs," Marching along the 
Tana River, the group reached Hameye, an abanduncd IBEA post, two 
mrlntks later. En route, the expedition had enet~untered the usual per- 
ils of travel in that perictd-illness, hostile groups, desert wastes, and, 
as van Hiihnel feared, rnorc than the usual nu~nber of desertions. 
Chanler tried to mend the situation by sending the lnrlst unreliable 
porters back to the coast and calling for new ones. Since it would talre 
several weeks for new porters to arrive, he and van Hdhncl set off to 
explore the area to the north, leaving Galrrirl at Harneye. They left on 



Deeerm.ber 5, 1892, with eighty ~ n e n , + ~  Chanler becalne ill with fever, 
probably malaria, but would not consider stopping. Eventually, they 
came to the Nyambeni. Mountains that today fringe Meru National 
Park, where they encountered the Emhtu, an eastern extension of the 
Kikuyu. It was here that they picked up a guide named Motis, wbe 
took thcrn to the Guaso Nyiro Rivcr and Lake Lorian, which they 
sctnn discovered was not a lake but a swamp into which the river 
emptiede3? 

Chanler had to be carried in a hammock for the first four ciays of 
this trek because he was delirious and semiconscious. It was the rainy 
season, and malaria transmission was at its peak (although this was 
mknown at the time since the parasite and the vector had yet to he 
linked). 

On December 26, 1892, they came upon a waterfall on the Guaso 
Myiro that rose some sixw ke t  high; they called it Chanicr Falls, a 
nalne that is still used t~day.~"arching ever eastward thrt~ugh the 
dry scrub, they reached the Merti Plateau by December 30. On Tanu- 
ary 12, 1893, they realized that Lake Lorian was rcally a swampl 
swarming with mosquitoes. The lnelnbers of the caravan were both 
dejected and angry, for instead of a fresh-water lake where they could 
rest and recuperate, there was nothing but ""an abode of pestilence and 
death," as Chanler recorded.+' It took therm. a   no nth to hobble back to 
Hameye. Short on rations and sick with malaria, they were attacked 
by thc Wamsara (Meru), and thrce porters were killed and twelve 
wounded in the slcirmishes that followed. They finally reached Embu 
country and on February 10, 1893, sighted Hameye, where the Stars 
and Stripes were proudly waving over the camp. The news that Galvin 
gave them was not good: The oxen had died, as well as some of the 
cattle, camels, and donl~eys .~~ 

While res t i~~g at Hameye, Chanicr wrote to his sisters Margaret and 
Alida, telling them what had transpired over the previous months and 
outlining his future plans: 

X cannot write a long letter because X am not very well, X discovered a 
most beautiful waterfalf which I: have called ChanZer Falls. So the family 
will he handed d ~ w  to history after all. Xn a day or two and with, the 
whole caravan, I: go to Mount Kenya, and then to the unknown north. I 
hope to be gone eighteen months as there is a great deal of explsl.lng to be 
done, and should my expedition be the first to do it, 1 should be famous, 
Hijhnel is a charming fcll~~bl~; and Gesrge is as nlce as ever. Thls letter 
must go the rounds of the family as 1 cannot write any more, Love to aX1,'" 

Tenacious and deterlnined, Chanler set out for the north on March 
8, 1893, heading for the Mathews Range, which had never been fully 
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explored- En route to the Nyalnbeni Mountains, solne twenty men de- 
serted, Chanler sent his headman, Hamidi, down to the coast for re- 
placements. This proved to be a serious mistake bccarxse the man was 
not trt~stworthy, as von H6hnel had suspected all along. Chanler, how- 
ever, pushed ahead, exploring the southern Mathews Range and 
Lolokwi Mountain, He then met with the Rendille peoylc, a goup of 
pastoral nomads who had had no previous contact with E~lropeans. He 
unwisely communicated these facts in a September 22, 1893, letter to 
Gearge Mackenzie, the director of the IBEA. His claim of first contact 
had disquieting political implications. For all the company directors 
knew, Ghaniler could have signed a tl-eaty of protection with them on 
behalf of the United States and handcd them same flags, as the British 
and Gerlnans had bcen doing all along elsewhere in Africa, 

The expedition's fortunes were dealt a serious blow on Aumst 24, 
1 893! when von Hijhnel was sr=xi ausl y gored in the grain and lower ab- 
dc~men by a charging rhinocems. Chmler ueated the wounds as best 
he could with pemanganate, but he had little in the way of 
painkillers or other medications. He knew that he had to get von Hlih- 
nel back to their base camp at Daitcho, some 280 miles to the south- 
east, where there was a good store of medicines. On September 1, they 
started for Uaitcbo, but their progcss was hindered by numerous rki- 
noceros charges, Van H6hnel later wrote: 

The rhinoceros mating season was apparently at its height, and part of 
the Guasa Nyiro River that we were Eallawing was a iavoxite trysting 
place far all the arnortlus pairs of the entire distl"lct, who of course were 
higl~ly displeased with seeing us disturb their idyll. In the next few days, 
we had a hundred narrow escapes with these animals, and twenty-live 
times the caravan was seriously charged and scattered. Many a time the 
frightened men put my stretcher roughly down on the ground, and the ri- 
fle shots of the vanmard Icd by Chanler, the shots of the guard that sur- 
rounded me, the close and distant snorting of the monsters and the con- 
stant alarms of the fleeing men created a pandemonium that kept me at a 
higln. pitch of excitement the whole time, Under my very eyes, one of our 
men was thrown high into the air and fell head-first on a hard rtlck; he 
was buried twenty-four hours later, To all this must be added my own un- 
bearable pain." 

Vi3n Hlihnel and Ghanlex arrived at Daitcfio on September 18. Van 
Hiihnel was finally @ven morphine in regular doses and was able to 
get some much-need& rest. However, because he had not eaten in al- 
most three weeksI he was in an extremely. weakened state. 

A passing ivory-trading cawavan brought the good news that there 
was an English physician, Dr. William Charters, at the Kibwezi Mis- 



sion Station, 380 miles away. As soon as van HGhnel was able to travel 
again in a stretcher, Chanler seat him to Kibwezi with Galvin and 
twenty-flvc men, as well as eighteen rmf-it porters, The por;rp arrived at 
Kibwezi fifty-lour days later. Charters debrided von HBhnelfs wounds 
under genewal anesthesia, and after three weeks, von Ildhnel left for the 
coast and borne. Mcanwhilc, Ckanler planned his trip to Lalrc Rudolf 
and beyond. On October 18, 1893, he wrote to von HGl-rnel: 

George's letter with the welcome intelligence that you had bought 50 
donkeys reached me here a few days ago. You, despite your iflness, and 
the natural desire to hurry on to medical ald, stopped till you had added 
anclther gclod turn to the many I owe you. 

Now we are able to go faward with ease and speed you are forced to 
turn your face to the coast. I cannclt tell you the full extent elf my feelings 
at your departure because X da not yet realize all that you were to me, 
both persrlnally and as clne elf the leaders elf this expedition. From the mo- 
ment when you lay breathless & bleeding under the tree in thc Subugo 
forest I realized that you could no longer ilope to continue your journey; 
but what your absence would mean to me X had not the enerw to conjec- 
ture. My whole mind and body were filled ttk tingling with the desire to 
get you safely to Daiteho. 

We may not see one another in this world so that I can speak my mind 
freely to you. Your companiclnship dtfl"lng the past months has been clne 
of thc pleasantest incidents in my life, Your infl~rencc has been all for the 
good and I must tell you that I feel to be a better man since I have knclwn 
you. X fear many & many times X have caused you pain & now X ask your 
pardon, I have a bad-really bad-temper & on looking back 1 wonder at 
the kindliness with which you often met my roughness. If wc should be 
per~nitted to meet a g a i ~ ~  I hope there will occur some opportunity for me 
to prove my affection for 

Chanler wrote von Wijhnel several more letters, updating him about 
his plans for the expedition. He realized that without van HGhnel, the 
expedition no longer had any real scientific capability. Yet he was 
tenacious and determined to go on, 

On October 7, 1893, Ha~nidi, the headrnan, returned to Daitcho 
from the coast with eighty unfit porters, whom Chanler tried to train 
for the next two rxonths until CaIvirt returned. Galvin Anally arrived 
at Daiteho on December 15 with supplies, pack; animals, and the news 
that von H d h e l  was making a satisfactory recovery, Chanler wrote 
van Wijhnel a letter the follawing day: "X am delighted your wound is 
healed and that there will he no ill after effects-you had a terrible 
time of it; and deserve good days and many of them to make up fox 
what you have suffered,"'"' 
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On Dece~nber 17, 1893, the day after Galvin returned with. supplies 
for the trip north, Hamidi and most of the porters suddenly deserted. 
The next day, the Sudanese guards also left but then returned. This 
Inass desertion effectively caused the collapse of ChanlerJs expedition. 
But why had it ctccusred? Chanler was absolutely dumbfounded at first 
because it had come as a total suqrise to him. Hamidi ~etrrrncd two 
days later and said that the men felt that their enlistment time had ex- 
pired and that they had no desire to go farther into unknown country 
Alled with savage people like the Rendilk Chanler was correct when 
he later said, "f was firmly convinced that he was at the bottom of 
it."""" Hamidi confessed that nothing Chanler had done should have 
caused the mass desertion and that be himself had no complaints to 
make. Yet 013 his return to camp, he made every effort to get the Su- 
danese to desert, "He told them that they should come to him at the 
river and follow him to the coast as General Mathews of Zanzibar had 
told him that if he succeeded ill indt~eing the men to desert, he would 
see that they all received their pay upan reaching the coast."44 

Chanlcr went on: 'Taking all things into consideratjon, it looked as 
if Hami& had been acting under orders received b r ing  his visit to the 
coast; but what possible reason the authilrities at Zanzibar could have 
for breaking up my cqedition could not appear clear to my mind. The 
ways of diplomacy are d e ~ i o u s . " ~  

Genesal Matfiews, then the custodian of British interests on the 
mainland, had every reason at this time to see that Chanlca was 
stopped. With seemingly endless perst~nal financial means, Chanler 
was capable of roaming all over the unexplored British sphere with the 
American flag in tow, and in so doing, he posed a potential political 
problem. The easiest way of stopping him was to cause a lnass deser- 
tion of his men. Speaking of Hamidi's role in this, Chanler cogently 
made the following observation: 'qmtead of twenty well-armed cnen 
and solne donkeys, I had been furnished with a disorderly rabble of 
eighty unarmed and insubordinate men-that he- [Hamidi] must 
have received something stronger than a hint that it was the pleasure 
of the people in power at the coast,"" 

Tlon Hijbnel did not think much of Hamidi, observing that "in 
Count TeZckiis Rudvlf Lake Expedition he was a simple porter who af- 
ter one year bad bcen made an asl~ari."~' And with von Hiihnel, the fa- 
mous and well-respected explorer, out of the picture, it would have 
bcen easier for Mathews to cause the expedition" collapse, 

Chanler and Galvin had no choice but to return to Mombasa, which 
they reached on February 10, 1894. There, Ghanler found a letter from 
Mathews, advising him not to proceed to Zanzibar but rather to lcave 



011 the sly at once and have his agents pay off his men," Chanler also 
found that instead ctf arresting the deserters, as was the established 
procedure, the British aulhorities in Mombasa bad sent them on to 
Zanzibar, lr>dging them there at his expense. Thus, the deserters had 
been treated in a unique manner by Mathews, which lends strong cxe- 
dcnce to Ghanlerk ssuspicion that Mathews was behind the plot, 

When Chanler Inet with Mathews, he found that the British. official 
had unchaxacteristicaIly concluded that the porters were justified in 
their desertion, without hcaxi ng Chanlcr's side of the ~tory.~VVC"hen 
the porters first arrived in Zanzibar, Mathews had taken them to 
James White Allen, the acting U.S. consul. Togethex, they listened to 
the men's statements, which werc conflicting. The porters accused 
Chanler of crtlelty, providing poor food, and flogging them, and they 
claimed that they had been engaged for eighteen months only. As 
Allen wrote: ""One man had been ordered shot by Mr. Chanler for re- 
peated desertions, and this was given as another reason,""5 But even 
Mathews knew that the porters had not k e n  engaged for only eigh- 
teen months. Hc had also previously heard of the shooting from 
Hamidi when they met on the etlast, where the latter had gone to get 
more porters. Yet Mathews had made no mention of the shooting to 
Allen at the time he learned of it, which was several rnorrths before 
the Inass desertion, 

When Ghanfer appeared in Zanzibar, Mathews told Allen that he 
saw no reason to hear the expedition leader" side of the story or the 
accounts of the men who had relnaineci faithful to him, Regarding 
this, Allen said: ""Isked Gen. Mathews to hear their story. This he 
said he thought was not necessary, that he had already forxned his 
opinion and quite understood the case. This is but one instance of 
Gen. Mathews treatment of Mr. Chanles, treatment which has been 
outrageous in the extreme. 

Allen and others in Zanzibar were both shrlcked and baffled by 
Mathewsk cconduct toward Chanler and his lenient treatment of the 
desereing poxtcrs. Up to this time, Mathews had established a well- 
deserved reputation as a slcilled and just administrator, His dra~natic 
departure from established procedures and his blatant prejudice 
against Ghstnler raised serious questions early on about his motives 
and his possible role in the desertion, 

A frustrated Allen wrote a lengthy dispatch to the U.S, secretary 
of state on April 2, 1894, in which he sharply criticized Mathews's 
condt~ct: 

Gen. Mathews has placed every difficulty in Mr. Chanles's way, his atti- 
tude at all times being decidedly hostile. People familiar with caravan 
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laws and customs are greatly astonished at the General" aaeticrns. The 
custom is that porters descrtirrg shall be iznprisoncd, punished, and lose 
all pay. Yet, in this case, he has refused to take any action against them. 
Those having to do with caravans are greatly exercised about this.'2 

Although Ghanler would claim in his book that the shooting of the 
porter who repeatecily deserted was an accident, he told Allen that hc 
had ordered him shot: 

Mr. Ghanler does not in the sli&test attempt to conceal the fact that he 
found it necessary to order a man shot. The discipline of a caravan has to 
be like that c)f an army, The clrdinary punishments are f l o ~ n g  and the 
chain gang but extrerne cases have to be dealt with severely. In thc case of 
this man, he had repeatedly deserted, and the caravan was approaching a 
dangerous corntry. Hc was repeatedfy warned but persisted in his attempts 
to escape, till finally, fox the safety of his associates, his caravan and him- 
self, and as a warning tc:, the porters, &%. Chanler clrdered him s h ~ t , ~ "  

At first glance, the shooting of a porter who had repeatedly deserted 
would appear to be an outrageous act. Yet porters were then held to a 
standard of armylike discipline. They were armed with rifles and wegu- 
larly drilled so as to instill in them the organized, defensive combat 
skills that would be needed if an expedition were attacked- The Su- 
danese and Somalis who commanded the porters on Ghanler's expedi- 
tion were, in essence, the noncommissioned officers responsible ior 
~naintainillg discipline. Desertion on just a few occasions was usually 
dealt with by flogging; porters who repeatedly deserted wewe often 
shot. In a Mareh 16, 1594, cnemorandtrm to Lord Rasebcry, the British 
prime minister, Mahews laid out the pligl-rt of the Zanzibar1 porters, 
with whom be clearly sympathized: 'Tar the slightest offense, or al- 
leged offense, they are often flogged, even brutally, the number of 
lashes ranging in known cases up to as Inany as 150, and they have on 
a charge of desextion actually been shot."""J 

Thus, according to Mathcws, flogging and execution were routine, 
This raises questions about why he chose to make issues of them in 
the case clf Chanler's expedition and why he sided with the desextiq 
porters and their leaders. Mathews" persecution of Ghanlcr and his 
sympathetic treatment of the porters really had little to do with the 
merits of the allegations. Rather, they reflected a pragmatic approach 
to local political issues. The British sphere in East Africa was about to 
collapse, and this was a determining factor in his handling of Chanler 
and his men. 

Sir Gcrald Portal became the British agent and consul general in 
Zanzibar on March 10, L89 1, At the same time, the IBEA, which was 



primarily a trading colnpany, was chartered to administer the British 
sphere, which included Uganda, By 1892, the IBEA had reached the 
end of its tether in East Africa and announced its intentions of with- 
drawing from Uganda by year-end. Undercapitalized and drained by 
the civil war between the Catholic and Protestant native forces in 
Bugan& [January-March 1 8921, known as the Fransa-Xngliza W"ar,ss the 
company announced its plans to pull out and retreat to Dagoretti, near 
modern-day Nairobi,'Trederick Lugard, the IBEks man in Uganda 
who had srrccessfrrlly negotiated a treaty between the French-led 
Catholics and English-led Protestants, was withdraw by Sir Williarn 
Mackinnon, the company's head, and reached London in October 
2 89Zas7 

The British government then in power was indifferat to this evellt 
and showed no interest in placing the area under direct protection. In 
fact, at the time, the British were seriously considering withdrawing 
from Egypt as well.'" 

Lugard, an archprapsnent of British imperialism, lost no time in 
lobbying for the establishment of a British protectorate, delivering 
speeches, and writ;ing articles and letters in the papers.'The specter of 
Church Missionary Society [CMS) missionaries and their families 
stvanded and unprotected in the interior, coupled with the CMS's own 
campaign, temporaily swayed public opinion ss] that irn~nediate aban- 
donment was postponed, In addition, Bishop Alired Tucker of the 
GMS, on leave in England, raised 1,"7,090 from the 6MS Gleaners 
Union, and added to the S25,OQO raised by Sir William Mackinnon, 
this enabled the company to limp along until March 1 893,h0 The for- 
eign secretary, Lard Rosebery, then succeeded in getting the govern- 
ment t s ~  agree to send Gerald Portal on a visit to Uganda to make a re- 
port and recommendations. Given Portal's support for imperial 
expansion, it was allnast a forcgone conclusion as to what he would 
recammend." Pc~rtal left Zanzibar in January 1893, and Rasebery 
asked Tames Rennell Rodd to go to Zanzibar in Portal" absence.62 
Thus, when Chanler arrived in Zanzibar in the surxlner of 1892 to 
launch his expedition, the IBEh was on the verge of collapsing, and to 
the expansionists like Portal and Mathews, the future of the British 
sphac seemed in peril of foreign takcovcr. However, Paml clearly did 
not see Chanler" presence as threatening at the time. If he had, he 
would not have offered him '"every assistance in his power.'""? 

Portal pulled down the IBEA flag in Uganda on April 2 ,  1893, and re- 
placed it with the Union Jack.(* He declared a provisional British pro- 
tectorate, which had no legal standing as it had not received the ap- 
proval of the British Parliament, an both Parliament and the cabinet, 
Inany were opposed to establishing a protectorate in Ugancltl or else- 
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where on the East African mainland." There was a good possibility 
then that the British sphere on the mainland would be abandoned, 
And in April 1893, Chanler was moving into the lniddlc of the sphere, 
In fmmer times, other lone travelcrs had succeeded in stalcing claims 
that were subsequently assumed by their govewnments. To local impc- 
rialists like Mathews, bent on retaining the mainland for Britain, 
Chanler had now beculne a serious theat,  for if the IBEA pulled out, 
the sphere was up fox grabs. And there was Chanler right in the middle 
of it with his American flag. 

In 1883, the year that Chanlcr was in the interior, things otherwise 
went very badly for British interests in East Africa. In February, Todd, 
the II3EAts agent in Kismayu, was attacked by Somali, and Radd had to 
rush from Zanzibar to defend the area as best he could. Just then, Ge- 
cil Rhodes, the master empire buildcu, dropped in on Rodd in Zanzibar 
and urged the cstablishment of a pxatectorate on the mainland." In 
Zanzibar itself, matters sharply calne to a crisis on March 5, 1893, 
when Sultan Seyid Ali died. The successir>n was contested by Seyid 
Khalid, who secured the palace, and Seyid Warned, whorn the British 
favored. An armed confrontation between Hamecl and the forces of the 
challenger Khalid took place at the palace duoxs, with Mathews 
threatening to blow them down with cannons if 'Mhalid did not sub- 
mit, which he eventually did," While Rodd and Mathews eventually 
got the situation in hand and put the more cooperative Hamed on the 
throne, KXzaZid was not without supporters. 

Rcldd and Mathews did not have much respite because in May 1893, 
the IBEA announced its withdrawal from coastal Witu, whose sultan, 
Furno Ol-nani, now defied outside authority." Two cnonths later, Math- 
ews had to take a lnilitary expedition against Witu. Eumo Omari and 
his bands were routed but not brought under administrative control. 
On luly 31, Mathews hauled down the IBEA Rag at Witu and replaced 
it with the sultan" standard. He then placed Witu under Zanzibar, 
which itself was a British protectorate." This did not g s  ovew well with 
the British government, lawgc segments of which were clearly leaning 
toward alaandoniq mainland holdings. Rodd was desperate because 
the IBEA was withdrawing its men and not replacing them, and he had 
but 1 50 Zanzihari troops in. Uganda and 150 in Witu. 

Portal returned to the coast 013 Octc-~ber 22, 1883, and three days 
later, be left for England with Rodd, who was severely ill with malaria. 
Mathews was now in charge.'O 

Chanlcr's headman, Hamidi, had returned to the ctlast for more 
porters after the military confrontation at Witu and the Somali rebel- 
lion at Kismayu early in the year. Hamidi would certainly have 
known about both events, which would have been threatening tcs both 



him and the porters since Chanler intended t r ~  traverse these areas 
later in his journey, 

The fact that both Witu and Mismayu were insecure would not have 
deterred Chanler. However, it would certainly have hightened some 
inexperienced porters into cowardly defection. Xn addition, the IBEA 
was withdrawing from the areas south of the Tana River while Chan- 
ler was moving into the unexplored area to the north. This would have 
put the porters at even higher risk. 

Chanlier" snen knew of the death of the sultan before van H6hnel 
left for Kihwezi, the news having been brought up by a trading cara- 
van, Chanler said of their reaction to this: 

X could hear them discussing the probabilities of the successor attempting 
to free the Sultanate of Zanzibar from British influence. They seemed tr3 

think the time: hacl come: when the natives of Zanzibar should rise, and, 
throwing off the European yolce malte Arab influence paramount along 
the coast. Had X been a stranger in Africa, it might have seemed odd to me 
that these men, fox the most part slaves, should feel that their interests 
were in far greater degree with their masters than c)n the side c)f the 
British, who were ostensibly their friends and anxious to free them from 
servit~de.'~ 

A~nnng the porters Hamidi brought from the coast were a group of 
twenty who, Chanler reported, ""had followed the fortunes of Etusheri, 
an Arab patriot, who had endeavorcd to prevent the Germans from 
taking that portion of East Africa which they had claimed. Many of 
them boasted of the nurnhexs of Europeans they had slain. These men, 
by their boastings, quickly became herocs in my camp.'"" 

Hamidi" group also brought distorted tales of Mathews" smilitary 
campaign against Witu. According to Chanleu, "They gave highly col- 
ored accounts of victories achieved over the Europeans by the k a b s  
and outlaws in the neigtlborhood of Lamoo. They said the time had at 
last come when the Arabs were about to re-establish themselves in 
Zanzibar on a firm footing and that messengers bad came from Mecca 
advocating the "Thadqhly war] against the infidel.""' 

Chanler, true to form, called his men together and said that "not for 
a moment were lies of this sort to be tolerated in my camp; that any 
one of my men who would take the trouble to think for a momellt 
should know the stories were absolutely untrue; and that I, being a Eu- 
ropean, would not perrnit such rumours to circulate while 1 was there 
to stop t h e ~ n . " ~ ~  

Chanler later learned what had really happened on the coast. How- 
ever, his disparaging of the news braught by Hamidi and the cnen from 
the coast did not and could not: prevent his porters from believing it. 
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Thus, as solne of the porters saw it, British rule was collapsing and the 
Arabs were about to rise again as an independent power on the coast. 
This was certainly no time to be away in the interior and on the way 
to a distant lake, particularly if one were a battle-scarred nationalist. 

The porters had another reason to desert as well. Most of them had 
alrcady gone up north to the Rcndille country near the Mathews 
Range on Chanleds first visit there. They knew the road was rough 
and diffkult and that the Rendiile were unfriendly and dangerous. 
They had littlc stomach ion such a difficult tmdertaking, especially af- 
ter spending almost nine cu~nfortable months in camp at Daitcho. 
Calvin's return marked the point in time when an easy camp life 
would end and the march nartkz would begin, Xf defection were to oc- 
cur, it had to take place then, before the men were far from the well- 
trodden and relatively safe trade routes from the coast. 

At the tilne of the perm defection in Decernher 1893, the British 
sphere was essentially being abandoned. A protectorate over Uganda 
would not be confirmed in Paviiament until the followit-ig August." 
Thus, the sphere had entered a period of great vulnerabiIity to foreign 
seizure, as local. imperialists saw it. What had been earlier viewed as 
an innocuous scientific expedition headed by Chanler was now seen 
as a Inajar threat in the waning days of 1893, Consequently, Mathews 
had strong motives in promoting the collapse of the expedition, as 
Chanler himself imp2iede7T?"hese motives would have been strengtb- 
ened by the fact that Ghanler indiscreetly gave an A~nerican flag to a 
local chief an the Tana River early in the expedil-ion, Von HiShnel rep- 
rimanded Ghanler for this in a letter written in 1923, saying: "The 
dark spat is another one, the flag giving on the Tana River, which a 
few days later you yourself ct~ndemned-F"7 Giving a flag to a local chief 
was a powerful symbolic act of stalcing a territorial claim for a cofo- 
nial power, News of this must certainly have reached Mathews 
through Hamidi, who met with him an the coast in 1W3 when he 
went to secure additional porters for Ghanler. Since trading caravans 
were replarly moving throu& this area at the time, news of an A~nc=r- 
ican Rag on the Tana River might even have reached Mathews earlier. 
In. either case, this information would have alarmed him and induced 
him to cut short Ckanleu's presence in the interior. 

Frightened by the dangers of travel farther into the interior and ex- 
cited by the turbulent pvlitical events on the coast, the porters would 
have been receptive to Hamidi" inducement to desert. He also 
promised them immunity from the usual adverse consequences of de- 
sertion: "General Mathews of Zanzibar had told him that if he suc- 
ceeded in inducing the men to desert, he would see that they all re- 
ceived their pay upon reaching the c t~as t . "~~  



Haxnidi" assurances to the deserting porters that Mathews would 
see that they were paid and not punished were supported by the gen- 
eral's later actions. Contrary to existing convention, he demanded that 
the porters be paid, gave ixn~nediate credence to their allegations, and 
tried to force Ckanler to make a quick exit. In so doing, he tried to 
camouflage any role he himself had played in causing the expedition's 
collapse. However, Nathews overplayed his hand in his effort to vic- 
timize and then vilify Ghanler. He lost no time in having the a c t i q  
British agent write to Lord Eiosehery, thc foreign secretary who later, 
in 1894, beeaxne prime ~ninister. 

On January 29, 1834, M. Cracknall, the acting British agent and con- 
sul general in Zanzibar, who for cnmy years had bcen the judge of the 
British Consular Court, wrote a four-page dispatch to Lord Rosebery 
about the porter desertion. In this dispatch, he laid out the porters' alle- 
gations of ill treatment but added his own caveat that '"this story 1nay 
be a Inere tissue of falsehor~ds," Craclcnall alsr~ clailned that the inci- 
dents occurred in an area "within the British sphere oE influence."" 

Rosebexy had bcen an intimate friend of Gkanlerk sandfather, Sam 
Ward, and knew that the United States had no territorial interests in 
East Africa. He also knew of the Chanler family and was familiar with 
William Ghanler" expedition. Thus, a matter of this nature was of in- 
terest to him 1101: only because of his official position but also beeause 
of the person against whom the allegations were being made."" 

On March 15, 2 894, Gracknall again wrate to Lord Rosebery, who 
had just becoxne prime minister. He outlined the ct~mylcxities of the 
desertion, which he now characterized as having taken place csutside 
the British sphere. He said that he did not believe he had ~urisdiction 
over the case on these grounds, even though Mathews had been advo- 
cating that he bring Chanler tu justice. However, he agreed with 
Mathews that Ghanlcr should not be tried by the U.S. Consular Court, 
claixning that Allen would be a biased judge,*' What is transparellt in 
this letter is that Cracknall was having second thoughts about getting 
deeply involved in Chanler" case and was trying to distance himself 
from it. 

While waiting for a reply from Lord Rosebery, Mathews and Crack- 
nall agveed to have Chanler submit the matter to arbitration, Ghanler 
yroposed to appoint one arbitrator himself, have the gnvernlnent of 
Zanzibar appoint another, and have that individual and Mathews 
choose a third. Ghanlcr chose Seth A, Pratt, the former U.S. consul at 
Zanzibar, and the government of Zanzibar selected a Mr. Wilsnn, then 
its legal adviser. Pratt proposed eight candidates, German, Italian, and 
French, all of whom were fluent in Swabili (a necessity since rxuch 
native testimony had to be heard in that language/. Wilson rejeaed all 
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of these and instead proposed three men, one of whom had j~lst been 
decorated by the government of Zanzibar fox services rendered, and 
two others whoan Pratt knew were hostile to Chanlerk interests. Pxatt 
quickly realized that Mathews was intent on stacking the court 
against Ghanler, and he finally gave up, finding Wilson unreasonable 
and disco~rteous.~~ 

A stale~nate now ensued, with ChanIer refusing to pay the %L,QOQ in. 
porter wages demanded by Mathews. Hostile, unreasonable, and un- 
yielding, Mathews refused to negotiate and even threatened Chanler 
with pllblic exposure through negative publicity. Then suddenly and 
unexpectedly, he blinked. He ageed to accept half the amount he had 
originally dcrnand~d,~~ 7"his abrupt turnanurrnd was actually in response 
to an April 16, 1594, dispatch sent by the Eoreign Office to Crackndl. 
Approved by Lord Rosebery, it was devastating to niliathews's position 
because it told him and Cracknall that they had no jurisdiction over tkc 
ease: "Where the perscon impliwted is an American citizen, you have nn 
power to interfere judicially As regdrds natives of Zanzihau, stringent 
regulations against their employment already exist., but these regmla- 
tions do not apply to the Protectorate north of the Tana,'f84 

In efrect, the Foreign Office told Cracknall and Mathews not only to 
remove themselves from the case but also that the existing regula- 
tions governing porter treatment did not apply tcz the area where the 
alleged shooting and floggings had taken place. "This decision from 
London effectively neutralized Matkews's crusade against Chanler 
and forced him to negotiate. 

In order to enable Mathews to save face in a conflict now charged 
with much personal acrimony, the Foreign Office suggested that he 
lay the matter before the sultan of Zanzibar, who they knew would 
opt to settle the case according to local Arab law." "The sultan proved 
very ameaahXe to settling the claims of the porters in return for a par- 
tial payxnent uf wages and a blood-money payment of $1,000 to the 
owner of the porter who was sbnt. 

With the payxncnt issue settled, there now remained the problem of 
Mathews'f original public support for the porters"l1egations and his 
condemnation of Chanler. For the sake of his awn career and position, 
he had to Inend fences with Chanlcr. In a gesture of faced reconcilia- 
tion, he prrlnouneed a revisi~nie account of what caused the collapse 
of the epedition: 

I thoroughly believe that the whole trouble was caused by Somali in- 
tl5gue. The headmen of the porters weakly giving in to other porters who 
were afraid to proceed inland not knowing where they were going and 
frightened by Sarnali tales. 1 believe the Somalis intrigued to gain their 



own ends viz: the retum of the expedition to the coast. I prtlpose that So- 
mali headmen should bc imprisoned tor not remaining with Mr. Chanler, 
and that porters be paid only half of pay due. Headmen nu pay,Y6 

This significant retreat on Mathews's part effectively brought the 
matter to a satisfaceory closure. ehanler agreed to pay the blaod 
money and a portion of the wages claimed by the porters. For his part, 
Mathews was able to save face and placate Lord Rosebery by blaming 
foreign scapegoats, namely, the Sornalis. However, Rosebery was still 
left with the potentially thorny political problems associated with 
Matlzewsk unwe1come assertions that there was widespread porter 
abuse in most European-led cqedit.ions. He expressed this concern in 
a file memo: "Werc the state of facts disclosed in Sir L. Mathews9prin- 
cipal minute to be disclosed the anti-slavery feeling in this country 
would be very justly e~asperated."~~ 

On April 10, cornlnenting on Mathews's March 16 ~nernc~randu~n, 
he wmte to Gracknall, saying: 'Sir L. Mathews, I think, generalizes 
rather overmuch being moved by the alleged cruelty shown by Mr. 
Ghanler. The new transport arrangclnents when in working order will 
remedy much OE this/"' This was a further rebuke to Mathews and a 
dismissal of some of his exaggerated claims about the general plight of 
safari pclrters. 

In saying that "the treatment oE my affairs was made subservient to 
purely local and, I may say, private ends," Ghanler came close to the 
truth of the  natter." The late William Ghalnherlain Ghanler, the ex- 
plorer" nephew, succinctly summarized matters in this regard when 
he noted that ""te British didrt" like the idea of an A~nerican march- 
ing around their unexplored territory carrying the American flag, and 
decided to put a stop to it."* Yet, it was really Mathews's pulicy, not 
London-directed policy, that was at work here, as evidenced by both 
British. and A~nerican official d ~ c ~ ~ ~ n e n t s  of the time, 

The collapse oE Ghanler's expedition raises two broad and related is- 
sues regarding rvlatbews's passible instigation of the porter defection 
through Hamidi, the headman. There is no documentary evidence to 
suppovt this scenario, other than Ghanler's own claim." He was being 
discreet when he asserted that he was at a loss to explain why Matk- 
ews would want his expedition to collapse. He had, of course, hanckd 
out an American flag on the Tana River, which he never mentioned in 
his account of the expedition. This highly provocative act would have 
been reastln enough for Marhews to sabotage the expedition, If m a n -  
ler had handed out one flag, be was capable of handing out clthers as 
well, thus placing the British sphere at risk of foreign seizure at a time 
of great vulnerability. 
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The second issue has to do with Mathews's trcattnent of the porters 
after they had deserted. The established conventictns for desertion 
were imprisonment and forfeiture of wages.'"TThese punishments were 
equally applied ta  porters deserting from either European or 
Arab/Swahili-led caravans. Mathews's failure to apply these sanctions 
represented a very pragmatic, albeit rmjust and inconsistent, approach 
to dealing with a potcntially volatile political problem, Instead of im- 
prisoni~~g the porters as was customary, Mathews gave them their 
freedom, housed and fed them at Ghanler's expense, and de~nandcd 
they be paid thcir full wages. He justified these highly unusual actirjns 
by claiming that Chanler had been the cause of the mass desertion 
through excessively cruel treatment of his cncn. Mahews could 
hardly have done otherwise if he himself had induced them to desert. 
Even if he had not caused the desertion, he would have run serious pct- 
litical risks imprisoning so many men. 

In the end, Mathews was forced to abandon his campaign against 
Chanler after being rebulred by Lord Rosebery. He withdrew his ac- 
cepeance of the porters' allegations of unusual cruelty, blamed the de- 
sertion on the Somalis who catne from outside the protectorate, and 
dropped his demands for full wages. Taken together, these actions 
represented a significant retreat for a man who was then the mast 
powerful and influential British colonial agent in East Africa. How- 
ever, his only clther choice was tct canfront the prime minister, a 
course of action that would have led to his dismissal or iorced resig- 
nation. Such an option was untenable for him, not only for reasans of 
self-preservation but also because the Foreign Qfficc's position was sa 
well reasoned and based on existing laws and regulations. Xr must 
have e~nbarrassed Mathews t r ~  be reminded that Britain had no juris- 
diction over Chanler and that the alleged cruelties had occurred out- 
side the region to which existing rewlations could be applied. Having 
invoked these legal issues, the Foreign Office did not bother to raise 
the obvious question as to why Mathews was treating Ckanler's de- 
seaing porters contrary to the very conventions he had helped cstab- 
lish, They clearly knew the answer. Cracknall" realization of these 
facts early on in the crisis effectively left Mathews isolated in his 
prosecution of Ghanler, 

It is obvious that Mathews initially acted in a very high-handed, un- 
just, and prosecutorial manner toward Cbanler. Hctwever, he had un- 
wisely chosen a tenacious, combative, and well-connected target, who 
quickly forced him into retreat It was certainly no comfort to Matk- 
ews that Rosebery expressed the view that the matter of porter treat- 
ment in general would be addressed by Arehur Hardiqe, who had just 
been appointed agent and ct~nsul general. Hardinge's arrival in Zan- 



zihar in May 1894, aftcr Chanler had left, placed Mathews in a chas- 
tened, secondary role. 

Chanlcr finally left Zanzibar for home after spending two lnonths 
resolving his difficulties. His antagonist, Mathews, continued to serve 
in Zanzibar until his death at the age of fifty-one from cerebral 
malaria, on October 1 1, 1 90 1 ." "odd thought highly of Mathews, say- 
ing that he led ""a straight and beneficent life," and he characterized 
him as "the most generous of men,'"Tet Mathews was emblematic of 
thc colonial proconsuls of his time, and this above all explains his 
dealings with Chanler. 

Chanler had much to be proud of. He had explored 2,500 square 
miles of unknown territory. Wc and von Hiihnel had fixed the exact 
geographical position of Mount Kenya's peak, discovered the Nyarn- 
beni Mountains, charted the course of the Guaso Nyiro, discovered 
the Chanler Falls, and found the Larian Swamp, Chanler had made thc 
first Eurt~yean contact with the Rendillc and discovered a new species 
of antelope-Chanler"s reed buck, Cervicapra ~hanleuii.'~ He had col- 
lected thousands of specixnens of reptilcs,'oeetles, buttertlics, plants, 
and other fllora and fauna, which he donated to the S~nithsonian Insti- 
tution. A number of these were new to science, including two species 
of rcp-tiles, Ma bu yn chnnf eri and Simocgplanlrzs clznnleri, and two 
species of buttcrilies, fphthima chnnleri and Cbarnxes cha~zleui,~ 

Although Chanler's geographic explorations fell short of his original 
expectations, it seems he had kept his options open in this regard. In a 
letter written from Daitcho on Novelnber 1 Q, 1 893, to von HGhnel, he 
said: "'IS I get through Boxana, X shall make fox Irne and 'E;erhera,"" Even 
the day before his men deserted, he wrote to van Hiikznel again, saying 
that he would wait a year for von Hilhnel to return if necessary. He 
then said that if fie could not get through the Boran country; he would 
return to Zanzibar.9R 

Chanler never returned to East Africa, He was elected tr3 the New 
Yoxk State Assembly as a Democrat in 1896, campaigned in Cuba dur- 
ing the Spanish-American War, and served in Congress fur a term 
f 1898-j 901 ). After 1 C) 12, he lived in Paris, breeding racehorses and 
running a private intelligence operation. He married Beatrice Ashley, 
an accolnplished actress and author, and they had two sons, Willialn 
Astor Jr. and Sidney Ashley,YTChanler wrote two short novels in addi- 
tion to his book on African explouation-A Man's Game ( 1921j, under 
the pseudonym John Brent, and Tlj?e Sacrifice j 1925), under the pseudo- 
nym Rohert Har1;." For many years, he maintained an apartment in 
Paris at 19 Rue de Za Tremoille, Erm where he ran his intelligence op- 
eration. Hc suffcred a leg amputation following an accidcnt in 1914 
and died at the age of sixty-six on March 4, 1934, in Mentone, France. 
His remait~s were returned to the United States and buried in the 
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Chanler family vaul"cn Trinity Cemetery in upper Manhattan. Some 
of his African artifacts and trophies still adorn the Chanler estate 
housc at Rokeby, in Dutchess County, New York. 
h August and December 1996, Galvin's s ~ n ,  Genrge E. Galvin Jr., 

sent to Rokehy a collection of trophies, ethnoguaphic objects, vsn H6h- 
nel field m q s ,  photopaphs, camping equipment, and a Mannlicher ri- 
fle that had been associated with Chanler's experljtion. Included in this 
collection was the expectition's thirty-eight-s~r American flag.Io1 

Ludwig von Hiihnel maintained a lifelong friendship with Ghanler. 
He was at sea between 1884 and 1899, being promoted to captain of 
corvette in the latter year, Between 1899 2nd 1903, he served as an 
aide-de-camp to Emperor Francis joseph of Austria, and in 1903, he 
was pro~noted to frigate captain. Two years later, he was sent by Aus- 
tria on a diplomatic mission to Emperox Menefik of Ethiopia, and in 
18 12, hc was promoted to rear admiral. 

Van Hdhnel's last assignment was as commander of the naval arse- 
nal. at Psla. There, he encountered frequent difficulties with Vice Ad- 
miral julius van Ripper, who constantly cneddlcd in his activities, In 
his me~nrtirs~ von Hiihnel claims that it was because of this meddling 
and the excessive demands of his post that he retired f r m  the navy on 
August 1, 1909, However, as Erwin E Siechc rclatcd, therc was an- 
other reason for his resignation. 

In 1909, von Hijhnel became engaged to Valeska van Oesteren 
6 1870--19471, who came horn a promincnt German family in Ham- 
burg, As an Austrcl-Hungarian officer, he had to obtain official permis- 
sion to marry, Archduke Franz Ferdinand and his aides objected to the 
m a ~ h  bccause her brother, Frledrich Wcmer van Oestkren, had pub- 
lished a novel in 1906 entitled Chr i s r~s  ~ i ~ h l  Jesus, which was viewed 
as being highly anti-Jesuit and supporeive of freemasonry, Ferdinaad 
disliked the Freemasons because those based in France had singled 
him out for especially caustic criticism. Von H6hnel was bluntly told 
that he could not marry Valeska and remain in the navy. Exasperated 
with his then current superior and angered by this decision, be cven- 
tuafly chose to retire with the rank of commander at the age of fifty- 
two. When he and Valeska were married on JuXy 17, 1909, Chanler 
scrvcd as one of the witnesses. Three years later, von Hdhncl was 
given the retirement naval rank of rear admiral.Io2 

Following World War I, von f-fiihnel and his wife, who were child- 
less, fell on hard financial tiznes. At Chanler" surging, he wrote his 
~ne~noirs, which were published in Gerlnany in 1926.m3 He also wrote 
an English-language memctir, cmpleted in Aufiust 1924. He sent this 
to Chanler, who in turn gave it to his niece" husband, Edward Motley 
Pickman, a gentleman-scholar in Boston with connections t s ~  publish- 
ers. Hctwever, Pickman" efforts to place it with a publisher were un- 



successful because of the Great Depression, In 1965, Pickman's 
widovv, Hesteu, found the manuscript in her husband" library and sent 
it to Chanler's peat-nephew, John Winthrop Aldrich, for inclusion in 
the family archives at Rukehy,'OL In the late 1920s, von H6hncl ctlm- 
pleted a book in German a b u t  his travels with Chanler in Africa. He 
was usuccessfub in Aaciing a publisher for it because it laclrcd a suffi- 
cient nu~nher of photozgraphs, which by then had becolne vital to the 
success of travel books.mn' However, von Hdhnel did publish the survey 
results of the expedition, which were supplemented with astronomi- 
cal analyses by Dr. J, Palisa. This article contained a map drawn on a 
scale of 1:750,00, showing the features of the area as well as profiles 
of mountain  range^.'^ 

Beginning in 1931, Chanler arranged to have a re~nittance of 1,000 
French francs (then worth tirS$40,08) sent to von H6hnel each month 
from his bank, Bankers Trust Company, in Paris, Chanler stipulated 
that his name not appear on any of the correspondence and that the 
exchange costs be charged to his account.'w 'TWO years previrzusly, he 
had sent von Wijhnel $400 to pay his rent and to get his wife's jewels 
out of pawn.m0 Without Chanlcr's ~nrlnthly remittance, the von H&- 
nels would have been close to destitution, judging from the Chan- 
ler-van Eddhnel correspondence in the Rokcby Papers. Cbanler also 
arranged for the stipend to contillue after his death, which it did. 

Vi3n Hdhnef. was deeply gieved by Chanler's death, writing about it 
to Ghanlcr's sister, Margaret Aldrich: "It is with a heavy and sorrowful 
heart that I console you, he was the tluest and staunchest Iriendt he 
altogether was a hero, my hero, whom I always admired and dearly 
l o ~ e d . " ~  Van W6hnel died in Vienna on March 23, 1942, his ashes bc- 
ing buried in an urn in Vienna's Central Cemetery, The Chanler fam- 
ily did not learn of his death until, 1944. Valeska von H6hnel died in 
194'7, leaving his remaining papers and memorabilia to his nephew 
Dr. Heinrich Ziindel. ZGndel" widow, Rum, gave a slnall collection of 
von HCihnel" ethnographic materials to the Ostafrika Museum, which 
was then located in the sehloss (castle) at Bad Deutsch-Altenberg, She 
also donated a Zrs~zst of von Hiihnel to the ~nuseu~n. ' j~  

Mathews and other British colonial authorities in Zanzibar may 
have taken some comfort in the fact that a perceived threat to their in- 
terests in East Africa had been removed. Yet, unknown to them, an- 
other determined American explover was about to descend on them 
from the north. As Chanler was arriving in Trieste in May 1894 kom 
Zanzibar, Arthur Donaldst~n Smith, a physician from Philadelphia, 
was preparing to leave London for Somaliland and Lake Rudolf. 'The 
autlzoril-ies in Zanzibar would know about him before long. 
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in the spring of 1894, the British 
had no respite from American 
attempts to reach Lake Rudolf. 
On July 29, 1894, Axthuw Doa- 
aldson Smith, M.D., of Pkiladel- 
pha, set out for the lake from 
Berbera on the Somali coast, 
leading a caravan of eighty-two 
Sornalis. He traversed 2,000 
miles of unexplored wilderness 
during the next year and finally, 
on July 10, 1895, saw the blue- 
green waters of the lake off in 
thc distant haze, He larcx wrote 
about his feelings on seeing 
Lake Rudslf for the first time: 
""As X: lookcd upon thc bright 

Arthur Donaldsc~n Smith, at the time sheet of water, i; seemed to me 
of his f i s t  trjp to Lake Xudolf (from like a roll parchment await- 
Through Unkno'tvn African Countries, 
1887). 

ing me---a roll such as I have 
received on crlmpletion of a 
course of study. """ 

Smith had good reason to feel satisfied about his accomplishment. 
He was the first white man to reach the lake frctm the north and the 



first to see it since it had been visited seven years before by Count 
Samuel "Teleki and Lieutenant Ladwig von Hlihnel. Why a man of in- 
dependent wealth such as Smith chose ta risk his life and subject him- 
self to enormt~us hardships is partially explaillcd by an elltry he made 
in his diary the day he first saw the lake: "One thinks of the great 
world far away----how circumscribed it seems, Nature appears so im- 
lnense out here that the greatness of civilized mankind dwindles by 
degees in one's estimation the longer the separation from the artifi- 
cial continues. 

Smith" yearnings for sport and adventure were leavened by his 
training as a physician and his skills as a naturalist. "Thus, his self- 
Ananced trip was one of the hest-organized scientific expeditions inta 
this part of Afuica, and is yielded major contributions to the fields of 
geography, ethnology, geology, paleoatology, and natuual history. 
Smith not only filled in the hbnlr spaces of Ease: Africa with the 
names of lakes, rivers, mountains, and villages but also brought out of 
this area a wealth of scientific materials that he eventually gave to the 
British Museum, the University of Pennsylvania Museum, and the 
Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia. 

Arthur Dunaldson Smith was born on April 27, 1866, in Andalusia, 
Pennsylvania, a small comlnunity on the Delaware River in Bucks 
County; close tu the city of Philadelphia, The youngest of three chil- 
dren, he was 1mrn into a patrician Philadelphia family of considerable 
wealth. His father, Jesse Evans Saxrith, and his mather, Martha falxles 
Knight, were prominent members of Philadelphia society.5mitl.r"~ pa- 
ternal gxeat-gandfather, Toest [Yost) Smith Jr., was a member clf the 
Revolulionary Arlny who had served in the Richland Company of 
Buclcs County. Joest Smith Sr. "died of the fever taken from soldiers 
living in his house for whom he was caring" &ring the encampment 
of the army at Valley Forge." 

Smith's family name was originally Schmidt, his ancestors having 
come to the United States from Germany, However, at the time of the 
Revolut.ionary War, the family Anglicized the narne to avoid any hint 
of association with the Hessian mercenaries who were then fightillg 
with the British. As an adult, Smith dropped Arthur from his narne 
and referred to hirnsclf as either A. DonaXdsan Saxrith or Donaldson 
Smith. 

Smith grew up in his family's Philadelphia home and at 'Wynd- 
lawn," a ssulxllner retreat not far from AnAlusia. He and his sister de- 
veloped a keen interest in natural history early in life. He also learned 
to hunt, Ash, and ride, sports for which he maintained a liking all his 
life. However, his intexcsrs in the outdoors went beyond those of a 
Inere sportsman because he studiously acquired an impressive knowl- 



edge of plants and animal life that served him well during his trips to 
Africa and elsewhere. 

In 1881, Slnith entered the University of Pennsylvania at the very 
yc~ung age of fifteen. On graduating four years later, he applied to the 
graduate chemistry program at Johns Hopkins University, advancing 
his age by one year. Although he wrote on his applicatian that he de- 
sired ""r;o take a year's course in chemistry with a view either to con- 
tinue that study . . . or to make medicine my profession," he may also 
have known that he was too young to be considered by most medical 
schools, This is borne out by the fact that when he applied to Harvard 
Medical School in 1886, he advanced his age by two years on the appli- 
cation form. He entered Harvard in the fall of that year and rerxained 
there until 1888, when he transferred to thc lnedical schclol of the 
University of Pennsylvania. There, he completed a third and final year 
of study before receiving his M.D. degree on May X, 1589, along with 
123 classmates, Soun aftcr grahatiun, Smith went to the University 
of I-feidelbewg for several months of postgvaduate study, He returned to 
his parents' home at 226 South 21st Street in Philadelphia in early 
1890, where his mother died an March 15 of that year," 

Smith was twenty-four when he returned from Germany. He was a 
handsome young man of lnadest height [about 5'77" with blue eyes, 
brown hair, a distinctive mustachc that he would later r e ~ l a r l y  w a ,  
and strikingly white teeth that impressed people even in his latex 
years. Afthough assertive and patrician in his manner, be was never 
pompous or patronizing. Rather, even as a young man, he was adlnircd 
for being thoughful and sensitive about other people" feelings, 
virtues that helped make him highly successful with palients and in 
diplo~xatic negotiatic~ns o~erseas.~ 

For the next two years, Smith practiced medicine in Philadelphia, 
where he was associated with a nu~nbcr of hospitals. He especially en- 
joycd performing surgery and was extrelncly accumylished at it, This 
skill proved of great value in 1895 when he had to amputate the arm 
of one of his most trusted Somali gunbcarcrs, h se f ,  who had been at- 
tacked by a crocodile. Smith was then on the banks of the Guaso 
Nyiro River in what is now Kenya. This area is still remote, and an up- 
per extremity alnputation of the kind Smith undertook wauld be a ter- 
rifying prospect for qualified surgeons even today if they had to do it 
under the same circumstances. Yet Smith was very. modest a170ut this 
lifesaving operation when he later recounted it in his book: "The poor 
fellow's arm was nearly torn from him. I was obliged to amputate the 
arm close to the shoulder. While I was engaged in operating on, Yusef"s 
arm, a herd of elephants passed near the camp, but f did not go aftcr 
them.""" 



On Novelniber 24, 1892, Sxnith" father died of a stroke at the age of 
sixty-eight, His estate of $288,000 was left to his three hildren in 
equal sharcs. Arthur Donaldson Smit;h% inheritance of close to 
$69,000 was a sizable fortune ja century later it would be the equiva- 
lent clf $2,600,000/.Vt was this inheritance that enabled him to tem- 
porarily give up the practice of l-xnedicine and devote himself on a h l l -  
time basis to same of the pursuits of a vanishing gentry, In his ease, 
these included hunting, fishing, traveling, and enjoying the rugged 
outdoors, This was the free-spirited life fie preferred, compa~"dto the 
rigid one he had known gr~wing up in a forxnal, patrician envirnn- 
ment. However, he had a highly inquisitive and disciplined mind, 
which, augmented by his medical and scientific training, was destined 
to set him apart as a scientific explorer of note. 

In early 1893, Smith went on a bunting and fishing trip to Norway 
with a friend from Massachusetts nar-ned Williaax Lord Smith, M,D. 
(no relation]. While they were in Norway, this friend told him that he 
was planning a spouting trip to Somaliland, This type of trip appealed 
to Smith: "An exploring expedition ofkred me an opportunity for ga t -  
ifying all my desires and ambitions. So, I joined him with the idea that 
this preliminary journey would give me the requisite knowledge of 
the natives and beasts of burden that X intendcd taking with me when 
I xnadc lny exploring expedition.""" 

Hunting trips for wealthy Europeans and Americans were extremely 
colxl-non in northern Sor-naZiland in the 1890s because the area was 
teeming with big game. Later, as the wildlife was decilnated through 
overbunting, hunters moved on to what is now Kenya, which, in the 
early part of the twentieth century, replaced Somaliland as the princi- 
pal fnagnet in Africa for big-game hunters." ViJiting sportsmen placed 
a heavy burden on local British officials in Somaliland, among them 
Pcrcy Cox ( 1864-1 93 71, who was appoinlcd assistant political resident 
at Zdla, a major port, in 1893. Complaining about the never-ending 
stream of spoxtsmen, the resident of Berbera, Lieutenant Colonel 
William Butler Ferris (Cox's immediate superior), said the followinl;: in 
his 1895-1894 annual report: "The number of sportsmen visiting So- 
maliland does not abate. They add much to the work and personal ex- 
penses of the Assistant Rcsidcnt (God, and the want of a traveler's 
bungalow is more than ever felt. Some so-called sportsmen have 
amused themselves by killing everything they came across, large and 
small, male and icmalc."'"Tox thought very highly of h i t h ,  with 
whom he later formed a lifelong friendship. 

The British SomaZiland Protectouate may have been a sportsman's 
paradise. However, it was alsa located on the politically turhulcnt 
Horn of Africa, where Britain, France, and Italy were engaged in fierce 



competition for the arid and semiarid lands surrounding Ethiopia. 
These three European colonial powers found themselves competing 
not only with one another but also with Ethiopia, which under Em- 
peror Menelik 11, had become a powerful and independent state with a 
determined policy of imperial annexation clf adjacent terdtories. Thus, 
in effect, there were four colonial powers vying for supremacy on the 
Horn of Africa, one of which was indigenous in character. 

Britain was initially &awn to Somaliland not by a desire to acquire 
colonial territury but by a need to protect a vital maritime link with 
the Suez Canal, Three ports an the Somali coast-Berbera, Zeila, and 
Bulhar-were cxucid to Britain" interests, and until 1884, they were 
occupied by Egypt, which was a friendy power. That yea, however, 
Egypt withdrew its troops from the three ports in order tsj deploy them 
against the Mahdi in the Sudan, Britain quickly recognized that a hos- 
tile European power in possession of this coast could control the Bab 
cl Mandab, the strait between the Gulf (>I Aden and the Red Sea, and 
could thus wreak havoc on the Suez Canal traffic so vital to Britain's 
Indian empire, At first, Britain tried to induce Turkey, Egypt" suzerain 
psjwer, tsj take over the psjrts. When Tttrlccy declined t s ~  do so, Britain 
was forced to ctccupy them in 1885. This inevitably led to the conclu- 
sian of treaties with local tribal groups and expansion into the inte- 
rior, On July 20, 1887, Britain prrlclail~ed the estabiishment of the So- 
maliland Protectorate and thereby made a firm commitment to a 
perlnanent colonial presence on the Horn of Africa.'" 

As in the British East Africa Protectorate to the south, coast-based 
officials in Somaliland constantly worried about indigenous shal- 
lcnges to their authority and the covert activities of their colonial ri- 
vals, They were even suspicious of the possiblc political motives of 
visitors such as Smith, Thus, when he arrived in Somaliland in 1893 
with high hopes of launching a subsequent expedition to Lake Rudolf, 
he knew from tfie outset that he ctluld nut succeed unless he enjoyed 
the full confidence oE the local British authorities, 

Even with this supportI a journey far inta the interior was still a 
very dangerous undertaking. Somali clans, like the Maasai to the 
south, were capable of quickly mustering well-organized and powerhl 
armies, This was dxamatically demonstrated in 1 895, when Smith was 
well on his way to Lake Rudolf. The Rer Hared clan of Somalis re- 
belled against the British, closed all the trade routes linking the coast 
with the interiot; and attacked clans loyal to the colonial administra- 
tiun. Smith's friend Percy Cox, who was now a captain, was put in 
charge of a military expedition against the clan by his superior) Lieu- 
tenant Colonel Ferris. At the  head of 52 trained Indian and Somali 
carnelrg trorlps and 1,500 irrealars, Cox defeated the Rer Hared in six 



weeks, detached their allies from them, and forced them to surrender. 
This quick victory not only established Cox's reputation for ability 
and decisiveness, it also gave the pratectorate an Imeasy peace for stv- 
eral years. Had Smith not been so far ir~land at the time of the rehel- 
lion, his expedition could easily have fallen victim to the Rer Hared." 

On their hunting trip, the two Smiths traveled as far south as 
Milmil, about 125 miles fmm Berhera, Well within the British So~na- 
liland Pxcltectoxate the area was frequently visited by European spoxts- 
men, Smith noted that "WC had splcndid sport, killing six lions, he- 
sides many elephants, rhinoceroses, and other big game, But what I 
valued most was that I was enabled to form my plans for my future ex- 
pedition through the Galla countries to gucat advantage. "'" 

He went on to say that he perceived that a trip from Bcrbera to Lake 
Rudolf would be a difficult and dangerous undertaking: 'The prelimi- 
nary details would require the lnost careful study, and no expense 
should be spared in preparing far every possible contingency," He re- 
ceived a gea t  deal of encouragement from Captain H.C.S. Swayne, 
who had made Inany trips thraugh Somaliland and had written much 
about its fauna. On his last trip, Swayne had gotten as far as the Webi 
Shebcli River (Riveu of Leopards), some 125 miles beyond Milmil. But 
he was unable to ga farther because of the threats of: sfie Galla and the 
small size of his armed escart jOnly forty men/, Swayne attributed 
Calla hostility to the clashes they had recently had with Captain Vit- 
torio Bottcga and Prince Eusnio Ruspoli, two Italian explorers who 
had probed what are now the borderlands between Ethiopia and 
Kenya. Rottego and Ruspoli had gone through some of the same coun- 
try that Smith proposed to explore, but they had not rcached Laltc 
Rudolf, Ruspoli had gone up the Tuba River and its tributaries to four 
degrees north latitude and then turned tu the northwest; he was 
within 158 milcs of Lake Rudolf when he was killed by an clcphant on 
Deeelllber 4, at Burgi, Bottego had gone as far north as seven de- 
grees north latitude during his expedition of 1893, As Smith well 
knew, it was just a rxatter of time before the Italian madc another at- 
tempt to reach Lake Rudolf." 

When the two Smiths returned to the coast from theix hunt on Feh- 
ruary 1, 1894, Arthur Bonaldson Smith was determined to start for 
Lake Rudolf the following July. He left ordms with a lueal merchant, 
Mohammed Hindi, to buy the best camels he could And. He also en- 
gaged many of the Somalis wha had been with him on the hunting 
trip, a wise move since he had already observed them under adiverse 
Aeld conditions. His hunting trip had rightly taught him that a well- 
equipped expedition could pass through the Galfa country, provided it 
was appropriately armed, and "especially if patience were exercised, 



and everything done to conciliate the natives." Smith realizcd the 
need to protect against what he called "little acts (16 treacheryr3y tak- 
ing an armed escort of seventy men. He made preliminary arrangc- 
lnents with Malco~ne Jones, the British resident at Bulhar, and with 
Charles McConkey, the agent of Brown, SSzipley and Company at 
Aden, outfitters and freight forwarderselfi 

Smith did not want his expedition t r ~  Lalcc Rudolf t r ~  be just one 
more hunting trip. Rather, he was intent on making significant contri- 
butions to the s~icntitic exploration of Afaica in terms of geography 
and natural history. "This, he realizedr required the acquisition of skills 
in measuring latitude and longitude and in collecting and preserving 
natural history specimens. Like Teleki and Chanler, he could have 
opted to take an experienced surveyor with him, Hawever, his yrevi- 
ous scientific training convinced him that he could acquire these 
skills kilnself with little bifliculty. Hc therefore approached the Royal 
Get~graphieal Society, whose map curator, John Cnles, taught him the 
various methods for precisely determining latitude and longitude, He 
then asked for the help of the British Museum in learning thc hest 
lnethods for collecting and preserving natural history specimens. In 
addition, he hired a young British taxidermist, Edward Dodson, tu 
help gather specimens in the ficld. 

Although the Royal Geographical Society did not provide Smith 
with any financial support, it did lend him several instruments, in- 
cluding a six-inch theodolite, an artificial horizon, boiling point he r -  
lnolneters, aneroids, and pris~natic colnpasses. In addition, the society 
placed the expedition under its auspices so as to facilitate the coopera- 
tion of local British officials in Somaliland. That the society extendcd 
so much assistance to Smith is a strong indication that the British 
government at this time had no objections to someone like him trav- 
eling to Lake Rudolf, This lends ad&tional support to the inescapable 
conclusion that the callapse of Chanlerfs Lake Rttdolf expedition a 
year earlier was uniquely the work ctf General Lloyd William Mathews 
in. Zanzibar. 

One of Smith's Philadelphia &ends, Fred Gillett, asked to join the 
expedition, pri~narily to shoot big game. Smith agreed to this because 
he was anxious to have the company of someone he knew Gillett did 
not pay any of the expedition's expenses, but he ciid hire twelve men 
of his own and purchase twenty pack camels. 

Smith, Gillett, and Dodson set sail for Afgica from London on. June 
1, 1894. Before leaving, they were trlld by many that it would be im- 
possible to enter the Galla country, let alone reach Lake Rudolf, with 
less than 200 or 390 well-drilled followers. Smith later noted in his di- 
ary that "the expression of such opinion served only t r ~  increase the 



zeal I felt in the enterprise." He had no intention of taking so large a 
force into the interior. Rather, he planned to rely on the same sort of 
tact and patience that had enabled Thornson to successfully cross 
Maasai land.I7 

Smith first stopped in Aden, where Lieutenant Colonel Sealy, politi- 
cal agent for the Somali coast at Aden, and other British ofificials had 
overseen preli~ninary preparations for the expedition, Smith engaged 
Afty-five Somali in Aden, who siped contracts that had been carehlly 
&awn up by Scaly, Smith and Scaly were extremely cautious in their 
choice of men, selecting only those with extensive experience and nn 
history of prior desertion. On Sealy's recommendation, Smith hired 
Quaila [Dualla] Idris as his headman, Xctris was a well-known Apre in 
Afviean exploration, He had accompanied Henry Mortan Stanley and 
had later traveled with Samuel Teteki and Ludwig von Htihnel. Al- 
though the latter spoke in glowing terxns of Idris, Smith was to have sc- 
rious problems with him. E-fc threatened to desert when they were de- 
tained by the Ethiopians, demonstrating that even seasoned and reliable 
men beimvcd unpredictably when placed in adverse ciucurnstances. 

On June 29, 1894, Srnith, Gillett, and Dodson sailed for Berhera 
with their 55 Somali men. Berbera was theil: Anal launching point, and 
thcy spent ten days there getting together 27 more men; 150 dayshsup- 
ply of rice, dates, and ghee (rancid buaer); an enormous stock of trad- 
ing goods; a total of 84 camels, and 100 boxes with copper vessels can- 
taining spirits far prcscrving rcptilcs, fishes, and batrachia. In 
addition, they took boxes for collecting birds and insects, a cs~llapsible 
Berthon boat, cartridges, and numerous other supplies.'" 

Captain Pcrey Cox, the acting resident at Berbera, did all he could to 
help send the expedition off in the best possible condition. Finally, on 
July 10, 1894, Smith marched out in the late afternoon and headed 
southwest for Hargcisa, 95 rnilcs away. The country there is hot and 
dry,  narked by a broad plain that eventually rises up into a high 
plateau. At the titne of Smith's trip, this area of Somalia and that to 
the southwest [called the Haud and the Ogadert) were renowned for 
their splendid lion populations and great herds of wildlife. After 
spending four days at Hargeisa, Smith moved across the Haud, march- 
ing nine hours a day and covering about 24 miles per day. 

Two days before leavillg Hargeisa, Smith wrote to John Colcs, the 
map curator of the Royal Geographical Society. He described his tuip 
faam Aden to flerbera and from thcrc to Hargeisa and expressed his 
concerns about his camels: ""There was no food within three or four 
days of Berbera; I had to push on to Hargeisa as fast as I could to save 
what few catnels I had from starvation. 1 came with only eighty 
camels, all loaded very heavily. I should have had 110 camels for the 



loads. However, I last only five camels on the way." "nith was under- 
standably preoccupied with his transport anixnals, for if they died or 
were too weak to go on, his cqedition could collapse,'" 

On July 27, the expedil;ion arrived at Milmil. Thus far, they had tra- 
versed secure areas Erequented by many sportsmen. In fact, they were 
unable to hunt between Berbcra and Hargeisa as the area was reserved 
for the garrison at Aden. At Milmil, the local Somalis complained to 
Smith about a man-eating lion. Hoping to lcill the animal, he had a 
zareba (a thorn bush enclosure) built, in which he and his pnbearer 
hid thexnselves at dusk, He then had a donkey tethered as bait ten feet 
away. Net long after sunset, a group of hyenas appeared and began 
closing in on the donkey. However, they suddenly fled in all directions 
as a huge male lion jumped on the donltey. Smith took careful aim and 
Ared at close range, Qn being hit, the lion made for the zareba and col- 
lapsed its walls on top of Slnith and his gunbcarer. VVounded and roar- 
ing, the lion came tcz rest a foot atvay from Smitl-r"~ face, with only a 
tangle of thorn bush separating thern. The lion finally got up and 
wallred off into some nearby bushes, much to Smith" rrelief. Slnith 
and his gunbearer lay absolutely still, fearful that the animal lnight 
charge again. However, they soon heard the haxkiq of a fox nearby 
that told thern the lion was dead. Smkh and his gunbearer then spent 
the night keeping the hyenas away from what turned out to be a mag- 
nificent, black-maned 

Taking on new camels at Milmil, Smith headed due west, not realiz- 
ing that the Ethiopians had already penetrated this far south. He could 
have @ven himself a safer margin from the Ethiopians by going south- 
west, However, this area all the way to the Wehi Shebeli River had al.- 
ready 1~ec.n traversed by Swayne, by Counts Hojcs and Cudenhove, and 
by the Italians Ruspoli and Rotrego, The lure of the country to the 
west of Millnil was that no Euxopean had ever seen it. Lilre many tray- 
elers in Africa of his time, Smith wanted to traverse as much un- 
known country as possible. But to do so, he had to skirt around 
patches already explored by others. In mid-Augustt he arrived at 
Bodele, on a dry riverhcci called the Terfa, L50 miles froln Milxltil. 
There, he unexpectedly met Captain C, J. Peuceval, who was tvaveling 
north, Although pleased to meet sotneone so far off the beaten track, 
the encounter was a serious disappointment for Smitf-t, for it signifi- 
cantly reduced the amount of territory he could later claim he was the 
first to exylorc, 

Ten Inore days of lnarching brclught Smith ta the Webi Shebeli, 
which he could not cross because it was in flood, So, he moved down- 
stream where the river was narrower and had rafts built to ferry his 
men, allimals, and supplies across. However, the crossing was difficult 



because of the swift current and the large numlters of hippos and mac- 
odiles. Once across the river, he would have done better had he pro- 
ceeded southwest as planned. But his usual good judgment left him as 
he impulsively decided to visit the town of Sheikh Hrrssein, 160 lniles 
to the northwest. What caused this sudden change in plans was the re- 
port of tlr~o Galla inforlnants that the town was built of stone. "'Stone 
houses in this part of Africa!" Smith exclaimed in his diary. "This tvas 
most interesting news.'"%nd so, he led his caravan toward Sheikh 
Husscin, unaware that it was solidly in the hands of the Et-hiopians. 

Srnith and his caravan gradually lnarchcd up intcl the highlands, 
passing through herds of elephants and gazelles. Every Galla they met 
told thc same story: They had been reduced to poverty by the raiding 
Ethiopians, Common sense should have induced him to head south, 
but the town built of stone was too much of a magnet. Qn Septenlber 
X 7, 1884, after he had named a nearby chain of mountains the Gillett 
Mountains, in honor of his friend, he mct up with the first Etf-tiopians. 
Their cordiality was in large measure due to the fact that his caravan 
represented an armed force superior to their own, 

Sheikh Htrssein was all that Smith expected, a town of stone houses 
set high up in the mist-covered mountains. There were only a few 
Ethiopiians in the town, hut they were clearly in control of its Galla 
population. Their presence also represented Ethiopia's progressive im- 
perial aims among the peoples south of its borders. Although the 
Ethiopians were Iriendy toward Smith, thcy rnadc it very clcar to him 
that they were nut keen an his going west towad take Rudolf. He did 
not at first attach much significance to their disapproval (16 his plans 
since his armed Salnalis geatly outnumbered them. He husicd bim- 
self exploring the surrounding country, in the process determining the 
source of the Webi Shebeili River. 

After two weelrs in the fog and rain of Sheikh Husscin, twa Ethispi- 
ans appeared on October 1, 1894, and told Smith that Menelik's gover- 
nor of the region wanted him to c m e  to Ginea (Ginir). What was of 
more concern to Smith was the size of the governor" army, which had 
just returned from an expedition in the south. S ~ ~ i t h ,  Dcldson, and 
Gillett put their heads together and decided that only one of them 
should go to Ginea, Gillctt agreed to go with eight men, confident thc 
Ethiopians would not attack with the main Somali force and Dndsan 
and Smith at Sheikh Hussein. Du~ing the week Gillett was gone, Dod- 
son and Smith colle~ted natural Etistary specimens, and Smith ctsilled 
his Sclmali in preparation for a possible Ethiopian attack, 

A week latex, a message came from Gillett saying it was safe for the 
entire caravan to praceed to Ginea, When Srnith arrived there three 
days later, he was warmly greeted toy the Ethiopian governor, Wal-da- 



Gubbra (Wc~lda Gabriel!, who firmly told him that he could not travel 
west unless Emperor Menelik approved of it. On October 17, Smith 
wrote a letter to the emperor, explaining that the purpose of his jour- 
ney was purely scientific. Unknown to Smith, such a declaration was 
unlikely to persuade Menelik, who was keenly aware that his imperial 
aims in the Lake Rudolf region could easily be jeopardized by agents of 
European powers masquerading as scientific travelers. 

While awaiting a reply from the emperor, Smith and his compaa- 
ions made short exploratory trips around Ginca. It was during one of 
these trips that he calne upon the spectacular underground caves of 
the Web River at Sof Qmaq which he called Wyndlawn after his sum- 
mer home near Philadelphia. This name, like many he gave to various 
topographic features, did not survive far into the Euture, 

It soon became obvious to Smith's men that they were being de- 
tained by the Ethiopians. Xt was at this point that Qualla Idris came to 
him and said that he was disgusted with the expedition and wished to 
return borne, Smith was shocked by Idrisk demand: ""This was a 
splendid thing far a headman to do, just at the critical point to desefi 
his master, when everything seemed to be going against him. """ "~lllith 
convinced Idris to stay but never trusted him again. 

Realizing that his continued house arrest in Ginea might pravoke 
desertions among his men, Smith tried ta leave. However, he was 
stopped by the Ethiopians, wh i~  were prepared to use force i f  neces- 
sary. Finally, on November 16, he rcccived a letter from Menelik say- 
ing that hc must return the way he had come. So he shrewdly headed 
back east toward Ssmaliland to fool the Ethiopians and then went 
south along the Wehi Shcbcli River, intent on ttrraing west through. 
country beyond Menelik's control. 

Eventually, the expedition came to a trading center called Baxi that 
was outside Ethiopian control. It was here that Fred Gillett learned 
that his father had died three ~nc~nths before: 

But now Fred received a shock that would have been lraard enough to bear 
at any tirnc, but which was still all the more severe as it came: when hc 
was far away in the wilderness. Coupled with the sad news were an- 
nouncements that made it imperative that my friend, wh t~  had assisted 
me so often in m y  geographicat1 and natural history work, should return 
home at once. On the third day jfanuary 251, Fxed startecl. for the coast, 
with nine men and ten earncls. X sent out the same time to Berbera eight 
boxes of natural history specimens, and my poor sick headman, Ahmed 
Adcn.13 

However, Cillcttk father" death may havc been only part of the rea- 
son why he left. Smith and Gillett obviously had srlme kind of falling 



out, as barne out in a letter of Fcbruary 27, 1896, from Smith to J. 
Scott k l t i e ,  secretary and editor of publications of the Royal Geo- 
graphical Society: 

In the article for the journal, please change the sentence Mr .  Fred Gilfett 
agreed to accompany me with a spclrting outfit30 Wr. Fred Giltett aslced 
me to permit him to accompatny me with twelve men, to which I agreed, 
on account c)f companionship." regret that you ever asked for GiHettfs 
photographs for the journal, but as you spolte to him first X did not like to 
refuse. I beg you to insert the three Gillett photographs in the center of 
the article and not in the beginnirrg, 

I have spent much money, to say nothing of the risks I ran on the expe- 
dition, and X think I should not have an article published by the R.G.S. 
that will disgust me to look back upon. 

Whatever happened between myself and Gillett has been patched up, 
and I do not think you would want to bring almut rows. My friends have 
got the idea that Gilfett shared in the expenses c)f the whole expedition, 
whereas X should have saved money in not having him. 

You must confess that I have put Gillett foward in the paper, and have 
given him credit for things X do not believe. X trust that will not be repeated 
by you. I only give you tl-iis information as a hint that there is a very sore 
point with me in regard to the trip that 1 wish to forget entirelySz4 

It is unclear from this letter, written after Smith had returned t r ~  the 
United States, whether be and Gillctt had a row in Africa or if their 
misunderstanding arose later over the latter getting undeserved credit 
for the expedition's successes. They had clearly lnended their differ- 
ences to some clegree by early 1896, as Gillett was present at the meet- 
ing of the Royal Geographical Society in London on January G when 
Srnish presented the results of the expedition. He even praised Smith 
when he rose to speak at the end of the presentation: "I wish ta ex- 
press my admiration for the persevering way in which Dr. Donaidson 
Smith mapped out the country, in spite of the broiling and enervating 
climate, tiring marches, and inaccurate reports given by natives, unac- 
customed to precision,"" This terse but significant public comment 
by Gillett essentially gave Smith full credit for the cxpcditian% ggcu- 
gsaphic accomplishments and put to rest speculation to the contrary. 

On raauary 31, 1895, Smith and Dadson, with seventy-Bve men and 
six.ty-five rifles, made a fresh start for Lake Rudolf by heaciing st~uth- 
west toward the Tuba River. The 200-mile march to the Tuba was 
through munotonous brush, where at the time there were sizable herds 
of giraffe, waerbuck, oryx, and zchm. On February 17, they cmssed the 
south-to-north lines of march of Prince Ruspoli and Captain Rottegs 
and moved south almg the Web to whcre the Daua River flaws into the 
Ganana. Most of Smith's undeveloped photographic plates were dam- 



aged b r ing  his crossing of the Ganana, which accounts for the fact that 
he made few photographs in what is now northern Kenya. He and Dod- 
son cnoved along the southern hanks of the Daua and were soan in what 
is now the northcastern corner of Kenya, near Mandera. From there, 
they followed the line of wells that run east to west from El Dere to 
Egder in, what today is southern Ethiopia. 

In late March 1895, the caravan approached the cctulltry of the Brlran 
people, who, like the Maasai, were expert soldiers and pastc~ral nomads. 
At the tilne of Smith's arrival, the Boran werc on a heightened war foot- 
ing because of recent Ethiopian raids, The Ethiopians had not only 
kilted and wounded Boran soldiers, they had also abilueted women and 
childven and stolen large numbers of livestack. As a result, they were 
extremely hostile toward any group of armed strangers entering their 
terwitouy. As Smith approached this area, he almost lost his life-not to 
a Boran spear but to a bolt of lightning that struck him and his gun- 
bearer, Karsa [Karsha), while they were out hunting, 11: was a perfectly 
clear day when the bolt hit, knocking both men unconscious. 

In hopes of avoiding arlned conflicts with the Boran, Smith Ared off 
several rockets at night, which lit up the sky with dazzling Arcworks. 
Although the Boran were il-npwessed, they launched an attack the fol- 
lowing day, The trouble began when two of Smith" men werc at- 
tacked by the Boran, with one of them, Elmi, being fatally wt~unded. 
"Poox Elmi lay dead behind a bush," W i t h  wrote, ""Xiorribly muti- 
lated, his intestines scattered about, and a part of him carried away as 
a trophy by his murderers."" Smith was ewhemistically referring to 
the Boran custom of removing the testicles of their victims. 

Between April G and 10, Smith and his caravan were constantly ha- 
rassed by Boran war parties consisting of men 011 foot and on horse- 
back, Employing standard military tactics, Smith used his well-killed 
Sornali men to drive off thc altackers. On April 8, he wrote about the 
attacks in his diary: 

The p~mishmcnt the natives received was terrible; but still they came: on 
xqardless ui: those who were falling zthout them and the din of musketry. 
Frantic to get away; the poor savages, who bad now ifor the first time rcal- 
ized that a bullet will pierce a shield and kill a horse hundreds of  yards 
away, were taking themselves off as fast as theiir legs could carry thernS2- 

Smith was greatly troubled by having to infiict so much harm on 
the Buran, He was truly surprised by the ferocity of their attacks since 
he had done nothing tu prnvokc them. Clearly, the effect of his guns 
on them and their horses was serious because they quickly sued for 
peace, returned the pack animals they had stolen, and let Slnith pro- 
ceed unhindered. 



After a brief visit to Lake Abaya and the wildlife-rich bush that sur- 
rounded it, Smith headed for Lake Stephanie, which lay 100 miles to 
the southwest, As he did so, he came upon the skulls of thousands of 
buffalo that had succumbed to a rinderpest epide~nic five years before. 
On reaching Lake Steplzaaie, he traveled around its eastern, southern, 
and northern shores and deterarrined that the Galana Arnara River 
flowed into it from Lake Abaya, Unlike Teleki and von HGhnel, who 
only saw the southern part of Lake Stephanie, Smith, virtually wallted 
around it. He found that there was also a small lake 10 miles long and 
2 miles wide extending from the northeasrern corner of the lake, 
which he named Lake Donaldson. Since Smith's day, both lakes have 
virtually dried up, and most of the wildlifc that then lived there has 
vanished. 

Moving to the northwest of Lake Stephanie into a region never be- 
fore visited by Europeans, Smith encountered numerous small et-hnic 
groups. Among these, the Arbore gave him a great deal of difficulty by 
ambushing his caravan on several occasions. Qncc he was attaclted by 
450 &bore armed wi& bows and yaisoncd arrows,lWe also met the 
Dume people, whom he mistakenly believed to be pygmies because of 
their short stature, In fact, cln his return to Endand, his descxiptiuns of 
the Dume initially provoked more excitement than any of his other 
disct~veries.~~ 

Smith had now been in the interior of Africa fox a year, and Lake 
Rudolf was only 100 miles to the southwest. Finally, after wading 
down a strealn for several days, he calne into open country; and on 
July 10, 1895, he saw the lake: 

We saw a long white strip of water $earning far off in the distance. This 
was a sight that appealed to the heart of every man in the caravan. It was 
Lake l-tudoff. With one accord, the boys rushed up, and, crowding arc~und 
me, b~lrst into a loud ""hipkip, hurrah!" led by Dodsan, As f looked upon 
the bright sheet of water . . . I: felt that I had attained in a measure the 
greatest ambition of zny life-that of being able to add a little drop to the 
sea of knowledge possessed by civilized mankind,"" 

On July 14, 1895, Smith and Bodson camped on the same spot 
where Tcleki and von H6kmel had stayed for a month in 1888. Since 
these two explorers had left the area, no Europeans had ever visited it. 
However, a Swahili caravan, the first ever to go that far north, had 
came from Molnhasa and reached this area a few years before Smit.hJs 
arrival. Unknown to Slnith was the fact that Arthur Henry Neumann, 
an ivory hunter, was heading north up to the lake, having come from 
Lamu on the coast. E-fc Aaally reached the southern shore of the lake 
on Dece~nber 6, 1895.'" 



Sinith" next objective was ts3 settle the issue of the lake" source. 
Vc3n H6ltnel had been unsuccesshl in his attempts to do sa, He had 
found a river, the Nianar-nm, flowing into the northern end of the lake, 
What no one knew was whether this was the saine river as the Oino, 
whose upper course had already been explored by Jules Borelli, and 0th- 
ers, TTa resolve the issue, Smith set out to explore a strip of land 100 
iniles long. His initial atteinpt failed because be and inost of his men 
were stricken with severe attacks of malaria. However, on F ly  24, al- 
though still sick, he made a second stast. His route took him through 
the fertile country of the Murle and Kere people, who made his transit 
difficult. Finally, same 80 miles north of the lake, Smith, who had pre- 
viously thought that the Nianamrn and Omo were one, erroneously 
conefuded they were not, The Omo, he said, probably flawed into the 
Jtaha or the Ganana, and the Nianamm was a different river and the 
source of Lake Rudolf, 

Today, on inodern inaps, a innuntain chain called Mount Smith, sit- 
uated in southevn Ethiopia, is the only permanent geographic re- 
minder of Smith's gallant but hiled clfore to solve the rnystcry of the 
Oin~3 River, In reality, Sinith had gone up the Oino and then up one of 
its tributaries, the Mago River, which he mistook for the Nianamm 
and the source of the lakcei2 

Beset by repeated and disabling attacks of malaria, Smith arrived 
back at his Lake Rudslf camp on August 5, confident that he had set- 
tled the question of the Orno River, Having achieved the primary ob- 
jectives of his expedition, he was anxious tst get home and tell the 
world of his discoveries. So, on Aups t  8, 1895, he, Dadson, and the 
caravan started down the eastern shore of Lake Rrxdolf and latex veered 
toward the southeast. 

Smith and his men soon entered lands that had never before been 
seen by Europeans. Ahead of them lay Marsabit, a high volcanic range 
sstlne 30 miles long, whose sulnmits were and still are cavered by 
dense forest. Lkon des Avanchers had referred to this range on his 1859 
map under its Baran name, Salroct, and von Hiihnel had accurately 
recorded what the Rcndille and Saillburu said al-rout it and placed it on 
Ghanler" saps.  

Mausabit rises to a height of 5,000 feet, The forest begins at an alti- 
tude of 4,300 feet, and below that are dense bush and open glades. The 
southwestern slopes, consistiq of conical hills and extinct volcanoes, 
rise gradually until three distinct summits arc formed. This cnor- 
inous, verdant range is full of springs, pools, and spectacular ravines, 
and there is a crater lake at its highest summit. But around it, stretch- 
ing fox almost 100 miles in every direction, is a dry and waterless 
desert, 



Smith and Dodson headed across the desert ta  the west of the 
mountain. It took them five days to get to the base of Marsahit, tuavel- 
ing, as Smith said, over a path worn sm0ot.h by countless animals: 
"On the secclnd day, we cc~~n~nenced to ascend the ~nountain, but we 
did not reach the top until after three marches. I was attacked by fever 
on these marches, and twice had to be carried; but the coal bracing air 
at the top of Mt. Marsabit quickly cured ~ne . "+~  

It was not so much the air that cured Smith as the heavy doses of 
quinine he took. Xn spite of being very ili, he was most impressed with 
Mars-abit: ""Aceurding to European ideas, nothing could be more 
charming than this Marsahit. Surrounded by a large forest and lying at 
the top of the mountain, is a lakc a mile square, clear, and deep, The 
~agged walls of a crater form a semi-circle about it, while from another 
side, a broad road leads out from the forest to the open meadow bc- 
yand, " '" 

Smith left Marsabit on September 13, 1895, after spending only four 
days on the mountain. Before leaving, he was almost killed by an ele- 
phant, after which he wrote the following rmdeustatement: "By this 
time f had begun to lclok forward to getting home safely,""" Heading 
south through 140 miles of uncharted country, the caravan reached 
the Guaso Nyiro River on Septernher 22, where Sxnith suffered a se- 
vere relapse of malaria. H e  c a ~ n p d  on the northern bank at Mellta 
Koja, a point reached by Ghanler and von Hlihnel in 1893 on their way 
to the Lorian Swamp. 

On October l, Smith felt well enough to head south across an unex- 
plored stretch of country between the Guaso Nyiro and Tana Rivers, 
reaching the latter six days later. Suffering more from the effects of 
quinine than from malaria, hc looked down from the banks of the 
'T'ana and thought he was hallucinating: 

Xrnaginc our astonishment when a canoc hove in sight just around a bend 
in the river-and in that canoe sat a rnan holding a pink umbrella! Yes, 
true enough, a pink urnbrelfa, and underneath a rnan in a white suit! 1 
Bred two s l l ~ t s  from m y  Winchester, and the next instant the salute was 
answered from the canoe, With all the Somalis drawn up in a line behind 
us, presenting arms, Dodsun and X awaited the landing of the white man. 
As the Rev. Robert Omemd stepped on the sandy beach, he grasped clur 
hands l~eartily.'~ 

Omerod was a rnelnber of the Methodist Reforrrred Mission who 
was on his way dc-lwnstream after an exploratory trip for the purpose of 
setting up a new mission. He helped Smith clbtain a half dozen canoes 
from the Pokarno people he knew along that stretch of the river, This 
greatly Eacilitated the expedition" rret;zrrn to Lalnu 0x1 the coast: 
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Artkur Ctc~naldsrm Smith",(; route during his 1894-1895 journey tc:, Lake 
Rudolf (drawn b y  Saturnino R, ViXIaph;?~). 



The camel loads were lightened by our placing many of them in the ca- 
noes, while Dodson and X made ourselves eomfortabke, cacb in the middle 
of a dug-out, reclini~~g on blankets and bags, What luxury it was for us to 
bc paddled q~lietly along, after having had such wearying marches! A, 

more pleasurable trip tl-xan this canoe ride I: never mzlde in my life. Mr. 
Omertld, among his other kindnesses, prtlvided Dudson and myself with 
various periodicals, three or four n~onths  old, but very recent to us." 

On October 29, 1895, Smith, Dodson, and their Somali men sailed 
to Aden. They had covered 4,090 rnilcs in sixwen months and had 
filled in a number of blank spaces on the map of Africa. A one-word 
cablegram seat by Smith from Aden to Philadelphia summed up the 
results of his cqedition, X t  silnply read: 'S~uccessful." A similar mes- 
sage was received at the Royal Geographical Society in London on No- 
veml^ter 4. Two days later, the New York Times declared the success of 
Smith's expedition with a bald headline: ""A Successful Explorer-Dr. 
Dunaldson Smith Accs~mplishes His Mission in Africa." 

Smith and Dodsan arrived back in England on November 30, 1895. 
On the evening of January 6, 1896, Smith presented his findings to the 
Royal Geographical Society, He had collected 700 specimens of birds, 
24 of which were new to science; 300 reptiles and hatxachians, of 
which l 1 were new; 300 sgecilnens of plants; 1,000 butterflies; 200 
~naxn~nals; and close to 6,000 insects. The staff of the British Museu~n 
examined all of these specimens, and Smith donated all of the new 
species to the m~seum.  The remainder he donated to the Acadelny of 
Natural Sciences of Philadelphia. Of the new species, st-,me were 
named after Smith, inclucting the rare crested sat, Lc~phimys' smi2lhii, a 
Ask, S y n ~ d m t i s  smitl?ii, and a bircl, Tamcrzs donnldsmi.  His gcalogi- 
cal collection was examined by 1.W Gregory, noted for his awn expedi- 
tion to Kenya" Rift Valley, Smith donated his ethnographic collection 
to the University of Pennsylvania Museum and, in 2914, gave them a 
second such collection from his subsequent Africm expedition." 

Smith's verbal presentation about his trip before the Royal Geo- 
graphical Society was extremely well rcceived. The session was 
chaired by Sir George D. Taubman Goldie, one of the society's vice 
presidents. The American ambassadox cogently observed in remarks 
made after Smith's speech that the trip was ""an honest, brave, lnodest 
endeavor to let all the world know samething of distant regions of 
which nothing seems to have been known before.'"mbassadox 
Thornas Francis Bayard 62828-1898) also noted that Smith" trip had 
not been undertaken for profit or utility, remarks no doubt intended 
for those whose expeditions were mtivated by politics or profite40 
John Gales, the map curator, praised Smith for the excellence of his 



geographic Ineasurelnentr; and for the dedication he had shown in 
preparing for the trip. 

Finally, the eminent cartographer Ernst Georg Ravenstein rose to 
speak, A pro~ninent Agure in the Nile source debate of earlier decades, 
he had helped draw the maps of several eminent eplorers, including J. 
Ludwig Rrapf (he also wrote an introduction to Krapf" bbook). He 
raised the issue of the Omo River, disagreeing with Smith's conclu- 
sions that it flowed into either the Ganana or the Jub and that the Ni- 
analnln was the source of the lake: 

I am inclined to think that the Qmu, after all, takes its course to Latlte 
Rudolf. I may observe that neither Dr. Smith nor Count Teleki saw the 
Nianamxn at its best. This question of the course of the Omo is perhaps 
the most interesting plvblem to be solved in connection with African hy- 
drographlr, and it would redound to the honor of America i f  Dr. Donatd- 
son Smith went out again and settled 

There was both criticism and challenge in Ravenstein" brief com- 
ments, Et rankled Smith that he had failed to definitively rcsolvc the 
issue of these rivers through on-site geographic observation. Like van 
Hdhnel before him, he had made an educated guess that Ravenstein 
correctly suspeced was wrong. Despite all of the other successes of 
his expedition, Smith was keenI~aware of this failure and was deter- 
mined to set it right. For this reason, he immediately began plans fox a 
return cqedition to settle the issue of the lakc's source. 

Smith left Great Britain froln Southa~npton and arrived in New 
York aboard the St.  Louis on February 15, 1896, He was met by mem- 
bers of his family, who had not seen him in two years, and reached 
Philadelphia that afternoon, By any measure, his expedition had been 
an enormous success, and he could well have rested on his laurels as 
an explorer for a lifetime. Unlike many other cqedit.ions of the day, 
his had not been financially supported by any government, scientific 
society, ox private commercial interests. He had spent $6,800 clf his 
own maney on it (close to 18 percent of his inheritance], which in to- 
day's currency would bc equal to $222,000* 

Smith was honored and feted, "It thas been an agreeable suxpxise to 
me that Americans in gencral have taken @cat interest in my cxpedi- 
tion," he wrote 011 Fcbruary 27, 1896, to J. Seutt Keltie, the secretary 
and editor of publications ctf the Royal Geographical Society in Lon- 
h. "Many dinners and receptions have been given for me, f lecture 
before the Geographical Club in Philadelphia and New Uork soon,"'3" 

Henry Pleasants Jr., M.D., Smith's sister's nephew by marriage, re- 
called his impressions as a yawg bay: 



It was quite something for us small boys to be even distantly related to a 
real five African explorer. Personally; X was a bit disappointed when X saw 
hizn for the first tizne after his return. He had not grown two feet tatler, 
and he was thinner than ever, His eomplcxuon was yellow! too. Father 
said it was because of rnaiariai and quinine and bad food, Qthewise, he 
was just the same Uncte Donnie, as quiet and insignificant as ever."' 

Smith" smajor concern dLlring the early months of 1896 was with 
the delay in the Geographicd {<~urnalk pdlication of his maps and 
the oral presentation he had made before thc society on January 6, 
1894. This is reflected in his Fcbruary 27 letter to 1, Scott Keltie: ""NO 
proofs yet received, I do not give my permission to have maps pub- 
lished before I see and comment proofs."'""xnith was clearly upset by 
the delays and was not in the best of health either, Keltie was sur- 
prised to learn of Smith's differences with Gillctt cfuring the trip and 
tried to mollify him about the delay in the pxaafs of his article.45 

Smith received the proofs for his paper in late March but not the 
proofs for the maps. On April 2, 1896, he wrote to Keltie, sayin& '" did 
not write immediately as the map pxaafs have not come. I hope to gct 
the maps st~on-it is get-ting late for them. There is plenty of work for 
me now getting my book ready hut X feel in good condition, no more 
malaria or eye trouble. . . . Please forget what X said about Gilfctt and 
the photugayhs, and insert the three pictures where they belong-in 
the beginning."4b 

The proofs of the maps had still not arrived by June X 7, when Sxnith 
sent his longest (eight pages] and strongest letter to Keltie: "Mr. 
Ravenstein's last letter to me stated that the proofs (16 my maps would 
be sent at once. No lnaps have since appeared, The R.G.S. Journal for 
June has reached me, Not a word has been inserted regarding sny expe- 
dition. I feel most discouraged,'"' Smith had good reason to he discour- 
aged with thc slow pace of producing his article. 

Mthough the Rnyal Geographical Society see~ned to Smith to be drag- 
ging its feet in publishing the results of his expecJitim, he himself was 
active in disseminating ward of i t in the United States. The PJew York 
?i'me~ carried an extensive article on his accomplishments, entitled 
"Exploring Eastern Africa-Dr. Bsnaldsan Smith, an American Trav- 
elcr, Encounters Queer Pcaple to the Northward of Abyssinia," and nu- 
snertlus stories appeared in the Philadelphia newspapers." Smith also 
lectured to a capacity audience in the American Geugraghical Society's 
Ghickering Hall and bclore &c Philadelpka Geographical Society. 

Unfortunately, he was not a very effeaive speaker. Henry Pleasants 
recalled his father's impression of Smith's address before the Academy 
of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia: 'Tather said that he acted as if he 
would rather have faced a wounded bull elephant than the audience. 



His lcnees shoolc so hard that anyone could see them; and his voice 
could not be beard farther back than the thixd r[3~."~ '  

The Geograi2hicnJ Jarzund, wbich made its appearance in 1593 under 
Keltiers editorship, published both writtcn articles and artides derived 
from presentations madc before the soeiety by explorers, travelers, and 
others. J. Scott Keltie (IB40--.t927), whasc association with the society 
began in 1884, was a distinguished and respected editor and writer, Yet 
despite Reltie's efforts, was the Royal Geographical Saeiety, an often co- 
operative partner with Etwjtish imperial aims, purposely suppressing 
Smith" findings? Smith seemed to have thot~ght so ciurillg the period 
before publication. He was especially suspicious of Ernst Ceorge Raven- 
stein, the society" cartogapher. Witing tro Keltic, Sxnitb said: 

Mr. Ravenstein" last letter to me stated that the proofs of my rnaps 
would be sent to me at once, The letter was received over a fortnight ago, 
but no maps have since appeared, . . . Now X venture to say after he has 
gotten from me all the information X could give, he is against my getting 
any credit. Or else why would he h ~ v e  not published my maps at once? 

Mr. Ravenstein made another little remark to me to the effcct that 
most of the tribes I discovered had already been heard of, but this I can 
prove to you to be absclluteliy incc~rrcct . 

Smith's letter of June 17 crossed with the proofs of his maps, which 
arrived from London on June 20, 1896, He hastened to write to Keltie 
four days after his letter of rune 1'7: ""Proofs of my maps have arrived 
(yesterday), and I am greatly pleased, Very sorry I wrote you a few days 
ago when I had a fit of depression. Mr. Ravenstein has worked well to 
oblige me as well as to attain accuwacy in the five maps bc sent me. X 
have not seen the index map, but I cabled Mr. Ravenstein to publish 
all, on faith.'"-~xnith was clearly very happy with the rnaps and 
cheered by the fact that his work would soon bc published. He quickly 
passed horn the issue of the maps to hrttzlrc travel. 

However, Keltie could not let Smith's highly accusatory letter of 
June 17 go unanswered: 

Dear Donaidson Sznith: X cannot tell you how grieved X am that you 
should take scl erroneclus a view as to the attitude of the Society towards 
your work in Africa. The delay in the preparation of the rnaps is most an- 
noying, . . . Mr. Ravenstein is undoubtedly the best cartographer we have, 
and no one knows Africa so well as he does. WC felt. it was only justice to 
your admirable work to give the maps to the best man even at the risk of 
delay. Be assured this delay will da your reputation no injury, No one can 
take away any of the credit which belongs to you. X am glad the rnaps are 
out of hand at last. Too late, ~mfartunatcly, for the July Journal, but they 
shall go into the August number.": 



Keltie aclcnc~wledged that there had been undue delay in bringing 
Smith's work out. However, he firmly countered Smith's allegation 
that Ravcnstcin was trying to dcny him the recapition be deserved: 
" h u  are lahoring under a serious misconception; and that the delay in 
the publication of your maps and paper is purely accidental. Rest as- 
sured that we place a high value on your work in Africa." Meltic cndcd 
his long letter by encouragng Smith tcz apply to the society for finan- 
cial support fox his next trip to Africa.i3 

Smith" article finally appeawed in two parts in the August and Seg- 
tember issues of the journal, the maps being published with the first 
installment.'The three Gil lett photographs appeared at the beginning 
of thc first installment, The latter was the sccond article in the issue, 
appearing after part two uf George N. Gtzrzon" article on the Pamirs 
region and the Oxus River. Smith" second installment was again the 
second article, appearing after one on "The Hausa Territories" by 
Charles H, Robinson and follrlwed by the third installment of Cur- 
zon" article* Talten on merit alone, Smith" work should have been 
treated as a lead article. However, Gurzon was a powerful political fig- 
ure, a member of Parliament and the cabinet, a renowned traveler, and 
a vice president of the society. One can understand why Smith" first 
installarxcnt followed Curzan's article. But it is less explicable why the 
second one came after a rather unrelnarlcable article on what is now 
northern Nigeria. Smith, who was obviously relieved at just getting 
published, voiced no complaints &out the position of his awticle. On 
August 20, 1896, he wrote to Heltie thanking him for the journal 
copies and telling him that he was very pleased with the first part of 
the article and the maps. 

Although Smith was now committed to launching a seeond expedi- 
tion to resolve the Qmo question, he expressed serious concerns about 
its costs, which he put at 23,000. He told Meltic that the society would 
have to pay two-thirds of the expenses. Aware that the Oxno question 
might get resolved by other explorers before he got back to the region, 
he put faxth a back-up prapasal of exploring the unknown area be- 
tween the lake and the Nile.i5 Such a plan was then of little vital intcr- 
est to the society. In addition, the society had received word, as had 
Smith, that a wealthy young British aristocmt, Henry Shcppard Hart 
Cavendish, the nephew of Lord Hartilzgton (Duke of Devonshire), had 
set clut to explore the western shore of Lake Rudolf. What neither the 
sacict'y nor Sarxith knew as yet was the extent of the area explored by 
Cavendisfi, The society had also learned that the Italian explorer Vit- 
torio Bottego had arrived (In the northern shore of Lake Rudolf on Sep- 
tember X, 1896, intent on resolving whether or not the Qrna River was 
the principal source of the lake, 



Keltie wrote to S~nith on February 2, 1897, saying that the sc~ciety's 
council members were well disposed to his plans but that they could 
not at that point approve the funds. What he did not say was that the 
likelihood of their ever doing so was growing dimmer by the month 
Not only were there other explorers in the area-Bottego, Cavendish, 
and Neumann-but the Upper Nilc region and the borders between 
Ethiopia and the British sphere of influence also were rapidly bceom- 
ing political flash points in the rivalry between Britain and France for 
control of the Nile, Keltie was extremely eraphcmistic when he told 
Smith that "the regions between Somaliland and eke Nilc will be in a 
disturbed state. 

Despite the pawing political instabilit-y in the region and the pres- 
ence of other explorers around the lake, Smith persisted in his at- 
tempts to clbtain society Anancing for a return trip. Referring to Bot- 
tega, Gauendiskx, and Ncumann, he told Keltie, 'You would do me a 
great favor if you would send me any accounts of their journeys if you 
think they bear cln the question that is nearest my heart.""i That ques- 
tion, of course, was the Orxo River. 

What Srrzith could not have foreseen was thc arrivaI in the Lake 
Rudolf region ctf several. European and Ethiopian expeditions, pnrnar- 
ily launched to achieve colonial ends, The question nearest his heart 
was now complicated, not so much by geogaphic challenges as by po- 
litical intripe. 
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he thxee years follow- 
ing Arthur Banaldson 
Smith" return from 

East Africa, 31 896-1 898, were 
to pxnve decisivc for Britain's 
plan to control the Nile from 
its headwaters to the Mediter- 
rancan. Tbis period also wit- 
nessed the etllergence of Ethio- 
pia as an indigenous colonial 
power that was destined to 
play an iznpurtant role in the 
complex competition for the 
Mile, Ethiopia not only in- 
flicted a humiliating ~nilitary 
defeat on the Italians in 1896 
but also allied itself with the 
French in the interests of push- 

Avthur Henry Mumann, the ivory ing its borders to the south and 
hunter (from Elephant Hunting in East west. This territorial expan- 
Equatowlai Africa, 1898). sion eventually brought Ethio- 

pia into confrontation with 
British intcrests around Lake 

Ruddf and the Nile. A clcver and prudent man, Ethiopia" emperor, 
Menelik II, knew the value of shifting his alliances in the interests of 
sclf-preservation. Thus, hc eventually moved from a policy of con- 
frontation with the British to one of accommodation when it becal~e 



clear that Britain had e~nergcd as the ~ n s ~ s t  powerful colonial power in 
the region, 

Four British expeditions arrived at Lake Rudolf during these turbu- 
lent years. Yet only one of them was politically lnrltivated and spon- 
sored by the British government. The others were essentially led by 
sportsmen with little interest in scientific exploration and no inclina- 
tion to becoxne involved in their country" atteInpts to expand its East 
African possessions. Still, the arrival of these men at the lake later 
proved advantageous to Britain in its territorial disputes with 
Ethiopia, for the claim of earliest presence was a very persuasive one 
in the discourse of colonial. powers, 

Rrthur Hcnry Ncumann was the first to arrive, reaching the south- 
ern tip of the lake on December 6, 1895, shortly after Smith returned 
to London. The contrasts between these two men could not have been 
murc dxamatic. Whereas Smith was a meticulous geographer and 
skilled naturalist, drawn to the lake by a desire to advance science and 
human knowledge, Neumann was primarily an elephant hunter intent 
on amassing a hoard of ivory. 

Born in Bedfordshire on June 12, 1850, where his father was the rec- 
tor clf the Hockliffe village church, Neumann was a solitary and retir- 
ing child. By his own admission, be was stigmatized by his family as a 
"cruel bayff because of his harsh treatment of domestic animals. In 
later years, he wrote, "I am prepared to be denounced as cruel. I admit 
at once that X: am." He was also a shy rnan who craved solitude and 
who had an "unquenchable thirst for prying further and further into 
remote wastes,""" 

Ncumann was to slaughter elephants fox close to two decades, first 
in southern Africa and later in what is now Kenya. I1: was not only the 
ivory that appealed to him but also the pleasure and excitement he cle- 
rivcd koln stalking and killing elephants. This is abundantly clear in 
Inany of the passages from his book Elephant Hunsirzg ill East Equato- 
rial Africa. Tc~ward the end of his life, he became disheartened when 
game regulations were put in place and hunters such as himself were 
subject to public censurc. He tried to justify his years of killing by 
claiming that the elephant's continued existence was '"incompatible 
with the advance of ci~ilization."~ To his credit, though, he acivocatcd 
the creation of galne reserves where elephants and other wild anixnats 
could be preserved, 

In 1868, Neumann left England for South Afaica, where he unsuc- 
cessfully tried his hand at farlning in Natal and gold mining in the 
Transvaal. He then took up hunting in Swaziland, where he also set up 
a trading post and learned to speak the local language. When the Zulu 
War erupted in 1879, he became an illcerpretcr for Norman Magnus 



Macleod of Maclead who was the British govern~nent" political agent 
for Swaziland. Neumann and Macleod formed a lifelong friendship 
that was galvanized by their compatible personalities and a mutual in- 
terest in hunting"% 

When the Zulu Wax ended in 18812, Neumann joit~ed his brother 
Charles, who had established a sxnall farm. Since farming was scarcely 
to his liking, he soon set off for the then reraote Limpopo River valley; 
where he hunted for several years, The proceeds from hides and ivory 
provided him with a reasonable income for a time. However, the inex- 
orable dest;ruction of wildlife in this region by Europeans eventually 
forced him to find other remote areas where be could hunt in solitude, 
One such place was East Africa, which he briefly visited in X 888 in or- 
der to inquire about hunting elephants. Although elephants were 
abundant, the costs of ctutfitting a caravan were well beyond his 
means, The o t h a  obstaclc was his total ignorance of the character of 
the country. He shrewdly concluded that the solution to both uf these 
problems was an employment opportunity that would enable him to 
travel into the interior and thereby acquire the experience necessary 
to launch an elephant hunt, 

In May 1890, Geoxge S. Mackenzie, the adnzinistratc.>r of the Imper- 
ial British East Africa Company (IBEA), hired Neumann to help with 
the construction of a 300-~nile road from Malindi on the coast t r ~  the 
company's station at Machalros. Mackenzie was under intense pres- 
sures to get this road built and had only a small budget to cover wages 
for Europeans. Not surprisingfy, he took Neumann on without. refer- 
ences and gave little thought to either his abilities or his character. 

NcumannJs immediate superior was Captain Frcdcrick tugard, who 
was a high-powered, ambitious, and efficient ex-soldier who would 
later become a leading figure in Britain" AAfrican empire, He immedi- 
ately put Nerranann in charge of a work gang of fifty men, with orders 
to haek as straight a path as possible through the bush along the 
Sabalri River, Neumann found the worlc monotonous, but it at least 
gave him an opportmity to familiarize himself with the country and 
to shoot wildlife, 

From the outset, Lugard was greatly dissatisfied with Neumann and 
the quality of his work. He wrote in his diary that Neumann was exces- 
sively deliberate, reclusive, obrturate, potentially inwbordlnate, and of- 
ten lacking in common sense. For instance, instead of cutti~lg a straight 
road, as the flat land easily pcrmitteci, he created a lneanciering one un- 
suitable for telegraph lines.%l'ifthough Lugardfs judgment of Ne~lmann 
might be attributed in part to his own driving personality, it is also 
likely that it represented a fair assessment of a peculiar man who had 
spent most of thc previous two decades as a rover in the wilds oli: AfYica. 



When Lugard ~noved on to Uganda, he effectively paclced Neulnann 
off to the coast by saying that his clrders contained no provisions for 
him. Maclcenzic quickly overlooked Lrrgard" scnndid evaluation be- 
cause he was hard yresscd to find Europeans of even modest abilities. 
Thus, instead of dismissing Neumann, he promptly assigned him to 
work with a survey party that was to identify possible routes for a rail- 
way from Mombasa to Lake Victoria, Led by Captain Eric Smith, the 
group also included Tames Martin, who had twaveled with the explorer 
jaseph Thomson in 1883-1584, In December 1890, the survey party 
left Mombasa and headed for the lake and Uganda, tuhich they reached 
aftes an uneventful trek of a few months. Once the work was corn- 
pleted, Ncumann returned to the coast, En route, his caxnp at Loita 
was attacked by the Maasai, who killed thirty-eight of his ninety-two 
men, He and the remaining survivovs managed to escape under the 
cover of darlmess but not before he was speared through the forear~n.~ 

When Ne~zlnann arrived in Mombasa, he found a letter from South 
Africa offering him the position ctf magistrate among the Zulu. He de- 
cided to acccpt it because he knew it would quickly provide him with 
the additional funds he needed to finance an elephant hunt in East 
Africa. His year with the IBEA had not made him a rich man, but it 
had given him the opportunity to become farniliar with the country 
and to discover where elephants could be found in great nu~nhers, 

One of the consequences of Teleki's sale of ivory in Zanzibar in 
1889 was that it drew attention to thc elephant herds in the Lake 
Rudolf regiun, This was an area not previously hunted by Europeans 
ou frecluently visited by coastal traders. However, some of the latter 
soon began to travel up toward the lake in search of ivory gathaed by 
the Wanderobo, who were expert elephant hunters. 

In December 1893, Neurnann was back in East Africa at the head of 
a caravan of fifty men armed with Snider rifles. In Mombasa, by a 
stroke of good luck, he met van Hiihnel, who was on his way home to 
Austria-Hungary after having been wounded by a rhinoceros, Von 
Hiihnel recorded the meeting: 

A Mr. Neumann was just equipping a caravan with his modest means in 
order to vislt the Rudolf lake district. He wanted to undertake the shoot- 
ing of etephants on a business basis. He was about 40, fair, of slight build, 
and did not look very enteqrising. . . . He was said to be a eraclc shot. I 
was a b f ~  to give him good information about the districts which he: in- 
tcndcd visiting, and he consulted me cm many points." 

In late January 1894, Neumann met William Astor Chanler, who 
was returning to the coast following the desert.ion of his men, They 
spent a pleasant night talking and s~noking Neumann" Havana cigars. 



Ghanler gave Neu~nann much useful infarlnation about the districts 
to the west and cln parting gave him his little terrier, 'Tmlic.'" Neu- 
lnann essentially headed for areas recently visited by Chanlcr and van 
HBhnel, and in February 1894, he killed his first elephants. He then 
headed for the Graaso Nyiro River, where he was so successful at 
shooting elephants that he was able to send his first shipment of ivory 
hack to Mo~nhasa by July. 

With the help of Wanderabrt trackers, Neumann continued hunting 
until early 185'15, when he decided to rctuxn to the coast, Hc had 
amassed a large hoard of ivory, had lseco~nc intimately familiar with 
the dry bush country of what is now northern Kenya, and had made 
friends with expert Wandcrobo hmters, who greatly facilitated his 
suGc(1"ss. 

Using some (tf the ivory sale proceeds from this first trip, he then 
outfitted a second but srxaller caravan of thirty-five men, which left 
Mc~mbasa on Nay 16, 1895. Nettrnann heackd for Lake Rudr~lf, whrlse 
large elephant populations had only been hunted by the Wandesobs 
and Count Samuel TFcleki. Thc scale of his elephant killing in thc area 
north of the Guaso Nyiro River earned fur him the Swt-zhili lanpage 
sobriquet Nyamn Yangzl (My Meat]. 

Killing as many eiicphants as he could, Neumann finally gat a 
glimpse of take Rudolf" southern shrlre on December 4, 1895. Van 
H6knel and Smith had recorded their Arst views of this body with po- 
etic dcscriptioas and philosophical reflections; Ncumann, by con- 
trast, dispatched his with a terse comment: ""A fine sight it was, look- 
ing blue like the sea.'" More important to hirn, he soon fomd many 
old bull elephants carrying l a ~ e  tusks, three uf which he killed in 
one day, 

There was hardly an elephant along the eastern shore of the lake 
that escaped the sights of his rifles, By late December, he had reached 
the northern end of the lake, from where he ~noved into the forests 
along the banks of the Omo River. It was here that the Arst serious 
trage* of the expedition occurred. On january X, 1896, Neumann's 
servant, Shehane, was washing in the shallow waters of the riverhank 
when suddenly an enormous crocodile seized hirn. Neumann de- 
scribed what happened next: 

I was still loolting down when I heard a cry of alarm, and, raising my 
head, got a glimpse of the most &astly sight I ever witnessed, There was 
the head of a huge crocodile out of the water, just swinging over towards 
the deep with my poor Swahili boy in its awful jaws, held across the mid- 
dle of the body like a fish in the beak of a heron. He had ceased to cry out, 
and with one horrible wigfe, a swirl and a splash, all disappeared. One 
could do nothing, It was over; Shebanc was gone," 



132 Sportsmen and Ivory flunters 

Once he had shot the area clean of elephants, Neumann marched 
south toward the lake, where he went on a massive killing spree. He 
was so busy shooting elephants that wounded animals were left to die, 
for as Neumann said, "we had other things to think about."'0 How- 
ever, his zeal for killing almost resulted in his own death when a cow 
elephant broke his ribs and pierced his arm with a tusk. When he 
raised his rifle to shoot her as she charged, he found that the cartridge 
had not entered the barrel. He turned and ran, but the elephant easily 
overtook him. N e u m a ~  escaped with his life but remained an invalid 
in camp for three weeks. In one of his rare philosophical reflections, 
he said of his near brush with death, "Just retribution, perhaps you 
will say; and for my part I harbored no ill-will against the elephant for 
avenging its kith and kin. It was the fortune of war."" 

Still greedy for ivory and scarcely chastened by his injuries, he con- 
tinued to hunt his way south even though his men and donkeys could 
scarcely carry all the ivory he had already accumulated. Eventually, he 
had to resort to a relay system in order to get all his ivory to the coast. 
When he arrived in Mombasa on October 1, 1896, he was a far richer 
man than when he had left a year and a half before. But the elephant 
populations of Lake Rudolf were now doomed to extinction. Hoping to 
imitate Neumann's success, other hunters soon came and eventually 
wiped them out. 

On returning to Britain, Neumann wrote his book Elephant Hunt- 
ing in East Equatorial Africa, which was published in 1897. Except for 
an important butterfly collection of 170 species, his contributions to 
advancing either geographic knowledge or science were modest. Yet 
John G. Millais, the famous naturalist-artist, who met Neumann at 
this time, thought highly of him and became a close friend.I2 

After a brief period of service in the Boer War, Neumann returned to 
East Africa in 1902. He again hunted elephants near the Guaso Nyiro 
River, on Mount Marsabit, and near Lake Rudolf. Using Mount Kenya 
as a base, he relentlessly pursued these animals as much for their 
ivory as for the thrill of killing them. In 1902, he wrote Millais the fol- 
lowing telling words: "I take but damned little interest nowadays in 
shooting any other beast but the elephant. . . . Nothing else thrills 
me."'" The magnitude of his slaughter can be judged from the fact that 
in March 1903, he traveled down to Mombasa with a ton of ivory. 

Time, however, was running out for both Neumann and his relent- 
less killing of elephants. In 1905, much-needed game regulations were 
put into place, which he wrongly interpreted as being directed at him 
personally and out of spite. The authorities gave him a grace period in 
which to wind down his affairs, and he left Mombasa in October 1906 
a very angry and unhappy man. Writing to Millais, he poured out ven- 



omous criticism of the Game Prcservadon Society that had pushed for 
the new rel,?tlations: ""It seems that your intrepidt sanctimonious, gi- 
rafdc-slaying, bastard-missionary, self-appointed protect-or of beasts . . . 
and alx~ighty law-giver for Africa in general, psalm-s~niter-in-chief, 
this stroll through the country . . . coadjutatsr . . . in the Game Pre- 
serving Society has been trying to put a spoke in the wheel of your 
hu~nble servant." 

When Neumann arrived in London, he sold his ivory for %4,5QO, re- 
alizing a profit of 21,500 after covering his expenses. This sale lnarlrcd 
the end of his adventurous life as an elephant hunter." The vast and 
lonely wilderness of northern Kenya that had been his home for so 
long was slowly colning under administrative control, and elephants 
were being protected through hunting rewlations. 

As the world Neurnaan: had known in East Afvica was changing, he 
himsclf was slipping into a severe depression. Writing to Millais fmn 
Mc~mbasa on July 28, 1906, before his final departure, he said: "The 
prospect of leaving my country and giving up the life X love makes me 
sad. . . . Here in my "&erei I have been happy, and never suffered 
from those terrible fits of depression that weigh me down there.""" 

Following his arrival in London, Neumann pursued his plans fou ob- 
taining gavernlncnt permission to administer a tract of land north of 
the Guaso Nyiro as a reserve for thc Wanderobo and Sa~nburu, in 
which controlled elephant hunting could take place. Although the bu- 
reaucracies in London and Nairobi lnoved slowly, they did favor his 
scheme, However, Ne~tmann had slipped into a deep depression, exac- 
erbated when his proposal of marriage was rejected by a woman with 
whom he had fallen in love. On May 2Pt 1907, he wrapped himsclf in 
his hyrax-skin rug and shot hil~self through the head with one of his 
old hunting ~if1es.I~ 

Ncurnann made no pretenscs to being either a natrrraiist or a geogra- 
pher. He was an e l e p h a ~  hunter tu such a degrcc that it overwhelm- 
ingly defined his adult life, almest to the exclusion of all else?H" was 
also a troubled and unhappy man who managed to deal with his emo- 
tional problems by choosing an unusual life of solitude, seclusion, and 
slaughter. His killing of elephants not only satisfied the demands of 
the ivory rxarket but also enabled him to contain his own. inner tur- 
moil."" Of all the men who went to Lake Rudolf in these early years, 
he revealed the least about the land and its peoples but the most about 
the traveler himsetf, 

The next British visitor to the lake was Henry Shcppard Hart 
Cavendish, who, unlike Neumann, was a member of the British aris- 
tocracy. Born in 1876 at Thornton Hall in Buckinghamshire, he was 
the son of Willia~n TBolnas Cavendish and the grandson of Henry 



Manners Cavendish, the third Baron Watel-park, Aftcr eo~npleting his 
studies at Eton, he traveled to South Africa in 1895 t s  spend a year 
sight-seeing and shuoting.lc"t was while there that he rcad in the 
newspapers of Arthur Donaldson Sxnith" successful expedition t r ~  the 
lake from Somaliland. Seeing an oppovtunity to combine both sport 
and cxplaxation, he decided to organize a trip to Lalrc Rudolf: "h ooc- 
eurred to me that somebody ought, as soon as possible, to explore the 
west coast of Lake Rudolf, and that as no Englishman had yet at- 
tempted exploration in that part of Africa, it was high time fur Bril-ish 
travelers to bestir thexnselves in the  natter."^^ 

Cavendish, of course, hacl no idea that his fellow countryman 
h t h u r  Meulnann had already arrived at the lake. Even if be had been 
aware of this, it is doubtful t h t  it would have altered his plans since 
he was intent on exploring the western shore of the lake. 

Caverzdish. rcturncd to London from South Africa in. func 1896 and 
by the end of A u a s t  tvas en route to Adcn. There, he met Lieutenant 
H. Andrew, a young military officer on leave, and persuaded him to 
join the cqedition, The two left Berbexa on September 5, closely fol- 
lowing the route that Smith had talten inland. With them was a head- 
man who had served in Count Samuel Teleki" eexpedition, as well as a 
number of men who had traveled with Smil-h. During the early part of 
the march, they met Professc~r Danid. Gimud Elliot, Carl Akeley, and 
Smith" fforrner companion and taxidermist, Edward Dodson, who 
were collecting natural history specimens for Chicago's Field Mu- 
seum. Knowi~lg of Smith's intcrest in returning to Lalce Rudolf, Dod- 
son wrote him about meeting Cavendish and hearing his plans ta 
travel down its western shore. S r ~ i t h  was somewhat disconcerted by 
this news because he had high hopes of settling the question of the 
Omo River himself ,2z 

After crossing the Webi Sbcbcli River, Gavendish and Andrew calnc 
into a region that had recently been raided by Ethiopian military 
parties: 

We were in the rear c)f an Abyssinian war-party, which had left only the 
day before, after lootlng the surro~mding villages and driving off all the 
unfortunate natives' tivestock. . . . For tfic next four days, we marched 
through desolate co~mtry that had been devastated immediately bchre by 
the Abyssinian hordes. . . . They brought us numbers of people who had 
been horribly mutilated by the AI?yssinians, and again beged us to stay 
with and protect 

This graphic description of Ethiopian atrocities confirmed the ob- 
servations rnadc by Smith two years before, Although Ethiopia was 
engaged in a courageclus battle t r ~  preserve its independence against 



European colonialism, it was also an expending i~nperial state. Ern- 
peror Menelik 11's brutal campaigns to annex the areas south of the 
Ethiopian highlands arc often overshadowed in both European and 
Ethiopian accounts by his valiant efforts to remain free of foreign 
domination. At the time, Menelik presented this annexation under 
the guise of an irredentist movement whose purpose was to unify 
lands that had allegedly been part of Ethiopia hundreds of years before. 
TCI some extent, this doubtful claim ohscured Ethiopia's prominent 
role as a contemporary but indigenous colonial power competing with 
European rivals for parcels of Afi-ica to which none uf them held any 
legitimate rights. Ethiopian imperial expansion took a very high toll. 
by any objective measure in the form of theft, tribute, slaves, and de- 
struction, The imperial center, which was feudal in character, pro- 
vided nothing to conquered peoples, whose best hope was to be left 
alone.24 

In Decelnber, Cavendish and Andrew arrived at the Daua River, 
where elephants were abundant. From this point on, their expedition 
focused more on amassing ivory than contributing to scicncc. They 
killed ten elephants in as many days and continued in this manner for 
the remainder of the trip, The insatiable demand for ivory in the 
United States and Europe had created a lucrative Inarket for tusks, 
which, when sold in large numbers, could easily offset the crlsts of an 
expedition, 

Caverzdish later claimed that he encountered no hostility from the 
Br~ran, who he said had a t tackd Smith because they thougilt he 
wanted to rob them of their salt, He painted an idyllic picture of his 
relations with them: "They treated us in the most Iriendly manner, 
pressing every kind of present that they crlnsidered valudhle upon us, 
and we had the greatest difficulty in making them accept a return 
p r e ~ e n t , " ~  Lord Delamere followed eavendish through the country of 
the Boran a few months later. Oa his return to London, he complained 
ta the Foreign Office that Cavendish had treated the Boran very 
harshly, Such an accusation, based on reports gathered in the field! 
rnight at first glance be suqect. However, further dc~cumentation of 
Gavendish's looting and plundering of local peoples was later provided 
by Herbert Henry AustirzSz6 

Cavendish mt-~ved on to Lake Stephanie, where he continued shor~t- 
ing elephants. It was while in this area that he was attacked by a 
wounded elephant and almost lost his life, After. recovering from his 
narrow escape, he headed south k->r Lake Rudolf, which he reached on 
March 12, 1897. Sparing in his comments on seeing the lake for the 
first tizne, Gavendish merely said, ""X our satisiaction at the sight of 
Lake Rudolf, we immediately determined to take a few days"est.'a'7 



Cavendish split his expedition at this prtint, sending the ~nain body 
of men down the eastern shore of the lake with AnrSuew while he him- 
self marehed along the western share, Andrew spent most of: his time 
shooting elephants and amassing more ivory, while Cavendish 
claimed that he was constantly attacked by the Turkana, with whom 
he tried to establish friendly relations, Finally, on May 3, he captured a 
woman and, using her as an interpreter, established contact with the 
Turbna. W t i n g  of this, he said: ''After much palaver and a few pres- 
ents, we satisdied them that we only wished to pass through the coun- 
try and had nu intention of stealing anything, nor was fighting a plea- 
sure t~ us."2' 

This accotme was eventually disputed by a later travcleu, Hcrbert 
Henry Austin, whrl noted in his diary that Cavendish had disgaeefully 
looted and pXundered the Turkana." "Thus, based on the testimony oE 
twa eminent Xlxitish travclcss, it appears that Cavcndish's behavior to- 
ward some local peoples was abusive and exploitative in the extreme. 

Cavendish and Andrew anally met on the eastern shore of the lake 
and proceeded south toward Baringa, En rouw, they came upon a 
small srtda lake in the f uguta Valley, known today as Lake Logipi, 

On July 6, 1897, they arrived at Lake Baringo, where Andrew was 
charged and seriously injured by a rhinoceros. He rcquircd several 
weeks of convalcsecnee, after which they marched sou& tctward Fort 
Smith in the newly established Uganda Protectorate. "There, they met 
Frcderick jackson, the deputy commissioner, who was keenly inter- 
ested in hearing about their journey, He was very impressed by the 
size of their ivory hoard but somewhat disconcerted by their boastiq 
of the huge profits thcy would realize when it was sold in Zanzibar, 
After resting at Fort f mith for a brief time, they marched southeast to- 
ward Rihwezi, where von Hdhnel, had been treated for his wounds in 
1893. From there, they moved on to the railhead of the Uganda Rail- 
way, then under construction, Thc entire caravan was placed abc)ard a 
special train and carried over the newly laid tracks to PtlurnZsasa.'" 

Cavendish spoke befare the Royal Geographical Society on jranuary 
31, 1898. As Turrnn has obscmed, the scientific results of his exper;ii- 
tion were negligible, and his account of local pclpulatiuns was "confus- 
ing and not very informative.""' Yet he and h d r e w  were the Arst ta 
carry the Union Jack around the lake, and in so doing, thcy made an 
important statement on behalf of British colonial interests. This was 
not lost on Fxederick Lugard, for whom Nerrmanra had worked and 
who was in the audience: 

Hc is the first Englishman who has traversed that country-his prcdeces- 
sors, one of whom wc W C ~ G O I X C ~  here, wcre Dr. Donaldson Smith and 



Siwor Bottegu, the Italian explorer. They have done excellent work, but 
they arc not 02: our own nationality. . . . The more British explorers that 
go into that country, the better, provided they work in the waty Mr. 
Cravendish worl~cd.'~ 

Lugard was blinded by his own jingoism and a dedication to promat- 
ing Britain" colonial empire. As Turton has succinctly nated, 
Cavendish's geographic accu~nylishmellts were '"clearly negligible,"" 
True, he had been the first European to completely travel down the 
western shore of Lake Rudolf, But as Karl W Butzer fomd, his map of 
the Omrl delta was by and large adapted fuom Smith's.iW~ny were re- 
ceptive to Lugard"s comments because they needed to attach more irn- 
partance to Cavendishk accomplishments than they deserved for the 
sake of facilitating Britain" claim trl the area. 

Not everyone at the meeting heaped praise on Cavendish. Dr. R. 
Bawdler-Shauge of the Brit.ish Xvltrseuln was obviously irzitated by the 
poor quality of the expedition" naural  history collection and 
Cavendish's neglect of it. In polite and diplamatic language, he ex- 
pressed strong regrets that the British government had left the collect- 
ing of natural history specimens to people like Cavendish, whom he 
regarded as an ""incompetent arnateur.'"~flwdler-Sharpefs stinging 
comments surely must have elnbarrassed Cavendish: 

Since his return, he has been so busy that he has not been able to give us 
the time necessary to help in getting his collection in order . . . and only 
Mr, Cavendish himself can sort out this enormous mass of skulls and 
skins, and bones and limbs, . . . It is a national disgace to England that all 
our great natural history expeditions depend upon private enteqrise, and 
that our Government does absolutely nothing in the matter,'? 

In February 1898, soon after Cavendish's presentation before the 
Royal Geographical Society, Lugard tried to persuade him ta lead an- 
other expedition in East Africa. Instead, Cavendish travcied to Pataga- 
nia; then, from 1899 to 1902, he served as a captain in the South 
African Light Horse during the Boer War, He served in the army again 
in World War 1, and in 1932, he beealne the sixth. Baron Waterpark. 
Four of his Ave marriages ended in divorce, and nme  produced a male 
heir. Thus, when he died on November 26, 1948, the titlc passed to his 
nepbewet6 

Only a few months after Cavendish had left Berbera, another British 
aristocrat set out from the same port for Lake Rudolf. Hugh Chol- 
mondeley, the third Baron Delamere, was born on April 28, 18763, and 
grew up on his parents' estate, Vale Royal. An indifferent student at 
Eton, he inherited the title when his father died in X88';7,3Wigh- 
strung, slight of build, and endowed with fiery red hair and a temper to 



match, he quickly abandoned his parents"1ans for a university educa- 
tion and began fulfilling his passion for hunting. 

On reaching his majority in 1593, Belamere set off on what was to 
be the first of five hunting trips to Somaliland. Though not physically 
robust, he possessed remarkable stamina and determination, which 
embled him to overcome enormous hardships, injuries, and illness. 
During his third trip in 1894, he contractcd typhoid fever in Aden. Af- 
ter recovering, he crossed over to Zeila on the Somali coast and pro- 
ceeded into the interior, where he spent three months shooting lions 
and sticking wart hogs. While there, he tvas chargcd hy a lion; his an- 
kle was so badly mauled that he was left with a permanent limp.48 

Delarnere arrived back in England in 2 894, not only with a limp and 
peritonitis but also in financial distress. But neither debts nor illness 
and injury could lrcep him from his passion for hunting, and thus, 
within a few rnonths, he was back in. Solnaliland for the fourth time, 
On this trip, he hunted liczns by using dogs. 

On learning that Aythur Donaldson Smith had successfully returned 
from a trip to Lakc Rudolf, Delamere rcsolved to do the same, In 1895, 
he began making serious preparations for this journey to the lake, His 
mother, who had reasons to be concerned for his health and safety; in- 
sisted that he take a physician along as a compasrion. She left the se- 
lection tr3 thc Rowland Ward Co~npany, the taxider~nists and travel 
book publishers, who eventually chose twenty-six-year-old Dr. A. Eu- 
stace Atkinson, just out of rnedical school, Atkinson was a charming 
and pawerft~lly built man who got on extremely well with Delamere. 

The Lake Rudolf txip was delayed because Delamere first went on a 
tiger hunt in India and then to Norway to shoot ell;, While in Norway 
with Atkinson, he was thrown from a horse and suffered spinal in- 
juries. Back at Vale Royal, his mother had good reason to dissuade him 
from yet another hunting expeditjon to Somaliland. However, stub- 
born and deterlnined tc.1 reach Lakc Rudolf, he left with Atltinsan far 
Aden in the summer of 3896," 

Delamere was an experienced trnvclcr and quickly able to organize 
his caravan. It consisted of himselli, Atkinson, a taxidermist, a photog- 
rapher, and an army of porters. In December, they marched out of 
Bcrhera with 200 camels loaded with 200 rifles, a Maxim gun, instru- 
ments, ammunition, food, provisions, and bales of beads and cloth. 
They headed southwest, more intent on hunting than cln geographic 
discovery. In March, they arrived at the Italian post of Lugh on the 
Tuba River, where Captain Ugo Ferrandi welcomed them, as he had 
Gavendish and Andrew four months earlier. Since he was running low 
on trade goods, Delamere sent Atkinson to Zanzibar aboard an Xtatian 
gunboat, with a E1,OQO credit to replenish his stock;. It was while in 



Zanzibar that Atkinst~n realized the huge profits to he made in ivory. 
He rejoined Delamere with a determination to kill as many elephants 
as he c o r ~ l d . ~  

In May 1897, Delaznere and Atkinson met as planned at the water- 
holes of El Madow jnow Muddo Errif. They then passed along the line 
of wells that fringe the Mega escarpment, basically following Smith's 
original route, Then departing from this line of march, they headed 
south toward Nfarsabit Mountain, where they arrived in August. The 
mountain was horne to large herds of elephants that had not been cx- 
tensively hunted before. Dela~nere prolonged his stay in the Marsabit 
forest to enal7le Atkinson to accumullate ivory. He shot twenty-one 
elephants in as many days.41 

Thus far, Dclamere had avoided Ethiopian raiding parties because 
the rains had failed and the wells along the raiding routes were dry, 
Also, the Ethiopians were preoccupied with military defcnses eke- 
where. h t  Dclalnere found ample evidence of the destruction caused 
by Menelik's armies in their attempts to extend his imperial frontiers. 

Delarnere finally left Marsabit for Laisarxis to the south and from 
there went northwest to Lake Rudcllf, which he reached in September 
1897. He led his caravan around the southern shore and then a third of 
the way up the western share before moving on to Lake Baringo. 
Atkinson, who had shot his first elephant at Marsabit, continued 
slzootiq the animals just as Delamere did. At the end of the expedi- 
t iml Atlcinson's ivory brought in. Et ,000; Deiamere's totaled 214,000, 
~nost  of it obtained in the Bazringo District, 

Eventuallyf they arrived at Ravine, where Tames Martin, who had 
travelcd with foseph Thornson, was serving as the collectur of the 
Baringo District for the Uganda Prslteetorate. Martin had also set up 
an elaborate, illegal ivory-collecting scheme, through which he even- 
tually pocketed bctwcen Et2,OQO and E15,OQO. Because of his illicit 
trafficking in ivory, he was later removed frrlln Baringo and sent to the 
remote Sese Islands in Lake Victoria.4z 

Belarnere was captivated by the cool! lush highlands of East Afaica, 
with their forests and well-watered meadows. They were a dramatic 
contrast to the hot, dry scrub of Somaliland. He decided to explore 
them hrther with a smaller expedition. He sent half his men back to- 
ward the coast with Atkinson, while he traveled througli the Laikipia 
Plateau. It was probably during this trip that he first thought (16 set- 
tling in this fertile land. Lcaving the plateau, he trekked toward 
Marsabit, where he ca~nped near a spring that was later known as 
Delamere" Njoro (Delamere" Waterj, Atlrinson joined him there to 
shoot more elephants, and eventually, they headed south toward the 
Guaso Nyiro River, While at this river, they met Dr. Johann Georg 



Kalb, the Ger~nan naturalist who was a good friend of Arthur Neu- 
mann, 'T'be two caravans had barely parted company when Kolb was 
charged by a rhinoceros and 

Delamere continued his sinuous wanderings to the Mount Kenya 
region and then headed for Mombasa and the coast. He arrived in En- 
gland in 1 898 after a two-year absence and with so thick a beard that 
his mother did not at first recognize him. 

Neither Delamere nor Atltiason kept a diary of their unusual trip, 
nor did either of them ever publish an account of it. It was not until 
some thirty years later that the full story af this expedition was finally 
recorded by the late Elspeth Huxley, who interviewed Atkillson in 
Kenya after Delamere had died." The natural history and geographic 
accc.)mplir;hmenl;s of this expedition were neglieble and added little to 
what was already known about the regionea5 

Elelarnere married Lady Florence Gole, the daughter of the earl of 
Enniskillen, in July 1889, That same year, he returned to East Africa 
with his bride, where he eventually became the leader of the white 
settlers, As such, he played an important role in the early political life 
of Kenya Colony. He died of cctronary artery disease on November 13, 
1431, and was buried on his estate, Soysambu, on a ltaoll ovewlosliing 
Lalce Elerxlenti tra? 

Atkinsc~n also settled in Kenya, where he at first hunted for ivory, In 
fact, he not only hunted for ivory himself but also hired both white 
hunters and Ahicans to do it for him." In 1902, his relentless pursuit 
of ivory led to a terrible tragedy and a criminal trial in Nairobi, He and 
two accomplices, Smith and Vincent, had been hunting elephants in 
northern Kenya near Mount Muld. In addition to hrmting, they regrx- 
larly purchased ivory from the Rendille people, wholn they supplied 
with guns and ammunition. On July 30, 1902, word reached Sir 
Ghawles Eliot, the governor of the British East Africa Protectorate, that 
Atkinsan and his partners had killed sclme Rendille in order to obtain 
their store of ivory." Hiot promptly dispatched H.R. 'T'ate, the district 
officer at Fare Hall, into the area south of Lake Rudolf to verify this 
story, whicb had been brought to light by disgruntled porters.49 

Tate discovered that Atkinsan, Smith, and Vincent had hagded for 
several days with a Rendillc chief over the price of a toad of ivory hc 
had accumulated. Exasperated, Atkinson invited the Rendille hunters 
to congregate around a keg that he said contained their payment in 
Maria Theresa dollars. The keg was actually Alled with wnpowdcr, 
but hwause Atkinson had been sitting 011 it, the Rendille did not 
doubt his claim that it contained the silver coins. Pretending he had to 
relieve hiznself in the bush, he surreptitiously lit the fuse and wallred 
away. Most of those near the keg were either killed installtly ur seri- 



ously wounded when it exploded. Atkinson and his acco~npliees then 
quickly gathered up the Rendille ivory, which their 200 porters carried 
down to Nairobi. 

When Tate submitted his report in October 1902, it contained suffi- 
cient evidence to hang all three men, However, the Africans who had 
witnessed the killing were fcarfuf of retafiat.ion if they gave testimony 
in court. Cc~nseyucncly, the prosecution was only able to call three 
witnesses, one of whom was Arthur Neumann, who was not present 
when the incident occurred. Much to Eliot's dismay, the all-European 
jury promptly acquitted Atkinson and recommended that Smith and 
Rncent be deported." After the trial, Atkinsan returned to his farm at 
Rarura, where he gave up bath medicine and ivory hrmting far farm- 
ing, sawmilling, and the manufacturing of roof shing1ese5l 

With the conclusion of Delamere" trip, travel to Lake Rudolf by 
sportsmen and ivory hunters temporarily came to an cnd for several 
years. Important political interests involving the Upper Nile, the 
Mahdist state in the Sudan, Ethiopian expansionism, and colonial ri- 
valries forccd the British to prevent any but officially sponsored expc- 
ditions from reaching the lake, Scientific exploration and sport had 
dominated European interest in the lake over the previous decade, but 
such pursuits were now supplanted by the pliticaf goals of competing 
colc~nlal powers. 
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iavzs at the Source 

Captain Vittario Boltego (cuuste.sy 
Manlio Rana ti), 

few rnonths before 
Henry Sheppard Hart 
Cavendish arrived at 

Lake Rudolf in March 1897, an 
Italian expedition had c o w  
down from the north, follow- 
ing the course of the Omo 
River. Headed by Captain Vit- 
tsrio Bottego and sponsored by 
the Societh Geograflca Italiana 
and the Italian go\rernmcntl 
the puxpase of this expedition 
was to resolve the riddle of the 
Oxnn River and its relationship 
tu Lake Rudolf. However, 
launched as it was at a time 
when Italy was attempting to 
impose a protectorate over an 
independent Ethiopia, this ex- 
pedition had political objee- 
tives as well. 

Eleven years beforc Bottego 
arrived at Lake Rudolf, Italy 

had landed 1,QQO troops at Massawa on the Eritrean coast, with the 
knowledge and consent of Great Britain, rvlassawa had been occupied 
since 1865 by the Egyptians. But in 1884, Egypt withdrew its garrison 
for use in the war with the Mahdi in the Sudan, "The vacating (16 Mas- 
sawa left it vulnerable to possible seizure by a European pawer hostile 
to Great Britain" interests, especially its Indian elnpire lifeline via the 
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Suez Canal. Britain supported Italy" action in order to allow an ally to 
realize its colonial ambitions and to prevent a hostile power such as 
Germany horn occupying this key port. 

This occupation was ixnx~ediatel y protested by Ethiopian (Abyssin- 
ian] Emperor Yohannes IV and by Menelik, the nifta-tzs jking) of Shoa, a 
vassal state of Ethiopia (Abyssinia), It was not long befare the Italians 
began moving up into the adjacent highlands, on the yretext of pro- 
tecting the trade route from the coast.Wowever, Yohannes and Mene- 
lik were eventually lnollified by Count Pietro Antonelfi, who had 
been Italy's diplomat in Ethiopia since 1877. He had al so been supply - 
ing both Menelilc and Yohannes with guns, the former for his efforts to 
s t r e n ~ h e n  his bid to succeed Yohannes and the latter for his war with 
the Mahdistrj and his efforts to keep vassals like Menelik in line. 
Among these vassals was 'T'ekle Haymanot, the negus of Gojam, who, 
in 1888, joined with Menelik in a conspiracy to deyosc hhannes, As 
part of this plot, Menelik enlisted Antcmelli"s help, asking the Italians 
to create a military diversion for Yohannes ctn the borders of Eritrea. 
The succession to the position of emperor was Anally settled in Mcne- 
lik's favor when Yohannes was killed by the Mahdists at the Battle of 
Metemma on March 1 1, 1889.2 

Strenghened by Italian military help, Mcnclik was able to declare 
himself nsgus negast (emperor) soon after bhannes's death. He de- 
manded and received declaratisns of loyalty from most provincial 
rulers, except from the ras (prince) Mcngasha of TTigray! who was the 
son and aspiring heir of Yohannes IV. In an effort to discourage Men- 
gasha from making good his legitimate claim, Menelik, now Menelik 
ZI of Ethiopia, encouraged the Italians to occupy the highlands around 
Asmara, adjacent to Tigray. He then sent an army into Tigray in order 
to obtain what proved ta be only a temporary submission from Men- 
gasha.' 

To strengthen his position as self-proclailned emperor, Menelik 
signed a treaty with the Italians on May 2, 1889, at VVuchale. Not yet 
crowned or fully recagxrized as emperor, he was extremely anxious to 
make an aceurnmodation with Italy in order to consolidate his power. 
Also, he needed Italy to cmtrol Mengasha of Tigray, who was a con- 
tinuous and legitimate threat to his claim as emperor." 

The Treaty of Wuchale established the cctlony of Eritrea, and accurd- 
ing to Article Seventeen of the Italian version, it also gave Italy au- 
thority over Ethiopia% foreign affairs. On October 1 X, 1589, Italy gave 
forxnal notice to Britain, France, Ger~nany, Russia, the United States, 
and other countries that this article of the treaty placed Ethiopian for- 
eign affairs under ks c o n t r ~ l . ~  This interpretation was soon denounced 
by Menelik, who claimed that his Amharic version stated that 



Ethiopia could use Italy's good offices in the conduct of its foreign af- 
fairs but was under no obligation to do so," 

rtlenclik had good reason to be concerned about Italy's interpreta- 
tion of Article Seventeen because it forlned the basis for later Italian 
attempts to establish a protectorate over Ethiopia, Between 1890 and 
1896, Italy progressively attemp-t.ed to foster its colonial ambitions in 
the coun~y ,  with the overt support of Britain. At the salne time, Italy 
provided Menelik with a continuctus flow of modern weapons and fi- 
nancial support, These were intended to increase his dependency on 
Italy for remaining in power, thus clearing the way for the establish- 
ment of a protectorate. Wnf ortunately for their colclnial ambitions, 
Menclik was shrewd in playing the Italians off against France and Rus- 
sia, which had sizable legations in the country, As a result, political 
intriwe became intense and complex at Menelik" couxt during these 
years. Vct in 1890, he was forced to yield to Italian delnands for a new 
boundary with Eritrea.' This gesture of appeasement an. his part, how- 
ever, was to no avail, as Itafy continued to make advances into 
Ethiopian territory. 

An inevitable ~nilitary collision between. Italy and Ethiopia was vir- 
tually assured when Francesca Grispi became Italy's prime minister 
on December 1 5, 1 593. Confrontational, megalornaniacal, and deter- 
mined to absorb Ethiopia intrl an Italian East African empire, he or- 
dered the occupation of territory beyctnd the 1890 Isoundary."~ Bot- 
tega began preparations ior his expedition to Lake Rudolf, Crispi was 
busy rallying diplomatic support from France and Britain for his mili- 
tary conquest of Ethiopia. 

Vitmrio Burtcgo was born in Parma on luly 29, 1860. His mother, 
Marla Acinelli, who was from Parma, and his father, Dr. Agastino Bat- 
tego, who was born in Albareto near Paxma, provided him with a com- 
fortable childhood. As a teenager, he was expelled from a local school 
for fighting and sent to the military training center at Modcna. Fol- 
lc-lwing a year there, he entered the Military Academy at Turin fur 
thrcc years and thcn went on to the cavalry school at Pincroio in 
1886." 

In 1887, Bottego volunteered for the Special Africa Corps that was 
sent to Massawa in response to the Inassacre by nhiopians of a col- 
ulliln of Italian troops under Colonel De Cristoforls. Arriving in No- 
vember, he was placed in charge of a battery of indigenous troops. But 
he was also a keen naturalise who spent much time and effort collect- 
ing birds, reptiles, fish, arthropods, and minerals, which he shipped 
back to the Parma Museum. His scientific interests in natu~al history 
and geographic exploration brought him to the attention of the gover- 
nor of Eritrea, Major General Antunio Gandolfi, wlm suggested t l~a t  he 
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explore the unknown areas of the interior, What appealed to Bc~ttego 
rnost was an expedition ta the unexplored headwaters of the Juba 
River, This river was of significant political and econolxic interest 
since it flowed out of the Ethiopian highlands and south toward the 
Somali coast, where Italy was engaged in establishing another colony, 
Italian So~naliland.~~ 

Bott ego's expedition to the Juba was te~nporarily delayed when 
Grispi's government fell on January 3 1, 1891, after three and a half 
years in power. Recalled to Italy, Bottego continued to advocate for his 
expedition. During this time, he met the Marquis Giaco~ncl Doria, 
president of the Societh Geografica Italiana di Roma. Doria suggested 
that Bnttego first undertake a brief exploratory trip to the country of 
the Danakil, which he did in May 1891, Oa his return, he was as- 
signed to the Nineteenth Artillery Regiment in Florence. There, he 
spcnt a year studying astronomy, zoology, and phorctgraphy in prepara- 
tion for his projected trip to the fuha. Bottcgo was driven by a genuine 
desire to advance scientific knowledge, h t  the Italian government 
had a very different agenda. 

The new prime ~ninister, Antonio Di Rudini, was not a coloniallist 
and indeed was an opponent of Cuispik designs in eastern Africa. 
However, he was also a pragmatist and realized he could not wallc 
away from Crispi's cet~lonial commitments. On March 24, 189 1, he and 
Lord Dufferin signed a protocol clutlining the Italian and British 
sphaes of influence in East Africa. The baunhry ran up the midsl-tan- 
nel of the Juba River to six degrees north latitude and then turn& 
west along that parallel to thirty-five degrees east longitude, where it 
turned north along that meridian to the Blue Nile." This pratocol, in 
effect, placed Ethiopia in the Italian sphere of influence without any- 
one bothering to inform Menelik, who soon found out about it. The 
rnost that he could do was to notidy the great powers of the boundaries 
of ancient Ethiopia and declare that he was prepared to defend 

In order to take passession of the Somali coast, Italy had to f c ~ m  an 
Italian East Africa Company, notify the sultan of Zanzibar (who had 
long claimed this area as his am),  and establish a presence along the 
coast and in the interior. Exploration of the source of the Fba was es- 
sential to the succcss of haly's clailn to this part of the Soxnali coast and 
to preventing Ethiclpian incursions into it. Not suwrisingly, Doria, who 
had been lobbying on Bottegofs behalf, was able to tell him in March 
1882 that the government would provide Anancing for the expeciition. 

In Aumst 1892, Bottegn and a wealthy companion, Captain Mattcn 
Grixoni, arrived in Massawa. From there, they went on to Berbera in. 
British Sornaliland and then began their trek toward the source of the 
fuha, with a caravan of 124 men. Grixoni was not up to the rigors of 



such a difficult trip, and on Fcbrtlary 15, 1893, he defected after threat- 
ening Bottego with a pistol, Grixoni headed back to the coast with 33 
men, while Bottego and the remainder of the expedition moved to- 
ward the river's stlurce. Although traveling with greatly reduced re- 
sources, Bottego was able to reach the upper Juba and accurately dcter- 
mine its origins. Hc then headed south for the coast, lnoving along the 
river's valley- On July 17, 1893, he arrived at the sel;tlement of Lugh, 
where two European members of Prince Ruspolik expedition, Walter 
Borchardt and Emilio Dal Scno, were being held prisoner, He was able 
to obtain their release before lnrlving south toward Brava on the coast, 
where he arrived on September 8 with 46 of his original 124 men. Af- 
ter stopping at Zanzibar, Aden, and Massawa, be reached Naples in 
November, to be greetcd by a hero" welcicome. The geographic soeiety 
awarded him its Grand Gold Medal, and he was invited to give lec- 
tures in Rome, Parma, Florence, and Naples."" 

Although the Italian government took note of Bottego's natural his- 
tory collection and the 600 photographic plates he bad expused, it at- 
tached greater significance to the political outcomes of his cqedition, 
His thirteen-rnonth trek to the headwaters of the Juba had clearly 
strengthened Italy's hold on the Somali coast and @ven tangible evi- 
dence of an Itali;m presence along solne of the boundaries put forth in 
the 1891 protocol. However, the declared Italian sphere of influence 
also extended far to the west to the sources of the Omo River, where 
Italy had not yet shown its flag. 

In December 1893, Crispi once again became prime minister, Dur- 
ing 1895, he relentlessly tried to impose protectorate status over 
Ethiopia. This was an extremely thoughtless decision, given that 
Ethiopia was a highly hierarchical society with a powerful central gctv- 
ernment, Its army was also formidable and modern, having been 
armed by Italy and Francc with the latest weapons and trained by 
French and Russian officers. Despite Menelik's best effmts, Crispi not 
only refused to negotiate but also recklessly pushed matters tuwa~d 
armed conflict by ordering the invasion of Tigray, Etkiopia's northern- 
most province. Alfred Ilg, Menelik" Swiss counselor, tried to get the 
French to dissuade Italy from this course of action. However, he was 
msuccessful largely because France needed Italy's support for its oc- 
cupation of Tunisia,'" 

Realizing that he could not count ctn European diplomatic support 
in his efforts to get Italy to pull back its troops behind the 1890 border 
and renounce protectorate claims over Ethiopia, Menelik prepared for 
war. As he did so, Bottego was in Rome organizing what would prove 
to be his mast important expedition to Africa. Given Italy's politicsll 
and eeono~nie aims in Africa at this time, it would be unreasonable to 
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assusne that the purpose of Bottego's expedition was purely scientific 
and geographic. Though he himself attached far more impturtance to 
these objectives, he was not unavuare that his eiforts would be of @eat 
pc~litical and eeonolnie i~nportance to Italy. 

On May 3, 1895, Italy" foreign minister, Baron Aberto Blanc, 
signed an agreement with the Socictg Geograiica Xtaiiana, in which 
the parties mutually agreed to support Bottegct on an extensive expedi- 
tion to eastern Africa. The government committed 60,000 lire to the 
endcavor, King Humbert I provided 40,000 lire, and thc society as- 
sumed responsibility for organizing the expedition. This ageement 
was, in effect, a marriage of convenience between the government, 
which wanted to promot.e its political and economic interests, and the 
sodety, whose objectives were purely scientific." Yet, as was so oftcn 
the case with European travelers in AfYica at this time, sponsorship by 
a scientific organization conveniently provided cover far political and 
snilitary activities. As G.N. Sandersan cogently noted, "'European mil- 
itary explorers at the head of very small detachments were able . . . to 
penetrate Africa and to impose their authority with unprecedented 
ease and rapidity.""" Thus, Bottegn? snadest caravan was capable of 
reaping a rich political and economic harvest for Italy. 

The govcmment-society agrecmcnt was quite specific about the po- 
litical and econumie objectives uf thc experiition. Bottego was ""tu see 
to the establishment of a comrnerciaZ station at Lugh" on the Juba 
River and identiiy the surrounding areas where Italy could conclude 
"political and commercial agreements in order to tic the trade of these 
areas to the Lugh station and to the ports of the Renadir,"17 In effect 
then, Bottego's princigal gaal in the Somali hinterland was to extend 
Italian control over it, But this was not all. He was also instructed to 
explore the lands along six degrees north latitude and west toward 
thirty-dive degrees east longitude, the lines that constimted the 
boundaries in the 1891 protocol defining the Italian and British 
spheres of influence."" This westward march would take Bottegct to the 
Omo Rivcr and Lakc Rudolf and into thc eastern watershed of the 
Nile. 

This was not the first time that Italy had attempted to assert its po- 
litical control along the southern and western boundaries of its self- 
prrlclaimed sphere of influence. In 1893, the experienced Italian ex- 
plorer Prince Eugerrio Ruspoli had traveled up the Tuba and concluded 
protectorate treaties at Lugh and Uolo. He thcn trekked west toward 
the country of the Buran and the Omo Rivcr, with the intent of plac- 
ing these areas under Italian cclntxol. However, these objectives were 
never achieved, as he was killed by an elephant while hunting near 
Burgi on December, 4, 1 893.1Y 



Bc~ttego took three other Italians with him on this expedition: Carlo 
Giterni, his brother-in-law's nephew, was an infantry lieutenant re- 
spansihle for photography and the daily diary; Dr. Maurizio Sacchi 
was placed in charge of the meteorological observations and the nat- 
ural history collections; and naval lieutenant Lamberto Vannutelli 
was to record all the geoguaphic data.l0 

Bottegs~ left Naples on July 3, 1895, some three months before Ital- 
ian troops invaded Tigray. At Massawa, be took on 250 men and a 
large quantity of ammunition and then headed for Brava on the Somali 
coast. There, he was joined by Captain Cfgo Ferrandi, and together 
they moved north to Lugh, which they reached on November 18, Al- 
though Bottega was trckking thraugb familiar territory that he had 
covered on his previous trip, it was in an extrelaely volatile state. The 
Ethiopians, equipped with modern weapons by the Italians and other 
Europeans, had becn raiding the area with devastating cansequcnccs 
for the local populations. This in turn placed the local Somali clans on 
an almost constant war footing, Nut surprisingly, they launched an of- 
fensive attack against Bottego's caravan on November 5, during which 
Sacchi was speared through the shoulder and a bugler, Adurn Jusuf, 
was wounded through the left handm2I 

When Buttega reachcd Lugln, he fumd it a smoldering and deserted 
ruin lull of decaying corpses. The Ethiopians had raided it a few days 
before, and the Somalis who had not been killed had fled into the sur- 
rounding countryside. Eventually, the population of the settlement re- 
turned, and on Novelniber 21, Bottego concltzded a treaty of protection 
with the local sultan. He also built a fort and trading post, which now 
represented a permanent Italian presence in the interior.= 

Leaving Ferrandi and 45 soldiers in charge, Bottego and 180 men left 
Lugh on December 27 and marched up the Juba, eventually reaching 
its junction with the Baua River. From there, he beaded west along 
the route taken by Arthur Donaldson Smith the year before, "Towad 
the end of February, two months out of Lugh, they entered the country 
of the Baran, where the expeditian was warmly received. En route, 
they had not encountered any of the Ethiopian raiding parties that had 
previously hindered Smith. They thought themselves lucky in this re- 
gard but were unaware that Menclik and his empress, Tayrtt, bad 
lnarched out of their capital, Addis Ababa, on Octclber 11, 1895, hcad- 
ing for a confrontation with the Italians in Tigray. By late February 
1896, Menelik had assembled a well-equipped and well-trained army 
of 100,000 men at Adowa and was prepared to do battle with Italy's 
17,700 men who had invaded Tigray. Until the very end, Menelik tsied 
to resolve his differences with Italy through diplomatic cneans. How- 
ever, Crispi ordered his military commanders not to negotiate until 
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the Ethiopians had been defeated. In taking this unwise course, he in 
effect threw his flimsy field force, half of which comprised African re- 
cruits, against Meaelik" superior force, which was well equipped with 
  nod ern rifles and cannons. 

The inevitable battle began at Adowa early on the morning of 
March X, and by noon, the Ethiopians had prevailed. Close to X 1,000 
men from both sides lay dead on the battlefield. Thc Ethiopians sev- 
ered the genitals of their &ad foes and carried them aloft as trophies. 
The surviving Italian prisoners were brutally treated, hut thcir Er- 
itrean traops suffered a worse fate at the hands of the Ethiopians, who 
cut off their right hands and left feet as punishment for their alleged 
treasone2+ 

The Italian defeat at Adowa came as no surprise to those intimately 
familiar with, the size, discipline, training, and equipment of Mene- 
lik's army. However, it shocked many Europeans, who had inherently 
assumed that African soldiers were so inferior to white men that they 
could easily be defeated, even when present in overwhelming num- 
bers. This view, which was an expressian of European racial attitudes 
of the time, was regularly reinfc~rced by acectunts of the white ~nan's 
easy military victaries over hoards of undisciplined and poorly 
equipped African soldiers. In part, Italy" ddekat at Adowa was a shock 
to Europeans because it sharply challenged their entrenched beliefs in 
African racial inferiority. 

Crispi's gavernment could not survive so crushing a military dcfcat, 
On March 7, he submitted his resignation to King Humbert and went 
into permanent retirement. He was replaced by Antonio Di Rudini, 
whose principal tasks were to secure the release of some 1,900 prison- 
ers of war and tr3 conclude a perlnanent peace with Ethiclpia," Bc~th 
proved to be complex undertakings involving third countries, includ- 
ing Russja, the Vatican, and France. Eventually, Italy and Ethiopia 
signed a peace ueaty in Addis Ababa, on October 26, 1896. Under the 
terms of this treaty, Italy paid Ethiopia an indemnity of ten million 
lire, which was publicly carnouRaged as reimbursement for expenses 
incurred in housing and feeding prisoners of war. Ethiopia recopizeci 
the 1890 Eritrean bordex, and Italy dropped its protectorate and sphere 
of influence claims.2s In renouncing the lattcr, Italy no longer had any 
vital interests in the regiun of the 0 m o  River or in the lands along the 
eastern Nile watershed. Yet this was precisely the area that Bottego 
and his caravan were about to explore in the interests of now defunct 
Italian political ambitions. 

When Bsttego and his men reached the top 06 the Arnar Molmtains 
on March 23, X 896, they were completely ignorant of Italy's crushing 
defeat at Adowa. They visited Ruspoli's grave and then moved an to 



the largest of the Ethiopian Rift Valley lakes, Abaya, which they 
named after Queen Margherita." After charting this lake, they treklted 
up higher into the Amp and mist-covered highlands in search of the 
Om(3. Like Smith, they soon encountered armed groups of Ethiopians, 
wha harassed them as they struggled over the mountai~~s.  Bottego 
hoped to go as far north as six degrees, forty-four minutes north lati- 
tude, the farthest point 013 the Omo that the French traveler Jules 
Borelli claimed to have reached several years before. In so doing and in 
locating the river, he hoped to definitively chart its southward course 
and relationship to Lake Rudolf. In a certain sense, this effort was mis- 
pided since Bsrelli's geographic data and maps were grossly inaccu- 
rate. As it was, the Ethiopians barred his way, and he was forced to re- 
treat 

On June 29, 1896, the expedition arrived on the banks of the Qrna 
River, nine rnonlhs after having sct out from Brava. Despite continu- 
ous harassment from bands of Ethiopian soldiers, they were overjuyed 
when they Anally saw the river. "The 29 (16 Tune, a day that will re- 
main lncrnorahlc for us; we give much thought to solemnizing it on 
the banks of the majestic river Anally conquered. The joy of finding it 
makes us even forget the nearness of our enemy, . . . Here across from 
Gullo, residence of XRS Woida Giorgis, our flag now flies on the banks 
of the mysterious river."'"" 

Rottego had not only found the Qrno h t  had alsa discovered that 
this stretch of it was in Ethiopian hands. This was of littfc concern to 
him, however, since as he saw it, the entire region would soon be part 
of a vast Italian protectorate stretching from the Red Sea to the Nile 
watershed. Xns Wolda Giorgis was the pawerhl and trusted prince to 
whom Menelik had entrusted the conquest and annexation of the lands 
to the south of Ethiopia. In flying the tricolor in Giorgis's face, Bottego 
was, in effect, proclai~nirag Italian supemacy in the region. This chal- 
lenge did not go without a response from Giorgis, who lnust have 
thought Bottego mad, given the defeat at Adswa. His troops pursued 
the Italians, eventually driving them away from the river and across 
the hi@lands until they escaped into the plains near Lake Rudolf. 

Rottego was sorely disappointed in being unable to scientifically es- 
tablish that the 01no before him was the sarne one seen by Borelli. In 
point of fact, it was, but that would bc proven by anrjther traveler. 
However, the Italians were soon rewarded by the discovery that the 
Oma flowed into Lake Rudalf. On August 30, they saw the river 
coursing into a "silvery expanse of water," as they described the lake.29 
They summed up their feelings when they wrote that ""AnaJly, after s s  
much effort and suffering, we had Anally achieved the principal objec- 
tive of OUT j ~ u r n e y , " ~  



The changing c m  tours of thc northern end of Lake Rudolf (courtesy 
I1rt~fesst~ Kad W li"z3-trzerp University Texas), 



But the meticulous Bottego, instead of heading south and for the 
coast, proceeded to explore areas to the north of the lake. He did this 
both out of geogaphic curiosity and in the interest of what he and his 
companions believed was the dawn of a new era of progess and civi- 
lization far the peoples of the region, under the Itaiian flag. While 
most of the expedition remained at one of Arthur Donaldson Smith's 
f arrner ca~npsites, Eottego and Vamutelli explored Lake Stephanie. '" 
On their return, Sacchi and Citerni went up the Omo to purchase 
ivory from the Murle people. They soon returned with fifty-seven 
tusks, thus bringing their ivory haul up to 4,410 pounds, 

It was impossible for them to carry all this ivory, and so Bottego en- 
trusted Sacchi to take it to Lugh with the expedition% reports and nat- 
ural history specimens. Accompanied by an escort of twenty-three sol- 
diers, Sacchi met up with a Somali caravan at Lake Stephanie and then 
proceeded to Lake hbaya, whcre they had left ivory and supplies in the 
care of local people. However, on February 5, 1897, Sacchi was killed 
in an attack launched by the Ethiopians, who then stale the ivory. 
Sozne of his rnen and the Somalis carried his papers and scientific 
specimens on to L~gh,~Wnaware  of Sacchi" death, Bc~ttego crossed 
the Orno on November 5, 1896, and spent a few weeks exploring the 
northern two-thirds af Lake Rudolf's western shore. Once this was 
completedl he trelclced north again for the Nile watershed, 

Unaware clf Italy's defeat at Adowa and its renunciation of any 
claizns to lands along thiw-five degrees east loulgitudc, Boteego was 
ever faithful tn his original chaqe, He headed north into this area, be- 
lieving that in so doing, he would place Italian protectorate claims cln 
a firm footing. By thc tilne he arrived in the Ethiopian highlands, 
Menelik was aware of his presence. The emperor gave orders that no 
harm should come t s  the Italians, but he ordered that they be brought 
to Addis Ababa." Yet Menelik could not fully control the actions of 
his provincial leaders. In addition, local princes knew from experience 
that Menelik" pdbllc pronouncements were sometimes meant to be 
disolbeyed. Thus, an order to bring the Italians to Addis Ababa alive 
could, in fact, have Ineant that Menelik wanted therm. killed. There is 
no certain proof of this, and it seems unlilcely since Menelik had just 
concluded a peace treaty with Italy and would not have profited ham a 
gratuitous provocation. 

Rottegu and his men. were initially well received by the Ethiopians, 
and they requested permission to pass through their territory to Addis 
Ababa. However, these local officials had to defer to Giote, the dejaz- 
mnch (commander) of Lega. Not wishing to wait for a response from 
him, Bottego set out for Ghihzni, where the governor resided. Giote 
received them warmly, and there was the usual exchange of gifts and 
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letterset4 However, Bottego was uneasy about these expressions of 
hiendship, especially when some of Giote's soldiers tried to induce ex- 
pedition members to desert, On March 16, twelve men deserted with 
two cases of arn~nunition. 

Taking the best possible precautions aigainst a surprise attack, Bot- 
tego calnped on a slnall hill, Dal;a aioba. On the marxzing of March 17, 
he awoke to find the camp surrounded by a thousand arlliled Ethiopian 
soldiers. Bsttego tried to negotiate but to no availe4' Being a soldier, his 
instincts were to fight and not to surrender, even though the odds of 
victory and escape were slim, Despite Bottego" heroic stand, he and 
his eighty-eight men were overwhelmed in less than an hour. Shnt in 
the chest and left temple, he fell to the gound, urging his lnen to con- 
tinue fighting even as he died, Citerni, who was wounded, and Van- 
nutelli, who escaped injury, were quickly captured and brought to 
Giote, who had them shackled in irons. The caravan" possessians were 
st~on looted, and Inost of its scientific cnllefiions were destroyed."" 

Ghidami was 300 miles from Addis Abaha, and as travel over the 
highlands was slow, it tool< many weeks before ward of the destruc- 
tion of B~ttego's expedition reached Pdlenelik, He quickly ordered 
Giote to bring the prisoners to Addis Ababa, where they arrived on 
June 22, 1597, after spending ninety-eight days in chains. There, they 
were warlnly received by Dr, Cesare Nerazzini, the Italian envoy, and 
by Menelik himself, who met with them twice and who invited them 
to an official dinner.37 

Menelik was anxious to put this unfortunate episode behind him, 
He had already repatriated most of the Italian war prisoners taken at 
Adowa, was negotiating an important trade treaty with Xtaly, and was 
greatly conccmed by possible British threats to his independence. He 
had no desire to antagonize Italy, which was still a majclr military 
power and a close ally of Britain, 

Bottegc., quickly becalnc the heroic icctn of Italian colonial sacrifices 
in Africa, His tvagic death provided Italy with the kind of martyr that 
Adowa had not produced. For unlike the Italian soldiers at Adowa, he 
was perceived as neither aggressrlr nor cornbatant but rather as a Inan 
of peace trekking through Africa in the interests of science, His legacy 
to science was substantial, for of all the late-nineteenth-century ex- 
plorers whrl visited the Omo, he contributed the most tn an under- 
standing of its course, thereby resolving one of the last great geo- 
graphic puzzles of the African continent. He was the only expedition 
leader to lose his life in this region at the hands of an African people. 
Yet: he was also the only European traveler to secure an henored place 
in the oral history of other Africans, who still speak of his passage 
along the Omo a century agae3# 



After their return to Italy, Citerni and Srannutelli wrote an excellent 
account of the expedition, which was published in 1838, The city of 
Parma erected a memorial statue in Battcgo's honor and also created a 
new home for the Museo Z o ~ l o g i c ~  Eritreo Vittorio Bottegct to house 
his collections.'" 

Citerni continued his interest in eastern Africa and returned there 
several ti~nes, In 1903, he traveled to British Sn~naliland as an adviser 
to the Italian government on the uprising led by Muhammed Abdul- 
lah Hassan, head of the Salihiya religious bratherhaad. In 19 10--19 1 1, 
he served as a melnber uf a joint Italian-Ethiopian mission to delineate 
the border between Ethiopia and Italian SomaZiland. Promoted ta 
colonel, he served in the Balkans in Wortd VVax I; he died of pneumo- 
nia in Rome in I918 at the age of forty-five,* 

Tlannutelli led two expeditions to Turkey, in 1904 and 1496, on be- 
half of the Italian geographic society and later served in the Italian- 
Turkish VVar of l9 l I and in Wc~rld W L ~  I. The last swiving  rnelnber of 
the Bottego expedition, he participated in a documentary produced by 
Italian state television in 1960, coanmemarating the centennial of the 
explorer's birth, He died in Rome in 1966 at the age of ninety-five.41 

Rottegu" death and the Battle of Adswa effectively brought to clo- 
sure Italy's involvement in the lands around Lakc R~dulf.~Wlthough 
Bottego had correctly documented that the lake was a closed basin 
with no connection to the Nile, some still doubted this conclusion. As 
a result, the strugle far control af the lakc after 1.897 reflected broader 
colctnial interests, involving the Upper Nile and Ethiopian attelnpts at 
territorial annexation. 
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Showdowa o n  the 'Upper  % 

Commundant feun-Bai?tl'ste: Marchand 
(fiozn Vers fe Nil frangais avec la 
mission Marchand, 1898). 

ittorio Bottego's death 
sy ~nbalically ended 
Italy's colonial aspira- 

tions in the Lakc Rudolf region 
and the 01no River basin. 
However, shortly before his 
death, three Errrapean colonial 
powers-13elgiufnI France, and 
Great Britain-intensified their 
efforts ta seize cantroZ of the 
Upper Nile. They were joined 
by Ethiopia, which under 
Menelik had adopted a foreign 
policy of aggressive colonial 
annexation of territories be- 
yond the Amhaxa heartland, 
These co~npeting interests 
came into sharp conflict during 
X 89'1 and X 898 and led Mcneli k 
to establish opportunistic but 
fragile ententes with the 
Mahdist state and France. 

The years 1897' and 1898 also 
witnessed heightened interest 

by Menclik in take Rudalf and attelnpts by him to claim it and the 
tawer Olno River for Ethiopia, This brought him into direct competi- 
tion with Britain, whose interest in the lake at this time had more to 
du with ensuring the integrity of its East Africsl Protectorate than in 
gaining eclntrol nf the Upper Nile. Yct the lake was nor cc~mpletely di- 



vorced from Britain's Upper Nile policy. A British expedition specifi- 
cally directed at securing the Nile also staked out a claim to the lake 
given its prolrirni~ and the possibility that it somehow fed the river, 
The liltclihood of the lake being a srlurcc of the Nile seemed remote to 
many, based on Bottegs's detailed survey showing that it and the Omo 
compxised a closed system. Nonetheless, this view was not yet fully 
accepted as the showdown for control of the Nile got under way in 
1897. 

Q1 all the colonial powers, Britain had the gxeatest stake in the fate 
of the Upper Nile. This stc~nmed from its occupation of Egypt fifteen 
years before and its vital interests in the Suez Canal. The liberal prime 
minister Williarn Gladstone had hesitated to invade E m t  in 1882. 
However, his uncompromising crlnservative successor, Lard Salisbury; 
a powerful advocate of British imperialism, had no doubts whatsoever 
in 1896 about seizing the entire course of the Ni&e.Vn a sense, Salis- 
bury's hand was forced by the clear attelllpts of Belgium and France to 
lay claim to parts of the upper course of the river and its watershed. 
But between British-cantsalled Egypt and the Upper Nile lay the pow- 
erful. Mahdist state, which had recmtly elltered into an entente with 
Ethiopia. The challenge for Britain then was to destroy the Mahdist 
staE by moving on it from the north and to ncutralizc European cn- 
croachments on the upper river by sending an expedition in from the 
south. This pincer movement did not go unnoticed by Menelik, who 
suspiciously viewed it as a potential threat to his independence. 

It had been a hesitant Great Britain that occupied Egp t  on Septell.1- 
ber 13, 1882, after defeating a mutinous Ewptian army under Ahmed 
iasabi at Tel-cl-Kebicr. ArabYs anti-Christian and antifareign national- 
ist Inovelnent had a measure of popular support because its causes ran 
deep. The legitimate Egyptian resentment against foreign domination 
of national lifc partially originated in the spendthriil. habits of the pre- 
vious kfiedivc, Ismail, who brougtlt the country to the brink of hank- 
ruptcy and French-British financial receivership in 1875. On June 26, 
1879, Turkey, still the suzerain power, deposed Isrnailt at the request of 
France and Britain and replaced him with Tewfik. Arabi's popularity 
rapidly grew after his revolt, as did anti-European sentiment, forcing 
the flight of some 141000 Europeans by )me  1882. On June 1 1, 1582, a 
serious riot broke out in Mexanduia, in which several hundred pet~ple 
were killed, including fifty Euwopcan~.~ 

Gladstone was averse to invading Egypt in order to restare order and 
TcwAk. Nonetheless, public: pressure in favi~r of an invasion moulltedl 
and this, coupled with all of the historic circumstances that tied 
Britain to the Nilc, forccd his hand, In an attempt to avoid a perma- 
nent kitish ct~mmitment in Eb'ypt, Gladstone tried tcz get France and 



Italy to join in the invasion, However, these two prlwers refused, a de- 
cision the French later regretted when they saw Britain installed as 
the master of Etfypt, 

Sanderson cogently observed that 

The basin of the Upper Nile was rapidly becoming an object of serious 
political concern to Britain, and within the next three years British con- 
cern was greatly increased by the growing interest of other European 
powers, This rapid and surprising transformation had its roots in the 
British occupation of E m t  in September, 1882, and in the Mahdist insur- 
rection which, combined with heavy British pressure, forced Egypt into 
withdrawal from the whole of the Sudan." 

Nineteenth-century Euptian efforts to conquer the Sudan had actu- 
ally begun in 1820, when the Ottoman viceroy Mohammed Ali sent 
his son, Ismail, with an arlny to annex the area. Egyptian efforts at 
consolidating control in the Sudan went inta high gear under Ismail, 
who became the Ottoman pasha of Egypt in 1863. He employed EUYO- 
peans such as Sir Samuel Baker, the noted British explorer, who re- 
lnained in the Sudan from 1869 to 1873 and established the Equatoria 
Pr~vince.~ Baker was followed in Equatoria by Charles George Gordon, 
who had won fame for his lnifitary and administrative successes in 
China, Gordon" assignment, like Balrer's, was to consolidate Egyptian 
authority in the region of the great central African lakes and to stamp 
out the slave trade. 

In 1877, Gordon was appointed governclr general of the Sudan. From 
the uutset, he was saddled with cr. corrupt Egptian bureaucracy and 
tax palicics that were harsh and exploitative. Against this unpopujar 
background, he quickly tried to abolish slavery, on which much of the 
cash economy functioned. Gordon's crusade obviously alienated the 
powerhl slave-trading interests, and ardinary people saw Egyptian tax 
policies and the cilncurrent econolnic depression as uniquely due to 
the actions of a Christian foreigner, In 1879, Ismail, the khedive, was 
no longer able to pay the interest on his loans and was forced by the 
European powers to resign and go inta exile, Gordun also resigned, 
leaving behind in the Sudan a severe economic depression and a r i s iq  
tide of di~content,~ 

Two years after Gordods departure, Mohammed Ahmad ibn Abd 
Allah, the sun of a Dunqulah boat builder, declared hi~nsell to be the 
Mahdi [the divinely guided one). The Mabdi was a lnagnetic personal- 
ity who was alale to galvanize diverse sectors of dic;eontcnt with Egypt- 
ian rule into a broad-based revolt. This included the powerful slave 
traders, the holy lncn [fakirs), who despised the ""legalistic and unap- 
pealing orthodoxy of the Ebr)rptians," and the Baqqarah cattle nomads 



of Darfur and mrdofan, '"ho had had enough of taxes and ullbearable 
Egyptian behavior. '"" As Alan Moorehead noted: "Taxes were gathered 
with extrerne harshness, and every Egyptian official was known to be 
corrupt. There were about 28,000 of them stationed in the various gar- 
risons throughout the country, and their behavior towards the Su- 
hnese had become Lmb~arable."~ The Mahcti's rnilitasy successes were 
startling. By September 1852, he was in cctntrt~l of all of Kordofan, and 
on November 5, 1883, he annihilated an Egptian army at El Obeid 
under the command of Colianet William H i ~ k s . ~  Gordon was then sent 
back to the Sudan in order to ensure an orderly evacuation of Khar- 
toum, the capital, but others saw in his re tun  a chance for forcing the 
British government into action against the Mnhdi. But Gladstone was 
strongly opposed to a military invasion of the Sudan. The Mahdists 
eventually captured Khartoum, on January 26, 1885, and killed Eor- 
don and rnost of his men. With the fall of Khartourx, the Mahdiik con- 
trol of the northern Sudan was virtually complete. However, this 
stunning victory for the Mahdists was clouded six months later when 
the Mahdi dicd at Omdurman, across the river from. Khartoum. The 
Mahdi was succeeded by the khalifa Abdallahi, who possessed suffi- 
cient charisma and ability to hold the Mahdist state together for close 
to thirteen yeas. 

As Sandersr~n noted, ""Since the Mahdist state neither sought nor ob- 
tained the recognition of other powers, the Sudan. could be plausibly 
and tcrnptingly regarded as res ~2nlIi.~zs,'" As such, it was vulnerable to 
seizure by any Eurrqean country able to defeat the Mahdist army. Yct 
of all the colonial powers, Britain alone had the most to lose in the 
conyucst of the Sudan by a European competitor, for the occupation of 
Egypt had given Britain a new and enviable strategic position in the 
Mediterranean. However, that position was dependent on the Nile, 
whosc annual flood was vital to Egyptian agricultuxe. The late Victori- 
ans Arlnly believed that Eurupean technology cr~uld divert the crlurse 
of the Nile. Thus, an unfriendly European power in control of the Nile 
heaciwatexs could hold Egypt for ransom and extract concessions from 
Britain. 

These fears on the part of the British were heightened by an address 
rnadc before the Egyptian Institute by a French hydrologise, Victor 
Prompt, in 1893," He speculated un the consequences to Egypt if an 
unfriendly power were to control the Upper Nile. Prctmpt was able to 
convince President Sadi Garnat of ~ X ~ G G  of the feasibility of 
damming the Nile at Fashoda, just below the point where the Sobat 
joins it.i' Carnot, an engineer by training, quickly endorsed Prompt's 
idea, as did French politicians who saw in this possibility a means of 
forcilig Britain to negotiate a withdrawal from Eupt ,  Thus, Eashoda, 



an otherwise insignificant Egyptian post first set up in 1855, became 
the focus of French military expeditions to the N i l e . i W ~ e v e r ,  this 
was not the only reason why the French wanted to get to Fashoda, 
They alstl felt justified in extending their central African territories to 
the left bank of the Nile and having a share in the spoils of the Sudan 
when the Mahdist state fcll apart, 

Other nations besides France also posed a significant threat to 
Britain's interests in the Nile. Ring Leopold of the Belgians, who ruled 
the Congo Free Staw as an independent ruler, was anxious to get a 
foothold on the river, as were the Italians, who had signed the Treaty of 
Wuchale on May 2, 1889, with Menelik. By this treaty, the Italians 
thorrght they had gained a protectorate over Ethiopia and with it, ac- 
cess to the Nile, However, Menelik later repudiated this treaty, saying 
that his version did not cmtain a protectorate provision, Francesccl 
Crispi, Italy's pugnacious and at times reckless prime minister, was 
bent 0x1 seizing a stretch of the Nile. Lord Salisbury was resolutely op- 
posed to this but did not immediately raise the issue with Grispi. In the 
complex gaxne of quid-pro-cluo European politics, he Arst played the 
role of interlnetliary on behalf of Germany in suecesshlly dissuading 
Italy from entering into an alliance with France. Thus in his debt, Cer- 
rnany was willing to renounce any claims to the Nile basin. This left 
Salisbury with the delicate prdlern of dealing with Italian aspirations 
for a portion of the river, He had to oppose their desires without dam- 
aging tbc Anglo-Italian alliance so crucial to the success of Britain's 
colonial sehelnes in Ai-riea. He was finally able to get Italy to renounce 
any claims to the river in 1831, in return for British recognition of an 
Italian sphme of influence over Et-hiopia and elsewhere in East Africa.I3 

Negotiations with King Leopold 11 proved much Inore difficult. 
However, through much diplomatic effort, Britain was able to get him 
to sign the Aaglo-Congolese Agreement of May 12, 1894. This lcss- 
than-perfect treaty gave Leopold an enclave at Lado un the Upper Nile, 
leased to him for life, and claims to the Bahr el, Ghazal, which would 
later prove nettlesome for the British. Nonetheless, the treaty effec- 
tively excluded Belgiuln from the Nile in the long-ter~n future,'" 

Victor Prompt's 3893 proposal. to dam the Nile at Fastzoda was 
quiclrly followed by a French expedition, whose intent was to reach 
the Upper Nile, In June 1893, Commandant Parfait-Louis Monteil tvas 
appointed officer in charge of posts in the upper Uhangi region of 
France's central Ahican possessions, He arrived at Loango on the coast 
011 August 24,1894, intent on moving up to Ubangi and then on to the 
Nile, However, while still on the coast, he was abruptly reassigned to 
West Akica to deal with an urgent military threat posed by an irnam- 
warrior, Salnory TC~ure.~~ 



Aware of this first ETenCh ar.tempt to reach the Nile, Sir Edward Grey, 
the Foreign Office undersecretary, told the House of Commons on 
March 28, 1895, that a French lnave on the Upper Mile would be con- 
sidered an '"unfriendly act." The Grey Declaration was, in effect, a 
veiled threat oE warl but it had no immediate deterrent effect on the 
French,'" Salisbury returned to office in 1895, and attempted to secure 
the Nile by pushing the construction uf a railway thr0ug.h East Africa, 
h-urn Mombasa to Lake Victoria. Although B million were eventually 
appropriated far this project, it would not be completed until 1901, long 
after colonial control of the Nile bad been resolved in Britain's favor.17 

Meanwhile, a secand French expedition was dispatched to central 
Ahica, with orders to seize the Upper Nile, Placed under Gomman- 
dant jean-Baptist Marchand, a soldier with much African experience, 
this expedition arrived at Loango on July 24, 1896. Because of civil dis- 
orders in the Congo, which rvlarchand had to put down, he and his col- 
ulliln of 128 Senegalese soldiers and staff of Europeans were unable to 
leave for the interior until January 1897. They traveled up the Ubangi 
Rivcr and then followed the M'Bornu River, which, thanks to heavy 
rains, was navigable for a distance of almost 300 miles. Taking the 
Faidherbe, the upper U'bangi post-boat, they sailed as far as the 
M%omu catauacts, beyond which lay 125 miles of unnavigable river. 
They then dis~nantlcd the boat and pr~rtered it to the S~teh River, an 
affluent of the Bar el Ghazal, Marchand finally reached Fashoda on 
July 10, 1898, where he raised the French tricolor. By thc sttzn&rds of 
the day, he and his men had aceo~nylished a remarkable feat by tra- 
versing 2,000 miles of jungles and swamp in a year and a half.'Thls 
extraordinary journey across the then largely unexplored center of 
Ahica made Marchand an installt hem in France but the detested sym- 
bol of colonial interloping in Great Britain. 

Unfortunately far Marchand and France, a co~nbined Anglo-Egypt- 
ian force of 25,000 men under General Sir Horatio Kitchener was cau- 
tiously but steadily moving up the Nile toward Khartoum. Kitchener's 
expcditiomry force represented a shaq  reversal of Britain's previous 
policy of abandoning the Sudm. The decision to invade and destroy 
the Mahdist state was primarily driven by the growing ~islc of a French 
seizure of the Upper Nilc and the serious consequences that actian 
would hold for Britain'f vital interests in Eupt.  The seriousness uf the 
French threat was all too obvious to Salisbury and his government. 
Like the British, the French had organized a pincer movexnent on the 
river, but this one was co~xing from the east and west, While Mar- 
charzd was marching toward the river from the west, a separate expedi- 
tion was sent out from Ethiopia aftcr cornplex and frustrating negotia- 
tions with Menelik. However, the emperor played a crafty double 



garae with the French by feigning support for their plans while se- 
cretly entering into an entente with the khalifa. 

Mcnelik's viGtory at Adowa and peace treaty with the Italians 
strengthened his standing with European states and enabled him t r ~  
foster Ethiopia's role as an indigenous colonial power. At the same 
time, he made peaceful overtures to the khalifa, drawing on their mu- 
tual interest in deterring European colonialism, His laajor ctlncern be- 
tween mid- 1 X96 and 1898 was possible British aggression against 
Ethiopia. As Sanderson noted, he fearcd "that the subjugation. of 
Ethiopia was the ultimate objective of British action in north-east 
Africa.'We therefoue saw a Mahdist victory against Ritehener on the 
Mile as his best insurance for preventing Brirish aggression against 
Ethiopia, Yet he had no desire to gratuitously antagonize the British, 
with whom he would have to deal in the event of their victory over 
the khalifa. As a consequence, his entente with the Mahdist state con- 
sisted of little more than a declaration of good intentions and some 
vague expressions about fostering trade; it was devoid of any c m m i t -  
ments that would pravokt the British.'" 

For their part, the British were extremely concerned about Mene- 
lik's suspicions of them and about French and Russian inauence at his 
cowt, They were also greatly troubled over his iriendl y contacts with 
the khalifa and the possibility that he might supply the Mahdists with 
arms and ammunition for the upcoming military confrontation (In the 
Mile, Salisbury recognized the immediacy of the need to neutralize 
Menelik as a passible ally or arms supplier to the khalifa, For this rea- 
son and to counter French influence at Menelik" court, he sent James 
Rennell Rodd to Addis Abaha in April 1897. Rodd negotiated a secret 
treaty with Menelik, in which the latter agreed nut to ship arlns to the 
Mahdists. In return, Ethiopia was granted duty-free privileges at the 
British Somaliland part of Zeila and recognition of its claim to the 
vast Somali-populated Ogaden region, based un the principle uf effec- 
tive occupation. That the British gave Menelik such favorable territor- 
ial and economic concessions in this treaty demonstrated the strength 
of their desire to keep him out of political and military events along 
the Nile. Despite Rodd's strong assurances that the British had no dc- 
sire to subjugate Ethiopia, Mcnelik remained suspicious of them, sus- 
tained in his view by Russian and French representatives at his c c ~ u r t . ~ ~  

When Rodd signed the Anglo-Ethiopian Treaty on, May 14, 1897, he 
had no idea that Mcaelik had concluded the Convention pour le Nil 
Blanc (the White Nile Treaty) with the French barely tw t~  months be- 
fore. In this treaty, Menelik aqeed to provide assistance to any French 
expedition approaching the Nile from the Ease, and France recognized 
Ethioyian sovereignty on the right bank of the river. Menelik was 



scarecly in a position to deny a French request of this kind because 
France had provided significant military and diplomatic support dur- 
ing Ethiopia's recent war with Italy, He had no interest in pressing 
Ethiopian claims along the eastern bank of thc Nile, as this would 
have unnecessarily provoked both Britain and the Mahdist state. Yet 
Menelik needed to rxaintain close relations with the French as a foil 
against possible British aggressic~n.~~ 

As part of its effort to secure the Upper Nile, the French govern- 
ment sent the governor of its Solnali coast colony, Lkonce Lagarde, to 
Addis Ababa in 1897. He successfully negotiated thc Convention pour 
le Nil Blanc, which he and Menelik signed cln March 20. Despite the 
terms of the treaty, Mcnelik had absolutely no intentions of fostering 
French advances on the Nile, He knew that the French could offer him 
little in the way of military protection in the event that their activi- 
ties on the Mile resulted in conflict with the Mahdist state. Therefore, 
to ensure Ethiopia" independence and to prolnrlte its own colonial in- 
terests, he played a shrewd political game of secretly cooperating with 
all sides while publicly committing to none. Thus, he almost simulta- 
neously s iped  secret treaties with France and Britain while entering 
into an entente with the I~hal ifa .~~ 

The French sent out two exp~ditilons from Addis Ababa in 1897 for 
the purpose of joining up with Marchand 013 the Nile, The first of 
these was placed under the command of Captain Clc-lchette, whose 
death in Ethiopia on August 27 would lead to the expedition's col- 
lapse." A second expedition was later organized by Christian de Ban- 
champs and Cabriel de Bonvalot, under the auspices of the French 
Ministry of Public Instruction. This sponsorship was intended to dis- 
guise the expedition as a scientific one organized fur the purpose of 
ethnographic and natural history research. In. ctrder to absolutely en- 
sure the camouflage of this political mission, an entomologist, 
Charles Miehel, a mining engineer, Lkon Bartholin, and a landscape 
painter, Maurice Potter, were assigned tn it." Unfortunately for 
France, the expedition was plagued from the start by less-than-enthu- 
siastic support from. Lagarde, who was resentf~zl because he had no di- 
rect control over it, and by logistical support problems exacerbated by 
sabotage on the part of the Ethiopians, wha feigned support for thc en- 
terprise. Menelik had no wish to see the mission succeed, for if it did, 
it held the potential for draging him into an unwanted conflict with. 
the Mabdist state, his bulw;tuk against possible British aggression. 

Lagarde was an extremely vain Inan, who was furious that Paris had 
given him no authority over the Bonchamps-Bonvalot mission, He ex- 
pressed his anger over this decision by leaving Addis Ababa before 
Bnnvalot arrived. Hr~wever, on his way down to the coast, Lagarde Inet 



Bonvalot and quickly got into a heated argulnent with him, Bc~nvalot 
knew that the mission stood little chance of success without Lagarde's 
diplomatic support. Still, Bonvalot traveled on to Addis Ababa, where 
he insightfully concluded from his encounters with Menelik that the 
Ethiopians were less than enthusiastic about supporting the expedi- 
tion. He therefore returned to France, leaving Bonchalnps in cbargcS2' 

Bonchamps was optimistic that the expedition could succeed. He 
eventually marched out of Ack3is Abaha with @&S and a letter of in- 
troduction to the dejnzmaclrr [commanded Tcssama, governor of the 
western province of Core, Mcnelik" instructions to Tessama were to 
both cooperate and obstxuct. This was expressed through delayed sup- 
plies, incolnpelcnt guides, indifferent locd officials, and goners who 
disappeared. 

After four months in the field, Bonchamps returned to Addis Ababa 
to solicit Menelikk intervention, He was joined by Itagarde, who was 
ordered by Paris to speak with the emperor, Menelik was sympathetic 
and understanding and profusely apologetic for the incompetence and 
negligence of his provincial officia1s.l" 

Bonchamps again marched out of Addis Ababa, slightly more hope- 
ful and with instructions from Lagasde to plant the French tricolov on 
the western bank of the Nile and the Ethiopian flag on the eastern. He 
was alstl told to avoid all contact with the Mahdists. While Tessalna 
became more cooperative, the expedition was instructed by Menelik 
to rnarch along the left jsout-hj hank of the Sobat River, which was far- 
thest removed from Fashoda and covered by swalnps and traversed by 
several tributaries. This decision proved fatal to the small, poor1y 
equipped expedition, as Mcnelik hoped it would. Bonchamps and his 
men only managed to get to the confluence of the Bare and Adjouba 
Rivers, which mark the beginning of the Sobat, in December 1897. 
They were some 90 miles from Eashoda, but! afflicted by disease, 
hungcr, and the seasonal flooding of the area, they had to turn back on 
January 1, 1898, again as Menelik had hoped they 

In March 1898, Tessarna was instructed by Menelik to lead a recon- 
naissmcc party down the Sobat because he was worried about possible 
British moves into the area from the south. The region was reputed to 
hold rich gold deposi.t.s, and for this reasan, Mcnelik wanted to lay 
claim to it, While Boncbamps returned to Addis Ababa seeking in- 
structions, a boat that had never materialized, and supplies, two mem- 
bers of his expedition, M. Paivre and Mauricc Patter, went along as 
Tessama" s e s t s .  

Faivre and Potter persistently urged Tessama to move ctn to the Nile 
instead of following a znore southerly route toward the region of Lake 
Rudolf," They were finally successlul in illducing him to allow a fly- 



ing colu~nn of arrned rnen to gct down thc Sobat River t r ~  the Nile, 
While Tessama remained behind with the bulk oE his army, one of his 
lieutenants led 800 men down the Sohat, Faivrc and Potter accompa- 
nied the groupr as did Russian Colonel hrtamanoff and several Cas- 
sacks. They left Tessama on May 18, 1898, and reached the Nile on 
June 22, seventecn days before Marchand passed the same point on his 
way to Fashnda, Colonel &tarnanoff and two of his Cossacks, in a dis- 
play of Franco-Russian solidarity, swam to the left bank of the Nile 
and planted the French tricolor (there were no available boats). Mcan- 
while, the Ethiopians hoisted their flag on the right bank. Franec's at- 
tempt to lay claim to the Upper Nile now consisted of a makeshift tri- 
coior Ruttering ahove a lonely stretch of the river. Marchand would 
reinforce this claim a short time later, installing himself at Fashuda, 
some 60 miles downstream from the Sobat-Nile ~ondluence.~" 

The highland Ethiopians refused to remain in these swampy law- 
lands. Out of fear of encountering the Mahdists and despite repeated 
pleas by Faivre and Potter, they left the flags and headed toward 
Ethiopia. The small expedition of Ethiopians, Frcnchmcn, and KUS- 
sians rejoined Tessalna on A u a s t  5, 1898, almost three ~nnnths after 
having left him? 

In terms of scientific accomplishments, the Boncharnpwclxyedition 
was a great success. It rnapped a large, unexplored area to the west of 
Ethiopia, collected many natural history specimens, and produced de- 
tailed descriptjons of regions largely rrnlrnown to outsiders,31 Yet it 
had fallen far short of its political aim, which was to establish a mean- 
ingful French presence on the river. Menelik was not unhappy about 
this turn of events since he had demonstrated sufficient gaodwilI to- 
ward the Ereneh to reap political benefits if they were suecesshf. At 
the same time, he had avoided any unpleasant entanglements along 
the Nile that might have jeopardized Ethiopia in the cvcnt of either a 
British or Mahdist vicmry in the Sudan, 

Of far greater concern to Meaelik than French attempts to clailn the 
Upper Nile was the possibility of a British move from the south. This 
posed an obvious threat tct his designs on the lands around Lake 
Rudolf. In 1897 and early 1898, he was fully prepared to m e t  the 
British with force in this area so as to preserve Ethiopia" iindepen- 
denec and imperial expansion." His willingness to militarily confront 
the British was in part the result of his having successfully defeated 
the Italians; it also stemrned frorx the rxistaken belief that Britain had 
in effect launched a cs~nverging invasion intent on destroying both the 
Mahdist state and Ethiopia, Menelik eventually changed his foreign 
palicy following Kitchener's dramatic victory over the Mahdist state, 
Eschewing military confrontation, he then opted for a diplomacy 



based on the principle of effective occupation, in which he believed he 
held the upper hand. 

Znexeasingly concerned by rep0rt.s of Marchand" expedition to the 
Nile, Lord Salisbury resolved to send an expedition from Uganda to 
the ZTppcr Nile.'The man chosen to lead it was Major Tames Ronald 
Macdonald of the Royal Engineers. Macdonald, who was thirty-five 
years old at the time, had already had a brilliant military career in In- 
dia and much African experience, He had served as the chief engineer 
fox the preliminary survey for the Uganda Railway in 1891-1892 and 
as acting commissioner for the Uganda Protectorate in 1893." 

Macdonald was asked to submit to Lord Salisbury plans for an expe- 
dition to the Upper Nile in April 1897. Salisbury kept both the trea- 
sury and ~nost  of the cabinet in the dark about the expedition" true 
purpose. Qn the surface, the expedihsn was to explore the sources of 
the Juba fiver, In reality, Macdanald was instructed to lnove up the 
eastern bank of the Nile to just below the tenth parallel, which would 
take him into the area (tf Fashoda. Sanderson summed up the expedi- 
tion's purpose by quoting Lord Salisbury" s a c  to Macdonald: "'Secure 
the allegiance of the chiefs by presents and the grant of the British flag 
. . . secure the territories in question against other puwexs." Xn other 
words, Macdonald was to " stetzlte clair-uls by rxeans of treaties. 35 

Macdonald" second in colnmand was Herbert Henry Austin, a 
thirty-year-old captain who had served with him in India and on the 
Uganh Railway survey. Austin was horn in Burma on June 1, 1868, 
the second son of Colonel Edrnund Austin of the Indian arrny, He was 
ecfucated at Glifton College and then at the Royal Military Academy 
at Woolwich, where he was com~xissioned as a second lieutenant in 
the Royal Engineers on February 2, 188'7, He then went on to the 
School of Military Engineering at Ghatham, Rent, where he spent two 
years. Hc first met Macdanrafd on the northwest frontier of India in 
1889 and wurkcd under him on a nuxnber of railway surveys. Austin 
got on extremely well with Macdonald, whct, in 1891, offered him a 
place on the Uganda Railway survey. Once this work was completed, 
Austin returned to India tr3 serve as a district engineer. During that 
time, he participated in the Waziristan Expedition of 1894-1895 and 
the Tochi Valley Expedition of 1895-1 8YG,36 

Once assigned to lead a column up the Nile hum Uganda, Maedon- 
ald immediately asked Austin to join him. The publie was told that 
the Juba Expedition was to explorc the sources of the Juba River, 
which in reality are several hundred miles from the Nile. 'Yet those in 
the know were well aware that these sources had already been previ- 
ously charecd by Vit.torio Bottego in 1893. The true purpose of the 
~nission was to head off Marchand and his men, Austin later surnrna- 



rized this in his unpublished ~nernc~irs: "The Macdonald Expedidon, 
consisting clf nine British officers, arrived at Mombasa from England 
early in July, 185'17, with sealed ordcrs to forestall, if possible, the 
French experlition known to be bound for Fashoda from the west un- 
der Marchand."" The reason for the secrecy about the true ohective of 
the expedition was to prevent both the French and thc mhciists from 
learning about it, 

Macdonald's party mnsisted of 9 British officers, ,500 porters, 30 
Sikh sepoys, 300 pack aniznals, and 25 twa-wheeled Indian bullock 
carts, The group left the railhcad on July 22, which then was but a 
short distance inland, and moved west toward Uganda with 2,000 
loads of supplies." Their arrival in Uganda in September coincided 
with. a revolt by Sudanese sclldiers who had been settled there by Fred- 
erick Lugard in 1891. The soldiers' principal grievance was poor pay, 
but the rumor that Macdonald was going to forcc them to light their 
Moslem brothers to the north also incited them to rebel. Before long, 
other discontented elements in Uganda joined them. As a resujt, Mac- 
donald had to delay the start of his lnissian to tke Nile by several 
months. It was not until April 1898, after he had put down the rebel- 
lion, that he was able to head for the Upper Nile.'" 

Menclik had reason to be concerncd about a British expedition to 
the Tuba headwaters since he considered them to be in Ethiopian terri- 
tory. With Kitchener moving up the Nile and Macdonald coming from 
the south, it seemed plausible to him that a pincer movement against 
Ethiopia was under way. The British, in fact, had no intentions of an- 
nexing Ethiopia, but this was scarcely credible to Menelik in 1898. In 
order to check Macdomldis possiblc advance into Ethiopian-claimed 
territory, he had sent out Dejazmach Tessa~na in March f 898, ~noving 
toward the Sobat-Nile confluence. This was the ~ourney that enabled 
the Frenchmen Faivrc and Patter, who were part of the Bonchamps 
mission, to plant the French flag on the Nile. Menelik heightened his 
rhetoric in Addis Ababa in an attempt to keep the British out of 
Ethiopian-claim& territory. Regarding Macdonald, he remarked, "fill 
send out Rns [prince] Wolda Giorgis with 20,000 men-they can cheek 
his passport.'lm 

Salisbury was extrcxncly concerncd about avoiding unnecessary 
provocations with the Ethiopians at the crucial time when Kitchener 
was rapidly moving toward the heart of the Mahdist state. Such provtl- 
cations held the potenlial for jeopardizing the entire cnilitary cam- 
paign and Britain" hopes of securing the Upper Nile. Macdonald had 
received clear instructions to avoid contacts with the Ethiopians that 
could be misconsaued as hostile, Thus, Salisbury was ""dismayed and 
intensely irritated" when Macdonald decided to split his force in two 



and send Austin up to Lake Rudolf while he made for Fashnda. A 
British advance on Lake Rudolf not only belied repeated diplomatic as- 
surances to Mcnelik hut also ""might have brought about the dxcadcd 
clash with the Ethiopians at the very climax of the Nile ca~npaign."~l 

Macdonald sent Austin and surgeon-captain J.D. Ferguson up ta 
Lake Rudolf with a relatively small force of 180 men, They left their 
base at Save at Mount Elgon on August 1, 1898, and trekked towad 
the lalre* The lake was only 140 miles away, but Austin wisely decided 
to rnove northwad up the bed of the Turkwell River until it turned 
east, and from that point, he marched northeast across the dry scrub. 
This brought him and his men within sight (16 the lake on Aukwst 31, 
at a paint two-thirds up thc western shore." On seeing tkc lake, 
Austin wrote: "Early on August 31, through a gap in the hills, we saw 
the waters oE the lake shimmering in the morning sunlight . . . there 
before us lay this grand expanse of water, with no visible horizon 
north, south, or east.""4TTft night, as he sat outside his tent, Austin 
reflected on being on the shores of the lake: ""Tt was a full moon that 
night, and . . . looking across the lake, one felt at peace with all 
~nankind. . . . f had often longed to see Lake Rudolf, and my desire was 
now fulfilled. 

Austin and his men rapidly made ior the Orna delta, which they 
reached on Septe~nber 12. As they did so, they signed treaties with 10- 
cal chiefs and planted Union Jacks, activities that were purposely 
dclctcd from Austin and Macdonaid's accounts of the e x p c d i t i ~ n . ~ ~  
Austin suon discovered, tct his dismay, that the Ethiopians had re- 
cently invaded the Omo delta with a large military force. What he 
could not have koawn was that the head of this Ethiopian cqedition, 
Rns Wolda Giorgis, had also planted Ethiopian flags on the northern 
shore of Lake Rudolf on April 7. Gioqis and his men had not troubled 
to sign treaties with local chiefs; rather, according to Bhiapian prac- 
tice, they had decimated the countryside by foraging for fond and 
booty, Austin vividly described what he found north oE the lake: 

The Ai7yssinians had done their work thursu&ly. They had scoured both 
banlts of the river, carried away all thc cattle, goats, and shcep, cut down 
the crops, burnt the granal.les . . . and taken away captlve men, women, 
and children. The state of thosc who had escaped was pitiful in the ex- 
treme, as, in addition to their starving condition, they were also visited 
by an otltbrealc of smallpox. No food . . . was procurable herc, and as 
Rerre and the more northerly districts had also been laid waste, it was 
impossible to pmceed further." 

It was just as well that Austin did not proceed further since Giorgs 
had left behind a series of forts constructed by Lieutenant Alexander 



Xavieryerich Bulatovich, a Russian officer in the Imperial Guard who 
had accompanied this Ethiopian military in~asion.~'  Austin's X80 men 
were no match for Gior@sis army of solne 5,000 that had so recently 
decimated this region. 

On September 17, Austin started down the western shore of the lake 
to the Turkwell River and from there returned to his base at Save, ar- 
riving on Nczvember 12, 1898, after an absence of solne three and a 
half months." Macdonald's column only got as far north as 'T'c~rit, in 
what is now the southern Sudan, but in November it was forced to 
turn back beeause of insuff eient provisions. 

In terms clf scientific accomplishments, Austin's expedition pm- 
duced a detailed cnapping of the western and norlhern shores of: Lake 
Rudolf as well as a valuable survey of the Turkwell River and the 
lands it drained. This expedition also imparted two British, names to 
gcog~aphic fcatures of the lake. Austin named the large gulf: at the 
lake's nnr~rthwest corner Sanderson" Gulf, in honor of Sir Tho~nas 
Sanderson, the permanent undersecretary at the Foreign Office, who 
had been largely responsible fox helping Salisbury organize tbc Mac- 
donald Expedition. He also attached Fers;lsan% name to a small .gulf 
on the western shore, where, on their return, they had to battle 
the Turkana who were intent on stealing their transport aniznals and 
supplies, 

Austin signed some thirteen treaties on his trip to Lake Rudolf, al- 
though he cnade no rnention of them in either his book or his article 
describing the expedition, A.T. Matson cogently observed in the intru- 
duction to the 1073 reprint of Austin's book, ""There seems little 
doubt that Austin knew the government would not welcome a discus- 
sion of them [the treaties] in his boalc."@ Any lnelltion of the treaties 
arranged by either Macdonald ctr Austin was censored out of their re- 
ports and writings, Sanderson, in fact, rehsed Macdonald permission 
to pllblish a true account of the expedition and its purposes, called 
Uganda in Revrjlt, and Austin's book had to pass through. careful gov- 
ernment scrutiny and censorship before hc was able to sign a contract 
with his publisher on May 22, 1902.i0 

Although Salisbury was a dedicated imperialist, he was anxious 
about '"increasing Parliamentary and press crificism of his East 
African policies, which were providing the opponents of further costly 
and provocative colonial commitments with grounds for attacking the 

Auslinis book was finally published in 1903, the delay 
being due both to his subsequent preoccupation with a second expedi- 
tion to Lake Rudolf (undertaken in 1899-1900, when he reached the 
lake coming down from Omdurman in the Sudan] and to his having to 
deal with British government censorship efforts. Ironically, his book 



describing the second suecesshl expedition to Lake Rudolf appeared 
in 1902, a year before the one describing the first.:" 

In addition to his article in the Ceographicnf @unlc?l, Macdonald 
wrote four afficial rqorts  on the Tuba Expedition, which contained no 
material that would have led to either parliamentary or press criticism 
of Salisbury's policies in Africa. These policies had already corne un- 
der attack as excessively costly and unnecessarily provocative at a 
time when the government was already overstretched in its c m m i t -  
rnents in South Africa and elsewhere," "Salisbury and Sanderson were 
concerned not only about criticism of their colonial policies but also 
about Macdonaldk negative comments regarding inept British officials 
in Uganda, As a result, they effectively banned Macdonald" smanu- 
script and heavily ccnsc.,red his other writings. Aware of the fate of 
MacdonaM" manuscvipt, Austin probably crafted his so as to avoid 
mention of facts that would cause the government to respond in a 
similar fasl-rion. As a result, his book, Wth Macdmclld in Ugnnclrr, is 
very much a persona1 narrative.i4 

Austin's trip to Lake Rudolf was one of the mast important accom- 
plishmcllts of the Macdonald Expedition. Salisbury and Sanderson 
were clearly angry about Austin's thirteen treaties because, in 1898, 
they seemed to them irrelevant to their primary objective, which was 
to secure the Upper Nile. Yet in later years, these treaties gave Britain 
the upper hand in its negotiations with Ethiopia over the lake, for it 
was largely on the basis of Austin's cqedition that Britain was able to 
lay claim to Lake Rudolf, 

Macdanald was unsuccessful in heading off Marchand at Fashocta, 
X3y the time Marchand arrived there on July 10, 1 89SI Macdonald had 
barely stared for the st-~uthern Sudan. Yet Macdonald played a vital 
role in making Uganda move secure for Britain and thereby strength- 
ening its cantrol over the gent central Africm lakcs. 

On f eptemher 2, 1898, Kitehener made a triulnphal entry inta Om- 
durman, where the Mahdist army under the khalifa had made a last 
desperate stand. Although preoccupied with defending Omdurman, 
the khalifa had nonetheless dispatched two steamers up the river to 
route the French from Fashoda. Both had engaged the French but were 
forced to withciraw after suffering serious dnrnageSs' The captain of one 
of these steamers, the 'i'nMgia, arrived back at O~ndttrman much re- 
lieved that Kitchener was now in charge since he would otherwise 
have been severely punished by the kbalifa for his military failure. 
The captain told Kitchener of his military engagement with unidenti- 
Aed white men at Fashuda. Kitchener had no doubts about who they 
were and immedia~ly  went up the Nilc in farce an the steamer DirL 
escorted by four gunboats.'" 



Anchoring 12 miles downstreax~ from Fashoda, Kitehener sent 
Marchand a letter informing him of the khalifs's defeat, Marchand 
promptly replied, not only congratulating XCitchener on his victory but 
also inforxning him that he had signed a treaty un September 3 with 
the local chiefs, placing the entire avea under French protection. 
Kitchener then sailed closer to Faskzoda and invited Marchand aboard 
the Dal. The two men exchanged gifts and fortunately toolt an instant 
liking to one another. Kitchener's fluency in French was clearly an irn- 
paxtant asset in the delicate negotiatians that followed. 

After some initial confrontational verbal exchanges, both Marchand 
and Kitchener realized that this potentially volatile situation could 
not be resolved on the Nile but only by their respective governments, 
Marchand left Fashoda for Cairo on October 24, 1 898, so that he could 
directly communicate with Paris. Kitchener traveled to London later 
that month fox consultations, where he received a hcro's w & o ~ n e . ~ ~  

Riding un the tvave of popular good feelings aver the stunning vie- 
tary at Omdurman, the British press became hysterical about the 
French presence on the Uppcr Nile, The French press was no less re- 
strained, claiming that the British had abandoned the Sudan in f 885 
and that now the area around Fashoda and the Upper Nile belonged to 
France by right of first occupation. The palitical polcrnics reached a 
fever pitch during the first two weeks of October 1898, and for a time, 
it seemed that war would brealr out between Britain and France. 

Lord Salisbuy viewed the French occupation as illegal and ineffec- 
tive and put forth the right of conquest argument. He reasoned that 
Britain had conquered the Mahdist state and captured the capital, Qxn- 
dzxrman, and thus, by right, tlzG entire country was British." The 
French did not see lnattcrs that way at all. They claimed that Britain 
had abandoned the area fox many years, and according to the rules of 
colonial acquisition, the French could now stand on the right of first 
occupation. There were obviously ~nerits ta both argulnents, and 
Africans living in the affected areas today would cogently reason that 
neither the British nor the French had any right being thcre at all. 

Brit;ish public opinion was unanimous that the French must with- 
draw. French public opinion, on the other hand, was deeply divided, In 
addition, the French arlny was, at the time, seriorrsly split over the 
Dreyhs Affair, and thc navy was in deplorable condition," The French 
govevnment gradually came to the conclusion that it would be better 
to put pridc aside and come to an hanorabic compromise, 

On December 11, 1898, Marchand, who had ret~trned to Fashoda, 
lowered the French triculor according to instructions he had received 
from Paris." As British and French negotiators worked toward an 
agreement, Marchand firmly stated that he did not wish to return via 



the Nile to Cairo through British territory, for in so doing, he would 
appear to be little more than a British prisoner. Instead, he proptjsed 
returning via the Baro and Sobat Rivers and through Ethiopia. Eagarde, 
who was still in Ad&s Ababa as French alnbassador, asked far and ob- 
tained Menelik's permission, and, on December 13, 3898, Marchand 
and his men started on the long journey to Addis Ababa, where they 
arrived on Mareh 8, 12899, After a lnonth in the Ethiopian capital, 
Marchand left for Djibouti ctn the coast, arriving there on May 16. Two 
weelts later, he and his men disel~barked at Toulom and werc received 
in Paris as heroes," Although Marehand" rsnissian to the Nile repre- 
sented a French political failure, it nonetheless was one of the most re- 
maskaMe and courageous journeys ever undertaken across Africa. 

The French and British finally worked out a settlement, which be- 
came an additional declaration t s  the West African Convention signed 
on March 21, 1899, According to the terms of this treaty, France &an- 
dc~ned the Nile Valley but received territorial conecssions in re@ons to 
the west of the river." The Nile was now British from its source all the 
way to the Mediterranean, 
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Arthrzr DonaIdson Smith with a Xion shot at ItliJmil in 
Sc~mnliland, Julj? 18% (from Tklvrtgk Unknown African 
Countries, 2898, 
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J n  Orthodox "Pnvtnership 

Captain Alexander Xavieryevieh 
Bulatovich, circa 1899 (courtesy Prince 
and IJrhcess Arzdrd OubeIiani), 

lrropean colonial ex- 
pansion in East Africa 
coincided with the 

reemergence of Ethiopia as a 
powerful indigenous state. 
State formation in Ethiopia at 
this time involved the central- 
ization of power by a well-orga- 
nized and hierarchical military 
socicty, territorial expansion 
into lands beyond the Alnhara 
highlands, and both confmnta- 
tion and cooperation with Eu- 
ropean colonial interests,' Dur- 
ing this process, the Ethiopian 
Orl.hodox Church was a power- 
ful cultural and religious forcc 
in unifying the nation. It main- 
tained close iorlrral tics with 
the Coptic Church of Alexan- 
dria and, through it, with the 
rest of Orthodox Christianity. 

In April 1881, Menelik 
served the European powers 

with noticc that Ethiopia's legitimate boundaries extended to Mhax- 
tourn in the west and well to the south of Lake Rudolf,We fra~ned 
this c l a i ~ ~  within the context oE an irxedentist movement whose aim 
was to reunite all the lands that allegedly had once been part of previ- 
ous Ethiopian states, This late-ninctecnth-century Ethiopian irreden- 



tism eventually assu~ned the form of ~nilitary conquest as well as a 
Christianizing mission nu less zealous than that of European mission- 
aries, The territorial claims made by Menelik were exalr;gcratcd, as he 
well knew. However, they gave him a powerful bargaining position 
from which to negotiate with his European colonial. rivals." 

Under Mcnelik, Et-hiqia evolved iata an imperial state that drew 
lnuch of its wealth and power fi-nm the exploitation of conquered peo- 
ples. The agents of this policy were a warrior class ctf tens of thou- 
sands of well-armed men who had been trained in the use of Euro- 
pean-made weapons. When these warriors invaded the lands around 
Lake Rudslf, their objective was nothing less than the appropriation of 
all portable resources and the destruction of whatever they could not 
carry away.4 Their aim was not so much the occupation of land as its 
immediate exploitation and the future extraction of tribute "to en- 
hance the life of the leisure class.""T 

Late-nineteenth-century European travclers to Lake Rudolf gave nu- 
merous accurate accounts of the destructive effects of Menelik's 
armies on local. peoples, As Richard Pmkhurst noted, "The fact that 
the soldiers of forlner times were unpaid Incant that they were ohliged 
to lout whatever they required from the countries through which they 
passed,"'" The looting and predatory extraction of tribute did not end, 
however, once areas were brought under Ethiopian colonial contrt~l. 
Many (16 the administrators placed in charge of these areas were war- 
riors themselves who regularly launched plundering campaigns in or- 
der to acquire additional wealth and consumable products.' These sub- 
sequent campaigns and those launched earlier to seize the lands 
around Lalte Rudolf and elsewhere often resulted in famines and epi- 
demics that further decimated local populationseK 

The Ethiopians treated locally conquered peoples no better and of- 
ten much wmse than did their European colonial counteqarts, As a 
twentieth-century Ethiopian historian observed: "Paternalistic and ar- 
rogant, Abyssinians looked upon and treated the indigenous people as 
backward, heathen, filthy, deceitful, lazy, and even stupid-stereo- 
types that European colonialists cornmanly ascribed to their African 
subjects. Roth literally and symbolically, southerners became the ob- 
ject of scorn and ridicule. """ 

Ethiopian conquest led to the creation of black-upon-black colonial- 
ism, Thaugh fully recognizing this, some Ethiopian historians have 
put forth a well-rcasoned case that this colonialism was devoid of 
racism. They present convincing evidence that ct~nquered peoples 
could moss the culture-class divide into the Ethiopian mainstream by 
adopting Amharic custolns and Orthodox Christianity. This sharply 
distinguished Ethiopian colanialisr~ fro~n its European analog, in 



which the adoption of Western cultural and religious identities did not 
lead to full and equal acceptance by the white ruling class.I0 However, 
those who refused to surrender their ethnic and cultural affinities re- 
mained the victims of Ethiopian discrimination. Thus, the argument 
that Ethiopian colonialism was devoid of racism can only be applied 
in circumstances where conquered peoples opted for full assimilation. 

Late-nineteenth-century Ethiopia was characterized not only by its 
hierarchical warrior class but also by Orthodox Christianity. It was 
the latter that gave the Russians a point of entry for broad involve- 
ment in the country in the last two decades of the century. The Rus- 
sian agenda in Ethiopia was a complex one, consisting of colonial ter- 
ritorial ambitions, a desire for influence and access to riches and trade, 
dreams of solidarity between the Russian Orthodox Church and the 
Ethiopian Church, and the opportunity to use yet another stage on 
which to maneuver in the interests of big-power European politics. 

The Franco-Russian alliance in Europe drew the Russians to the side 
of the French in Ethiopia and elsewhere in this part of Africa. It also 
placed them in opposition to British colonial interests when they 
came into conflict with those of France, as in the Fashoda crisis of 
1898. The various elements of the Russian agenda in Ethiopia did not 
always function in concert or with the official sanction of the czar's 
government. Religious, Slavophile, and powerful commercial groups 
promoted unofficial contacts in Ethiopia, thereby eventually drawing 
their government into sending a semiofficial diplomatic mission to 
Menelik in 1895." 

The Russian mission was headed by Professor Alexander Elisseiv, a 
prominent explorer who had distinguished himself for his travels in 
North Africa. His third in command was Nicholas Stephanovic Leon- 
tiev, a scheming sociopath who was then a lieutenant in a reserve reg- 
iment. Although he was only thirty-four years old, Leontiev had al- 
ready left behind an impressive trail of gambling debts and confidence 
schemes and had embezzled his sister's inheritance. Born in 1861 at 
Kherson in Poltava Province, he was a member of the petty nobility, 
which gave him some access to those in positions of power. As a 
young man, he was tall, powerfully built, handsome, extremely intel- 
ligent, charming, and friendly, characteristics that enabled him to 
dupe many. Expelled from his army regiment for gambling debts, he 
set off for India and Persia, where he falsely passed himself off as an 
emissary of the Ministry of Finance while engaged in a variety of dubi- 
ous commercial dealings. 

Ever resilient, he returned to St. Petersburg, where, thanks to his 
friendship with the son of the editor of Novoe Vennja, he published a 
highly flattering account of his Asian travels. This in turn gave him 



access to the Russian Geographical Society, a sponsor of the Elisseiv 
mission, He was also able to insinuate himself with the Holy Synod oE 
the Russian Orlhodox Church and especially with its procuratar gen- 
eral, who was a pr~werful advocate of church expansion and pan-Slav- 
ism. Quickly sensing opportunities for himself, Leuntiev embraced 
the pracurator general" views and in so doing, secured Christian for- 
giveness far past transgessit~ns and a place in the Elissciv lnissic~n.~~ 

The initial purpose of the Elisseiv mission was to saund out Mene- 
lik about closer contacts between the two Orthodox churches, How- 
ever, this religious purpose was but a point of departure fclr inore am- 
bitious plans, which included poZitical, commercial, and military 
objectives. The lnission left Odessa on January 3, 1895, and disern- 
barked at Djibouti, where it was warlnly greetcd by the French gover- 
nor, En route to Addis Ababa, Elisseiv suffered heat exhaustion. while 
crossing the Danakil Desert and had to return to the coast, It was then 
that Leontiev assulned leadership of the expedition. He quickly up- 
graded everyone's title, including his own, prior to their arrival at 
Meaclik% court on March 23, 18555. He becarxe a colancl and a count; 
Father Ephnrei~ was made a bishop; and the physician, Dr. C, Zvi- 
agbin, was prmated to general. 

Rlfenelik was impressed with Leontiev" powerful and persuasive 
lnanner of speaking, but he was not deceived by his lies and fanciful 
boasting. Leontiev went too far when, a moxlth after his arrival, he 
prodrrccd a concocted letter from the czar. Although Menclik and his 
wife, Taytu, ilnmediately saw through this scheme, they crlntinucd to 
tolerate Leclntiev for their own political purposes. It was, after all, 
early in 189Sf and Mcnelik was anxious to cul"cvatc European support 
for his diplomatic efforts to prevent Italy froln lnaking further territo- 
rial incursions into Ethiopia. These effr3rts eventually proved futile, 
facing him to rnilitarily confront the Italians at Adowa a year later. 
But during the first half of 1895, he saw Russia as a potential ally, and 
thus he allowed himself to be blessed by Leontiev's '%bishopu while 
Abune Matewos, the head of thc Ethiopian Church, cringed on the 
sidelines. 

One (16 the ob~ectives of the sponsors of the Elisseiv mission was to 
bring about some kind of union bctween. the two Orthodox churches, 
This became apparent to Meaelik soon after LeontievJs arrival and was 
of concern to both him and Ethiopia's religious leaders. They knew 
that the czar claimed to be the protector and leader of all Orthodox 
Christians, including themselves. Since this was a claim they were 
unwilling to accept, they were vagwe in their response to the issue of 
religious uificatiun. However, Menelik was Inore open to Leontiev's 
suggestion that he send a diplomatic delegation to St- Petershurg, not 



because he sought unification of the two churches but out of a need to 
secure Russia's support in his struggle with Italy. Leclntiev pushed 
Menclik hard for sending this delegation since it would enable him to 
reach the pinnacle of Russian power, namely, the czar.I3 

Leontiev did not tell Menelik that be had no official authority to re- 
quest that such a mission be sent, nor did he bother to inform the 
Russian foreign ministry about it. Ever the skilled confidence artist, 
he waited until the mission had reached Cairo before sending word to 
the foreign Ininistry that it was on its way. The czar and his foreign 
~ninister had no choice but to allow the delegation to proceed. The 
bold and ct~nfident schemer was now on his way to meet the czar. 

On rune 28, 1895, the dclegation arrived at Odessa, carrying the 
Ethiopian Order of Solomon for the czar and gifts that included a 
crown, a gold cross, an illustrated manuscript of the Bible, and artifacts 
and jcwelry made horn gold, ivory, leather, and harm, Mcnelik also sent 
a personal letter to the czar, congratulating him on his recent marriage 
and accession to the throne, and Taytu sent a note to the czarina. 

The members of Meaelik's delegation occu~ied modcst positions in 
the imperial Ethiopian hierarchy, and Leonticv was seriously con- 
cerned that the czar would take offense at receiving such low-ranking 
representatives. So, as he had done before, he silnply promoted every- 
one to ranks ccrtain to impress the czar, Fitutari Damtew and Kenyaz- 
mach Genemye, who were army commanders, became generals and 
close relatives of the emperor, Belackcw was lnade a prince, and the 
priest, Gebre Egziaheher, was elevated to bishop. 

On orders from the czar, the government rolled out a glittering re- 
ception far the Ethiopians. They met with the leaders of the Orthodox 
Church and most: of the imperial grand dukes and were honored wests 
at banquets, parades, and religious ceremonies. Fillany, on July 13, 
they and Leontiev were ushered into the presence of Czav Mieholas 
and Czarina Alcxandra. Damtew presented the monarchs with the 
gifts from Meaeiiik and 'T'aytu and gave a speech in French that greatly 
impressed the imperial couple. Not to be outdone, Leontiev gave the 
czarina a colarful basket that he said had been filled with flowers by 
'T'aytu and carried on the head of a servant girt from the capital to the 
sea, This concocted tale came under suspicion even as Lconricv was 
telling it to the czarina, 

Nichofas and Mexandra then presented the members of the delega- 
tion with gifts and decorations, including the Order of St. Anna, sec- 
and class, and the Order of St. Stanislaw, third class. Nicholas also 
gave Darntew the Grand Cross of the Order (16 St. Anna for Menelik. 
Leontiev was a major beneficiary of this imperial audience since it 
gave him the credibility; authority, and respect he previously lacked. 



During the forty-three days they stayed in Russia, the Ethiopians re- 
ceived excellent press, largely due to Leontiev's shrewd public rela- 
tions campaign, But the cracks in his grand schelne began showing 
when one newspaper, Gmzdanin, questioned the ranks of thc dele- 
gates and told xeaders that the emeralds they had strewn left and right 
as gifts were really colored glass made in St. Petersbug, Quick on his 
feet, Leontiev said that he would respond to the allegations only after 
the Ethiopians had left Russia. 

However, other Russian newspapers, anxious to get scoops of their 
own about this highly publicized diplo~natic mission, began to un- 
cctver additional unpleasant details. They found that Leontiev bad 
tricd to get the mayor of St, Petcxsburg to pay for the costs of some of 
the gifts the Ethiopians presented to the czar and ezarina. They alsrl 
charged that he had made a commitment of Russian military assis- 
tance to Ethiapia in the czar's name but without any official a u t h -  
rization, They disclr~scd Lcomiev" unsavory past, aec~tsed him of 
falsely assuming the title of count, and clailned that he had tvied to 
get various Russian citics to fete the Ethiopians in the inlcxests of his 
own personal profit. Although the Bhiopians' public colnportlnent 
was beyond reproach, it was revealed that they drank 160 rubles wartb 
of chalnpagne every day, tke biggest drinker being "Bishop" '&re 
Egziabeher, who consurned two bottles for breakfast alone. 

As soon as these revelations began to pour out in the press, the fox- 
eign Ininistry lnoved to send the delegation back to Ethiopia. The en- 
tourage left not only with the gifts the ezar had given them hut alsrl 
with a consignment of rifles and ammunition and a cash credit for 
Menclik. Leontiev was allowed to accompany them as far as D~ibouti 
but was ordered to return immediately to St. Petershurg to answer the 
charges made against him. These charges were given additional cre- 
dence by Leontiev" Ethiopian interpreter, Redda, who relnained bc- 
hind in Rttssia out of fear of retributicln from Menelik, He told Grand 
Duke 'Vladimiu that Leontiev had promised Menelik f ia t  Russia 
would give him X 00,000 riflcs.14 

Meanwhile, Leonticv took his time returning to Russia in the hope 
that the scandal he had created would fade from view. He stopped in 
Paris, where he rnet Lkon Chefneux, a French arlns rnerchant who had 
previously represented French interests in Ethiopia and supplied 
Menelik with modern weapons and a m u n i t i o n ,  The purpose of 
Leontiev" visit with Ghefneux was to explore passibifitics in the pri- 
vate arms trade in Ethiopia. There was a fortune to be made selling 
e n s  and ammunition to Menelik since he had enormous ivory-based 
wealth with which to pay for them."" 



Leontiev finally returned to Russia and to a telnporary disgrace, 
from which he rapidly recovered, Through brtldaess and deception, he 
successfully gained audiences with the Italian arnhassadars in Paris 
and St. Petersburg, where he offered his services as mediator between 
Ethiopia and Italy before the Rattle of Adowa. Rebuffed by them, he 
set sail far Massawa in February 1896, just before the Battle of Adowa, 
claiming he was the head of a Russian Red Cross mission, He then 
asked the Italians for permission to cross their lines in order to give 
humanitarian aid to the Ethiopians. The Italians, on malring inquiry of 
thc Russian government, found that the two doctors Leontiev claimed 
were in his party were actually Cossacks with no medical training 
whatsoever and that the goup had no connection to the Russian. Red 
Crass. Denied transit, Leontiev took the long way around and arrived 
in Addis Abaka after the Ethiopian victory at Adowa, 

Menelik knew full well that Leontiev was a scoundrel. However, 
since he had found him so useful in the past, he now sought to use 
him to draw Russia closer to Ethiopia's side in peace negotiations with 
Italy. The sticking point in thc negotiations was Ita2yis insistence that 
Ethiopia never seek the protection of another power. Menelik refused 
to agree to this because it would have meant foreclosing passible h- 
ture alliances with other European powers. Because of Italian intransi- 
gence on this point;, he decided to reach out to Czar Nicholas as a pos- 
sible mediator. He wrote a letter to the czar and sent it to St. 
Petcrshurg with Ato Uosef, one of Lconricv's nhiopian companions, 
He then allowed Leollticv to escrtrt fifty Italian prisoners uf war to the 
coast to commemorate the czar's coronation. Leontiev and his Cos- 
sack companions, no longer masquerading as representatives of the 
Russian Red Cross, arrived at Djibouti, where they handed the prisan- 
ers over to Dr. Cesare Neuazzini, Italy's chief negotiator. 

Anxious to cxplait this humanitarian mission to the hllest, Lcon- 
tiev presumptuously co~n~nunicated news of it directly to King Hum- 
bert I ctf Italy, from whom he received no reply. However, Prime Mia- 
istcr Anmnio Di Rudini directed Neraazini to go to Ffjibouti to meet 
Leontiev and receive the prisoners, Their reports of LeontievJs many 
kindnesses to them on the trip to the coast only served to increase 
Italy" iindcbtcdness to him. Although he had not been officially desig- 
nated as such, Leontiev went to Rome and declared hilnself Menelik's 
ambassador to Italy. The prime minister had no choice but to meet 
with him, and during the discussions that followed, Leonticv pressed 
Meneiik's demand for the paylnent of an indemnity. 

Leontiev" star soon rose to new heights, He went on to Vicnna, 
where Gzar Nicholas arrived on August 27 with his foreign minister, 



Prince Lobanov. Now self-designated as Mcneliks speeial envoy to 
Russia, Leontiev was immediately received by the czar and Lobanov. 
He was invited by the czar to ride on the ilnperial train to Kiev and to 
join in meeting Ato Yasef, who was carrying Menelik's request for 
Russian mediation. 

Uniortrrnately for Leontiev, Italy soon dropped its demand and 
signed a treaty with Menelik on Octaber 20, 1896, thus negating any 
need for the tzar" mediation, However, Leontievk latest foray into in- 
ternational diplomacy had significantly bolstered his reputation, He 
had clearly demonstrated his great personal influence with Mcnelik 
and enjoyed the czar's favor since he had placed him in the respected 
position of internat.iona1 mediator between two wl i ing  parties. The 
competing colonial powers also knew that Menelilc was now in Lean- 
tiev's debt since the czar's willingness to serve as mediator repre- 
sented tacit Russian recognition of Ethiopian independence.l6 

When Leontiev returned to Ethiopia in late 1894, Menelik was fully 
prepared to reward him for his excellent services, He offered him the 
governorship of the newly established Equatoria Province adincent to 
Lake Ruddf. In so doing, Psfenelik was also scrving his own ends. He 
was awave of how well General Horatio Herbewt Kitchener was serving 
the khedivc of Ewpt in the Sudan, and he saw thc obvious advantages 
of having a Eurogean adrninisrer a frontier area that would suon he 
challenged by Britain." 

However, Leonticv was no Kitchener, and Mcnelik did not foresee 
the serious consequences of propelling solneone Like him into the 
swirl of colonial competition axaund Lake Rudolf. Although he knew 
that Leontiev was a brilliant schemer, he wrongly assulxed that he 
would be content to take up his post in a rerncjte area and sirnply enjoy 
the material rewards associated with it. As Menelik would soon dis- 
covcw, Leontiev was far too manipulative and devious to assume so 
straightforward a role. He had no sooner been appr~inted than he began 
to inveigle venture capitalists in Belgium, Britain, France, and Russia 
in a phony gold-mining scheme in his new province. He also stolced 
the faint hopes of some in Franec for gaining a foothold in the lands 
near the lalce*18 

Before Leontiev ever gat to Lake Rudolf, another Russian officer, 
Alexander Xavieryevich Bulatovich, travcled there with an Ethiopian 
army under the command of Xas Wolda Ciowgis, Bulatovich had first 
arrived in Ethiopia in April 1896, with a Russian Red Cross detach- 
ment of sixty-one men sent to provide ~nedleal care far Menelilrr" sol- 
diers following the Battle of Adswa." Like Leontiev, he was horn a no- 
ble Russian falnily, but there all similarity ended." Bulatovich was 
barn on October 8, 18'70, in Orel, to Major General Xavier Vikentye- 



vich Bulatovieh and Eugeniya Andreyevna. He was raised an the fam- 
ilyts estate, "Lutskovka,'?jn Markovskaya Volost, where he enjoyed 
all of the privileges of Russia's noble class. 

In 1884, Bulatuvieh entered the exclusive Alexandrovskiy Qceurn 
in St. Petersburg at the insistence of his very strong-willed mother. He 
graduated in 1891 and on Ime  9 of that year entered the Life Guard 
Hussar Regiment of the Second Cavalry Division, where he received 
the rank of ctlrrzet a short time later. He became an excellent fencer 
and was highly adlnired for his skills as a horseman. 

Bulatt~vich was assigned to the Russian Red Cross mission to 
Ethiopia ctn April 7, 1896, Although he had received a superb education 
in the hu~xlanities and was well trained in. military Ixlatters, he Itnew lit- 
tle about Ethiopia and its peoples. Because he was a serious scholar and 
a man of broad intellectual interests, he tried to remedy his lanmage cie- 
Aciencies by studying Amharie and Geez before his d~parture.~~ 

The Russian ~nission arrived in Djibouti on April 30, and on May 3, 
the group's leader, Major General NX. Shvedov, sent Bulatsvich to 
Addis Ababa at the head of an advance tearn. Brxlatovich. arrived there 
in record tilne and prepared the way for the entire mission, which 
reached Addis Ababa on July 24. The Russian Red Cross mission wen- 
&red valuable mediical service to the Ethiopians, a fact grudgingly ac- 
knowledged even by their British and Italian rivals. Bulatovieh him- 
self made a very positive impression cln Ptlenelik and other Ethiopian 
leaders, not only because of his military and medical skills but also be- 
cause of his integrity, honesty, and genuine interest in them and their 
country, 

IF3ulat.ovicl-l"~ arrival in Ethiopia following the Italian defeat at Ad- 
owa coincided with the rapid implementation of Menelik's foreign 
polky of colonial annexation of adjacent territories. As parr of this 
policy, Mcnelik was prepared to militarily confront the British in the 
south-that is, until he saw the results of the crushing power of Kitch- 
ener" war machine in the Sudan. But in 1896, the fall of the Mahdist 
staE was two years off. Flusficd with his victory over Italy, Mcnelik 
seriously believed that hc could militarily challenge the British. He 
had also come to realize that though effective occupation by his army 
could provide a strong hand in h t w e  border negotiations, possessing 
his awn maps drawn by Europeans would give needed scientif c credi- 
bility to his territorial claims, 

With a view toward consolidating his western frontier, nifenelik dc- 
eided to send an army toward the Baro River. He placed this army un- 
der the command of dejazmach Tessama, who, in 1898, would accom- 
pany the French on their failed attempt to secure thc Upper Nile, 
Menclik also invited Bulatovich tc.3 participate in this expedition and 



gave him a personal audience on November 9, the day before Bula- 
tovich left to ~o in  nssama. Following his retuxn three months later, 
Bulatovich made two other trips to explore the course of the Angar 
River and the valley of the Dideya. On all of these trips, he record& 
detailed geographic, anthropologic, and natural history observations 
that were among the finest made by Europeans in this part of hkica at 
that time. 

Menelik personally hosted a reception for Bulatovich ctn April 8, 
1897, after he returned from his travels, This distinct horror reflected 
the esteem and affection with which the Ethiopians held him. Of all 
the Europeans who had come to Ethiopia, he stood out as a deeply reli- 
gious man of impeccable inteaity and dependtthility, a m m  who had 
used his scientific skills to help them and nut to further any personal 
interests. Bulatovich left Africa on May 2 but promised Menelik that 
he would soon return.'2 

In St. Petersburg, his work. with the Red Cross ~nission was recog- 
nized by a promotion to the rank of lieutenant and receipt of the Order 
of St, Anna, third class, While at home, Bulatovich wrote a book de- 
scribing his year of travels in Ethiopia. Published in Sept-ember 1897, 
this volume not only chronicled his travels but also presented valu- 
able information on Ethiopia" history, government, commerce, mili- 
tary, land tenure, peoples, and religious beliefs. Although he was not 
an anthxopologist by training, he had the instincts of one and was 
dxiven to record the p e ~ l e s  he observed and their customs out of an 
awareness that their world was in a state of rapid transition and would 
soon disappear." There were defining characteristics about the 
Ethiopians that appealed to Bulatovich. Among these were their mili- 
tary tracfitions and their Orthodox Christianity. Although he tried to 
be objective in his descriptions of them and the peoples they con- 
quered, his perceptions were strongly influenced by Ethiopian values, 
Inany of which he e~nbraced. 

On October 17, 1897, Buiatovich returned to Addis Ababa as part of 
a Russian diplomatic lnission to Ethiopia. He was soon invited to join 
the arlny of Xas Wnlda Gictrgis, the governor of Kaffa, whrt was or- 
dered to ""establish a foothold at Lake R ~ d o l f . " ~  "tablishing 
Ethiopian authority at the lake meant invadivlg large aweas outside the 
historical boundaries of predecessor highland Christian states. 
Though he condemned European colonialism for its disregard of the 
rights and interests of indigenous peoples, Bulatovich presented Mene- 
lik's iidentical actions as "carrying out the traditional mission of 
Ethiopia as the propagator of c u j t ~ r e . " ~ ~  

Bulatovich left Addis Ababa for soutbwestexn Ethiopia on January 8, 
1898, with a retinue of thirty men, Twelve days later, he entered Kaffa 



Province, where Glorgis was lnustering an arlny at his provincial capi- 
tal of Andaracha, There, he shilwed Giorgis the map he had brought, 
masked in Amharic, and instructed him in the concept of degrees of 
latitude and longitude. Giorgis, who was literate in Amharic, quickly 
understood the great distances involved, and like most of his men, he 
was greatly worried about venturing into lands completely unknown 
to any living Ethiopian, As Bulatovich later wrote: 

He had been ordered to subdue and annex . . . the huge territory which 
lies among Kaffa, Lake Albert, and Lake Rudolf from two degees nortla 
latitude, and, while dczing this, to clppose any other force which might 
have a simiXar intention, . . . Provision for the troops could only bc sup- 
plied by way c ~ f  requisition. . . . The Empemr Menelik, demanded that the 
Rus complete the task given to him this very year,'" 

Meaelik had confided information about this invasion to Ciorgis, 
one of his ablest and most: trusted generals, who had originally been 
the head of his personal guard. After several years of service in that ca- 
pacity, Gior@s was promoted to dejnzmach and finally given the rank 
of ms.27 On Fcbr~lary 2, 1898, GiorCl;is marched out of Andaracha at the 
head of an army of 16,000 men. During the weeks of preparation, he 
and Bulatovich dcvetoped a close personal relationship that would he 
sustained throughout the dt~ration of the expedition.18 

Giougis's troops felt great trepidation about entering lands none of 
them knew. They also considered Bulatovichk presence as a bad ornen 
since they believed that they. were being lcd to fight against the En- 
glish on his behalf." Yet they obediently followed Giol@s into the un- 
known out of 1oy;tlt.y to him and to their emperor, Despite its size, 
this arlny was, for the lnrlst part, strictly disciplined under a hierarchy 
of officers subordinate to Ciorgis. Cior@s himself traveled with an es- 
core of retainers, guards, a library, a medicine chest, and a telescope," 

On February 15, they calne to the Oyma River valley, a rich agicul- 
tuxal area outside the borders clf Ethiopia. I3y now, Giorgs's army had 
swollen to 30,000 men, who had to provision themselves horn the 
lands through which they passed. Giurgis sent word ahead to the pea- 
ple in this valley that if they submitted, they and their property would 
not be touched. Such assurances were scarcely credible since this 
ariny had to live by confiscating all the grain it ct~uld lay its hands on, 

The eveni~~g before the invasion, Bulatovich climbed a mountain 
overloolring the valley and described the scene below: 

As far as the eye can see, the valley and hills were densely settled. Srnolte 
arose from the laouses. . . . Cattle were returning from the pasture, and 
the sight of rnarveltllrrs white cows aroused the appetite of my travefing 
companicms. . . . The quiet hard-working life of a peaceful people was evi- 



dent in all, and it was sad to thinlc that tomorrow all this wc~ulcl be de- 
s t r~yed,  The pict~lre will change; the inhabitants will flec, driving their 
livestock and carrying their goods and children, They will, must proba- 
bly, be lctlled, wo~mdcd, and captured, Their houses will go up in a blaze, 
and all that will remain of thern will be the l ~ e ~ r t h s . ~ ~  

The following day, as Giorgis" hoards rushed into the valley, the 
"populace was . . . in full flight.'"2 Bulatovich graphically recorded 
what happened next: 

The R a s b r ~ n y  poured into the valley, where they scattered in various di- 
rections, rushing to replenish their supplies. Any plvhibiticln would he 
untl~inkable and fruitf ess, since the whole provisianing system af the 
campaign depended (In such commandeering. . . . Soon all trailis that led 
to our stopping place were covered with soldiers who were heavily loaded 
d ~ w n . ~ '  

Bulatovich atte~npted to describe the ethnic groups his Ethiopian 
hosts were pillaging and to provide some information about their way 
of lifc. However, he was Obviously limited in this effort by the fact 
that his encounters with these groups took place while they and their 
way of fife were being destroyed. Assuming an Ethiopian perspective, 
he grouped lnost of these peoples under the general rubric Shuro, 
which means black in the language of the Elaffae3"y contrast, his de- 
scriptions of the army with which he was traveiing and its bellavirzr 
under varied circtrmstmces were extremely reliable and detailed. 

Although this arlny was well organized and generally disciplined, 
Cioqis and his commanders were often unable to stop the massacres 
once they began because "a thirst for blood and cnurder" overtook the 
troops.t%nd on occasion, forzt soldiers ~nisunderstood the peaceful 
overtures of local peoples and shot thern as a result. One such misun- 
&rstan&ag occurred near the Kori River, and Bulatovich later vividly 
wrote about Ciorgis's reaction when he arrived on the scene. ""The 
commander-in-chief was deeply grieved by what had taken place, He 
practically wept from compassion and rode silently covering his facc, 
. . . The officers who were accompanying him were also upset. It was 
distressing and disagreeable to all of 

Bulatavich kequently intervened to prevent the Ethiopian soldiers 
horn lcillilzy: their prisoners. Yet in the frenzy of an attack, these men 
often lost control and ""seerned drunk with lrilling and the sight of hu- 
man blood.'":' They sometilnes competed with one another far pride of 
place in killing villagers and invariably returned with the testicles of 
their male victims as tr~phies.~" 

Once Ciorgis" arlny entered the kingcs of the Omo River valley, 
Bulatuvicl.l's acccjunt became a continuous recitation of butchery and 



pillaging, He described these events with lnixed emotions, fn sorne 
circumstances, his training as a soldier prevailed, and he framed his 
assessments within the context- of military necessity. Yet in others! hc 
was generally appalled by what he saw and tried to stop it. As a guest 
of this army, he had little control over its actions, and he was torn by 
his sense of loyalty to his hosts and pity for their innocent victims, 
Nonetheless, he did not shrink froln providing vivid descriptions of 
the Ethiopian massacres: 

Thc winner seizcd his victirn by thc hair and slit his throat with. the cus- 
tomary dexterclus motion of the saber. . . . The sight of the bodies with 
enormous wo~mds was horrid, There were practically none of them 
which did not have the galping wounds of saber strokes, since natives who 
were shot alznost always also had their throats slit by saber. . . . Most of 
them [the men] returned with trophies of victory [the genitals of their 
victims]. . . . They showed no mercy, not only to men, but also to ani- 
mals, The cavses of anirnzlls with slit throats lay all about the roatd in 
masses.3Y 

Whatever the range of his attitudes, Bulatovich was a ~neticulous 
observer who recorded these experiences in detail as to date and place. 
He was also unique in that hc was the only European to document 
events from. the Ethiopian side. Givcn his integrity and rimsous sehol- 
arship, it is no surprise that his accounts corroborated the reports of 
other European travelcrs, such as Austin, Battego, Cavcndish, and 
Smisb, who observed the devastation caused by Ethiopian ~nilitary ex- 
peditions. Menelik and other Ethiopian leaders could not have been 
happy with Bulatovichk book about his trip to Lakc Rudolf. Yet hc 
placed recounting the truth above pleasing his hosts. 

On March I I, Clorgis decided to form a detachment of only 5,664 
men h r  a quick trip down the Omo Rivcr valley to Lakc Rudolf, The 
rainy season was ahc~ut tc-I begin, and he was anxious to sectlre the 
mouth of the river for the emperor. Leaving most of his men. at Kolu 
(called Crrllo by EtottegoJ on the Omo, be, Bulatovich, and the small 
detachment set out on March 16. En route, they received repore of 
Europeans in the area, whom the local peoples referred to as 
pcfiumbn [itinerants). They wcre said to have come from the cast and 
were hut a day's mareh away." Since there were nu European expedi- 
tions in the area at that time, i t  is likely that these visitors were 
coastal traders from Zanzibar on an ivory-collecting trip.'" 

Giorgis now had little time to spare. Hc therefore decided to head 
for the 0 m 0  delta and the northern shore of Lake Rudolf and leave 
conquest of the lands beyond to thc following year.'%s they trckkcd 
south, hc lcept aslting Bulatavich when they would arrive at Lake 



Rudolf and teased him by saying, ""God @ant that we soon give birth 
to your laltc."4z Finally, on April 7, 18912, they came in sight of the 
lake: "About eight o'clock in the morning, tkc surface of the fake 
shows in the distance. Here, finally, is the cherished goal of our expc- 
dition, Soldiers greet the lung-awaited lake with joyous cries.'"4 A 
week later, they ceremoniously raised a silken Ethiopian tricolox atop 
a 28-foot-tall pole set in a pile of stones, Bulatovieh vividly described 
the pageantry of the evening ceremony: 

The detachment formed up . . . in front of the fl;zg, . . . With his face to the 
lake, stood the commander-in-chief and his suite, and behind them the 
drummers, fiutists, and pipe players. The Ras took a gun in his hands. Alf 
became quiet. . . . In frtlnt, the lake glistened, that same lrrng-wished lake, 
to which we for SO long and steadfastly had striven . . . and against this 
background the front c)f the Ai3yssinian army stood out brightly. Tke silk 
shirts shone, the anixnal hides, the gofril and silver decorations, and 
Abyssinian flags fluttered. Finally, a shot rang out, and five thousand 
w n s  saluted thc new dornain of Menelik and . . . erected his flag. They 
beat drums, bfew an pipe% and brolte out in military songs, Moved, Ras 
Wofda Giorgis embraced me, and 1, warmly, and with feeling! ceongratu- 
fated him.43 

Despite this snolnent of sole~nn ceresnony, Giorgis's snen soon re- 
sumed their raiding and pillaging as they made their way narth again. 
While in the Omo delta, Giorgis" Kullo mercenaries raided a village, 
leaving among the survivors a three-year-old boy whom they brutally 
castrated. Bulatovich adopted this boy and took him back to Russia: 

They brou&t me a small boy, abandoned by his parents and ternkly mu- 
tilated by our blood-thirsty Kulo, . . . A. priest found him in the reeds, 
where he lay in a helpless state near the river itself. . . . The boy stood 
silently before me, with his legs spread wide. He was terribly covered 
with blc7od. . . . I cleaned the wc~und, washed it with a mixt~ire of mer- 
curic chloride and cocaine, and, having made a bandage, laid the boy in 
my tent. Vaska, wbieh is what f called him, turned out to be a good, 
healthy; big-bellied little bay.46 

On May 26, 1898, fjulatovich returned to Anciaracha, where he took 
his leave of Giorgis. Three weeks later, he tvas in Addis Ahaba, and a 
pleased Menelik awarded him a gold shield in recognition of his ser- 
vices during the expedition that had added 18,000 square miles to his 
empire. Bulatovich left Addis Ababa on June 26, with Vaska in tow, 
and arrived in St. Petersburg on July 3 5 .47 

Bulatovich was promoted to captain in recognition of his accorn- 
plish~ncnts in Ethiopia. On January 25, 1899, he presented the results 
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of his trip at a conference hosted by the Imperial Russian Geogaphi- 
cal Society, This brief report was published in French in St. Petersbuug 
and later in Italian in Rorne, along with a map similar to Bottcgo" for 
the Omo delta and the northern end of Lake Rudolf ," Ktfnfortunately, 
the Italian translation ctf Rulatovich's conference was '%unnecessarily 
and abusively footnoted by G. Roncagli."l^This, no doubt, rcfieced a 
desire to denigate Bulatovicl.r"s aeeomplishments since Italy had long 
viewed Russia as hostile to its colonial designs in Ethiopia,'" 

Bulatovich returned to Ethiopia in July 1898 and spent four months 
011 Menelik's behalf charting severd aff-lutrnts of the Blue Nile. D~lring 
this stay, he approached Nfenelik ahout obtaining a governorship, as 
Leontiev had done. However, the Russian envoy in Addis Ababa, P.M, 
Tifassctv, vetoed this proposal due to legitimate concerns that it would 
unnecessarily entangle Russia in internal Ethiopian political affairs, 
much as the Leonticv scherxe recently had done near Lake R ~ d o l f . ~ ~  

In July 19001 Bzrlatovich was sent to Port Arthur, where he partici- 
pated in the Russo-Tapanese WareiWAlthough he had a brilliant mil itary 
canecr ahead of him, he requested discharge into the resaves on Febru- 
ary 8, 1903 and subsequently entered the small lnonastery of Niki- 
fsrskoye Podvorye, along with a half dozen enlisted men who had 
been under his command. At the sarne ti~xe, he enrolled Vaslca in the 
Aleksandrovsky Lavra Academy in St. Pctersburg. However, as 'Vaska 
approached puberty, he was subjected to discrimination from the 
other students, not because of race but rather because he increasingly 
displayed the physical characteristics of eunuchoidism. In 1906, Bula- 
tovich took monastic vaws, and known as Father Anthony, he later 
entercd a monastery at Mount Athos in Greece, where he lived for 
several years. Before leaving for Mwnt  Athas, he repatriated Vaska to 
Ethiopia.j3 

Bulatavich made a final trip to Ethiopia in 191 1 to visit Vaska and to 
seek Menelik's permission tct cclnstruct a Russian Orthodox 
monastery. Although he visited the emperor and treated him for his ill- 
nesses with icons, holy water! oils, and prayers, his request was denied. 
Returning to Mount Athos, he soon became embroiled in a theological 
contnctversy that resulted in his expulsion horn the monastery. He then 
t-ravclcd to Russia, where he lived with his sister, Princess Mary Orbe- 
liani, in St. Pe tersbu~ and later at his family's estate, "Lutskovka.'" 

During World War I, Bulatovich served for a while with the Six- 
teenth Advanced Detachment of the Red Cross. Follawing the 
arlnistice with Germany in 1918, he unsuccessfully tried to rccntcr 
monastic life. His persistent adherence to a then heretical belief in the 
divinity of Christ's name prevented this on terms acce~eablc to him. 
While waiting for a final decision on his application to enter the St. 



Andrew Monastery in Petrograd, he lived in a ~nndest cabin near ""Lt- 
skovka,'bwhere, on the night of December 5-6, 1919, he was mur- 
dered by banditseS4 

Bulatovich's life as a mnnk stands in draznatic contrast to his earlier 
career as a sddier and explorer. TYet even as a young man, he exhibited 
characteristics that foretold his later years, The Italian geneual Ghcr- 
ardo, wha was taken prisoner at Adowa, got to know him well in 
Ethiopia and described him as ""a young man from a noble family, 
stuangc, full of cnergy and vitalitjv; quasi-mystical, and of delicate sen- 
t i~nents . "~  He was also a man devoid of selfish, personal interests, a 
man whose integrity and intellectual curiosity helped create impor- 
tant travel accounts that are now of great historical value. 

Although Bulatc-~vich's remarkable geographic and ethnographic 
cctntributions are now better appreciated, Menelilr; was primarily 
gratchl to him far the string of well-built forts hc consta.ucted bc- 
tween Kaffa and the northern end of Lake Rudolf, These and the excel- 
lent maps he made served Menelik well in future years when he began 
negotiations with the hitish over his sout-han frontier. 

When Bulatovich and Giorgis had left for Lake Rudolf in early 1898, 
Menelik's foreign policy was dxiven by a willingness to stand up mili- 
tarily to the British, especially the Macdonald Expedition, However, 
following Kitehener's defeat of the Mahdlsts and the British victory 
over the Ashanti in West Africa, Menelik reversed this policy. He now 
realized that unlikc Italy, Britain possessed a powerful military ma- 
chine capable of defeating him and transforming Ethiopia into just an- 
other colonial possession, As a result, in late 1898, he adopted a con- 
ciliatory posture toward thc British, which included negatiating his 
southern border with the~n ,~"  

As part (16 his effort to solidify his claims over the lands annexed by 
Giargis, Menelik decided to place Leontiev in charge of them. He 
granted him the title of dejazmach of Equatoria, the newly created 
province in the south?' Once appointed, Leontiev found no paucity of 
bankers, merchants, aristocrats, and others who were willing to invest 
in what they were told was one of the potentially richest corners of 
Africa. Leontiev saw this new province as a sort of personal fiefdom, 
the Russians saw it as a future colony or protectorate, and the French 
saw it as a foothold for themselves in Ethiopia. They a l  quickly fell in 
with Lesntiev's scheme, led by Prince Henry of Orleans, who planned 
to travel with Lcontiev into the new p r a v i n ~ e . ~ ~  

Leontiev spent several months in Europe buying up arms for sale to 
Menelik and obtaining supplies for his trip to Lake Rudolf. His store (16 
weapons was so great that he chartered a stealnsbip in Holland, which 
set sail on Deceznber 3, 1897, for Djibouti via London. The stopover in 



London proved to be a fatal tnistake because the ship was i~npounded 
on the grounds that its dangerous cargo of ammunition and weapons 
violated repfations that required advance notification, Lconticv and 
the ship" captain were heavily fined, and the matter was to go to 
court fox a public hearing. Leontiev, however, avoided this by fleeing 
to Paris, where he recommenced buying arms. The port of London's 
action was viewed in Paris and St. Petershurg as a calculated atlcrnpt 
to stall Leontiev, whose arms shipment was cleaxly not in Britain's in- 
terests. The British were terribly afraid that these arms might end up 
with the Mahdists in the Sudan, just as Kitchener was mnving on 
Khartoum,") 

The irnpormding of the ship had the net effect of rousing saang pa- 
triotic feelings in Russia and anger in Paris, which resulted in the urig- 
inal investment being rapidly replaced. In addition, the French govern- 
m n t  soon entered the picture in an official manner by promising 
Leontiev 300 Senegalese rifletnen, who were to join hirn in Djibouti. 
Leontiev and Prince Henry finally arrived at Djil.touti on March 16, 
1898, with all of thcir supplies, weapons, and ammunition. They 
brought with them a llulllber of French nationals who had been told 
that they would all eventually become shareholders in the new do- 
minion, Equatoria, that Leontiev was about to establish. 

Leontiev was persanally invested as dejazmach in Addis Ababa by 
Menelik and given almost absolute authority over all of the lands to 
the northeast of Lalre Rudolf. No Europeans except the Swiss Alfred 
Ilg, who was Menelik's chief foreign affairs adviser, had risen so high 
at the emperor's court." Not surprisingly, Leantiev soon became the 
object of both European and Ethiopian envy. His plans temporarily 
went awry when, un June 30, 1898, he was accidentally wounded in 
Harar while demonstrating a machine gun to the governor of the city. 
The Russian arnbassadar, PA4. VXassov, refused to send Russian doc- 
tors to help him, in hopes that the injuries m i g k  prove fatal and 
therehy eliminate the freelancer who had caused him so much grief. 
This did not go over well with Menelik and the Ethiopians, who saw 
in Tllassov's actions the abandonlnent of a fellow countrylnan in dis- 
tress. Menelik sent his own physician to treat Lesntiev, and although 
Vlassav continued to be a powerhl diplomatic and political presence 
in Addis Ababa fur a while, his handling of this incident caused him to 
fall from the emperor" ffavor. Fearing that he might be assassinated by 
Leontiev" supporters, he eventually left Addis Ababae6I 

Lcclntiev rapidly recovered in Europe and was back in Ethiopia 
within a few months, However, Prince Henxy had t s  return to France 
for fa~nily reasons and was unable to accompany hirn to Equatoria. 
Lcontiev's military expedition to the take Rudalf region was, by far, 



one of the largest and best equipped ever to enter the area up to that 
time. His second in command was Baron Chedeuvre, an officer of the 
Russian regiment of al-agoon Guards who had been given the 
Ethiopian title of fitaura& (colonel) by Menelik for the purposes of the 
expedition. Under him were Ensign Babitchev and a French lieutenant 
named Sebillou. In addition, there were several Cossacks of the Impm- 
ial Persr~nal Bodyward Squadron, a physician, Dr. Kahn (the expedi- 
tion's medical offices), and two Groatian brothers, Mirko and Stepan 
Scljan, who had ialsely passed themselves off as physicians when they 
first arrived in Ethiopia. The French component of the expeditirln con- 
sisted of 138 Senegalese riflemen brought in from Bakar in West 
Africa, Marius Bauchier, a French colonial administrator who acted as 
the quartermaster for the expedition, and Captain Leyxnarie who cam- 
manded the Senegalese troups. In addition, Leontiev recruited a troop 
of Arab scouts in Marar, who were ~nounted on camels. The Ethiopi- 
ans sent 2,000 cavalry and infantry with Leontiev under the colnmand 
of delazmcrch Tessama, who the year before had traveled with the 
French in their attempt to reach the Nile from the cast. 

Leontiev had 1,200 modern repeater rifles and two Maxim guns at 
his disposal, all of which did not bode well fm the peoples of the Omo 
River valley, who bad been recently decimated by Giorgis's =my." Af- 
ter passing through Walamo, he beaded west toward the Omrl River, 
eventually arriving at the town of Balro, where he established an 
Ethiopiian military and administrative presence. Moving f a d e r  south 
toward the ialte, he encrluntered ""forte resistance" "from the local pop- 
ulation~." This resulted in devastating armed conflicts, which he 
falsely described as lninor and benip,  We also provided idyllic descrip- 
tions af the country he traversed in his published accounts lnainly for 
the benefit of his investors, who were interested in everything from 
copper and ivory to cattle breeding. However, as Czeslaw lesman 
noted, "news from other sources about LeontievJs activities in this far- 
away corner of Ethiopia were less rosy='"TThere was a drought in 
progvess at the time of his visit, which forced him to "resort to harsh 
lnethods in order to feed his ~ n e n . " ~ ~  

The expedition reached the northern end of Lake Rudolf on August 
22, 2899. There, Leontiev found thc Union racks put up by Austin 
when he had crllne up from the south the year before. Indifferent to 
the political implications of his actions, he quickly replaced the 
Union Jacks with the Ethiopian colors, on the grounds that the terri- 
tory had already been claimed by Menelik."" 

Leontiev's stay at the northern end of the lake was never peaceful 
because he and his followers wcvc constantly engaged in raiding, pil- 
laging, and wanton killing. The local inhabitants finally joined forces 



in an attelnpt to drive therm. out, Arlrred with only spears and poisc~ned 
arrows, they succeeded in killing 2 16 of Leontiev's men in one 4-hnur- 
long engagement, but they certainly srrffered far greater casualties 
themselves. Leontiev later described this battle in al~nnst casual terms 
and expressed regret that the thick brush prevented him from using 
his machine guns to good effect on these Africans, 

Scbillou hoisted several Ethiopian flags near the Omo delta and su- 
pervised the construction of a fort on a rise overlosliing both the lake 
and the Orno estuary. The fort was built on the left bank of the Omo 
while Leontiev returned to Addis Ababa on unexpected orders from 
the emperor. Before he left, Leontiev unwisely instructed Baron 
Chedcuvre and Dr. Kahn to take a coluanrt down into British-clai~xred 
territory to explc~re the lands near the Nile. Chedeuvre and his men 
only travelell down the western shore of the lake to just below the 
TIXrltwell River, where, on October I, f 899, they set up Post Meneli k 
I1 before returning north agaia6? 

Despite its record of wanton killing and pillaging, Leontiev's expedi- 
tion made a modest conraibution to an rmderstanding of the geography 
of the Lake Rudolf region, Dr. Rahn and the Frenchmen in the party 
drew a map that accuuately depicted, for the first time, many of the 
meanders of the Oma Rivcr delta, This rendition of the Oino River re- 
lnained unique far gctjgraphers until the 1930s." However, this singu- 
lar geographic accomplishment was greatly overshadowed by Leon- 
tiev's cxi~ninal activities around the lake. 

When Menelik recalled Leontiev to Addis ababa, it was not so 
much because oE his incursions into Bxitish-claimed territouy ox his re- 
moval of the Union Jacks. Leonticv had actually scrved Menelik well 
by invading territories around Lake Rttdolf where Britain had yet to es- 
tablish an effective permanent presence. In the process, be had 
strengFhened the emperor" hand in negotiating a favorable frontier 
with Britain, Menelik conveniently achieved several objectives in re- 
calling Leantiev. While still claiming that his frontier extended to the 
south of Lake Rudolf, he was able to appear conciliatory toward the 
British by rcinuving the man whose actions had caused them st-3 much 
concern.69 

Mcnclik had anxieties of his own with regard to Leontiev because 
he knew that he was fiercely anti-British, and the emperor was fearful 
that these sentiments could get out of hand and drag him into an un- 
necessary conflict with Britain, More important, Mcaelik had @awn 
increasingly worried by Leonticv's claims that his self-styled province 
of Eyuatoria was his personal domain. The presence of sa many Euro- 
peans on the expedition and French colonial troops only served to 
heighten his suspicions that they migk be there to help Leontiev take 



over the region and eventually declare it independent or else offer it tn 
a European power.7o 

Of equal c o n c m  to Menefilr were the widely circulated reports of 
how Lcontiev had treated the local popufatiuns. Percy Horace Gordon 
Powell-Cotton, who was in Ethiopia in X899 preparing to travel with 
the Harrison-Whitehouse cxpedilion to Lake RudolE, recorded the fal- 
lowing about Leontiev: 

M, Gattiiker, the brother-in-law of M. Ilg, rode up, and after mutual salu- 
tations, gave us some very interesting infurmat ion about Count Leonti- 
eff" expedition to the Qmo, in the direction of Lake Iitudolf. This Russian 
officer; had, iit appeared, found a great drought, as a result of which the 
cattle were dying and the crops burnt up. M. Gattiker added that Leonti- 
eff and his men boasted of having shot natives down at si&t far the sake 
of the ornaments they wore, that they raided every viflagc they came to 
far Ivory; and that if the natives did not Ay at their appmach they poured 
volleys into them untiX they did, All this augured ill for the success of our 
e~pedition,"~ 

Menelikc was painfully aware of these acccjunts and of their negative 
impact on the international image he was attempting to establish for 
Ethiopia. The eventual desertion of Dr. Rahn and some of the Senc- 
galese riflesnen lent strong credence to the widespread charges of 
Leontiev's irresponsible and criminal hehavior, Menelik moved 
quickly to strip teontiev of all authority over the frontier regions near 
Lake Rudalf and to assure John Lane Harringtctn, the British agent in 
Addis Ababa, that the Union Jacks would be 

Leontiev's star was beginning to see, although his expulsion from 
Ethiopia was still two years off, The precipitating cause of his final 
disgrace was Menelik's outl-age on learning Eram swindled Belgian in- 
vestors that he had set up several cornpanics in Britain and Belgium 
for the purpose of mining gold in his Equatoria Province, Since gold 
mining was the exclusive monopoly of the Ethiopian crown, Leontiea 
had seriously infringed on a lnajar imperial prerogative. 

In a sense, Leontiev's gold-mining scheme was the last straw, P-lie 
was ordered out of the country, and on May S, 1902, Menelik sent a 
circulan letter in French to all of thc European alrxbassadors in Addis 
Abaha, informing them that Leontiev had made a number of false 
statements in Europe concerning the alleged gold-mining concessions 
he bad obtained. The emperor stated that Leontiev had inaccurately 
translated the text of an Imperial Letters- Patent that had been ad- 
dressed to him on June 10, 1897, and that all of this bad resulted in 
heavy financial losses far a Belgian company. The elnperor asked the 
diplomats to inforsm their govcrnrnellts of LeontievJs smisdeeds so as tn 



prevent him from repeating them. in the future, Expressing his disap- 
pointment in a man who had, to some degree, served him well, he 
said: "je ne pensais pas que lc dkdjas LeontieZf sortirait ainsi dc ma 
volontk et de ma service" "'""Idid not think that Governor Leontieff 
would thus depart frctm my wishes and service"b7Xesntiev spent the 
winter of 1902-1903 in Djibouti, and by April 1903, he had liquidated 
all of his interests in Ethiopia, 

Leontiev briefly fought in the Russa-Japanese War in Manchuria and 
returned to D~ibouti in 1906, frorx where he ~xadc a brick but unsuc- 
cessful attempt to return to Ethiopia. He set up an agricultural planta- 
tion in Djibouti and an arms-imparting firm with the help of the Qri- 
ental secretary of the Russian embassy in Addis Ababa, but both 
efforts failed," He eventually returned to Paris, where he died in very 
reduced circumstances in 19 10.'" 

With Leontiev's departure from Ethiopia, Russian invalvemcnt in 
the borderlands near Lake Rudolf came to an end. However, both Bula- 
tovich and Leontiev played extremely impuwtant roles in establishing 
the southern boundaries of the modern Ethiopian state and in givilng 
Menelik control c ~ f  the 01x0 River and a foothold on Lake Rudolf, It 
now remained far other travelexs and diplomats to decide how much 
of the lake would bccomc part of Ethiopia, 



J Courageous 

Captain Mon t ~ g u  Sinclair Well by 
(fiozn Twixt Sirdar and Menelik, 
1902). 

n the interests of aiding the 
conquest of the Mahdist 
state in the Sudan and se- 

curing the Upper Nile, Lord 
Salisbury sent a special mis- 
sion to Ethiopia in April 189 7. 
Its multiple purposes were to 
counter French influence at 
Menelikk scrlurt, prevent the 
shipment of arms from and 
through Ethiopia to the 
Mahdists, dclixnit the comIncln 
frontier between Ethiopia and 
British possessions, foster 
trade, and establish a perma- 
nent diplomatic presence at 
Mcnelik" court. The rnan 
placed in charge of this mission 
was Tames Rennell Rsdd, an 
experienced and skilled diplo- 
mat who had previously served 
in 1893 as the British agent 111 

Zanzibar and corn~nissioner for 
British East Africa. Since 1894, 

he had worked as the assistant to Sir Evelyn Baring (Lord Cromer), the 
British agent and consul general in Cairo. Rodd made special efforts to 
assure Menelik that the sizable army under Hnratio Hcrbert Kitchener 
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then beginning its calnpaign against the Mahdists would nsjt be di- 
rected against Ethiopia.TThese assurances, though convincing to same 
degree, did not prevent the pragmatic Mcnelik from establishing a 
diplomatic entente with the Mahdists. 

One of the significant outcomes of RoddFs visit was the establish- 
ment of diplomatic contacts between Britain and Ethiopia, 1x3. order to 
avoid offending its ally Italy and to leave open possible future Italian 
protectorate options over Ethiopia, Britain set up an agency in Addis 
Ababa. This repxesented a diplomatic presence, but it was one seep he- 
low the level of an e~llbassy and thus reflected a less than complete 
recognition of Ethiopia's independence, The man chosen as the first 
agent was John Lane Warringtan, a thirty-three-ycm-oId army captain 
who had served as vice consul and consul at Zeila in British. Soxna- 
liland during the previous three years. Although young, f-farrington 
was thoroughly iamiliar with the compZcx political currrnts in 
Ethiopia and the Horn of Afuica, He was to reraain in Ethiopia for a 
decade, eventually becoming minister plenipotentiary and envoy ex- 
traordinary in 1908," 

As Britaids ciiplomatie representative at Menelik" court, Harring- 
ton was to play a cwuciaf role in negotiating the borders separating 
Ethiopia from British terri tories. This was especially true with regard 
to Ethiopia" southern border and the lands around Lake Rudolf. Al- 
though he greatly influenced the course clf these negotiations and tried 
to foster Britain" best ixtterests, he was oken hindered by a Foreign 
Office policy that viewed this stretch of Africa at; being of only mar- 
ginal irnpartance,Tcrhat policy was primarily dictated between 1895 
and 1902 by Lord Salisbury, the prime minister, and his permanent 
undersecretary in the Foreign Office, "Thornas Sanderson, The latter 
was extremely knowledgeable about African affairs and viewed the 
Upper Nilc and the Sudan as vital to British interests in this part of 
Africa, Not surprisingly, he and Salisbury sc.~ught to lteep Ethiopia neu- 
tral as they gained control of the course of the Nile. As a consequence, 
by 1898, they were adamantly opposed to sanctioning any official or 
unofficial expeditions to Lake Rttdolf: and beyond. These, they. rea- 
soned, might provoke Menelik into retaliatory military initiatives or 
shipping arms ta the Mahdists, which in turn could seriously jeopar- 
dize Britaids conquest of the Sudan. 

Despite this policy of pnjhibiting all travclers from going to the 
lake, there was a steaCey stream of petitioners. A~nong them was Cap- 
tain Montaw Sinclair Wellby, a thirty-two-year-s11.d officer in the Eigh- 
teenth Hussars who had been educated at Rugby and Sandhu~st .~ 
Wellby was no stranger to Akica, having undertaken two expeditions 
to Soxnaliland, in L895 and 1896, However, it was an 1896 journey 



through western Tibet that established his reputation as an explorer of 
note. In early May, he and Lieutenant Malcorn of the Ninety-Third 
Highlanders began traveling through the western part of Tibet, which, 
up to that time, had never been visited by Eurt~yeans. They suceess- 
fully crossed this uninhabited region, s m e  15,000 feet in elevation, 
and thereby opened ""a way kotn west to cast betwecn the @eat snowy 
ranges of the Kuen-lun syste~n."~ This wwas an incredible feat since 
there was little food ou water in the area and the high altitude made 
trekking extremely difficult, At one point, they had to subsist on wild 
anions, and they later survived the desertion of a nulnbcr of their 
men, Wellby and Malcom finally arrived in Peking in late November, 
seven months after setting out on their rexnarkable jaurney" 

Despite the difficulties of this trip, Wellby collected eighty species 
of flowers, which he carefully packed in tins and sent off ta J, Scutt 
Keltic at the Royal Geographical Society."ack in India with his regi- 
ment, he was soon off t n  the northwest frontier, where he participated 
in the Tirah campaign of 1897 as a transport officer. He was no sooner 
back from this campaign than he tried to obtain permission to march 
up from Uganda to Khartoum with a handful of men in time to meet 
Kitchener's trocrps."anderson promptly rejected this proposal, which 
was obviously made without any knowledge on Wellby's part of Mac- 
donaldJs secret ~nission. Still, Wellby was not easily deterred, accurd- 
ing to Arthur Donaldson Smith, who was also trying to obtain permis- 
sion to travel. to Lalte Rudolf and frorx there to the Mile. In a letter to 
his friend Percy Cox, who sincc 1895 had been assistant to the gover- 
nor general$ agent at Baroda, India, Smith said: 

Sanderson whom X saw at the Foreign Oface did not give me much cn- 
couragernent. The last thing he said was '"ou knnclw if Lord Salisbury 
gave you permission he would bring down a hornet" nest around his 
ears." "hihis means that he hats refused permission to many and all appli- 
cants. Wllby was refused among others so he hit. upon thc plan of going 
with. Haxrington to Menelik" capital with the idea of crossing to the Nile 
north of Fashoda. I do not think he will succeed. Harfington told me that 
Menelik would not give permission to anyone to go through southern 
districts.' 

As it turned out, Harrington was wrong. But when he Inet with 
Smith in London in the summer of 1898, he could not have foreseen 
Menclik's shrewd change in policy. For his part, Wellby was an eternal 
optimist, pushing forward on high hopes. On July 28, he wrote to 
Keltie that he planned to travel to Lake Rudslf and ctnward to Khar- 
toum ." Wellby's tctocr to Keltic also contained a not-so-subtle hint 
about obtainiq solne form of Royal Geographical Society endorse- 
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Inent, Yet this was scarcely necessary since his lc~bbying of the ~nili-  
tary command coinsided with Kitchener's final push against the 
Mahdists in the Sudan. The Intelligence Division of the War Office 
saw the value of having an officer of Wellby" abilities in Ethiopia as 
the wax in the Sudan approached its climax, Thus, in August, they 
telegraphed him in Simla, where he had gone dos a ten-day rest, telling 
him that Harrington was returning to Ethiopia and was willing to take 
him if he cared to go. VVellby jumped at the offer since it was the "only 
way of getting into Aby~sinia.'~'~ 

Wellby had to hurry out of India in order to meet Harringtnn, who 
was scheduled to arrive in Zeila on the Somali coast on September 7, 
1898. Luckily, VVellby reached Zcila via Aden the day after Hasring- 
tods arrival. He immediately told him that he wanted to go to Lake 
Rudolf and up to the Nile, Harrington's response was hardly encourag- 
ing. He told Wellby that he and his party stood very little chance of 
"being able to travel beyond Mcnelik's capital.""" On hearing this, 
Wellby decided to bypass Ethiopia altogether and head for the lake 
from Berbera, farther down the Solvlali coast, This decision could not 
have pleased either Harrington or the Intelligence Division, which 
was counting on him for military information about Ethiopia. Leaving 
Harrington's caravan outside Zcila, Wellby and his small party sailed 
for Berbera, arriving on Septcmbcr I l. Much had changed in Berbera in 
the three years since Wellby had last been there. He later wrote, 
"'Every stone of it is under the official thumb, cntailing cndless rules, 
regulations, taxes, and certificates."'"" This meant that his plans for 
making a quick and surreptitious dash out of Berbexa for Lugh and the 
southern shore of Lakc RudolE were quickly uncovered and vetoed by 
local British officials. They told him that such a journey would violate 
boundary treaties, and as a result, his plans "speedily vanished into 
dreamland."I4 

Efketively blocked from reaching Lake Rudolf through Somaliland 
as Smith had done in 1894-1895, Well17y had no choice but to rejoin 
Harrington and go on to Addis Ababa. He and Harxington reached the 
Ethiopian capital on October 25, where they. were well received by 
Menelik, The following day, the emperor set off on military maneu- 
vers with a 50,000-strong army, which he planned to send against Xns 
Mengasha, the prince of Tigxay and son uf the late Elllperor hhannes 
TV, Wellby was greatly impressed with the ctrganizatian and discipline 
of this army, observations that Menelik hoped would eventually reach 
London, 

It was while this army was on the march that Harrington presented 
Menelik with a phonograph record on which Queen Victoria sent 
greetings, This so i~~prcssed  Menelik and Empress Taytu that a salute 



was fired in honor of the occasion." Sh(3rtly afterward, Harrinaon 
asked Menelik if Wellby could travel to Lake Rudolf. He pressed the 
malter with the emperor but not solely to satisf-5: Vtlcllby" squest dur 
acl-venture, Rather, he thought that such a trip woul d provide him and 
the Foreign Office with vitaZ intelligence about the extent of effective 
Ethiopiian occupation near the lake and tbc Nile. One evening, he rc- 
turned to Wellby's tent and told him that Menelilr had consented to 
let him go, VVeltby was ecstatic.I6 

In effect, Menelik was allowing Wellby to tour his domains under 
Ethiopian escort He reasoned that this would sdstantiate his terri- 
torial claims all the way to the lake and to the headwaters of the So- 
bat River. Hc was also confident that Wellby" maps would help re- 
fute British claims to the areas where he had established a visible 
presence. Clearly, the British would have been hard put to dismiss the 
maps and reports of one of their own officers, whose expedition they 
had pro~xoted, 

Flushed with excitement, Wellby was hardly concerned about the 
political underpinnings of what was to be the trip of his lifetime, On 
Deeelllber 16, he wrote to Keltie from Ad&$ Abaha, outlining his pro- 
posed travel route and telling him that he planned to draw his maps 
on. a scale of four miles to the irach,lT 

VVellhy recruited forty-four men, including thirty Ebiopians, nine 
Somali, and five Sudanese. The Sudanese had been members of the 
Bottcgo expedition and had been acting as artillery instructors to the 
Ethiopians. Also traveling with him was Duffadar Shahzad Mir, an ex- 
perienced surveyor of the Eleventh Bengal Lancers who had partici- 
pated in the cqcdition to Tibet. Wellby chose as his headman a sea- 
soned caravan leader, Mohamed Hassan, and with his help obtained 
thirty-one mules, nineteen donkeys, and eleven horses. He packed 
four months9upply of food in skins, most of it consisting of flour, 
salt, and pepper. In addition, he carried the usual assortment of eamp- 
ing equipment and a plane table, barometers, theumometers, hyp- 
sometcrs, and a theodolite for suwvcy warlr. His awsenal cansisted of 35 
Martini-Henry rifles and 6,000 rounds of axn~nunition, and his fox ter- 
rier, "Lady.," "came the expedition" m a s c ~ j t . ~ ~  

Vtrcllby and his men rnarehed out of Addis Aibaba on Decerxber 18, 
1888, in a southwest direction that tc-~ulc them along the chain of 
Ethiopian Rift Valley laltes. Menelik had sent letters ahead to his 
provincial administrators, ordering them to assist the expedition in 
every possible way, As he trekked over the high hills of southern 
Ethiopia, Wellby was warmly greeted, feted, and showered with gifts 
by Nfenelik" local officials, Spirits were high, the men were happy and 
well fed, and the expedition made good progress over the mountaint~us 
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terrain. Hc~wever, the sulieitaus attentions of Menelik" aadi-ninistra- 
tors created a number of unforeseen problems for Wellby. They were 
kccn about having visitors, and so they insisted that he remain their 
guest for prolonged periods of time." Wellby could not accept such of- 
fers because they would have delayed the progress of his expedition 
and lcd to a breakdown of thc daily rouline and discipline of camp life, 
These ofiicials also worried about Wellby's safety and the repercus- 
sions for themselves if anything happened to h i m  Consequently, they 
insisted that he follow secure routes! which were often the long way 
around. He rewlarly rejected these suggestions but only after much 
protracted and tiring discussion. Finally, they often provided him with 
armed escorts to the limits of their territories. These he found were 
usually mare trouble than they were worth because they tended to 
loot lscal villages along the way.2o 

While Wellby was in the Hammar-Koke Mountains, he obtained a 
Rcshiat wide named Kulo and his son, who knew the way to Lake 
RudolE. Both had been taken prisoner by the Ethiopians and were 
pleased to escort the expedition to the lake in return for their kec- 
d ~ r n , ~ '  Descending the c001 highlands, Wellby trekked across the hot 
plains toward the lake that the Ethiopians called Gallop. As he did so, 
he came upon sparse remnant popularions that had survived recent 
devastating Ethiopian raids. The area still had abundant elcpham 
herds, and Wellby began collecting a sizable amount of ivory. 

In mid-March, the caravan caught sight of Lake Rudalf and a few 
days later reached its northeastern shore: "Soon after daybreak, Lake 
Gallop was in sight, and, though we traveled at a rapid rate along a 
splendid track ior mast of the way, yct we did not reach the shores of 
this beautiful water till after noon. We then pitched our camp fairly 
close to the edge, that all might enjoy the water, for we were thor- 
oughly hot and thirsty, having had none along the road,'"l" 

The follr~wing day, Wellby mnved his camp tct the higher, shady 
ground where Bottego and Smith had previously camped."' However, 
his triumph in reaching the lake and the idyllic location of his camp 
were lnarred by an o ~ h r e a k  of anthrax that began killing off his trans- 
port animals, including his own horse. This was a potentially disas- 
trous development since the entire caravan was dcgendcnt on these 
ani~nals for transporting food, equipment, and a growing supply of ele- 
phant tusks. Fortunately, the Ethiopian chiefs who had hosted Wellby 
had given hiln gifts of cattle, which now numbered thirty. Anticipat- 
ing the loss of all his pack animals, he had his men train the cattle to 
carry the loads.24 

As cnost of his European predecessors had done, Wcllby decided to 
spend several days exploring the 013'10 River. Unlike them, however, 



he found the left bank virtually uninhabited, as the people had 
"shifted across to avoid the raiding parties.'"We crossed over to the 
populated right bank of the river, but the villagers fled out of fcar of 
beillg attacked. As a result, he was unable to lnalce direct contact with 
them. The forest gallery contained large numbers of elephants, and 
Wellby shot several, Unfortrmatcly, when he returned to the lake, he 
found that the anthrax epidemic had further decimated his animals, 
requiring that he dispose of some of his ivory. 

Wellby had hoped to obtain large alnounts of grain from the peoplcs 
living to the north of the lake for his trek south. However, as he sadfy 
discovered, they had been so decimated by the Ethiopians that there 
was virtually no gain available. As there was no food to be had in this 
area, hc began his march dawn the eastern shore of the lake the fol- 
lowing day. In clrder to save time, he walked to the west of the rocky 
Longodoti Hills that fringed the lake shore, Then, toward the end of 
March, he met with an unfortunate accident: "While opening a tin, f 
drove the instrument-the three-sided pointed weapon usually found 
in any big hunting knifc-clean through the first finger of my left 
hand, causing me to lose half my finger.1i26 This was a remarkable un- 
derstatement on Wellby's part, for as Marrington later wrote, "he 
maschcd miles in intense agony, holding a mortifying finger upright 
during the whole of the long and lniserable march, ct~ncealing his 
pain, so that his followers should not lose heart."" 

Recognizing his desperate need for transport animals, Wellby sent 
Mir and several men ahead toward the south end of the lake, with in- 
structions to purchase them. Mir soon came upon a herd of several 
hundred donkeys and Inany sheep and goats, whose owners fled at his 
approach, He took sixty donkeys and a large nul l ler  of sheep and 
goats and drove them toward the main caravan. When Welfby arrived 
at the southern end of the lake on April 8, 1598, he was delighted at 
the si&t of MirJs herds. However, he soon learned that Mir had effec- 
tively confiscated the animals since the owners had fled "throu* un- 
reasonable fear and would not stop to barter them.'""" 

Like a nuxnber of travelers before him, Wcliby was faced with the 
terrible dilemma of either perishing or taking food and property by 
force from owners who refused to barter. Wc spoke to thc truth of the 
lnatter when he said, "Had not Shahzad Mir then helped himself to 
donkeys and sheep, we should prohably be still strugling along the 
shore of the lakc.'"Tct he was also faced with the additional problem 
of his Ethiopian escort, "These were men "whose chief topic of thought 
and conversation was killing and raiding." The Sudanese were not any 
better, according to Wellby, bccnctse they "had hecn accustomd to 
shoot natives and carry off pmpcrty in the lnrlst rcgettahlc mamer." 
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7i> some extent, Mir had becolne influenced by these men and "was 
perfectly convinced in his own mind that we should never be able to 
come to a ixicndy understanding with any tribes at all on our jaurney, 
and that we should have to take what we required by force.'"'" 

Wellby now headed northwest, away from the lake and into the land 
of the Turkana people, following a route similar to that taken by 
Tcleki a decade before. Despite his extrelne caution, there were two 
unfortunate incidents in which his headman, Mohamed Hassan, was 
spcared in the back and an Ethiopian and Turkana were killed. Once 
they crossed the Turkwell River, their relations with the Turkana be- 
came friendly. Still, Welll2y had to constantly lecture the Ethiopians 
about not pilfering property, but he was only partially succcsshl in 
this regard. He notcd that "the Abyssinians, who in other respects 
were doing well, could not for the life of them understand why I was 
so particular to leave alone things that did not belong to me, as their 
own ideas on this pr~int were totally at variance with my own,""S Only 
the death of one of the Ethiopians from touching the pvison on same 
arrows he had stolen made the others heed Wcllby's message, 

Wellby next trekked into a vast expanse of selniarid ccluntry lying 
between the Turkwell and the Sobat Rivers, This was the unrnapped 
region to the west of the lake that both Cavendish and Sxnith so much 
wanted to explore. Their plans were to march east to west from the 
lake to the Nile, Wellby chose to cross it from south to north, parallel 
to the lake and the Nile, aiming for the Anglo-Egyptian. outpost of 
Nasser in the southern Sudan. Camrary to then prevailing European 
preconceptions, Wellby found the land relatively flat, He surveyed the 
headwaters of the Pibox River, which he mistalrenly called the Ruzi 
(meaning water), and traced it north to where it joined with the Sobat. 
Trekking for 500 miles from the Turkwell, he arrived at Nasser on the 
Sabat in late June, where he was greeted by an Egyptian garrison under 
the command of Lieutenant MacEwen." AAftcr resting at Nasser for 
only a day, he immediately set ctff for the post (16 Sobat on the Nile, 
180 miles away. There, VVcllby and his men were placed on a gunboat, 
the Fateh, and transported the short distance to Fashoda, where only 
several months before Britain and France had confronted one another 
over possessian of the Upper Nile. From Fashada, Wllby and ha16 his 
men were taken by paddle steamer to Omdt~rman, reaching it in mid- 
July. The remainder of his men and anixnals soon followed. 

On arriving in Omdwman, Wellby promptly wrote to KeXtie at the 
Royal Geographical Society, telling hiin of his s t leee~~ful  trip: 

X have j~rst arrived here from a very jolly trip. Aftcr visiting the southcrn 
districts of Abyssinia, and satisfyi~lg lnyseXf that the Orno iltows into 



Rudulf, we struclz south along the E. shore c)f Rudolf. . . . Unfortunately, 
half my animals died from glanders. . . . On arrival at S. Rudalf we passed 
Teleki's Volcano and struck west, . . . We came across no end of tribes and 
had no trouble with any of them, 1 woufd willingly retrace my steps with 
ten men only.'? 

Wellby had made a truly extraordinary journey in seven ~nonths, 
duuing which he had successfully mapped the unknown lands be- 
tween Lake Rudolf and the Nile. His maps were superb because they 
were based on ~neticulous observations of latitude and elevation that 
he himself recorded, as well as the plane table work done by his 
skilled and experienced surveyor, Duffadar Shahzad Mir. His ctbno- 
graphic observations were not extensive because, as David Tttrton ob- 
served, the highland Ethiopians with whom he traveled had a '"natuual 
bent for shooting and stealing," which did little to fostcr peaceful con- 
tacts with local peoples.34 1112 addition, the Omo River valley and the 
area to the north 06 Lake Rudolf had been depopulated in 1897-1898 
by tbc devastating military invasion of Rns Wolda Giorgis. Those who 
survived had fled across the Omt~ to the right bank to avi~id contacts 
with the Ethiopians. 

Von H6tznt.l surnxncd up Wellby" dilemma in traveling with 
Ethiopians: "It is natural that the natives who had been repeatedly and 
cmelly dealt with by the Abyssinian hoards, could have no desire to 
enter into relations with a caravan composed largely of individuals 
whom they had every reasrln to avoid. Wellby therefore came very lit- 
tle into contact with the population living by the lake.''%? 

Wcllbyis largely Ethiopian entourage also influenced the names he 
attached to geographic features. "Vnn Hiihnel said the following of this: 
"His retinue consisted mostly of Abyssinians, who were also his infor- 
mants along the route, Therefore the names for lakes, rivers, and 
places given by Wellby often differ fro111 those used by other travel- 
ers.'"" h writing to Keltie on Aups t  9, 1897, Weliby insistently said 
that '"udolf is properly speaking Gallop,""" This Et-hiopian name, of 
course, did not survive, primarily because thc lake eventually came 
under British colonial control. 

It is clear that Wellby was a courageous solciier arad a skilled diplomat, 
endowed with superior endurance and a unique ability to get on well 
with people. Harringtctn highly praised him: "His unfailing tact, his 
cheert-ulness, resource in &nf=cus and hardships, and the winning quali- 
ties which endcared him to all who ever knew him, won him the confi- 
dence and affection of the natives with whom he came in contact."38 

Wcllby very much admired the nkiopians and planned to return to 
Addis Ababa as an assistant to Harrington, He fully acknowledged the 
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evils created by their arrned raids but alsr~ challenged his countrylnen 
to look into their causes and to And ways of bringing them to an end. 
His challenge showed gea t  insightfulness and no doubt lnade Euro- 
pean arms traders uncomfortable: 

fzt previous pages f have made repeated rcfcrcnces to the raids carried out 
by the Abyssinians, and l~ave, Xike everyone else, condemned these raids. 
. . . Yet to straight away throw blame on the Abyssinians without enter- 
ing into the causes of these raids . . . would be unfair. . . . We have fur- 
nlshed thern with the means c)f carrying cm successful and destructive 
raids; we have supplied thern wit11 rifles, and it cannot be expected that 
they would do otherwise than try their level best to wipe out old scores 
with their less fortunately arzned neighbors."" 

Wellby's journey strengthened Menelik's negotiating position with 
the British because it provided confir~nation of cfScctivc Ehiopian oc- 
cupation of the lands north of Lake Rudolf, Yet Wellby had also docu- 
mented a vast buffer zone where neither British nor Ethiopian control 
was evident, and he "wondered what would eventually be the fate of 
the country and tribes situated 'twixt Sirdar and Menelik,'"qake 
Rudolf lay in this unclaiined stretch of Africa and represented a prize 
that both the British and the Ethiopians were anxious to seize, 

Wellby returned to England in late 1899 and delivered a paper on his 
trip before the Geographical Section of the British Association at 
Dover, However, he was unable to accept Relticis invitation to open 
the Royal Geographical Society" 11899-1900 session on Nove~nher f 3 
with a similar presentation, Writing to Keltie, he said, "Much as I re- 
g e t  saying no to Movcxlcther 13, X don't see how it can be managed as 
war seems more prohablc than ever, I must join my regiment as f 
would not miss the war for anything.'"The war he was referring to 
was the Boex War in South Africa. 

Less than a year later, on July 3 1, 1900, Wellby and his small patrol 
came under heavy Bser fire at Mertzicht in the southern Transvaal. As 
the Bocrs advanced, he ordered his men to safety, while he provided 
covering fire. Fi&ting alone and surrounded, he was called on to sur- 
render but refused. Eventually, he was shot in the abdomen and lay 
wounded on the field until the next morning, when he was carried to a 
nearby military hospital at Pnardckop He died there on August 
His death caused profound grief fox his family and all who knew him. 
As Harrington noted, the regret was "that a brilliant career should 
have been thus cut short with its bright promise but. partly lulAlled.'"j 

Six weeks before, on June 18, John Wellhy read his son's paper before 
the Royal Geographical Societ.y, where it was enthusiastically rc- 
~e ivcc t ,~  His book, entitled "ixt Sirdnr and Menelik, was published 



in 1901, the sarae year that his parents erected a stained glass east 
window in his memory in St. MaryJs Church, Westham, Sussex.45 
Wellby was brrried in Paardekop, where his faxnily had a large white 
stclne cross erected above his grave, However, his grave and monu- 
ment were later moved to Volksmst, which his grand-niece's husband, 
Sirnon Horn, visited in the fall of t 996."" 

Wellby stood in sharp contrast to Nicholas Leontiev, who arrived at 
Lake Rudolf five months after him, on August 21, 1899. His incur- 
sions into British-claimed territory around Lakc Rudolf represented a 
threat that even a somewhat indiff-erent Foreign Office could not en- 
tirely ignore. Harrington was anxious to quickly replace the Union 
jacks oxiginally put up at the northern end of the lake in 1898. Though 
primarily sylflb~lie, such a gesture served to reinforce Britain" claim 
ta the take at a time when Menelik was prepared to negotiate his 
soutanern border, Concerned that the Foreign Qdficc would take its 
time sending an official expedition to the lake to do the job, Harring- 
ton entrusted it to a joint Anglo-American sporting epedition headed 
by rames Jonathan Harrison and Wlliam Fitzhugh Whitehouse, How- 
ever, before they reached the lake in March 1900, A r t h ~ ~ r  Donaldson 
Smith surreptitiously made a run from Rerbera, intent on exploring 
the land between Lake Rudald and the Nile. His presence in this polit- 
ieally ct~ntested area greatly upset Harrington and other British ofA- 
cials. But once Smith had got;ten into the interiox, there was nothing 
they could do to stop him, 
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Archzar Donlaldson Smith as he 
appenmd fi~XJowing his second tr ip to 
Lake Rudoff ffrozn The Nilc Quest, 
1903, 

ince his return fxam Lake 
Rudolf in late 1895, 
Arthur Donaldson Smith 

had been prcoccupicd with the 
idea of exploring the Omo 
River and the lands to the west. 
Throughout 1886, he exwn- 
sively corresponded with j[. 
Scott Keltie of the Royal Geo- 
graphicai Society about obtain- 
ing financial support for such 
an expedition. In early 189 7, 
the society" ccourtcil finally 
agreed to give him S2,OQO to- 
ward the txip.W~loever, Smith 
was unable to start for the lake, 
as he was already cosn~nittcd ta 
a natural history collecting trip 
in the Khingan Mountains of 
Manchuria and Inner Mongolia 
with two cttheu Philadelpfiians, 
George L. Farrtum and f.  Ed- 
ward Farnurn, 

Smith and the Farnums left 
Pcking on March 19, 1897, and 

after spending several months in the mountains crlllecting and hunt- 
ing, they headed for Viadivostok in Russia, Although in eastern Asia, 
Smith. was in regular correspndcnce with Keltic, asking ion inlarma- 
tion about the Bottcgo expertition and Tames Rennell Rodd" snission 



to Ethiopia. At the salne time, he told Keltie that he estilnated that 
the Lake Rudolf-Nile expedition would cost &4,,500 and asked that the 
council increase its contribution to St000."t was now October 1887, 
and political and lnilitary events in that part of: Africa had ciuamati- 
cally changed since the council had made its tentative commitment 
several rxonths before, Certcxal Horatio Herbert Kitchenex was slowly 
moving up the Nile, Commandant jean-Baptistc Marehand was racing 
toward Fashoda, the French were trying to launch an expedition from 
Ethiopia to the Upper Nile, and Major Jarnes Ronald Macdanald was 
on a secret ~nission to secure the Nile headwaters from the south, The 
prime minister, Loxd Salisbury; refused to allow any unofficial expedi- 
tions access to take Rudolf out of fear af p r o v o k i ~  Elnperor Mcnclik 
I1 of Ethiopia;. 

Smith arrived in Shanghai in October 1897 and from there went on 
to India, where he remained until rune 1898. While in India, he spent 
most uf his time with Percy 2;. Cox, who at the time was assistant to 
the governor $eneralts agent at Baroda, a position he had assumed 
three years earlier. Cox and Smith knew each other well from the pe- 
riod when Cox was the assistant resident at Berbera in Sornaliland, 
Smith spent the 1897 Christmas holidays with Cox and his wife at 
Baroda and then put his medical training to goad use by serving as a 
physician to the military, for which he was given a stipend. It was at 
this time that Afridi tribesmen f r m  Afghanistan launched a relig' 710~s 
war against the British, captured all the p s t s  in the Khybex Pass, at- 
tacked British forts near Peshawar, and overran Tirah, a ~nountainous 
tract southwest of the Rhyber Pass in what is now northwestern Palr- 
istan, British and Indian troops were sent into "6irak, and in a series of 
military encounters in 1897-1898 knawn as the 7"irah Campaign, they 
drove the invaders out and retook the Rhyber Passe3 

Smith participated in the Tirah Campaign as bath a physician and a 
foreign news correspondent far the New Ycjrlc Sun, He continued t r ~  
provide medical care to the military until, the spring of 1898, when he 
went on a bunting trip with Cox to the east-central state of Baser. 

By this time, Smith had gottcn Cox extremely enthusiastic about 
joining him on the expedition to Lake Rudolf and the Nile. Cox, who 
had spent several years in. So~nalilstnd, planned to take a two-year fur- 
lough for the purpose of lnaking the trip.Vll of Smith's letters to Cox 
during 1898 dealt with the expedition and the various options and 
schemes he had worked out for financing it, In fact, by  ate 189'7, 
Smish, sensing a lack of support for the idea by the Royal Geographi- 
cal Society, came up with the idea of inducing the gaekwar, the ruler 
of Baroda, to suppor~the  expedition financially, On December 29, 
1897, Cox laid this proposal bebrc his superior, Colonel Martellit in a 
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detailed letter. After describing Smith" reputation and qualifications, 
Cox related that the expedition would last two years and cost EG,8Q13, 
of which Smith was prepared to put up & X  ,000. He proposed that the 
gaekwar, w h  had set up the Baroda State Musculn in 1894, be aslted 
to contuihute E5,000. In return, the expedition would be formally un- 
der his auspices and all specimens coljccted would go to the Baroda 
Museum. Allowing for the possibility that the gaekwar might find the 
expedition. too ambitious, Cox proposed a more modest alternative in 
the form of an expedition to Somaliland for the puqase of coliecting 
natural history specimens." 

Martelli was favorably disposed to the proposal, and the gaekwar ex- 
pressed interest. However, Cox, bccause of his official position, could 
not discuss financial arrangements with the gaekwar; this was somc- 
thing Smith had to do. 

On May 29, 1898, a letter was sent from the office of the gaekwar of 
Barruda to Cox, inforlning him that $1,200 had been granted "for a Sci- 
entific Expedition to Somaliland for the puqose of collecting Natuval 
History specimens for the Bavada State Museum.'TThc gaekwar had 
opted Ictr a modest specimen-collectil~g expedition more in keeping 
with the interests of the museum. He understandably had no interest 
in becoming entangled in the political risks of a far-off corner of 
Africa, nor was he interested in sponsoring geogaphic exploration of 
Africa. No doul-tt, the British authorities in India would not have al- 
lowed him to finance the Lake Rudolf-Nile expedition, and there was 
a hint of this in the letter Cox received: ""fbeg it tr3 be clearly under- 
stood that no further amount will he paid by His Highness' Govern- 
ment ovcr and above that now sanctioned in connection with the Ex- 
pedition, nor will His Highness' Government undertake any other 
responsibility in regard thereto.'" Cox wired the good news about the 
gaekwan's f, 1,200 grant to Smith, who was then in Bornhay.' 

Smith arrived back in Baro& in early June, where he spent two days 
with Cox prior to leaving India for Aden. From the Smith-Cox corre- 
spondence over the next several months, it is clear that they elabo- 
rated a fairly sophisticated plan of action for obtaining British and 
Ethiopian government approval for the Lake Rudolf-Nile expedition, 
Anancial backing from the Royal Geographical Society, and additional 
funding from the gaekwar of Baroda. Cox was unwilling to trust the 
Somalis as guards for the larger expedition and was instead inclined to 
recruit ex-soldiers of the Indian army. This lnove was fraught with 
complications because it required bringing the Indian goverllment 
into the picture as well, 

Smith left for Aden on June 8 on the SS 0E.l'ental. He wrote to Cox: 
from Aden 013 July 3, 1898, saying that he was doubtful that the 



Ethiopians would let therm. proceed. Because the Stl~naliland Protec- 
torate clfficials reported t s  Aden, Smith was able to get a good idea of 
what was going on in Somaliland, and he provided Cox with a detailed 
update on the pricc of camels, the monthly wage fizr Somali men, and 
a description of conditions in the interior.While in Aden, Smith also 
learned of Lord Delamere" trip from Somaliland to Lake Rudolf. Back 
in Baroda, Cox wrote to Ceorge Curzon, who was then a member of 
Parliament but would be named viceroy of India just six weeks later. 
Cox wrote hirn in his capacity as a vice president of the Royal Gert- 
graphical Society; askiing him to help Smith." 

Moving on to London in late July 1898, Smith engaged in an intense 
effort to get the Royal Geagaphical Society to provide him with fund- 
ing and the Foreign Office to intercede with Menelik to let him pass 
unhindered, Both efforts were to fail. 

On August 6, 1598, Smith wrote to Cox, briefing him on what had 
transpired so far, He said: ""The Government has refused perlxission to 
half a dozen Englishmen wha had strong backing and who wanted to 
go into the country west of Rrrdulf. The fact that I am an American 
gives me an advantage, as Curzon hinted." Hc~wever, Cwzan was non- 
committal, as was Keltie, whom Smith characterized as '"umble as 
pie on account of the Gavendish affaix.""ll 

On Septcmhcr L ,  1898, Smith received a polite hut flat refusal from 
the British go~ernment.~T"This decision not to allow Smith to proceed 
was made at the highest echelon, reflecting the level and degree of in- 
fiuence he must have brought to hear in pursuing his request. 

Smith was fully aware of the political and military turmoil in this 
part of Africa, including the Pashoda crisis that had largely determined 
Salisbury's decisi~n.'Tersistcnt as ever, he was back in London in Oc- 
tober, still tvying to get the Frjreign Office to approve his trip to the 
lake and the Nile." Writing to Cox, he said, ""Xexpect answer any day 
from Foreign Officc. I will wire you if not: successhl Cox Baroda, this 
will mean short trip, If successful, 1 will wire Cox Baroda, good-and 
in this latter case pick up fifteen Gurkhas." Toward the end of his let- 
ter to Cox, he said: '"f we only go on a short trip, which is moa proba- 
ble, bril-ig your own tent and personal kit, but plenty of boats and 
clothes for yoilrself just in case wc make a run for it,""' "1 other words, 
Smith did not rule out defying the British authorities and making a 
run for the lake and the Nile. 

Saxritb and Cox arrived in Bcrhera on December 20, 1888, and on 
Christmas Eve, they set off with thirty camels, three ponies, and two 
ricting camels for their collecting trip. The Caekwar's Expedition to 
Sornaliland was under way. Cox kept a ciaily diary of the trip, writfen 
in a very legible hand, ft recounted in detail their stalks, hunting expc- 
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riences, and natural history observations and thus is a valuable histor- 
ical document for conservationists. Cox also took along a camera and 
made numerous photographs during the trip. Both men were in con- 
tact with the outside world while in Somaliland, receiving and send- 
ing letters and reading slightly dated newspapers.'" 

On Thursday, December 29, Cox received a letter from John Lane 
Harrington (1865-1927), the British agent in Addis Ababa. In it, Har- 
rington told him that they might be able to obtain Menelikts permis- 
sion to visit the lake and the Nile but that this would require their 
coming up to Addis Ababa.lTox replied to Harrington the same day, 
saying that it would be too expensive for them to go to Addis Ababa 
and requesting that he obtain Menelik's permission to go on from 
where they were." 

On January 22, the mail from Berbera and Bombay arrived in camp, 
and Cox noted in his diary, "I see in the paper . . . that Macdonald is 
pushing on N. from Uganda to Rudolf etc." He also noted that Lieu- 
tenant Colonel James Hayes Sadler ( 185 1-1922), the resident in 
Berbera, "writes he hopes we have got what specimens we want 
now!!"lR 

March 26, 1899, was a "red letter day" for Cox. He received "an 
enormous mail . . . six letters . . . best of all a letter from Harrington 
saying Menelik's permission to travel in Abyssinia granted. Hurrah! 
Now we only have Sadler i.e. Br. authorities' scruples to overcome. 
Cracked a bottle . . . in honor of the oc~asion."'~ 

Although Menelik had given his approval, two other obstacles re- 
mained-the local British authorities in Somaliland and the recruit- 
ment of good men. It was clear to Cox and Smith that many of the 
men who had gone on their hunting trip were not suitable for the trip 
to Lake Rudolf and the Nile. Therefore, they decided to recruit 
Gurkhas in India. However, Sadler proved uncooperative, saying that 
he had to refer the matter to the Foreign Office since he had clear in- 
structions not to allow any armed parties to travel beyond the Webi 
Shebeli River? 

Cox tried to find out from the assistant resident in Berbera, Cor- 
diaux, what Sadler's real objection was and learned that it was the idea 
of their recruiting Gurkhas, the best fighting men in India, that trou- 
bled him.21 Cox saw Sadler again the next day: 

I went over to see Sadler and again urged that he should throw the matter 
on to Harrington's shoulders, but he insisted that he must write and re- 
fused to wire. And also refused to show me what he wrote, but he swore 
he had no objection to offer. . . . Cannot see why, if he has no objection to 
offer, he won't show us what he writes. . . . He said that he had said all he 
could in our favor but he mentioned having said that we were accompa- 



nied by 50 men 30 Esc sepclys and 20 natives of India. The Esc sepoys is 
j~rst the thing to scare them, Begged him to change it.2z 

The following day, April 8, Cox saw Sader again: 

Repeated request to change Esc sepoys, and he agreed to put partly ex-sc- 
poys and partly porters! He also showed me the letter he had written and 
X found he had put ""Rudolfland" as our objective! This is quite enougb to 
put them off, and quite inaccurate. In my ufAciaX notice far the Harrar au- 
thorities, 1 said "'Lake Abaya and the Ornon-quite a different pair c)f 
shoes. He however agreed to change it and put as in my u f f i ~ i a l , ~ ~  

Sadler, of course, had the destination correct, but Cox and Smith 
had misstated it to Harrington sa as to diliarln any official opposition 
to the trip. Sradler was an experienced soldier and diplomat, having 
served in India and as consul at Muscat (1892-1896) before taking up 
his post at Berbera, and he could not be fooled. Laltc Abaya and the 
Orno were viewed as Ethiopian. The Lake Rudolf area was still an 
open question, and Salisbury was concerned about possible armed 
clashes with the Ethiopians in the region. Menelik had, in effect, ap- 
proved a tvip through Ethiopian territory, not one to Lake Rudslf and 
the Nile.24 

Smith and Cox left far Aden on April 9, 1899.?' Cox was in India for 
the next two months, helping Smith to recruit ex-sepoys for the Lake 
Rudolf-Nilc cxpedition, However, Cox was never to ga on the trip, On 
May 2, 1899, Lord Curzon, the new viceroy of India, appointed Cox 
resident at Muscat, where the French were challenging British su- 
premacy at the cntmncc to the Persian Gulf, The news reached Cox in 
Bolnbay, where he was helping Donaldson Smith. Gtzrzon made the of- 
fer very appealing by promising to raise the allowance at Museat and 
by arranging a permanent appointment far Cox under the Foreip De- 
partment.% Smith was now on his awn as far as the trip to the Nile 
was concerned, 

The Gaekwa's Scientific Expedition to Somaliland was a success, 
and descriptions of the birds and batrachians eulIcctcd were published 
in the Proceedings of the Zc~ologl'cal Sr~ciety- of London. Some of the 
103 bird specimens collected were presented by the gaekwar to the 
British Museum, Sixtecn specimens of batrachians were alst~ col- 
lected, and these were added to those that Smith had given tu the 
British Museum following his 1894-1895 trip, Also included was an 
excellent butterfly ec~llection.~~ 

Smith continued his preparations in India, spending most of May 
and June 1899 recruiting Sikhs and Gurkhas in the Punjab. 13y July, he 
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was back in Berbera, ready to leave for Lake Rudolf and the Nile. Ac- 
companying him weve Carlysle Frazer, a Scottish taxidermist who had 
recently been with him and Cox on the Gaekwar's Expedition, and 
Gaetann, a Gaanesc cook. From the outset, S adlcr tried to sabotage the 
expedition by inducing desertions and making it difficult for Smith to 
hire a Solxlali headman, However, while he succeeded in these efforts 
to some degee, he was unable to prevent Smith from marching out of 
Berbera with seventeen Somalis and as many Gurkhas. 

Sanith% saute eventually crisscrossed his 1895 one, as he tried to 
lnove tl.lrcjugl.1 as much parallel unexplored country as he cc~uld. He 
continuously surveyed as he went, using instruments borrowed from 
the Indian Survey Dcpartmcnt, By October, he was in the country of 
the Buran, whom he found friendly this time. He also had some good 
words to say about the Ethiopians: "In 1895, I saw the worst side of 
their treatment; but on my recent journey, I found that their treat- 
lnent of the tribes, once thoroughly brtrught to submission, was corn- 
mendalsle.'Then he arrived at El Bere, he had reached the midpoint 
of his ~ourney, 750 miles from Bcrbera and an equal distance from the 
Nile. T ~ L I S  lay, he had had a nulllber of serious problelns with both the 
Somalis and the Indians in his party, and he had some rather harsh 
words to say about theme2" 

In early Novernbcr, Smith passed Egdcr, which he had visited nn his 
Arst expedition, In 1895, it had talten him nine months to reach this 
place kotn Bcrhera, but now he had done so in just three. Smith found 
Arab and Somali traders from Kismayzx in the region, trading in ivctry 
and cattle. He and his men then moved on toward Mega and headed 
for the southeast end of Lake Stephanie. Before rcaching the lake, 
Smish obtained a specimen of a tiny gazelle, which he later presented 
to the British Museum; it was found to be new to science and was 
named Nndoqtzn gtzrztlaeri ~ r n i t h i i . ~ ~  

Smith reached Lake Rudolf on December 10, 1899, some four 
months after leaving Berbera (during his 1894-1895 trip, it had taken 
him a year to reach the lake kom Berbe~a). He found that the Murfe of 
the Omo delta had been reduced to poverty, and he concluded that it 
was the result of Ethiopian raids. However, this was only part of the 
story since the region had also been affected by a severe brought, Con- 
cernilig the source of Lake Rudolf, Smith admitted that he had, iri fact, 
txaveled up the Mago, not the Omo, on his first tripew He then put 
forth the opinion that the Mago and the Qlno contributed equal voi- 
umes of water to a third and final strearn, the Nianamm, which then 
fXctwed into the lake, He could not have accurately assessed the two 
rivers from a hydrological point of view and was thus making some- 



thing of an educated wess at best, The Omo River is, in fact, the prin- 
cipal source of Lake Rudolf, and the Mqo ,  which Smith explored, is a 
major tributary. 

On January 3, 1900, Sxnith left the O I ~ C I  and started west across the 
390 miles of unexplured land that lay between him and the Nile. Late 
in the month, he crossed WcllbyJs line of ~narch at right angles and en- 
tered the country of the Marguis people, whom he described as cow 
worshipers, He continued to collect natural history speci~nens as he 
had done all along, and in this areal he secured a Ruppel" reed-buck 
and a pair of spotted bush buck, which the British Museu~n did not 
possess at the time, 

In late February, Smith entered the country around Tarangale, the 
northern~nc~st point reached by Macdonald in Novelnber 1898, It was 
there that a local chief named Amara told him the Bxitish had set up a 
post on the cast bank of the Nile considerably south of Lado, Prcvi- 
ously unaware of this, Smith had planned to exit via the Congo.'" 
Quickly changing his plans, he headed for this post, which he reached 
on March 14, 1900, seven and a half months after he had left Berbera 
in Somaliland. At Fort Berkeley, he was welcomed by Captain William 
K. Dugmare of the Ugank Rifles, with whom he remained for seven 
weelcs. 

Although Smith had filled in a nulllber of gays an the map of Africa 
and had achieved his goal of being the first to cross from Lake Rudslf 
west to the Nilc, he was now faced with the fogistical yrobleln of get- 
ting his men, equipment, and specimens out through the best possible 
route. The river route did not at first seem a likely option, even 
though the British had begun cutting a navigable channel through. the 
sudd, the vast area uf floating vegetable matter that crlvered a large 
area of the Upper Nile. However, he was eventually able ta travel 
down the Nile by boat, while Frazex trekked to Molnbasa with the 
men and the expeclition's cofleetions. 

Smith reached Cairo in early June, from where he tvaveled to Lon- 
h. By any measure, his expedition bad bcen a @eat success. He had 
lnapped over 500 miles of unexplored territory and had brought back 
several hundved different species of birds, mammalia, plants, reptilia, 
batrachia, Ashes, and butterflies. 

A week after arriving at Fort Berkeley on the Nile, Smith had writ- 
ten to J, Scott Keltie at the Royal Geographical Society, not only out- 
lining the accomplishments of his expedition but also detailing the 
prdlcms he had with Colonel Sadler in Somaliland, He also told 
Keltie that he planned to exit via the Cango under Belgian auspices.42 

This statement about tsaveling under Belgian auspices was sure to ir- 
ritate the British, who in 1900 were lnrlving toward a showdown with 
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Belgitlrn in the Bahr el Ghazel area that borders on the Upper Nile. 
Smith" ssubsequent cornments were also intended to nettle the Royal 
Geographical Society: "I am sorry that President Sir elements 
Markhaln [of the Royal Geogaphical Society] expressed the wish that 
it [the txip from Lake Rudolf to the Nile] should be clone by an English- 
man. I do not know whether the President will forgve me or not, but I 
shall probably find this out before 1 leave Antwerp for America."'"" 

This was a loaded statement that contained a not-so-veiled threat. 
Smith was now the conquering hero, scornhl of whatever Markharn 
and the British had to say, Moreover, he was not planning to visit En- 
gland, candidly saying he would sail, .from Antwerp to America. He in- 
tendtrd this as rnore than a snub to the Royal Geogxaghical Society. 
There were clearly serious political and military dimensions to his 
projected plans. He now possessed uniclue maps of British-claimed ter- 
ritories and detailed information about them that could be placed in 
the wrong hands, as the Fareign Office saw it. And Smith gave a not- 
so-subtle hint that he was consideriq doing just that: 

X am undecided to whom X shall give my maps, The Germans so far have 
treated me with the most I~onor in doing justice to my maps, They like 
just what X can hand over to them, viz everything triangulated and 
checked and re-checked. You must acknowletfge that the Germzlns have 
treated my maps far better than the R.G.S., and also that subsequent to 
an ephcrncrat puif aftcr reading a paper, X found no one to stand up for me 
when X was snubbed cm the occasion of Cavendish" paper. If the latter 
were only the affair of a night, so must the former have been.'$ 

Smith had apparenlly been deeply hur"chy Cavendish" sallegations 
that he had treated the Boran badly. Moreover, he was angry that no 
one at the society had stood up for him, This is not surprising, given 
that they only had his side of the story and Gavendishis. In addition, 
the latter was tile first British explorer to reach the lake, and his fel- 
low countrymen were not about to publicly denounce him and side 
with Smith, an American, 

In his letter of March 211 1900, from Fort Berkeley, Smith asked 
Keltie for a quid pro quo. In essence, if the society wanted his maps 
and the other fruits of his expedition, they would have to give him the 
previctusly promised %2,000 that he now said he would use for future 
scientific trips.35 

Given the contents of the letter, it is clear that Smith was not averse 
to Keltic" sharing all of it with the leadership of the society, He had, 
after all, achieved his goal. of exploring the lands between Lake Rudslf 
and the Nile in the highly professional manner respected by all of the 
European geogaphieal societies, He had done this despite incredible 



obstacles placed in his path by the British governlnent and local 
British officials such as Sadler in Somallland, He bad what the British 
now wanted and was clearly in a position to dictate terms. They had 
no desire to see his maps fall into either Gerlnan, Belgian, French, or 
Italian hands for a number (16 reasons, among which was the obvious 
embarrassment that wautd have ensued if British-claimed territory 
were laid out in map form for the first time in the publication of a ri- 
val European colonial power. 

The Royal Geographical Society moved rapidly to both mollify 
Smish and imply that Britain had assisted him 013 his expedition. In a 
notice published in the Grsograplhi~al Journal, the society announced 
that part of the mapping was done by Smith" ttaxidermist-assistant, a 
British subject, that most of S~nith" men. and collections had exited 
through British territory; and that Smith himself had traveled down 
the Nile on a British gunhoat.'"~o appease Smith, the socicty 
pro~nptly invited him to read his paper at a Navelnber 12, 1900, ses- 
sion chaired by Sir Clements Markharn, the president. Srnith received 
lavish praise from Markham and athers present at the meeting, in- 
eluding Oldfield Tfhomas of the British Musctrm, who named two an- 
telopes in his h o n ~ r , ' ~  This was not all. The society promptly pub- 
lished his paper, and leading members of the council privately 
apolr~gized to him for past ~nisunderstandinl;s, On May 20, 1901, 
Markharn personally presented Smith with, the society's Patrc~n's 
Medal! which was one of the most coveed prizes in the field of geo- 
graphic e~plora-tion.~" 

After so many accolades, Srnith could not rehse to give his maps to 
the society. Yet for the nest of his life, he frequently complained that 
the society's couneil had reneged on its prolnise to give him %2,000 to 
offset the costs oE his expedition, 

None of those who were present at the medal-awarding cerelnony 
could have surmised that Smithf$ career as an explorer had, in effect, 
come to an end, He never returned to the regions of Africa he knew so 
well, nor did he lead scientific expeditions into other parts of the 
world. Many would follc~w in his footsteps to Lake Rudolf and the 
Omo River, enlar#ng on the geographic discoveries he had made, But 
his own life would take a different turn, 

One af Smith's friends in the first decade of the twentieth century 
was Theadore Roosevelt, who admired him as a sportsman and natu- 
ralise," h 11909, Roasevelt appointed him as U.S. consul in Mersine, 
Turkey, at an amual stipend of $2,500."0 By this time, Smith was fi- 
nancially strapped because of some poor investments and had also be- 
came dependent on alcohol. Unfartunatell: he often became violent 
when inebriated, which in turn led tcz his being transferred from Mer- 



lloetor Smith Ref.ze~7.z~ 219 

sine to Patras, Greece, after a few months. However, his stay there 
was also brief, and in April 19 19, he was transferred to Awascalientes, 
Mexico, where he rernained for a year.41 

Returnillg to Philadelphia, Smith became active in the Boy Scout 
movement, hoping to help boys appreciate the wanders of the natural 
world, In 19 1 '7, he ~oincd the 'Lfnil-ed States &my as a cq ta in  and was 
assigned to Fort Oglethoupe in Georgia43Shortly thereafter, he moved 
to Roulette, a small town in northern Pennsylvania, where he prac- 
ticed rnedicixle until 19334. Smith's income was suppZcmcnted by a 
srnall military pension and a remittance from his niece" huushand, 
Charles A. Potter Jr., a successful Philadelphia businessman. Ausund 
1934, Srnith retired from Roufette, in part because of failing eyesight. 
He then lived for mc-~st uf the year with his niece, Margaret Spencer 
Potter, and her husband in Philadelphia and spent the winters in St. 
Petersburg, Florida. His health began to fail in 1935, and on February 
19, 1939, be died of coronary artery disease at the United States Naval 
Hospital in Philadelphia at the age of seventy-two 

Smith's sccond journey to Lake Rudalf essentially braught to an end 
the era of exploratory travel around Lake Rudolf that had begun with 
Count Samuel Teleki and Lieutenant Ludwig von Hiihnel. Smith had 
Alled in the last large remaining blank space on a map that was now 
accurately charted with rivers, mountains, lakes, and swamps, Trian- 
elation, howeveu, had not resolved the question of where British East 
Africa cndcd and Ethiopia began, Most of the travelcrs who next vis- 
ited the lake carried chrono~neters and theodolites and had a knowl- 
edge clf the stars. They also carried a mandate to draw political lines 
across the map. 
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acing the ' U n i o ~  

The members of the E-larrison- 
Whitehouse Expedis'ion ~$1899-1900 
012 their return ur Nairobi. Left to right: 
Willianl Fitzhugh Whitehouse, U .  
Perks, Archibald Edwurd Butter, 
DontzXd CXarke, a12d h m e s  fonathnxl 
Hlzrrison (couste.sy Scar borough 
Borough Council, D~pautment  of 
E~rrrr-isnz and Amenities, Wc~od End 
Itlusetlnz), 

n Move~nber 1889, three 
lnrlnths after Arthur Don- 
aldson S ~ ~ i t h  bad left 

Berhcra on his cpic journey 
frorn Lake Rudolf to thc Nile, 
an Anglo-American expedition 
under Tames Jonathan Harrison 
arrived at Zeila, on the Somali 
coast. Its purpose was to "carry 
a colnplctc survcy through the 
Hawash Valley tt., Lalte Rttdolf, 
and if possible across to the 
Nilc, at the salne tirnc combin- 
ing a sporting trip in whicb at- 
tention was to be directed tu 
thc beasts and the birds of the 
countries visited. " q ~ o r t u -  
itously, the group met Colonel 
John Lanc Harrington, the 
British agent in Erhiopia, who 
was himself traveling from 
Zcifa to Addis Aibaba, Hc had 
already secured permission for 
the expedition to travel to the 
Ethiopian capital and was in- 
tensely interested in their 
plans to go to Lake Rudolf. Yet 
only a few months before, the 
Foreign Office had done its 



best tc-I prevent Smith and Percy Cox from undertaking just such a 
journey. 

There were two principal reasons far this difference of attitude. The 
first and foremost was that Menelilr;, the Ethiopian emperor, had 
agreed to again place the t;mion Jack at the northern end ctf the lake. 
This standard had first been placed there in 1898 by Herbert Henry 
Austin but was relaovcd by the Russian buccaneer Nicholas teontiev 
in 1899. Xn the complex negotiations over the Anglo-Ethiopian border, 
Harrington was anxious to ret-ctrn the Rag to this location since it cs- 
semially proclaimed Britaids ownership of most of the lake. He did 
not have the resources to send an expedition to the lake for this pur- 
pose, nor was the Foreign Office willing to h n d  one, Thus, Warrington 
seized upon the idea of having Harrison do the job and then march 
over to the Nile in order to secure British claims to this stretch of ter- 
ritory. As the Foreign Qfficc saw it, Smith" eexpediitjon would only 
have complicated matters since as a third-country national, Smith 
could not have achieved these objectives. In addition, his presence in 
this geographically contested arca might have hrther  complicated 
lnatters between Britain and Ethiopia, 

Harrison was nat a newcomer to Africa, where he had previously 
hunted, A keen sportsman, he was born in 1858 at his family's esate, 
Brandeshurton Hall, in Yorkshire and educated at Elstree, Harrow, and 
Christ Church, Oxford. In 1884, he joined the Prince of Wales Yorkshire 
Hussars and cveat.rrally rose to thc rank of lieutenant ~olonel .~  Although 
a Inan af great wealth, like Smith he sought ways to defray the enor- 
mous casts of an expedition of this kind. He first approached the Royal 
Geogaphicd Sociew by writing to J. Seott Keltie on p ly  24, 1898: 

In case our trip from Berbera to Lake Rudolf and then attempt to explore 
the co~mtry down to the Sobat River comcs off this auturnn, could we not 
interest the Geographical Society to aid us with a grant towards taking 
out a i~rlfy qualified man to rnap and take observations. X have all but 
%I ,000 required far such rt trip. . . . Hoping your Society may be endowed 
to give us some financial assistant in the matter." 

Wary of possible Foreign Office opposition to the trip at a time prior 
to Harrington's need far restoring the flag, he warned Keltic to '"kindly 
keep the matter as private as po~sible."~ Keltic did hut flatly refused to 
allocate any funds to support the expedition, However, the society did 
provide Harrison with a set of surveying instruments and later helped 
draw the final versions of his maps. 

Harrison was successhl in recmiting sevexal other prominent sports- 
men to participate in the expedition, The first of these was an American, 
Williala Fitzhugh Wl~itehouse, whose significant financial contribution 



made him a cosprlnsor of what beea~nc: knc~wn as the Harrison- 
Whitehouse Exy>edition, Whitehousc: was b a n  in Elmhurst, Illinois, on 
Septe~nber 6, 2877. The son of Fitzhugh %itehouse, an international 
lawyer, and Frances Sheldon, he spent ~nost of his yo~zth in Englancl, at- 
tending Gheam School in Surrey and Winchestex College. In 1895, he en- 
tered b l e ,  where he gaduated four years later with honons in histoly 
and econo~nics, At twenty-two, Whtehouse was the youngest ~ne~nber 
of the party. However, he was endowed with remarkable leadership 
skills, a pleasant and engaging personality, and a love of the outdooss, 
Over six feet in lieight, he was a supcrb athlete and a superim marksman. 
Whitehouse was also insighthl and obsemnt, qualities that helped him 
pxoduce two of the four firsthcurd accounts of this e~pedition.~ 

Harrisun also invited a well-known sportslnan, Perey Horace Gor- 
don Powell-Cotton, to ~o in  the group. Powell-Cotton was the scion oE 
wealthy London merchants, and in 1894, he inherited his family" es- 
tate, Quex Park;, in Kent, In contrast to the forceful and at times brash 
Harrison, Pouvell-Cotton was extremely courteous, thoughtful, and 
observant, Althaugh be was eight years Hardson's junior, he was 
equally experienced as a huntcr and had already led several colleetillg 
expeditions of his own to Asia and Africa. ?"he sharp differences in the 
pcrsanalities ofthese two men were bound to emerge under the rmpre- 
dictable circu~nstances of field travel, However, neither foresaw the 
inevitable hreakup of their partnership or the litigation that followed," 

H;.zrrisan recruited a second Britisher, kchibald Edward Butter, the 
twenty-five-year-c~ld laird of Faskally, a 33,000-acre Scottish estate in 
Perthshiue. Educated at Eton, Butter was a keen sportsman who also 
bred Labrador retrievers. Alrhaugh he had never been to Africa before, 
his trip with Harrison set the stage for several subsequent journeys in 
which he played a prominent role in delineating Ethiopia's l~oxders 
with Britain's possessions,' 

Harrison also engaged Donald Glarke, an experienced surveyor with 
the Royal Engineers, and R. Perks, a sltilXed taxidermist. After arriving 
at Zeila, Harrison was able to hire as his headman Mohamed H;.zssarz, 
the Inan who had served CaptGn Muntagu Sinelair Wllhy in the same 
capacity just a short time before, He also recruited sixty-one Somalis 
who had previously traveied with Smith, Lord Dclarnerc, Henry Hart 
Gavenc-Iish, and Wellby. Among them was b r s a  (Karshaj, a wnbearer 
who had accompanied William Astclr Chanlele on his 1892-1894 tvip 
and b i t b  on his 1894-2895 expedi"cion to Lake Rudolf. Having lnen 
who had already passed through an expedition" proposed route was a 
great advantage. They knew the country well, and based on their prior 
expcricnces, they were able to provide valuable advice that was vital 
to an expeditiods success. Yet thcse heroes of late-nineteenth-century 



travel in Africa are only occasionally identified or merely mentioned 
in passing in most European accounts, 

Qn November 12, 1899, Harrison led the expedition out of Zeila to- 
ward Addis Ababa. In his train werc sixty camels carrying supplies, 
camping equipment, and ammunition. The raute from Zcila to Addis 
Ababa passed through what was then rick game country less fre- 
quently visited by Europeans than the area ~ ~ 1 s t  beyond Berbera. Aftcr 
a month of successful hunting, they approached the Awash River, at 
which point relations between Harrison and Powell-Cotton began to 
sour, The essential problexn was that Bowell-Gc~tton selectively 
hunted in order to collect natural history specimens that he thought 
would be useful to science. Harrison, on. the other band, tended to 
hunt lnrlre indiscriminately for trophies, a trait that resulted in the re- 
grettable killing of immature elephants in the Awash River valley. 
Powell-Comn had s o m  sharp words with Harrison over t h i s  and 
later wrote the following rebuke in his book: *'The net result of our 
hunt was, that H. killed five elephants, and W. and B. one each, while I 
had also seen two drop. As none of the natives here eat the flesh, it 
see~ned a pity to have killed sa Inany for the sake of such small ivory, 
and I was sorry I had taken part in the huntaFr8 

Tbe inexpcricnccd Bul.t.cr and Whitehouse werc pleased with the 
hunt, pri~narily because they felt satisfied in baggillg their first ele- 
phants, However, Harrison should have known better than to have 
pursued elephants whose tusks only averaged some seventeen pounds 
each. In part, he was motivated by a need to present Mmelik with a 
gift of ivory on arriving in Addis Ababa. As it tu~ned out, Menelik, 
who had no peat  inclinations toward wildlife conservation, was sur- 
prised that Harrison would have ltilled such young elephants. Harring- 
ton had to apologize to Menelik for this and later reprimanded Ifarri- 
son and the others, 

The expedition arrived in Addis Ababa on January L ,  19001 and four 
days later, the leaders were invited by Menelik to a formal reception 
and dinner. Mcnelik was especially keen on seeing Whitehouse sinecl 
he had never before Inet a high-rankilly: American. While in the capi- 
tal, mitehouse met up with another sportsman, Fredesic Ernest All- 
sopp (Baron Hindlip], with whom he would undemke a hmting trip 
in Ethiopia in 1902. More relevant to Harrison, however, was the 
news that there was a drought in the south and in the lands around 
Lake Rudolf. He wrongly concluded that it would be impossible to 
travel from the lake to the Nile because of a presuxned lack of water. 
What he did not ltnow was that despite the drou&t, there were ade- 
quate water sources between the lake and the Nile, a stretch of coun- 
try that Smith began traversing un January 3, 1900, In view of the in- 



for~nation about the drought, Harrison decided to change the expedi- 
tion's itinerary. Instead of crossing over to the Nile from Lake Rudolf, 
he decided to head south frol-ul the lake into the British East Africa 
Protectorate. He also inforlncd his ec~mpanions that until they left 
Lake Rudolf, surveying would take precedence over hunting, which 
would largely be postponed until they reached the game Eiclds to the 
south. This was a wise decision, given the informarion at hand. 
Nonetheless, Powell-Cotton disagreed with it and saw an opportunity 
to disassociate himself fror-ul Harrisan, with whom he was increasingly 
in conflict. On January 3, Pc~well-Cotton wrote a terse entry in his di- 
ary summarizing his break with Harrison: "I drop out of trip as J.J. and 
X: can't hit it off. 

The expedition members used their time in Ad&s Ababa ta rest, re- 
goup, and ship out the trophies they had obtained thus farelThey met 
on January 17 to sort orxt their Anancial arrangements and the follawing 
day parted ctlmpany. Powell-Cotton headed north for the Simien Moun- 
tains, where he planned to hunt ibex, while Harrison and the others set 
out for Lake Rudolf." Menelik provided &em with letters to his local 
officials, requestillg that they provide every possible assistance. 

Hasrington gave Hasrison several Union. Jacks and instructed him to 
place one at the north end of the lake. Menelk had agreed to the re- 
placement of the flag initially hoistcd by Herbert Henry Austin in 
1898 but removed by the Russian Nicholas Lectntiev the following 
year. However, he was unaware of Harriwton's instructions to Harri- 
son to set up other flags as well. 

Haraison eventually followed Wellby 'S ssouthward route clf the previ- 
ous year, But he was disappointed to And that the vast herds of elc- 
pbants were "a thing of the past, cleared out by the crlnstant shooting 
of Abyssinian ssoldiers who are now following the ivory right thrnugh 
the Boran ~ormtry." '~ In the two manths prior ta Harrison" arrival, 
stlme 1,500 Ethiopian soldiers had killed 750 elephants, whose tusks 
had been sent to Addis Ababa and then shipped to Europe and Asia. 
Ivory had now become a principal export for Ethiopia and a lnajor 
stlurce of hard currency earnings that Menelik primarily used to pur- 
chase arms and ammunition. 

As Harrisan and his colnpanions got closer to the @eat lakes, their 
worst fears were realized, The severe drought had dried up rivers and 
streams, caused crops to fail, and created a severe famine. As a result, 
the entire countryside had been depopulated of those who had sur- 
vived the Ethiopian raids of the previous several years." 

Once they climbed down from the hills, Harrisun and his compan- 
ions found themselves on parched plains devoid of peoplc and game, 
Yet the rainy season had just hewn, and "dt~rlng heavy thunderstorms 



the whole country was a running sheet of water six to twelve inches 
But the water soon evaporated or was absorbed into the dry 

earth. 
On approaching Lake Stcphanic, they found "nothing hut a vast ex- 

tent of ground stfewn with shells and heaps of fish-bones.""" The en- 
tire lake had dried up, and all the life in and arawd it had died off, 
They were able to obtain watcr by diging deeply into the floor of the 
lake bed, and they put their rain barrels to good use by collecting the 
pure water: that fell from the sky. 

The expedition nrlw headed southwest toward its principal goal, 
Lake Rudolf. Whitehouse later wrote that "the trek to the lake was 
terrible, and indeed but fox finding a large roclr. pool of watcu; the jour- 
ney would have been impossible.'"Wn March 25, they sighted the 
lake across a sea of hot mirages: '"t last the trying days were over and 
we sighted Lake Rudolf. The watGr was extremely brackish and alka- 
line, but even the ca~nels enjoyed it. Here was plenty of game, oryx, 
topi, and many other species." f-farrison set up a camp on the lake 
shore, where both camels and rnen were able to recover from the ox- 
deal of the previous weeks. While there, they sighted the albino topi 
that Wellby had seen the year before, and '"utter obtained this great 
trophy by a lucky shot with his Mauser."" Wellby" description of this 
unusual animal had caused great excitc~nent in natural history circles 
in Britain. As a result, the expedition had been asked to bring a speci- 
lnen back to London in the interest of science. Butter not only brought 
baclc the skin and horns but also the entire skeleton, which he drt- 
nated to the British Museum. 

On the last day of March, the party headed for Murle on the Omo 
River in order to run up the Union Jack. However, to their dismay, they 
found the area devoid of people and the riverbed completely dry, The ab- 
sence of people had political significance, as Haxison later implied: 

Having scouted round the whcile country-side in the hcipes of finding 
some natives, WC returned, and with difficulty selected a single tall thorn 
tree near Murle. Sending our shlkarees up wlth axe and saw, we dressed 
all away, leaving only a centre arm, on which. we hoisted the English flag; 
doing sci at the request c)f Ccifonel Harrington and with the acquiescence 
of the emperor, to denote the fiyssinian and English boundary-line. Had 
we been able to discover any inhabitants, we should have hoisted a sec- 
ond Slag i~rrther north. Needless to say, as the flag went up, the whole 
party sang "God save the Queen," a bottle of chan~patgne hatving been 
brsu&t along in which to drink her Majesty" 

As part of his efforts to prevent the Ethiopians from furlher en- 
croaching on British-claimed territory, Harringnn had asked Harrison 



to run up several Rags well to the north of the lake, in addition to the 
replacement flag closer to the lake. In so doing, he tried to purposely 
push Britain's territorial claims well north of the area originally 
staked out by Austin, He did this not so much to seize more territory 
but rather to better position himself for future border negotiations, 
which hc knew would be difficult-. 

Unfortunately for Harrington, Harrison was unable to locate any 10- 
cal peoples to whom he could give flags and place under British protec- 
tion. Therefore, he had to be satisfied with rnercly replacing Austin's 
flag, which in itself was a significant political accomplishment, Onec 
this was done, he and the others headed down the previously explored 
eastern share of the fake, where they were able to hunt, On April 19, 
they passed the Teleki Volcano at the lake's sst~uthern end and moved 
on toward Lake Raxingct. A month later, they arrived at the railhead of 
the Uganda Railway, just cast of Lake Naivasha. There, they sold off 
their pack animals, including the thirty camels that had survived the 
trip (of the original sixtyf, and took the train to Mombasa, From Mom- 
basa, they returned to Britain via India sincc an outbreak of plague had 
placed Aden undcr quarantine. 

Haraison was extremely proud oE the maps the expedition's surveyor 
Glarke had made and promptly subrnitoed them to the Royal Geo- 
graphical Society. But the society's leaders were less than enthusiastic 
about them on two accounts. Although Clarke had used a plane table 
and theodolite to chart his positions, he had failed to use a sextant, 
which would have produced greater accuracy, However, this minor 
technical deficiency was overshadowed by the fact that Harrison had 
attached a host of alien names to major landmarks, rxost of which had 
already been ducrtmented by other explorers, such as Smith and 
Wellby. Unlike Haraison, these earlier explorers had given most land- 
masks their local mmes, though Smith and at-has had strayed from 
this principle on a k w  occasiuns. Sincc Smith" first trip, the society 
had adopted and published a policy strongly ueing travelers to give to- 
cal names to landlanarks. Harrison was obviausly unaware o% this and 
pled innocence when Keltie and other suciety figures criticized his 
maps because the landmarks bore such names as the Bvandesburton 
Range, Whitehause Range, lames Peak, Mount Glarke, Mount 
Faskally, and Edith Lake. Writing t r ~  Keltie, a chastised Harrison said: 

X reget the enclosed notes on ""naming places" has ncver been given me 
before. But you can rely an Clarke having retained every name known ar  
trsed by natives. He always tried both Abyssinian and Galla for every 
place-and kept a careful list af anytlalng without a local name. He was 
just as careful about that as he was not inserting what he had not seen- 
for be never could put in a yard on chance.'" 



Althrlugh the Harrison-Whitehr~use Expedition was pri~narily a 
sporting trip, it served a vital political role in reasserting British 
claims to Lake Rudoll, Its various members collected a numher of per- 
sonal trophies, but they also obtained natural history specimens for 
several museums. Whitehouse, for example, gave a large collection to 
the American Museum of Natural History in New Uork Citye2" The ex- 
pedition also documented the dramatic effect of weather un the level 
of Lake Rudolf, which had dropped by a dozen feet during the previous 
year. Prior to this time, it had been assu~ned that the lake" size only 
underwent modest seasonal changes. 

Harrison continued to hunt in various parts of the world, filling 
Brandesburtan Hall with a huge collection of trophies, In 1805, he un- 
dertook a second trip to the Congo, where he recrt~ited several Mhuti 
pygmies in the Ituri Forest and brought them to London and to Bran- 
dcsbumn f-3[alle2"n November 1910, when he was fifty-two years old, 
he lnarried an A~ner i~an  wid~~w, Mary Stetson Clark- of Illinois, and 
began to lead a more settled life, He died at Bxandesburton Hall on 
March 12, 1923, in his sixty-fifth year. Shortly after his death, his fam- 
ily donated 300 animal heads and skins and 1,000 ~nc~unted birds to 
the Sca~bowough Borough Council. "The remnants clf this collection are 
now housed in the council" Wood End Museum of Natural History, 
along with his papers, diaries, photographs, and photographic plates. 
hcluded in this collection are 390 glass negatives taken on his trip to 
Lalte Rudolfe21 

Harrisun wrote an article about the expedition that was published 
in the GeogrqPzical puma1 in 1903, and Poweiil-Cotton produced a 
book, A. Sporting Trip Through Abyssilaia, describing the first phase of 
the trip and the subsequent ~nonths he spent hunting in Ethiopia, He 
continued to travel in Asia and Africa until the year befare his death 
in 1940 at the agc of seventy-four. Over a half century, he made a total 
of twenty-eigk collecting trips, many OI them to Africa. In order to 
house his enormous natural history and ethnographic collections, he 
established the Pawell-Cotton Museum at his ancestral estaE, Qucx 
Park. The museum currently contains eight galleries with some strik- 
ing dioramas of animals in their natural habitats.2$+ 

On his return from Africa, Whitehouse wrote an article about his 
trip to Lake Rudolf. Wrir.ten from a personal perspective, it described 
his adventures and experiences in detail, documented the expedition's 
proguess, and provided important information about the lands and peo- 
ples he observed," Twenty-Ave years later, he wrote an even more ex- 
tensive account for the Boone and Crockett Clube2" 

Less than two years after returning to New York City, Whitehouse 
set out again far Africa with Lard Hindlip, who~n he had met in Addis 



Ababa, He and Hindlip spent ten lnonths hunting around the 
Ethiopian Rift Valley lakes, but they did not visit Lake Rudolf." Presi- 
dent Theodore Raosevelt latex sought his advice about organizing a 
hunting trip to AfYica, but Whitehause himself had no immerliate in- 
terest in returning there. In 1904, he became a member ctf the New 
York Stock Exchangc and began a lifelong caxcer as an investlnent 
banker. During World War I, hc served as a captain in the army with 
the Seventy-Seventh. New York Division and was exposed to poison 
gas whilc in combat. 

In 1926, Whitclrouse lnoved to Newport, Rhode Island, following a 
bout of pneumonia. He served for two terms in the Rhode Island State 
Senate and was active in the Buy Scout rnovement and oebcr philan- 
thopic causes.27 A pioneer balloonist in his younger years, he later en- 
joyed quail sbosting at his brother Sheldon's estate near Taliafiassee, 
Florida. In 11952, he returned to Africa aftcr a lapse of almost half a 
century. However, he did not visit either Ethiopia or Kenya but rather 
accompanied his brother to the Belgian Congo, where his nephevv, 
Ghawles Whitehouse, was serving at the American consulate,28 

At his wife" gentle prodding, Whitehouse eventually parted with 
most of the African trophies that had hung fox many years in the hall 
and dining room of their Newport home. We gave them to a local 
restaurant, where they remained for a dozen years. He often spoke to 
his wife and children of his adventures and hunting experiences in 
Africa. On May 25, 1955, he died of a heart at-tack in his Ncwport 
home at the age of seventy-s i~ .~~ 

Butter retuvned to his estate, Faskally, for a while but was soon back 
in Africa, helping to secure Britain's claim to Lake Rudolf. As he well 
knew, the era of exploration had ended and was being supplanted by 
colonial rule, This was much in evidence in the British East Africa 
Protectorate, which was being organized into provinces and districts 
sewn together by telegraph wires and ruads. Butter realized that there 
was significant urgency in settling the ownership of the lake in 
Britain's favor, especially as the Et-hiopians had not abandoned hopes 
of claiming it as their own. What he could not have foreseen was 
Britain" unstated policy that wavered between determination and in- 
difference. 
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ollowing the fall of the 
Mahdist state, British 
concerns in the Sudan 

shifted to establishjng an offi- 
cial border with Ethiopia, This 
was viewed 3s crucial to pro- 
tecting Britain's control of the 
Nile. Emperor Menelik II of 
Ethiopia was amenable to con- 
cluding a treaty over his west- 
ern frontier, primarily because 
he saw no value to the mos- 
quito-infested swamps that lay 
below the highlands he had al- 
ready ctccupicd. Though geoga- 
phy strongly discouraged Ethi- 
opian expansion to the west and 
the Nile, it encouraged it to the 
south around Lake Rudolf, 
There, flat glains with vast ele- 

Mnior Herbert Henry Austin, following phant' herd; and large numbers 
his second expedition to Lake Kudolf of dolncstic stock madc for prof- 
(from A~nang Swamps and Giants in 
Equatorial Africa, 1902). 

itable raiding. 
Sir John Lane Harrington, the 

British agclst and consul gen- 
eral in Ethiopia, and Sir Evelyn Baring (Lord Cromer], who held the 
same rank in Ehypt, were the two officials on the spot who were most 
concerned about Ethiopian expansion into tcrritorics claimed by 
Britain, Both of them realized that the cwly effective deterrent to this 
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expansion was British occupation of all claimed territc~ries. However, 
this was impractical because Lord Salisbury was unwilling to finance 
such an effort duc to competing commitments elsewhere in Alkica, 
This left Cromer and Marrington, who worked closely to~gether on this 
issue, with little more than diplomatic maneuvering as a means of 
containing Mencli k. 

In 1889, Menelik agreed to Marringtc~n and Cro~ner's pproposal that 
they mutually delimit Ethiopia's western border with the Sudan.' 
That summeu; Harrington reeurncd to London with a map of the awca 
an which he and Mcndik had mutually traced a blue line marking the 
border, Harrington and Gxomer pushed hard for Salisbury to authorize 
a forlnal srrrvey so as to give the tentative border clcar meaning in 
terlns of topogaphic features and ethnic boundaries. Salisbury finally 
agreed to the proposal, and in October 1899, two separate survey par- 
tics were sent to the Sudan. One was headed by Major Charles 
William Gwynn of the Royal Engineers, the other by Major Merbcrt 
Henry Austin, whc~, as a member of Major Tames Ronald Macdonald's 
juba Expedition of 1897-1898, bad laid claim to most of Lake RudoZf 
for Britain, 

The two survey parties were collectively called the Abyssinian 
Frontier Expeditions. Gwynn took the northan portion, and Austin 
travelcd to the s t - ~ h ,  Both parties were instructed to pose as semisci- 
entific and shooting expeditions and to avoid d i s c u s s i ~  the true pur- 
pose of their activities with local chiefs, many of whom were eager for 
British protection from incessant Ethiopian raids,W~.~oever, Gwynn 
and Austin were free to discuss their work with high-ranking 
Ethiopian officials, who, in any cast, were hl ly aware of the truc pur- 
pose of their travels. 

Between October 1899 and July 1900, Austin surveyed the Sobat 
River basin, while Gwynn worked along the course of thc Blue Nile. 
Among other things, their surveys deterlnined points of effective 
Ethiopian ctccupation, which helped Harri~~gton in negotiating with 
Menclik. However, Austin's survey was not carried all the way dawn 
to Lake Rudolf or through the lands to the northwest uf it where the 
proposed borders of Ethiopial the Sudan, and the British East Africa 
Protectorate came together, This area to the west of the lake had been 
traversed by Montap  Sinclair Wellby in early 1899 and later in that 
year by Arthug Donaldson Smith. Despite the valuable surveys pro- 
duced by these unofficial visitors, Harrington viewed this entire rc- 
gion as vulnerable to Ethiopian seizure since no official Brit-ish expedi- 
tion had ever visited it. Theregore, after Austin and his associate, 
Major Richard Ceoxge Tyndall Bright, returned to Landon and corn- 
pleted their maps, Harrington requested that the governxnent send 



therm. back t s ~  the Sudan to co~nplete the survey down to the lake. Of 
course, Harrington had more than suxveying in mind, He wanted to re- 
inforce British clailns to take Rudolf, block possible Ethiopian seizure 
of lands to its west, and link up the Sudan survey with that of the 
British East Africa Protectorate* 

With these objectives in mind, Austin and Bright arrived back in 
Khartouln on December LO, 1900. With therm. was Dr. John Garner, 
who had been serving as a military physician to British troops in 
Cairo. Austin recruited 32 Jchadia transport drivers, 23 Afuican soi- 
diers from thc Tenth Sudanese Battalion under Sergeant Mabruk Ef- 
fendi Faki, and 4 servants, including an Arabic-English interpreter, 
Bakbir Ahlned, Xn place of porters, Austin took along 224 donkeys, 10 
mules, and 23 camels to carry the food and equipment necessary to 
support his expedition of 62 men. 

Austin and his entire expedition left Xihareorran in late December 
and arrived at Fmt Nasser 013 the Sabat Rivcr on January I l, LBOL Af- 
ter resting for a week, they started out on foot in a southerly direction 
through the grasslands surrounding the Pibor River. Bccausc Austin, 
Bright, and so1m.e of the Africans had traversed this country in 
1899-IY00, they did not need guides, and they made goad time in get- 
ting to the junction of the Akobo and Pibor Rivers. Although the 
swamps along the Aknbo were relatively dry, the cracked and hard- 
ened mud made the going extremely difficult. Worse still, swaxms of 
mosquitoes descended on their camp with a fury at sundown, 

On February 5, Austin led his expedition in a southeasterly direc- 
tion alc-lng the Akobo River, toward the base of the Ethiopian high- 
lands. They spent most of February trekking through the swamps and 
open grasslands near the river, where they met friendly groups of An- 
uak people, who provided them with guides. On February 24, they ar- 
rived at Mount Ungwala, which rises to 3,550 feet, and three days 
later began their ascent of the hilly Boma Plateau, 

Still following the Akobs River! Austin and his men eventually 
turned south along the Mibish River and entered country previously 
visited by Tiittorio Bottego, Smitl-t, and Wellby. As they did, Austin 
continued to survey the line that would ultimately become the Sudan- 
Ethiopia border.' 

On April 4, Austin and his men sighted Mount; Nakua, which rises 
3,295 feet, near Lake Rudolf. Four mare days of marching brought them 
to Austin's camp of September 15, 1896 where he linked togethcr his 
current; survey with those he had previuusly conducted. In so doing, he 
provided the British government with an accurate suYvey of all the land 
that lay astride a 2,300-mile-long line horn Omciurxnm in. the Sudan to 
Mombasa. In addition, he accurately documented the true extent of ef- 
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fective Ethiopian occupation and strengthened Britain" claixn to the no- 
man%-land that Wellby had described as '"twixt Sirdar and Menelik." 
M1 of this inkmation later proved to be extremely valuable to Warring- 
ton in his border negotiations with Menelik, 

Austin's arrival at the base of Mount Nakua effectively brought his 
survey activities to an end.%All that remained was to reinforce British 
claims to the lake and get the expedjtion safely out of the interior. 
Thus far, the members of the epcdition had enjoyed good health and 
had not encountered any hostile actions kotn local peoples. Austin's 
most pressing problem was that their k~od supplies were running low. 
However, Harrington had arranged for the Ethiopians to send a relief 
column down to the lake, and Austin hoped to buy food dram the local 
agriculturists around the 61110 River.' 

In the hopes of accomplishing both objectives, Austin and his men 
set off on April 9 on what they assumed would be a rewmding trek 
along the river, The Ethiopian relief colulnn was nowhere to be found, 
and, in fact, it never materialized. Worse still, local. Africans fled from 
their approach or else rehsed to barter bad. This behavior was hardly 
surprising since these peoples had laeen subjected to the brutal mili- 
tary invasions clf Rns Wolda Giorgis and Nicholas Leontiev a short 
time before, Still hopeful, Austin and his men headed farther north 
into the country of the Mursi, but the reception there was much the 
same. Although large patches of the riverbank were cultivated, the 
crops were at least two mont.hs from maturity. This meant that grain 
could not be confiscated fro111 the fields, as solne travelers had done 
when starvation threatened, The only available grain was stored in 
granaries, but Austin was unwilling to raid villages to take it by force, 
To ~nake  lnatters worse, the rainy season then under way was espe- 
cially heavy and had turned the riverbank into a bog." 

Austin, Bright, and Garner weighed their options. They and their 
men now had only ten t r ~  twelve days of food available on full rations. 
They quickly decided against going north into the Ethiopian highlands 
where food was available since the cold and rain cn route would. hiwe 
killed most of the transport animals on which their own lives dc- 
pended. Therefore, they chose to return south and make for the British 
post of Ribo, which lay some 300 miles away in the Uganda Protec- 
torate. This decision to exit the 61110 River delta along the lake's west- 
ern shore was really their only viable option. Yet it meant trekkiing 
over harsh terrain devoid of much in the way of wildlitc and inhabited 
by the Turkana, The T~~rkana  had every reason to be intensely hostile 
toward strangers after the recent punishing visit of Lesntiev's men. 

Austin, Bright, and Garner believed that the expedition could sur- 
vive on its transport animals, now consisting of L 1 camels, 10 mules, 



and 114 donkeys. But Austin fYankly projected ""a loss of 25 percent of 
our men and about 50 percent of the animals.'" With that grim 
praspect in mind, he led the expedition south araund the enormous 
swalnps that had forlneci at the northwestern corner of the lake. 
Things got off to a bad start when one of the transport clrivers was 
killed by local Africans, his body thrown into the crocodile-infested 
river. For the next two weeks, the expedition slrlwly made its way 
around and through the swamps, barely sustained by reduced rations 
and continuously harassed by local villagers, 

On May 5, two of Austin" Sudanese soldiers and his cook, Ma- 
hmed ,  were killed in an ambush,TThat night, the local Murle people 
launched two armed attacks against the carnp but were quickly dviven 
off by bursts of gunfire. Austin sadly noted that "the whole tribe was 
bitterly fio~tile."~ The veasan for the hostility was the recent brutality 
to which they had been subjected at the bands of the Ethiopians. 
Three years earlier, these very people had sold Austin food, provided 
@ides, and warned of imminent attacks by the Tu~kana, 

To complicate mattcrs, Austin himself became so ill with gastritis 
that Garner insisted they take a two-day rcst.1° On May 1 l, Austin led 
his men south again, carried on a camel at the head of the column, 
They had now entered into the land of tXlc Turkana people, whom 
they expected would be hostile and unwilling to barter food. Wit-h 
their uwn rations running ever lower, Austin reduced the men's daily 
allotment to a cjuartcr of a pound of meat and grain on May 1 7 ,  The 
Sudanese ca~nels, unwilling to eat the lc~cal scrula, soon wasted to skin 
and bones and were killed for their meat. 

It was at this time, approximately a man& after they had started on 
redt~eed rations, that some of the lnen began to show s i p s  of Severe 
illness, Those primarily affected were the Jehadia transport drivers, 
who occupied the lowest rung in the hierarchy of the expedition, 
Austin gave his own interpretation of why they suffered more than 
the whites and the Sudanese soldiers: "All the men were m~)st visibly 
sulfering greatly from the want of carbo-hydrate food . . . and on meat 
alone they appeared quite incapable of maintaining their strength. The 
askaris [soldiers] all messed togethex, and derived considerable benefit 
from clubbing their rations, and obtained, moreover, a sustaining soup 
horn the meat, which was always boiled by them."I1 

Garner, the medical offices, later threw additional light on the mat- 
ter in his official report: 

Our transport drivers now showed s i p s  of the insufficient sour ration. 
Thcir meat ration as served out to them was adequate. Owing to inability 
to trust each other, they would not run a combined mess, as our soldiers 
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did. The consequence was their meat was improperly cooked; on the 
other hand, our escort clubbed their rations together, the result being 
their meat was always well boiled,'' 

Austin alsa reparted that the rations available to the Jehadia and the 
Sudanese soldiers were identical." He, Bright, and Garner, however, 
had tinned foods to supplelnent their diet and ubvic-~usly benefited to 
some degree from this advantage. Austin made a very cogent observa- 
tion concerning the preexpedition nutritional sl;atus of the Iebadia, We 
said that they had led "a hand-to-mouth existence," "meaning that 
their nutritional status was marginal at the outset. This would have 
placed them at the highest risk in a situation of reduced caloric intake. 
He added that the soldiers had received a far Innre liberal scale of ra- 
tions than the Jehadia prior to leaving on the tuip,l4 Thus, they, like 
the Europeans, had significant fat stores on which to draw when faced 
with starvation, 

By mid-May, the Jehadia were in terrible condition. A dozen of them 
werc so weak that they had to be carried on donkeys. On May 19, 
three of them died, and a fourth was speared by the Turkana. This was 
the beginning of a massive mortality that was to ensue over the next 
six:  week^. 

Desperate for food, the jehadia naturally broke into the stores when 
they could and foraged the countryside for anything edible. Austin at- 
tributed this behavior to their lack of discipline and contrasted it with 
that of the Sudanese soldiers, wham he described as ""sterling goad fel- 
lows . . . made of the right stuff.'"Tet the Jehadia were dearly suffer- 
ing more severely than the soldiers, and it was this above all else that 
drove them to acts of desperation. The killing of donkeys for food in 
late May did litt1e to alleviate either theix sufferixzgs or those of the 
soldiers. 

The Jehadia started dying at an unbelievable rate in late May and 
early June, By June 2, 1001, half of the original thirty-two were dead, 
mostly from starvation. By contrast, only thrcc soldiers had died. Of 
these, only one had died from starvation; another died from eating poi- 
sonous berries, and a third was speared to death. 

As tbc situation grew more desperate, sorne of the rehadia surrepti- 
tiously killed the cxyedition" domestic stock and ate the raw Ineat on 
the sly. They also pilfered the grain stores, for which Austin bad them 
flogged. One young rehadia, Abdul, was flogged on two occasions for 
stealillg donkey Ineat and for pilfering a sack of grain, fn the latter in- 
stance, one of the saldievs was an accomplice. Several days later, Ab- 
&l killed a donlccy and cut up the meat using only a small pock- 



etknife. He was eventually caught, and Austin had him shot by a fir- 
ing squad at 4:QO A.M. the following day as an object lesson for the re- 
maining men*lfi 

As he had done on his previous trip, Austin left Lalte Rudolf by fol- 
lc-lwing the Turkwell River bed. Before doing so, he burned many 
loads, including tents, trophies, saddles, and other items that were not 
indispensable. The Turkana continuously harassed the starving col- 
umn from the thickly wooded riverl2anlrs and refused all attempts at 
friendly contact. On June 14, Austin led his men across the Weiwei 
River, which marked the lilnit of the Turkana's territory. They were A- 
nally freed from daily ambushes, but their food supply included only 
five pounds of flour and four pounds of rice. 

Austin had now lost thirty men, most uf them Jchadla. Over the 
next two weeks, twelve more would die, so that by Tune 30, only sev- 
enteen Africans out of the original fifv-nine were left. Although solne 
had been killed, ~nc~s t  had died of starvation.17 Garner later wrote a de- 
tailed account concerning the symptoms of those wha died: "The pa- 
tients' faces became puffy, so much so indeed as to cause almost com- 
plete obliteration of the features; the oedema of the eyc-lids and 
ankles being especially pronounced, They complained of severe pains 
in. the head as weIl as in the muscles of the neck. . . . Referring to my 
notes, f find that thirty-five men died from this cause."18 

Although these symptoms are compatible with severe starvation, 
they can also he seen in people suffering from trichinosis,'This is a 
parasitic disease caused by a worm, the Trichznella @rajis, and trans- 
mitted when humans consume raw or inadequately cooked contami- 
nated meat, Although the disease is lnost often associated with the in- 
gestion of poc.~rly cooked pork, a nulnher of anilnal species can serve as 
intermediate hosts for the parasitee20 The suggestion that Austin's men 
succumbed to an epidemic of trichinosis is strengthened by the fact 
that rn11st of the dead were those who ate raw or pc.~orly cooked tneat, 
It is also probable that they caught and ate rodents, which are fre- 
quently infected with the disease. Hawever, based on the evidence 
provided by Austin and Garner, it is difficult to come to any other 
conclusion than that the cause of death among most of their men was 
star~atian.~] 

On June 19, as the coltz~nn entered the country of the Suk, Austin 
noticed purple spats on his legs, and a few days later, he developed 
hemorrhagcs in his mouth. Garner immediately recognized that hc 
was suffering from scurvy. By this time, British physicians were ex- 
tremely familiar with this disease and knew that it could be prevented 
by the ingestion of lime juice, which Garner periodically issued. We 
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was at a loss tr3 explain why only Austin developed the disease and in 
spite clf the fact that he had replarly eaten compressed tinned vegeta- 
bles, gains, and meats. From the perspective of modern medical sci- 
ence, there are a few possible reasons to explain Austin" ddeelopmcnt 
of scurvy. The foods he ate may have been cooked to such a degree 
that the vitizlnin 6)  in them was rendcred inactive. Alternatively, i f  he 
had an adeqwte intake of vitalnin C, he may have been unable to suf- 
Aciently absorb it because oE the gastroenteritis from which he period- 
ically suffered b r ing  the trip, 

Whatever the reasons for Austin" ssctlrvy, it yrc.~gressively grew 
worse over the ensuing weeks despite Garner's administration of lime 
extract. Austin" ffailure to respond to this therapy lnay have been due 
to the inadeqlraey of the dose, or perhaps the lime extract itself had be- 
come inactivated in the brutally hut climate. Austin soon developed 
severe nasal hemorrhages, which left him extrelnely weak and unable 
to walk. Garner confined him to bcd between July 21 and 28 when he 
began hemorrhaging into his face, shoulder, ~oints, and other parts of 
his body. He temporarily lost his vision due to retinal hemorrhages, 
suffered from excrt~ciatillg pain, and ran a fever of horn 101 to 104 tie- 
grees FahxenheiteZ2 

Elespite his desperate physical condition, Austin, driven by sheer 
willpower, set out again on July 29, leading his greatly &minished col- 
umn south toward Lake Barit-igo, Of the original thirty-two Tehadia, 
only two were left, Eleven of the twenty Sudanese soldiers had sur- 
vived, one of the four servants, and the three Europeans. In all, Austin 
had lost 73 percent of his men. 

As they neared Lake Baringo, a local guide told them that there was 
a European stationed nearby. Brigk sent a note off to him with the 
guide, and two days later, Henry Hyde-Barker, the collector of the 
Bariago District, arrived with cighteen porters carrying pravisions and 
a litter. As Garner noted, the relief was timely, for without it, Austin 
would have certainly died, He was carried to the Baringo past, where, 
over the next two weeks, he quickly recovered on a diet of fresh veg- 
etables, milk, and eggs. 

Austin and his greatly reduced force left Baringo on Aubmst 14 and 
reached the railway at Nakuru a weelr. later, They sailed form Mo~x-  
basa on Septer~ber 8 and arrived at Suez nineteen days later, Austin 
then traveled hy train to Cairo and accompanied the survivors of the 
Tenth Sudancse Battalion to Assuan, where they rejoined their ranks.23 

By any measure, Austin" sseectnd expedition to Lake Rudolf had re- 
sulted in an unprecedented human catastmphe, fox the loss clf life was 
far in excess of that experienced by any other expedition to the lake. 



Yet the Royal Geographical Society blandly described the tragedy: 
"Majors Austin, Bright, and Garner . . . arrived at Mombasa early in 
Scptemher, after suffering great hardships during the jowney. . . . Bur- 
ing the last two months, the party subsisted almost entirely un the 
donkeys, and out of fifty-nine Sudanese only fourteen survived, Some 
good survey work was, however, done betwecn the Sobat and thc 
lake,li2$ 

This terse account, in which the staggering loss clf human life is 
mentioned only in passing, reflected prevailing British values and atti- 
tudes of the time, as well as an attelnpt to avoid Axing official respon- 
sibility for an overwhelming disaster. Within the social construct of 
the time, '"natives" wwcre generally vicwcd as part of an anonymous 
Inass whose lives were frequently dispensable. Yct the Loss of sa mueh 
life was bound to raise uncomfortalsle questions fox a government that 
had clearly failed Austin and his men in terms of adequately support- 
ing and relieving the expedition. The Royal Geogaphical Society had 
no desire to point an accusing finger at Lord Salisbury" ccanservative 
government, especially as the three British memk-tcrs of the expedition 
had survived. Rather, the society chose to brush over the hulnan 
tragedy and emphasize the expedition's scientific and geogaphic ac- 
complishments. Foremost among these was the linking of the Suctan 
survey with those of the British East Africa Protectorate. Thc political 
consequences of this wexe that it placed Britain in a strong pasitian in 
its frontier negotiations with Ethiopia and prevented hrther Ethiopim 
expansion into British-claimed territory, The latter was especially im- 
portant with regard to Lalte Rudolf, which, thanks to Austin's two 
trips, was now larl~cLy in the British sphere, Still, these accompiish- 
lnents had col-ne at a very high hulnan price and had almost cost 
Austin his life, 

In recognition of Austin's cxecgtional services, he was made a com- 
panion of the Order of St. Michael and St. Ceorgc in 1901 and pro- 
moted to brevet major. Althnu& the government invited him to re- 
turn to Ahica to work on the bouxahries be had surveyed, he had to 
decline because of the lingering effects of scurvy. Thesc included par- 
tial blindness in his right eye due t s  the retinal hemorrhage that clc- 
curred when he was near Lake Baringo, 

Austin spent the following twenty years of his military career in a 
variety of posts in India and the Near East and retired in X920 with the 
rank of brigadier general," "Following his retirement, he authored a 
number of books based on his experiences, including Some Rambles 
of a Sapper, which was published in X 928." He died on April 27, 193 7, 
at the age of sixty-eight. 



240 Lahside Tragedy 

Austin's 1900-1901 trip to Lake Rudolf effectively brrlraght trl an end 
the era of mapping the unknown in this part of Africa. His surveys, 
based as they were on astranamical observations and positions pre- 
eiscfy ealc~llated by trianplation, were viewed as definitive. What re- 
mained now was the task of drawing a border between Ethiopia and 
the British East Adrica Proeeceoratc and determining where the lake 
would be divided, 



"Dividing the Spoi  

Me17ejik N, emperor of Ethiopia (from 
Une visite B I%mper=xeur MknkZiek, 
1898). 

he tragedy that struck 
Herbert Henry Austin's 
1900-1901 expedition 

to Lake Rudolf did little to de- 
ter others from traveling there, 
Even as Austin and his surviv- 
ing men were struggling down 
the lake's wmstsrn shore, an 
Austrian nobleman, Cotlnt Ed- 
uard Ernst Karl Maria Wiclten- 
burg, was approaching the lake 
from the northeast. 

Wickeaburg first visited So- 
~naliland and Ethiopia in 1897, 
hoping to travel to the Omo 
River valley, down the western 
shore of the lake, and then on 
to Uganda. However, 1897 was 
a politically unscttlcd year, for 
Meaelik w s  pushing his fron- 
tier southward toward the lake. 
Not surprisingly, Wickenburg's 
request to visit the lake was de- 
nied, He contented himself 

with traveling cxtcnsivcly through Ethiopia and Somaliland, where he 
carried out geographic surveys, collected natural history specimens, 
and promoted Austro-Hungarian commercial interests. Returning to 
Vienna for a bricf time, he soon set off again for Africa, this time hcad- 
ing for the British East Africa Protectorate. He trekked inland to 



Taveta and visited Mount Kilil-nanjaro, where he put together a large 
collection of ethnographic objects and natural histovy specimens." 

In 1802, with the political climate greatly charged, Wickenburg re- 
ques t4  Menelik's permission to travel into the lands near Lake 
Rudolf. T3y now, the emperor was extremely willing to have European 
travelers docu~nent the extent of elfectiive Ethiopian occupation so as 
to strengthen his border negotiations with the British, Wickenburg ac- 
tually was no longer interested in Lake Rudolf but rather wanted to 
explore the lands between it and the Larian Swamp. This region had 
been previously traversed by Arthur Donaldsnn Smith in 1895 and 
Lord Delamere in 1897. 

Wickcnburg arrived in Djibouti in lanuary 2901, and by April, he 
was in Addis Ababa, Fuo~n there, he set out for the southwest, with 
forty-five Suxllalis and Ethiopians and forty camels, donkeys, mules, 
and horses. We carried with him an impressive array of surveying in- 
struments, supplies, equipment, arms, and a Kodak camera. H e  metic- 
ulously surveyed the country he passed through and combined hunt- 
ing with speci~nen collecting. Although he spent three weeks caxnped 
at Lake Stephanie, he only paid a brief visit to Lake Rudoli in July 
1901. He then trekked southeast toward M o n t  Maxsabit, moving on 
to the Guaso Nyiro River and basically fallowing Smith's previaus 
route, After a visit to the Larian Swamp, he ~narched ta the Tana River 
and reached the coast at Lamu in late October." 

U n f o r ~ a t e l y ,  Wickcnburg did not publish a boak-length account 
of this trip, and his diaries of it were destroyed at the end of World War 
E. His brief article about it provides few details and is not chronologi- 
cal in character. Among the travelers who rcached Lake Rudoll in 
these years, he and Lord Delamere stood out as the only two for whom 
the lake was not their primary goal. In fact, in his article, Wickenbuug 
was candidly dis~nissive of his brief visit to the lake: ""As this trip was 
not in ~ n y  original itinerary plan, I. do not make any ~nentian of i teJf4 

Although Wiclrenburg never returned to Africa, he began a three- 
year trip in 191 2 through South America, during which lac covered 
5,000 miles on horseback, He died while mountain climbing at Hol- 
lengebirge, Austria, in Jrrne 1936, in his seventieth, yeare4 

Wickcnburg had scarcely left Djiboutl when the French Vicomte 
Robert du Bourg de Buzas arrived there, intent on leading a scientific 
expedition to Lake Rudolf, the Nile, and the Congo. Only thirty years 
of age, clc Boms put t o ~ t h e r  a multidisciplinary tcam of Frcncbmen, 
who spent close to a year travelilzy: through Ethiopia and Srlmaliland 
before arriving in Addis Ababa on December 28, 1881. From there, de 
Bozas and his caravan set out for Lalte Rudold on March 4, 1802, with 
20 mules and 1 L0 donkeys. They followed the chain of Ethiopian Rift 



Tialley lakes, crossed over the mountains, and finally reached the Omrt 
River on June 2. While exploring the lower Orno River valley, they 
found a large nu~nber of fossils and noted fox the first time the highly 
fossiliferous nature of the entire region.' Approaching the swalnpy ter- 
rain ~ u s t  to the north of Lake Rudolf, they were attaclced by the Murle 
people who had given Hcrbert Henry Austin and his men so much dif- 
ficulty a short time before. This response tvas a direct result of previ- 
ous Ethiopian raids that had made the Murle intensely hostile to all 
outsiders. They killed two of de Bozas's m n  and a nurnbcr of his 
transport animals, prampting him to organize a punitive raid against 
them the day before he reached the lake." 

De Bazas did not linger at the northern end of the lake for long. He 
set out for the Nile in early July and reached it two months later at 
Nirnule, which was now a British military post. In the process, he 
crossed Montagu Sinclair Wellhy's t 899 south-to-north route and 
marched west along a line somewhat tct the south of that taken by 
Arthug Banaldsoa Smith in 1490, This phase of the expedition com- 
pleted, de Bazas repatriated his Ethiopian, Somali, and Swahili men 
via the British East AfYica Protectorate. He then prepared for his trip 
through the Congo, which he never completed. 

On October 16, 11902, dc Bozas and his new caravan rnarched out of 
Nimule and headed west for the Congo River, By December, they were 
at the headwaters of the Uele River, where de Bozas contracted 
tetanus. This was an invariably fatal disease in those tirnes and cir- 
cumft-anccs, and thus, despite the best efforts of the expedition's 
physician, he died on Beember 24 at Amadi; His death effectively 
brought the expedition to an end, and the remaining members then 
travelcd down the Congo River to Leopoldville, which they reached on 
February 7. 

The Wickenburg and dc Bozas expcdit-ions rcprcscnt the almost 
silent closure of a Erenetic period of exploratory activity around Lake 
Rudolf that had begun with Colmt Samuel Teleki fifteen years before. 
There was little justification now for further scientific missions to the 
lake. ft had been geogaphically situated, measured, and described, and 
its fauna and flora had been collected, analyzed, and classified, Given 
the then general state of science, there was really little that could he 
added to what was already known about the lake. It would require sev- 
eral more decades befove acivances in science would make further geo- 
logic and yaleontalogic studies possible, 

Although Lake Rudolf ceased to be a magnet for adventurers, geog- 
raphers, and scientists, it and the adjacent border area now became the 
focus of intense diplomatic discussjans between Meneiik and John 
Lane Harringtnn, the British agent and consul general in Addis Ababa. 



Despite Harringtonk rqeated expressions of concern to Lord Salis- 
bury about progressive Ethiopian expansion, little was done to protect 
Britjsh-claimed territories. In part, this was due to Salisbury's preoccu- 
pation with problems elsewhere in AfYica, as well as the perception 
that this region of arid wastes was of little strategic ox economic im- 
portance. For his part-! Menelik played a shrewd diplomatic and politi- 
cal galne between 1889 and 1982 by ~naking outrageous territorial 
claims to test British reaction while steadily advancing southward, 
thereby lneasuving the British resolve. Harxingtan was well aware of 
the nature of this game, but he was unable to rouse up much support 
in London for an effective border force, which he viewed as the only 
means of stopping the slow but steady Ethiopian advance." 

It was not until 1902 that Salisbury" ggovernment decided ta do 
something ahout Ethiopian advances into British-claimed terdtaries. 
Unfor.tzxnately, it did so in a miserly fashion by asking kchibald But- 
ter, the laird of Faskally, tcz financc and cunduet a border survey. But- 
ter was extremely familiar with this area of Africa, having participated 
in the Warxison-Wbitehorrse Expedition of 1899-1900, He had also 
made a few return hullting trips to Bhiopia and Somaliland, so he 
welcsmed the opportunity of combining official business with sptjxt. 
Yet he did not foresee the enormity and complexity of this mdertak- 
ing or its true cost, which eventually reached E10,000. 

The border issue was equally complex in diplomatic terms because 
Britain continued to honor its 1891 protocol with Italy, which recog- 
nized Ethiopia as being in the Italian sphere, This exasperated Har- 
rington to no end since the 1896 Italian defeat at Adowa had rendered 
this agreelnent meaningless, But the Forcign Office continued to 
insist on Italian concurrence with any proposed Anglo-Ethiopian 
bordere9 

Haxringt-an's original instructions to Butter still survive in the Pub- 
lic Record olfice at Richmondr ""The object of your expedition is to 
place in my hands sufficient information to enable me to arrange with 
the Emperar nifcneiik a frantics hetwecn Abyssinia and British East 
Africa,'Warringtan also told Butter to set up a line that followed nat- 
ural features, did not cut through the territory of various tribal groups, 
and was to some degree in conforlnity with an 1899 understanding 
reached by him and Menelik, Furthermore, Harrington instructed But- 
ter to distinguish between areas under permanent Ethiopian occupa- 
tion and those simply subject to raids since the latter could still he 
claimed as British.l0 

Meaelik had little to fear from Butter's survey since he was confi- 
dent it would substantiate his clailas of effective occupation, He read- 
ily gave his assent and assigned three Ethiopians and an entourage to 



the expedition, They were led by Ato Mal~a ,  an educated Ethiopian 
who had lived for six years in France and who served as the official 
recorder far the Ethiopian side. 

Blrtlcr recruited Captain Philip Maud of the Royal Engineers, a man 
who had pueviously done extensive survey work on India" northwest 
frontier. At thirty-two, hc was four years older than Butter but a world 
apart in terms of telaperalaent and personality. Whereas Butter was a 
leisurely and good-natured cotlntvy squire little interested in details, 
Maud was a fastidious and rneticulaus surveyor whase thoroughness 
and great sense of duty were often perceived as rigidity. Although 
these diverse character traits led to irritations between the two men 
under the stresses of field travel, they never disrupted their overall re- 
lationship or the work of the expedidon, 

Hasrington added two other men to this caravan, his assistant John 
Lawrence Baird, who was an old Etonian school chum of and 
Dr. Wakeman, the British residency physician. Bul;ter himself hired 
Wellby's caravan leader, Moharned Massan, and his surveyou, Duffadar 
Shazad Mir of thc Eleventh Bengal Lancers. Against his will, Erfarring- 
tun also asked him to take along Count Giuseppe Colfi cii Fclizzano, 
the secretary at the Italian legation in Addis Ababa. This was in re- 
sponse to thc F~rcign Office's wish to include Italy in any border 
arrangelaents worlred out with Ethiopia." 

Butter led his eveclition oE five Europeans, two Indians, seventy So- 
malis, and twelve Ethjopians out of Addis Ababa on November 6, 
1902. With them was a train of 160 transport animals, including 
camels, mules, donlreys, and houses. They headed for the intersection 
of six dcgecs north latitude and the Ganalc River, which represented 
the demarcation between the Italian and British splzeres as set out in 
the X891 protocol. However, Menelikfs steady southward advances 
had long made a farce of this geographic claim. Butter and his Euro- 
pean colleagues were chagrined by the extent of Ethiopian occupation 
below this line, and they communicated their findil-igs by letter to 
Harrington in Addis Ababa.'" 

Over the next six ~nnnths, Butter's expedition broke up into smaller 
parties, regrouped, and crisscrossed from east to west the region where 
effective Ethiopian occupation ended. Maud meticulously triangu- 
lated his positions with a theodolite, thus impmving on the surveys of 
previous travelers who had used prismatic cmpasses. Fortunately, 
they discovered the impressive Megdo Escarpment, which rises 300 
feet and forlas a natural divider between the higher northern areas and 
the dusty plains below. Smith had been the first European to note this 
unusual landmark, running for some 170 miles from east to west, and 
Lard Delamere had also come upon it in his travels. 



Although Maud spent ~nost  of his tirne surveying, he also engaged 
in shooting game on a grand scale* But Butter outdid all the Europeans 
on this score, killing nineteen of thc thirty-nine lions shot and his 
share of the twenty rhinos that fell tn their wns. Maud kept a metieu- 
lous daily diary recording his activities, opinions, and clbservations, al- 
beit in a very illegible hand." 

One of the expedition" tasks was to deter~nine the distribution of 
the Boran people who lived along the Angls-Ethiopian boxdertands in 
three distinct regions-Liban, Dirre, and Tertala. This proved exceed- 
ingly difficult, as the Ethiopians in the party threatened potential in- 
formants with retvibution if they spoke to the Europeans. On Tanuary 
13, 1903, Baird wrote to Maud about this problem: 

X have had a perfectly damnabfe tirnc, and l d t  about ready to chuck the 
wholc show. I will not weary you with the details of my experiences, but 
they have been identical with yours. The two Abyssinians gave orders to 
the Borans that they weren" to come into my camp or to tall< to us or to 
our boys . . . and any men who dld would have a hand cut off. They heat 
one Borain, whom they suspected of having spoken to us and told lalrn he 
would be killed if they suspected him a secand tirne. They gave clrders to 
the Borans that they. were to tell us nothing about thc country except 
misleadhg information.i4 

Baird and the others were eventually able t s  overcome these ohsta- 
cles and speak directly with the Boran. Nonetheless, it was at tiznes 
difficult to determine whether a given stretch of country was under ef- 
fective Ethiopian occupation or simply periodically raided, 

In mid-May, Maud reached the north end of Lake Rudolf, where the 
boundary was least in dispute thanks to Austin's 1898 treaties and flag 
placements. Glilnbing to the top of Rocky Hill, which rises 3,574 feet 
to the east of the lakc, he rnadc his final triangulations of thc frontier, 
With his survey work finally completed, he hurried down the east 
shore of the lake and joined up with the main expedition on May 24. 
There, he ior-tnd that Baird had been mauled by a lion a fcw days be- 
fore. Luckily far Baird, his two Afuican companions had co~nc to his 
rescue, one pulling the lion by the tail while the other shot it,'" 

Butter and his companions had now been in the field for sevcn 
months and had. essentially achieved all of the expedition's goals. 
They had treklred over 1,000 miles of difficult terrain, and Maud had 
produced a detailcd survey that would become the basis for futwe An- 
glo-Ethiopian border negotiations. In June, the Ethiopians left for Ad- 
dis Abaha, while Butter led his expedition south toward the Uganda 
Railway and home.lfi 



Butter's report was presented to both hc~uses of Barliax-nent in No- 
vember 1904, In it, he made a strong case for establishing a boundary 
that followed lna~or topographic landmarks and separated the Galla 
horn the non-Galla peoples. Maud, on the other hand, advocated for a 
line to the narth of this, demarcating the southern limit of Ethiopian 
occupation, Although Maudk line was in Britain's favat; Lord Cans- 
dc~wne, the foreign secretary, opted to negotiate on the basis of Butter's 
line, This line, which became known as the Red Line, ceded to the 
Ethiopians not only effectively occupicd regions but also those regions 
regularly raided by them. Ir also had the advantage of following major 
topoguaphic features. 

In December 1903, Lansdowne instructed Harrington to consult 
with the Italians in Rome about the proposed border, Holding Britain 
to the obviously defunct 1891, protocol, the Italians were concerned 
that an agreement might be struck that was prejudicial to their inter- 
ests. Harrington and the Brit-ish ambassador, Tames Rcnnell Rodd, who 
had earlier served in East Africa, met with the Italians and, in return 
for some concessions, obtained their support, There now remained the 
all-important matter of negotiatilly: with Menelik. His strateu was to 
delay while secretly promoting further Ethiopian penetration into 
British territory.18 

Harrington was convinced that only a British presence along the 
proposed border could halt Ethiopian advances. Hciwever, the Foreign 
Ofiicc was unwilling to fund the farce proposed by Butter and Maud in 
their report. Harrixlgtun tvas persistent, and finally in 1905, the newly 
established Colonial Office allocated 51,200 annually to patrol the 
border. The lnan chosen for this task was Potios (Philip) Zaphiro, a 
Greek subject who had lived in Ethiopia for many years. H c  was fluent 
in Amharic, ente~ris ing,  and politically shrewd, and above all, he 
knew how to beat the Ethiopians at their own game. In November 
1905, Harrington appointed Zaphiro to the post of boundary inspector, 
at an annual salary of %20O+'" 

Zaphiro and his two dozen policemen patrolled the border from the 
Ganale River to Lalce Rudolf, a distance of about 600 miles, and in so 
doing, brought the Ethiopian advance to a halt. He remained on the 
border for four years, during which he constructed posts (including 
Moyalc, which lay equidistant on the Red Line from Lake Rudnlf and 
the Ganale River]. Seeing little hope clE advancing southward, Ptlenelik 
agreed in 1907 to a fvonticr that basically was the Red Line.2o This 
agreement called for the establishment of a delimitation coml-nission, 
which was finally appointed in May 1908. rfhe man chosen to head 
this Akssinian-East African Boundary Commission was Major 





Charles Willialn Gwynn of the Royal Engineers. A Inan of consider- 
able experience in Africa, he had previously served in Sierra Leone and 
had demarcated the northern part of the border between Ethiopia and 
the Sudan, During this latter effort, he had worked with Austin as 
coleader of the Abyssinian Frontiers  expedition^.^" 

Gwynn arrived in Addis Ababa in late August 1908 with two non- 
com~nissioned engneers, Corporal Garter and Sapper Favier, a physi- 
cian, Dr. R.E. Dralre-Broekman, who had previczusly spent five years in 
Somaliland, Captain R. Vlraller, who served as second in command, 
and Captain G. Condun, a transport officer." Matters got off to a bad 
start because Menelik was ill, and no one in the Ethiopian govern- 
ment would nominate commissioners to accompany Gwynn, After 
waiting in vain ft~r two months, Gwynn was told by the Foreign Office 
to proceed without the Ethiopians. There was precedent for this since 
Menelik had authorized Gwynn to act alone when delimiting 
Ethiopia's western border with the Sudan, 

Gwynn finally joined his caravan in October at Ginir, where it had 
proceeded while he was in the Ethiopian capital. From there, he 
headed southeast to Dolo, at the confluence of the Ganale and Daua 
rivers, At Dolo, he met Zaphiro, vvhn then accompanied him. Over the 
next two months, he retraced Maud's survey, making minor adjust- 
lnents in the Red Line that gave Britain access to vital wells necessary 
for patrolling the border. He arrived at the northern end of Lake 
Rudolf on FGbrrrary 22, 1909, whcre he hund an Ethiopian post just 
opposite the mouth of the Omo River. It had taken him only two 
months to cover the entire border from the time he set out from Dolo. 
Despite thc brevity of his time in the field, Gwynn produced meticu- 
lous maps and provided detailed descriptions of the areas he visited. 

After reaching Lake Ruduld, Gwynn returned to Addis Ababa, arriv- 
ing on April 20, 1909," His demarcation line, though conforming for 
the ~nost  part to the British Red Line, departed froln it in. critical areas. 
Cwynn had made most of these adjustments at Zaphirots suggestion 
since they gave Briain access to wells necessary for patraf activities, 
Gwynn" line becalne known as the Blue Line, and it was im~nediately 
contested by the Ethiopians, who soon sent a German, Lieutenant 
Schubcrlt., to survey the Rcd Line. However, his greatly delayed results 
did not alter Britain" snow firm resolve t r ~  hold to the Blue Line. That 
line actually gave Ethiopia several more miles of the northern end of 
Lake Rudolf than were demarcated by the Red Line in 1903, Yet the 
Ethiopians considered that poor compensation for their loss uf strate- 
gic ground and wells.24 

Gwgi-ara" ddcmarcation of the border effectively marked the end of 
the era of colonial compctitiun for the Jade Sea. That et~myetition had 



begun with large scientific experlitions and military invasions, treaties 
with local chiefs, and the unfurling ctf national colors. It ended less 
dramatica_ily with meticulous surveyors who drew lines across the 
map separating the colonial spoils. Over the ensuing dccadcs, nature 
had a final word in this M@, fox Lake Rudolf progressively receded 35 
milcs horn its 1a~-nineteenth-century northern shore, thus pulling it- 
self out of Ethiopia, 



A Inre-twentieth-centu~y. tr:ravtslerP Stepken Pern, at the southern end 
of Lake Rudolf; 15278 (caurtesy Stephen Pern). 

ritain and Ethiopia continued to disagree ayer the details of 
their common border for many years. It was not until 1947 
that a new boundary was proposed and a bilateral dernareation 

co~n~nission established. The corn~nission held its first ~neeting on 
Maxch 17, 195 1, and continued working Esr the next Ave years. How- 
ever, Ethiopia declined to ratify thc cummission's recornmen&tions, 
thus nullifying the 1947 proposal, This meallt that the 1907 Anglo- 
Ethiopian agreement was still operative. Only in I963 did the indc- 
pendent government of Kenya and Ethiopia initiate border negotia- 
tions, resulting in a border treaty that was signed in 18'70. Throughout 





all these decades, the original L90"70undary across Lake Rudolf was 
never in dispute." 

During the first decade of the twentieth century, most of Lake 
Rudolf became part of Kenya's Northern Frontier District, which was 
infrequently visited and then primarily by administrators, hunters, 
and occasional scientists, In 1907, George Escherich made important 
observ;ttions abaut the 01x0 River delta while on a hunting trip.' The 
following yeax, Captain. Ghauncey H. Stigand, a British military ofA- 
cer, traveled up to the lakc horn Giigil and on to Addis Ababa, A inan 
of superior observational skills, he was also an excellent naturalist and 
historian. He moved up the eastern shore of the lake and then entered 
the Qmo River valley, where he was the first to docu~nent the recent 
arrival of tsetse flies, the vectc~rs of t rypano~~~niasis  (African sleeping 
sickaessj.' After theiv visits, the British severely restricted travel to 
the lakc bccause of EthioE,ian raids across the border and their own cf- 
forts to pacify the Tttrltana.The Tttrkana pacification progam lasted 
for a dozen years, between 1914- and 1926,' Yet the border with 
Ethiopia remained closed until World War XI, in an effort to control 
cattle raids and elephant poaching, which continued throughout the 
1920s and 1930s. 

Although Lakc Rudulf was situated in an officially closed district;, 
entry perrnits were occasionally given to travefers and scientists, in- 
cluding 1L.F.I. Athill in 1919 and Gamille Arambourg in 1932-1933," 
iasambourg's geological and anthropological mission on behaif of the 
Natural History Museurn of Paris gathered important scientific infor- 
mation about the lake's rich fossil deposits.' In 1930-1932, Vivian E. 
Fuchs led a Gadridge University expedition to Lake Rudolf and re- 
turned in 1934 with a multidisciplinary team of scientists. T'wu of 
these scientists mysteriously disappeared while on a visit to the lake's 
Sauth Island." 
h 1934, Martin and Osa Johnson, famous American wildlife photog- 

raphers and Almmakers, flew with their pilot, Vern Carstens, to Lake 
Rudalf. Using a twin-engine Sikorsky S-38BS amphibian mmed QsnS 
Ark-, they landed at Ferguson" Gulf on the western shore. From there, 
they flew across to Center Island, which they extensively filmed and 
photographed. The rohnsons were the first to fly over the lake and gain 
access to its islands by plane. Their aerial film footage of Lakc Rudolf 
appeared in theil: 1935 feature film Bnhoona, which was shown in the- 
aters throughout the United Sates and Europe." 

R~ber t  Du Bourg de Bozas was thc first to note the rich fossil de- 
posits along the shores ctf the lake, an observation confirmed three 
decades later by kambourg. However, it was not until the early 1 970s 
that Riehard and Mcave Leakey began uncovering important hominid 



fossils at Koobi Fora on the lake's eastern shore. The long-fargotten 
desert lake now became famous for its fossil yields, which quickly 
rewrate the record of humankind,") Since then, additional important 
fossils have been found, not only along the eastern shore but also on 
the western side of the lake. 

In 1965, Alistair Graham, a wildlifc conservationist, and Peter 
Beard, an internationally acclaimed photogapher, undertook a year- 
long study of the lake's crocodiles, then noted for both their numbers 
and their enorlnous size." By this time, however, the lake's long pe- 
riod of solitude was slowly being ertlded by lakeside settlements and 
tourist fishing camps served by airstrips and planes. Still, overland 
travel remained difficult and often Angerous because of armed cattle 
raiders who increasingly turned to robbing travelers. 

During the 1966ts, the security situation in this region shavply dete- 
riorated as arrxed Sornali units roarxed the dcsert wilderness at will 
and attaclced even well-protected convoys. In the ensuing years, wars 
in Ethiopia, Somalia, and Sudan caused an influx of refugees, some of 
whom obtained arms and engaged in banditry. k t  the mare serious se- 
curity problem has been caused by the procurelllent of modern arms 
by various ethnic groups, including the ICaramajung, Turkana, Bogan, 
and Somali. Equipped with these weapons, thcy now engslge in cattle 
thek with deadlier consequences and have also turned tcz rubbing and 
ltitling innocent civilians, fn 1997, for example, sixty Kenyans were 
ltilled near flexet, on the eastern lake shore, by armed bandits who had 
C C I ~ G  from Suclan.l2 

Despite the newer dangers, some late-twentieth-century travelers 
have been drawn to the lakc in search of challenge and adventure, In 
the early l"$@, the late John Hillaby, a naturalist and long-distance 
walker, treltltcd through the Northern Frontier District and two-thirds 
of the way up the eastern shore of: the lake." Later in that decade, a 
yczung Englishman named Steyhen Pcrn walked around the lake, start- 
ing in the southeast, as ?"elelti, Neurnann, and Stigand had, and mov- 
ing north into Ethiopia, where he was detained for a while by the local 
police, He then traveled down the western shore, retracing in part the 
routes taltcn almost a century before by Henry Hart Cavendish, Vitto- 
rio Rottega, and Hcrbert Henry Austin, Hc accomplished this rernark- 
able trip in fifty days and travelcd with only African companions, in- 
cluding a child and a pregnant woman who accompanied him part of 
the way." Two ycars later, Mohamcd Amin, a highly acclaimed 
Kenyan photographer, drove around the lake. His expedition carried 
800 Xiters of gasoline, 20 spare tires, 275 liters of drinking water, a 
quarter ton of photographic equipment and film, and a radio-telephone 
with a range of 900 



Roads, schools, clinics, and small towns nrlw dot thc countryside 
through which Count Samuel 'T'eleki and Lieutenant Ludwig von Hiih- 
nel once passed, A paved road leads to the western shore of the lake, 
and modern explorers white-water raft down the Omrl River. Al- 
though this corner of Africa has dxamatlcally changed since Teleki"s 
time, there is 17nuch that remains the same. Hc would still And north- 
ern Kenya and southern Ethiopia familiar plascs, with their great land- 
scapes and splendid views. And the lake is still there, a shimmering 
jade sea, remote and lonely, set lilre a jewel in a vast cxpmse of thorn- 
bush and desert, 
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Date 

1861 

Dec, l863 

Mar, l4, 1864 

Antoine Thornson dxabbadie and Arnaud Miehel dXbbadie 
explore the upper reaches of the Omo River, 

fohann Rebmann secs Mount Kilimanjaro, 
fohann Ludwig Krapf sees Mount Kenya. 
Armchair getlgrapher William Desborclugh Cot~ley publishes 

his book Inner Africa Laid O p ~ n ,  in which he criticizes 
the discoveries c)f fohann Ludwig Krapf and fohann Reb- 
MlaXIR. 

Jac027 j. Erhardt publishes the '"lug map," "showing a large 
inland sea in East Africa called Lake Uniamesi. 

The Royal Geographical Society sends Captain. Richatrd Fxan- 
cls Buxton and Lieutenant John Hanning Spelte into East 
Africa to investigate the reports of Lake Uniamesi. 

Jcshann Ludwig Krapf publishes a map on which Lake Zarn- 
buru is depicted south of the Ethiopian highlands. 

John Hannlng Spelce arrives cm the southern shore of Lake 
Victoria and cfalrns to have discovered the sourec of the 
Nile. 

Lean des Avanchers publishes a map on which Lake El Boo is 
depicted south of the Ethiopian highlands. 

Armchair geographer Ctrrarlcs Tilstonc Bcke publishes his 
opinions about the source of the Nile in his book The 
Scrurces the Nile. 

John Harming Speke returns to Africa with James Augustus 
Grant to trace the Nile from Lalce Victoria thmugh the Su- 
dan. 

Bartln Carl Glaus von der Decken and Richard Thornton at- 
tempt to c1in1b Mount Kiliznanjaro. 

fohn Hanning Speke" Journal of the Discovery of the Source 
of rl~e Nile is pubtished, 

Samuel and Florence Baker reach the Luta Nzigk, which they 
name Lake Alibert, and determine its relationships to Lake 
‘victoria and the Nile, 



Sept. 16, 1864 

Sept. i3, 1882 
1883-1884 

Jan. 26, 1885 

Mar. 5, 1888 

Mar. 10, 1888 

May 2, 1 889 

May-Nov. 1 8 89 

Nov. 3, 1889 
July 1, 1890 

Mar. 24, 1881 

Apr. 1891 

1882 

Scheduled debate over the source of the Nile between 
Richard Fmncis B~rrton and John. Wanning Speke canceled 
because of the latter" sudden death. 

Thomas VVakeAeld publishes a detailed rnap depicting Lake 
Samburu, based on information gathered frorn coastal 
tl.aders, 

Charles New attempts to climb Mount Kilimanjaro, 
Henry Morton Stanley '%finds" Dr. David Livingstone at tfjiji 

on Lalte Tanganyika, 
Henry Morton Stanley leads extensive expedition into 

Africa, during which he circumnavigates both Lake Tan- 
ganyika and Lake Victoria, and sails down the Congo 
River. 

Great Britain occrxpi es Egypt. 
Joseph Thornson cmsses Maasal land and brings back news 

of a great saft lake to the north called Samburu. 
The hliahdi's forces capture Khartoum. General Charles 

George Cordon dies defending the city. 
Jcsseph 'f"homsonFs bask Through Mnsni Lnad is published, 
Crown Prince Rrxdolf of Austria-Hungary reads the Cerrnan 

translation of Joseph Thornson" book and decides to send 
an expedition to East Africa to find Lalte Samburu. 

Sir Williarn Mackinnon establishes the I~nperial British East 
Africa Cc>mpany JIBEA), which is chartered to administer 
Britain's sphere of influence in East Africa, 

Count Samuel TeLeki and Lieutenant Ludwig von Hijhnel ar- 
rive at tfic Basso Narok, which they renarne Lalte RudolE, 

Emperor Yt3hannes IV c)f Ethiopia mortally wounded by 
Mafirilist iorees at the Battle of Mctemma. 

Italy and Ethiopia sign the Treaty of Wuchale, by which the 
former believes it has gained protectorate powers. 

Wifliam Astor Chanlea: and George E. Galvin visit Mount 
Kilimanjarc? and set up a compound at Taveta. 

Menelik 11, king of Shoa, crowned emperor of Ethiopia. 
An$qls-German agreement signed governing respective calo- 

nial spheres in East Africa. 
Italy and Britain sign a pmtocol delimiting their spheres of 

influence in East Africa, effectively placing Ethiopia under 
Italian control. 

Mcnelik 11 of Ethiopia declares that his fcgtirnate southern 
boundary extends beyond Lake Iitxdolf, 

The Imperial British East Africa Company j1BEA) withdraws 
frorn Uganda because of financial difficulties and its in- 
ability to deal with serious local political plvblems. 

Wiltizm Astor Chanler, Ceorge E. Galvin, and L~dwig  von 
Hi3hnel explore much of what is now northern Kenya. 



Apr. 1, 1-883 

Aug. 1894 
1895 

Mar. 23, 1885 

May 28, 1885 

July 10, 1895 

fuly 13, 1895 

Dec, 6, 1895 

Mar. 1, 1886 

Aug. 30, f 896 

Mar, 17, 1887 

Mar. 20, 1897 

May 14, 1-897 

Tuly 9, 1887 

Sept. 1887 

Victor Prompt, a French hydrolo@st, prtlpctses damming the 
Nile at  Fashoda and speculates on the adverse consc- 
quences for Egypt if an unfriendly power controlled the 
Upper Nile. 

Sir Gerald Portal, the British consul general in Zanzibar, 
leads an expedition to Uganda, where he replaces the Im- 
perial British East Africa Company JXBEA) flag with tlae 
Union Tack, thus making Uganda a provisional British pm- 
teCtOMtC. 

British Paljiarnent confirms plvtectoratc status for Uganda. 
Robert Arthur Talbort Gasco)me-Cecil, marquess of Salis- 

bury, becomes Britain" conservative prime minister far 
seven years and chief architect of British imperialism in 
Africa. 

Russian mission, headed by Nicholas Stephanovic Leontiev, 
arrives at tlae court of Ethiopia% Emperor Menelik 11. 

Sir Edward Grey tells the House of Cctmmons that a French 
move on the Upper Nile would be an 'knfriendly act." 

Arthur Danaldssn Smith ar1.lves at the northern end of Lake 
Ruclolf, having traveled from Berbcra on the Somali coast. 

Czar Nichofas IT receives an official Ethiopian delegation in 
St. Petersburg. 

Arthur Neurnann arrives at the southern end of Lake Rudolf, 
having trelcked up from Mombasa in search c)f ivory. 

An Ethiopian arlny af IOO,OQO well-armed soldiers defeats 
Italy's colonial force of 1'7,0062 at the Battle of Adowa. 

Vittoria Bottego and his expedition arrive at the northern 
end of Lalce Rudolf, having traveled fmm Brava on the So- 
mali coast. 

Henry Sheppard Hart Cavendish and H, Andrew reach tlae 
northern end of Lake Rudolf, six months after Xeaving 
Berbera on the Somali coast. Cavendish explores the fake's 
western shitrc. 

Vittoriu Bottego dies battling an overwlaelming Ethiopian 
force at Ghidami. 

Menelik XI of Ethiopia and Frencb leaders sign the Conven- 
tion pour le Nil Blanc, by which Ethiopia agrees to help 
French expeditions approaching the Nile kom the east. 

Angta-Ethiopian Treaty signed in Addis Ababa, in whicla 
Ethiopia agrees not to assist the Mahdists in return for ter- 
ritorlal concessions, 

lames Ronald Macdonald and his Tuba Expediticm arrive in 
Mombasa. 

Httgh Cholmondeley, Lord Delamere, and Dr. A. Eustace 
Atkinson arrive at the southern end of Lake Rudolf nine 
months after leaving Berbera cm the Somali coast. 



Apr. 7, 1898 Alexander Xavieryevich Bulatovich and Uns Wolda Giorgis 
arrive at the northern end sf Lalte Rudolf with a large mil- 
i tary force. 

June 22, 1898 A joint Franco-Ethiopian expedition reaches the Nile in 
hopes of meeting up with Carn~nandant: rean-Baptist 
Marchand, coming frorn the west. 

ruly 10, 1898 Commandsnt Jean-Baptist Marchand and his party reacla 
Fashoda on the Nile, which. they claim for France. 

Aug. 31, I 898 Captain Wcrbert Henry Austin and his party arrive at the 
western shore of Lake Rudoff a rncinth after leaving their 
base camp at Save on Mount Elgon. 

Sept. 2, 1888 General Sir Horatio Kitchener defeats the Mahdists and oc- 
cupies Qmdurman. 

Sept. 12, 1888 Captain Herbert Henry Austin plants Union Jacks and s i p s  
treaties with local chiefs at the northern end of Lake 
Iiudol f. 

Sept.-Dec. 1898 The Fashsda crisis erupts over France" ooccupation of a 
stretch of the Upper Mile, 

Dec. 11, 1898 The French back down frc-tm their claims to the Upper Nile 
and withdraw frorn Fashoda. 

Mar, 1889 Captain Montagu Sinelair Wellby and an Ethiopian escort ar- 
rive at the northern end of Lake Rrzdotf three rnonths after 
leaving Addis Ababa, 

Mar. 21, 1899 France and Britain sign the West African Convention, by 
which the Fasfioda crisis is forrnally brought to closure. 
France abandons all claims to the Nile River in return for 
territorial concessions to the west of the river. 

May 1899 Menelik fl of Ethiclpia offers to settle his southern frtlntier 
with Britain, 

Aug. 21, 1899 Nicholas Stephanovie Leontiev and his military exped-itian 
arrive at the northern end of Lake RuclotE and remove the 
Union jacks put up by Herbert Henry Austin in September 
1898. 

Dec, 10, 1889 Arthur Dunaldson Smith returns to Lake Iiudolf, following 
his previous route from Berbera on the Somali coast. 

f i r .  25, 1900 James Jonathan Harrison, Willtarn Fitzhugh Whitehouse, 
and their party arrive at the northern end of Lake liudolf 
and replace Union faelcs rerno-ved in August 1899 by 
Nicl-xolas Leontiev, 

f i y  8, 1901 Major Werbcrt Henry Austin arrives at the northern end of 
Lake Iiudolf after traveling b w n  from Orndur~nan in the 
Sudan. 

rul y 190 I Count Edtxard Wickenburg pays a brief visit to the northern 
end of Lalce Rudolf, having set out from Addis Ababa on 
April 20. 



Aug. 190'3- 
Feb. 1904 
Nov. 1905 

Dec. 6, 1907 

Sept. 1908 

Vicornte Robert du Bourg de Bozas and his expedition ar1.lve 
at the northern end of Lake Rudolf three and a half 
months after leaving Addis Abaha, 

Archibald Butter and Captain Philip Maud arrive at the 
nortllern end of Lake RudoZf while delimiting the Anglo- 
Ethiopian border. Their line between Ethiopia and British 
East Africa beeon~es known as the Red Line. 

J.W Brooke leads the East Africa Syndicate Expedition from 
Mount Elgon to the northwestern end of Lake Rudotf. 

Philip Zaphirs appointed by John Lane Harrington, British 
agent and consul general in Addis Ababa, as Isa~mdary in- 
spector charged wit11 patrolling the Red Line. 

Agreement between Britain and Ethiopia relative to the Iron- 
tiers between British East Africa, Uganda, and Ethiopia 
sikned at Addis Ababa. Most c)f talce Rudolf is j.j Y. ven tr:, 
Britain, and the Omo River cdcXtat remains in Ethiopia. 

Captain Chatlneey Hugh Stigand arrives on the eastern share 
of Lakc Rudolf aftcr trekking up from Gilgf in British. East 
Africa 

a j o r  Charles WiIliarn Cwynn arrives at the northern end of 
Lalte Rudali as head of the Abyssinian-East African 
Bo~mdary Cammission and makes adjustsnents in the But- 
ter-Maud fine. The modified border becomes known as the 
Blue Line. 

Menelik II of Ethiopia dies. 
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